
Children and Young People Scrutiny Commission 
 

All Members of the Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission are requested to attend the 
meeting of the Commission to be held as follows: 
 
Monday 16 January 2023 
 
7.00 pm 
 
Council Chamber, Hackney Town Hall, Mare Street, 
London E8 1EA 
 
The press and members of the public are welcome to join this meeting 
in person (please note the guidance below) or remotely via the following 
link: 
 
https://youtu.be/mO4tD64mlBk 
 
A backup link is provided in the case of technical difficulties: 
 
https://youtu.be/ZU9rA5BVSeU 
 
 
Contact: 
Martin Bradford 
 020 8356 3315 
 martin.bradford@hackney.gov.uk 
 
Mark Carroll 
Chief Executive, London Borough of Hackney 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Members: Cllr Sophie Conway (Chair), Cllr Margaret Gordon (Vice-Chair), 
Cllr Alastair Binnie-Lubbock, Cllr Lee Laudat-Scott, Cllr Midnight Ross, 
Cllr Caroline Selman, Cllr Anya Sizer, Cllr Sheila Suso-Runge, 
Cllr Lynne Troughton and Cllr Claudia Turbet-Delof 

 
Co-optees: Richard Brown, Andy English, Salmah Kansara, Jo Macleod, Steven 

Olalere and Monique Pink 

https://youtu.be/mO4tD64mlBk
https://youtu.be/ZU9rA5BVSeU


Agenda 
 

ALL MEETINGS ARE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 
  

1 Apologies for Absence   
 
2 Declarations of Interest   

 
3 Urgent Items / Order of Business   

 
4 City & Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership - Annual 

Report (19.05)  
(Pages 9 - 200) 

 To review the 2021/22 annual report of the City and Hackney Safeguarding 
Children Partnership. 
 

 

 
5 Unregistered Educational Settings - Review Update (19.50)  (Pages 201 - 224) 
 To review an update from Hackney Education and City & Hackney 

Safeguarding Partnership on the Commission’s review: Unregistered 
Educational Settings.  
 

 

 
6 Outcome of School Exclusions - Review Update (20.20)  (Pages 225 - 280) 
 To review an update from Hackney Education on the Commission’s review: 

Outcomes of School Exclusions. 
 

 

 
7 Free School Meals (Childhood Food Poverty) (21.10)  (Pages 281 - 290) 
 To note a letter to the Deputy Mayor and Cabinet member for Education, 

Young People and Children’s Social Care on the Commission’s work on free 
school meal entitlements and the role of schools in addressing childhood 
food poverty.   
 

 

 
8 Work Programme - Update (21.15)  (Pages 291 - 304) 
 To review and monitor the work programme for the remainder of 2022/23. 

 
 

 
9 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (21.20)  (Pages 305 - 320) 
 To note and approve the minutes of the previous meeting held on the 30th 

November 2022. 
 

 

 
10 Any Other Business   

 
 
 
 
 



 

Access and Information 
 
 

Public Involvement and Recording 
 
Public Attendance at the Town Hall for Meetings 
 
Scrutiny meetings are held in public, rather than being public meetings. This 
means that whilst residents and press are welcome to attend, they can only 
ask questions at the discretion of the Chair. For further information relating to 
public access to information, please see Part 4 of the council’s constitution, 
available at https://hackney.gov.uk/council-business  or by contacting 
Governance Services (020 8356 3503) 
 
Following the lifting of all Covid-19 restrictions by the Government and the 
Council updating its assessment of access to its buildings, the Town Hall is 
now open to the public and members of the public may attend meetings of the 
Council. 
 
We recognise, however, that you may find it more convenient to observe the 
meeting via the live-stream facility, the link for which appears on the agenda 
front sheet.  
 
We would ask that if you have either tested positive for Covid-19 or have any 
symptoms that you do not attend the meeting, but rather use the livestream 
facility. If this applies and you are attending the meeting to ask a question, 
make a deputation or present a petition then you may contact the Officer 
named at the beginning of the agenda and they will be able to make 
arrangements for the Chair of the meeting to ask the question, make the 
deputation or present the petition on your behalf.  
 
The Council will continue to ensure that access to our meetings is in line with 
any Covid-19 restrictions that may be in force from time to time and also in 
line with public health advice. The latest general advice can be found here - 
https://hackney.gov.uk/coronavirus-support   
 
Rights of Press and Public to Report on Meetings 
Where a meeting of the Council and its committees are open to the public, the 
press and public are welcome to report on meetings of the Council and its 
committees, through any audio, visual or written methods and may use digital 
and social media providing they do not disturb the conduct of the meeting and 
providing that the person reporting or providing the commentary is present at 
the meeting.  
 
Those wishing to film, photograph or audio record a meeting are asked to 
notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer by noon on the day of the meeting, if 
possible, or any time prior to the start of the meeting or notify the Chair at the 

https://hackney.gov.uk/council-business
https://hackney.gov.uk/coronavirus-support


start of the meeting.  
 
The Monitoring Officer, or the Chair of the meeting, may designate a set area 
from which all recording must take place at a meeting.  
 
The Council will endeavour to provide reasonable space and seating to view, 
hear and record the meeting. If those intending to record a meeting require 
any other reasonable facilities, notice should be given to the Monitoring 
Officer in advance of the meeting and will only be provided if practicable to do 
so.  
 
The Chair shall have discretion to regulate the behaviour of all those present 
recording a meeting in the interests of the efficient conduct of the meeting. 
Anyone acting in a disruptive manner may be required by the Chair to cease 
recording or may be excluded from the meeting.  
 
Disruptive behaviour may include moving from any designated recording area; 
causing excessive noise; intrusive lighting; interrupting the meeting; or filming 
members of the public who have asked not to be filmed.  
 
All those visually recording a meeting are requested to only focus on 
recording Councillors, officers and the public who are directly involved in the 
conduct of the meeting. The Chair of the meeting will ask any members of the 
public present if they have objections to being visually recorded. Those 
visually recording a meeting are asked to respect the wishes of those who do 
not wish to be filmed or photographed.  Failure by someone recording a 
meeting to respect the wishes of those who do not wish to be filmed and 
photographed may result in the Chair instructing them to cease recording or in 
their exclusion from the meeting.  
 
If a meeting passes a motion to exclude the press and public then in order to 
consider confidential or exempt information, all recording must cease, and all 
recording equipment must be removed from the meeting. The press and 
public are not permitted to use any means which might enable them to see or 
hear the proceedings whilst they are excluded from a meeting and confidential 
or exempt information is under consideration.  
 
Providing oral commentary during a meeting is not permitted. 
 
 

 
 



 

Advice to Members on Declaring Interests 
 
Advice to Members on Declaring Interests 
 
Hackney Council’s Code of Conduct applies to all Members of the Council, 
the Mayor and co-opted Members.  
  
This note is intended to provide general guidance for Members on declaring 
interests.  However, you may need to obtain specific advice on whether you 
have an interest in a particular matter. If you need advice, you can contact:  
 

• Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services  
• the Legal Adviser to the Committee; or  
• Governance Services.  

 
If at all possible, you should try to identify any potential interest you may have 
before the meeting so that you and the person you ask for advice can fully 
consider all the circumstances before reaching a conclusion on what action 
you should take.   
 
You will have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter if it:   
 
i. relates to an interest that you have already registered in Parts A and C of 
the Register of Pecuniary Interests of you or your spouse/civil partner, or 
anyone living with you as if they were your spouse/civil partner;  
 
ii. relates to an interest that should be registered in Parts A and C of the 
Register of Pecuniary Interests of your spouse/civil partner, or anyone living 
with you as if they were your spouse/civil partner, but you have not yet done 
so; or  
 
iii. affects your well-being or financial position or that of your spouse/civil 
partner, or anyone living with you as if they were your spouse/civil partner.   
 
If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest in an item on the agenda 
you must:  
 
i. Declare the existence and nature of the interest (in relation to the relevant 
agenda item) as soon as it becomes apparent to you (subject to the rules 
regarding sensitive interests).   
 
ii. You must leave the meeting when the item in which you have an interest is 
being discussed. You cannot stay in the meeting whilst discussion of the item 
takes place, and you cannot vote on the matter. In addition, you must not 
seek to improperly influence the decision.  
 
iii. If you have, however, obtained dispensation from the Monitoring Officer or 
Standards Committee you may remain in the meeting and participate in the 



meeting. If dispensation has been granted it will stipulate the extent of your 
involvement, such as whether you can only be present to make 
representations, provide evidence or whether you are able to fully participate 
and vote on the matter in which you have a pecuniary interest.  
 
Do you have any other non-pecuniary interest on any matter on the 
agenda which is being considered at the meeting?  
 
You will have ‘other non-pecuniary interest’ in a matter if:  
 
i. It relates to an external body that you have been appointed to as a Member 
or in another capacity; or   
 
ii. It relates to an organisation or individual which you have actively engaged 
in supporting.  
 
If you have other non-pecuniary interest in an item on the agenda you 
must:  
 
i. Declare the existence and nature of the interest (in relation to the relevant 
agenda item) as soon as it becomes apparent to you.   
 
ii. You may remain in the meeting, participate in any discussion or vote 
provided that contractual, financial, consent, permission or licence matters are 
not under consideration relating to the item in which you have an interest.   
 
iii. If you have an interest in a contractual, financial, consent, permission, or 
licence matter under consideration, you must leave the meeting unless you 
have obtained a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer or Standards 
Committee. You cannot stay in the meeting whilst discussion of the item takes 
place, and you cannot vote on the matter. In addition, you must not seek to 
improperly influence the decision. Where members of the public are allowed 
to make representations, or to give evidence or answer questions about the 
matter you may, with the permission of the meeting, speak on a matter then 
leave the meeting. Once you have finished making your representation, you 
must leave the meeting whilst the matter is being discussed.   
 
iv. If you have been granted dispensation, in accordance with the Council’s 
dispensation procedure you may remain in the meeting. If dispensation has 
been granted it will stipulate the extent of your involvement, such as whether 
you can only be present to make representations, provide evidence or 
whether you are able to fully participate and vote on the matter in which you 
have a non-pecuniary interest.   
 
Further Information  
 
Advice can be obtained from Dawn Carter-McDonald, Director of Legal, 
Democratic and Electoral Services via email dawn.carter-
mcdonald@hackney.gov.uk  
 

mailto:dawn.carter-mcdonald@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:dawn.carter-mcdonald@hackney.gov.uk


 
 

Getting to the Town Hall 

For a map of how to find the Town Hall, please visit the council’s website 
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/contact-us.htm or contact the Overview and 
Scrutiny Officer using the details provided on the front cover of this agenda. 

 
 

Accessibility 

There are public toilets available, with wheelchair access, on the ground floor 
of the Town Hall. 
 
Induction loop facilities are available in the Assembly Halls and the Council 
Chamber. Access for people with mobility difficulties can be obtained through 
the ramp on the side to the main Town Hall entrance. 

 
 

Further Information about the Commission 
 
If you would like any more information about the Scrutiny 
Commission, including the membership details, meeting 
dates and previous reviews, please visit the website or use 
this QR Code (accessible via phone or tablet ‘app’) 
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/individual-scrutiny-
commissions-children-and-young-people.htm  
 

 

http://www.hackney.gov.uk/contact-us.htm
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=121
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=121
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=121


This page is intentionally left blank



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission 

 January     16th     2023 

 Item     4     -     CHSCP     Annual     Report     2022/23 

 Item     No 

 4 
 Outline 
 The     City     and     Hackney     Safeguarding     Children     Partnership     annual     report     is     a 
 standing     item     within     the     Commission’s     agenda.      This     allows     the     Commission     to     have 
 oversight     of     child     safeguarding     work     taking     place     across     the     borough. 

 Reports 
 -  CHSCP     Annual     Report     2022/23 

 Attending: 
 -  Jim     Gamble,     Independent     Chair     of     City     and     Hackney     Safeguarding 

 Partnership 
 -  Rory     McCallum,     Senior     Professional     Adviser 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Report Title: The City & Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership 
(CHSCP) Annual Report 2021/22

Meeting for: Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission 
Date: 16 January 2023
Produced by: The CHSCP Team
Authorised by: Jim Gamble QPM, Independent Child Safeguarding 

Commissioner

Report Summary  

The City & Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership annual report for 2021/22 
sets out examples of the impact, evidence, assurance and learning arising from the 
safeguarding arrangements in the City of London and the London Borough of 
Hackney. 

It covers and reports on activity between 1st April 2021 and 31st March 2022 and 
includes the following:

The Annual Report can be accessed via the CHSCP website:  HERE

The governance and accountability arrangements for the CHSCP’s 
safeguarding arrangements.

●

The context for safeguarding children in the City of London, highlighting the 
progress made by the City partnership over the last year.

●

The context for safeguarding children in the London Borough of Hackney, 
highlighting the progress made by the Hackney partnership over the last year.

●

The lessons that the CHSCP has identified through its Learning & 
Improvement Framework and the actions taken to improve child safeguarding 
and welfare as a result of this activity.

●

The range and impact of the multi-agency safeguarding training delivered by 
the CHSCP.

●

The CHSCP’s priorities going forward and its most recent Strategic Threat 
Assessment.

●

The key messages for those involved in the safeguarding of children and 
young people.

●

Page 11

https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/CHSCP_AnnualReport_202122.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW

Annual 
Report 
2021-22

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

P
age 13



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
2

Foreword
The CHSCP Annual Report 2021/22 is focused on evidencing what the partnership 

has done over the reporting year, the impact we have had, the learning we have 

identified and the steps we have taken to ensure we continue to reflect and 

improve. 

It covers a challenging year, beginning just as children started returning to school 

and ending as a level of post lockdown normality was settling in.  Within its pages 

you will see evidence of the range of work undertaken.  This covers the ‘business 

as usual’ / day-to-day issues that partners manage, as well as our collective 

response to the ever-changing operating environment and uncertainty brought 

about by Covid-19. 

I therefore wish to begin by thanking all our partnership leaders, staff, volunteers, 

and their families for what they have done and the sacrifices they have made 

whilst facing challenges that were unimaginable a few short years ago.   Their 

hard work and determination have undoubtably helped make many of our 

children safer.  

That said, there is still more to do. We remain committed to embedding our 

Safeguarding First philosophy across and within all agencies.  This means we must 

always see the child first, understand the context of their life and respond to their 

specific needs.  This means a relentless focus on the basics, ensuring we apply 

best practice when sharing information, assessing risk, and making records. It also 

means we must continue to encourage an environment in which people feel able 

to ask difficult questions and to challenge and escalate concerns. To this end we 

have reviewed policies, developed our strategies, and created and shared key 

learning resources, including easily accessible video guides.

During the reporting period we addressed the disturbing issues arising from 

the ‘Everyone’s Invited’ disclosures, responding to findings from the Ofsted 

and other reports that reflected on the harm inflicted by sexist, misogynistic 

and homophobic attitudes, and behaviours in schools. We sought reassurance, 

and will continue to do so, on what City and Hackney schools and colleges 

were doing to strengthen their arrangements to respond to sexual abuse and 

harassment.

The crisis in Afghanistan created a need to support families and their children and 

to this end the City of London Corporation excelled.  They led and coordinated a 

partnership response fundamentally focused on safeguarding young people and 

supporting them and their families.

Unfortunately, and despite local political and partnertship led best efforts, 

I cannot report any significant advances in our work to ensure children in 

Unregistered Educational Settings are appropriately safeguarded.  It is therefore 

deeply frustrating to report that the Schools Bill, the vehicle through which 

progress might have been made, has been ‘shelved’ by central government.  This 

means that we must continue to apply constructive influence in the absence of 

actual authority to ensure compliance.  This has not worked in the past and I am 

very doubtful that it will work in the future.  I remain convinced that a statutory 

instrument is the only way to effectively address this issue.

In early 2022, the CHSCP published the Child Q Local Child Safeguarding Practice 

Review. The Review speaks for itself and is available to read here.  I believe this 

report shook the system and because of this, it must be a foundation that drives 

real change. As part of my work in this area I have spoken with a number of young 

P
age 14

https://chscp.org.uk/case-reviews/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
2 3

people from Hackney.  Many raised credible, critical issues about the reality of 

their lives and experiences when engaging with the police and attending school.  

I will shortly publish an update report highlighting responses to the initial 

recommendations, what has been done to date, the impact of such activity and 

what else is required to complete this work moving forward

Context is key in such cases and our work in this area is also informed by the 

significant learning accrued from other reviews, particularly the legacy arising from 

Tashaûn Aird and the acceleration of work on preventing exclusions in Hackney.

 

Racism is a real problem, it is a safeguarding issue and it undermines the 

opportunities for some young people to thrive in an environment that should be 

supportive. Denying it exists is simply not good enough.  Nor is hiding beneath 

the umbrella of unconscious bias.  Beyond a written commitment, training and 

awareness raising, we expect all partners to be actively anti-racist.  This means 

being able to evidence what they have done, who they have challenged and the 

sanctions (where appropriate) they have applied.  The CHSCP is committed to 

testing this commitment going forward.

 

From a Local Authority perspective, this reporting year saw the departure of Anne 

Canning, an outstanding advocate for children and thoughtful leader.  She created 

the foundations upon which the new leadership team in Hackney have been able 

to make impressive progress.  I wish to record my thanks to her and to formally 

welcome Jacquie Burke and the new Chief Executive, Mark Carroll.  They have 

hit the ground running and their commitment to our children and their teams is 

evident in everything they do.

 We recognised that annual reports by their nature are published after the fact, 

and therefore began the process of developing shorter and more focussed 

assessments on the ‘here and now’ issues. Our first draft of the CHSCP’s 

Safeguarding Strategic Threat Assessment is included in this report.  It remains 

a work in progress, but our intention is to keep this assessment dynamic so that 

partners can respond at pace.   

At the time of writing this foreword, I am mindful of the growing cost of living 

crisis and the impact this will have on everyone. To that end, I am pleased to say 

that my engagement with leaders, at all levels reinforces my belief that they too 

are committed to doing whatever is necessary to support our children and their 

families in what are increasingly difficult times.

Finally, I remain determined to ensure that we maintain momentum, reflect on 

what could, and indeed what must be done better.

Jim Gamble QPM

Independent Child Safeguarding Commissioner

The City & Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership

P
age 15



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
4

C O N T E N T S

About the Annual Report 5

Glossary 7

Communication 27

Technology &  
Social Media

30

City Safeguarding Snapshot 32 Hackney Safeguarding Snapshot 61 Learning & Improvement 108

Published Reviews 113

Reviews of Practice 109

Rapid Reviews 110

Performance Data 143

Front-Line Intelligence 143

External Learning 144

Training & Development 152

Key Messages for Practice 147

Priorities & Pledge 159

What You Need to Know 179

Violence Against Women and Girls 75

MARAC 76

Safeguarding Adolescents 77

Private Fostering 87

Children with Disabilities 89

Children’s Mental Health 90

MAPPA 92

Unregistered Educational Settings 93

Everyone’s Invited 98

Safer Workforce 103

Care Leavers 42

Violence Against Women and Girls 43

MARAC 43

City of London Demographics 35

Early Help 36

Children in Need of Help and Protection 38

Contacts, Referrals and Assessments 39

Children in Care 41

Safeguarding in  
The City of London

34

Safeguarding Adolescents 44

Private Fostering 49

Children with Disabilities 50

MAPPA 50

Safer Workforce 57

Care Leavers 74

Safeguarding in Hackney 63

Children in Need of Help and Protection 68

Children in Care 73

Cyberattack 101 

Hackney Demographics 64

Early Help 65

The CHSCP 9

Summary 10

Purpose 10

Vision 10

Principles 11

Key Roles & Relationships 13

CHSCP Structure 22

Attendance 23

Financial Arrangements 26

Strategic Threat Assessment 164Afghan Families Resettlement Programme 51

Everyone’s Invited 53

The Voice of the Child, Family & Community 138

Auditing 129

P
age 16



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
4 5

About the
Annual 
Report

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

55

P
age 17



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
6

About the Annual Report

The City & Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership annual report for 2021/22 sets out examples of the evidence, impact, 

assurance and learning of the statutory safeguarding arrangements in the City of London and the London Borough of 

Hackney.  It reports on the following activity: 

•	 The governance and accountability arrangements for the CHSCP.

•	 The context for safeguarding children in the City of London, highlighting the progress made by the City of London 

partnership. 

•	 The context for safeguarding children in the London Borough of Hackney, highlighting the progress made by the 

Hackney partnership. 

•	 The lessons that the CHSCP has identified through its Learning & Improvement Framework and the actions taken to 

improve child safeguarding and welfare as a result of this activity. 

•	 The range and impact of the multi-agency safeguarding training delivered by the CHSCP. 

•	 The CHSCP’s priorities going forward and its most recent Strategic Threat Assessment.

•	 The key messages for those involved in the safeguarding of children and young people. 

IMPACT EVIDENCE ASSURANCE LEARNING

In line with statutory requirements, the CHSCP annual report 2021/22 has been sent to the Child Safeguarding Practice 

Review Panel and The What Works Centre for Children’s Social Care.

P
age 18



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
6 7

Glossary

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

7

P
age 19



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
8

ABH		  Actual Bodily Harm

BME 		  Black and Minority Ethnic

CAF		  Common Assessment Framework

CAFCASS	 Children & Family Court Advisory and Support Service 

CAIT 	 	 Child Abuse Investigation Team

CAMHS 	 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services

CCG 	 	 Clinical Commissioning Group

CDR 	 	 Child Death Review

CHSAB 	 City and Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board

CHSCP		 City and Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership

CHYPS 	 City and Hackney Young People’s Service

CPP 		  Child Protection Plan

CRIS 		  Crime Reporting Information System

CSC 		  Children’s Social Care

CSE 		  Child Sexual Exploitation

CYPPP 		 Children and Young People’s Partnership Panel

DBS 	 	 Disclosure and Barring Service

DfE 		  Department for Education

DVIP 	 	 Domestic Violence Intervention Project

EIP 	 	 Early Intervention and Prevention

ELFT 		  East London NHS Foundation Trust

ESOL 		  English for Speakers of Other Languages

FGM 		  Female Genital Mutilation

FGMPO	 Female Genital Mutilation Protection Order

FJR 		  Family Justice Review

FRT 		  First Response Team

GLA 		  Greater London Authority

GP 		  General Practitioner 

HCVS 	 	 Hackney Council for Voluntary Service

HE 		  Hackney Education

HHFT		  Homerton Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust

ISCC		  Independent Safeguarding Children Commissioner

IRI		  Independent Return Interview

LA		  Local Authority

LAC 		  Looked After Child / Children

LADO 		  Local Authority Designated Officer

LSCB 		  Local Safeguarding Children Board

MAP 		  Multi Agency Panel

MAPPA 	 Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements

MARAC 	 Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference

MASE 		  Multi Agency Sexual Exploitation

MASH 		  Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub

MAT 		  Multi Agency Team

MPM 		  Management Planning Meeting

NHS 		  National Health Service

NSPCC 	 National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children 

OFSTED 	 Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills

PPU 		  Public Protection Unit 

PSHE 		  Personal, Social and Health Education 

PSP 		  Pupil Support Plans

SCR 		  Serious Case Review

SDVC 	 	 Specialist Domestic Violence Court 

SEND 	 	 Special Educational Needs and Disability 

SLT 		  Senior Leadership Team 

RSE 		  Relationships and Sex Education

TRA 		  Tenant Resident Association

TUSK		  Things You Should Know (CHSCP briefing)

UASC 		  Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children 

Glossary

P
age 20



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
8 9

The CHSCP

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

9THE CHSCP

P
age 21



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
10

Summary  

The City of London and Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership 

(CHSCP) is established in accordance with the Children Act 2004 (as 

amended by the Children and Social Work Act 2017) and the statutory 

guidance issued within Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018.  

The CHSCP’s safeguarding arrangements define how safeguarding 

partners, relevant agencies and other organisations work together to 

coordinate their safeguarding services.  These arrangements meet 

the requirements of statutory guidance and include details about how 

safeguarding partners will identify and respond to the needs of children, 

commission and publish local child safeguarding practice reviews 

and provide for independent leadership and scrutiny.  The published 

arrangements are available HERE.

Purpose  

The CHSCP’s safeguarding arrangements support and enable local 

organisations and agencies to work together in a system where: 

•	 Children are safeguarded and their welfare promoted. 

•	 Partner organisations and agencies collaborate, share and co-own the 

vision for how to achieve improved outcomes for vulnerable children. 

•	 Organisations and agencies challenge appropriately and hold one 

another to account effectively. 

•	 There is early identification and analysis of new safeguarding issues 

and emerging threats. 

•	 Learning is promoted and embedded in a way that local services for 

children and families can become more reflective and implement 

changes to practice. 

•	 Information is shared effectively to facilitate accurate and timely 

decision making for children and families.  

Vision 

That all children in the City of London and Hackney are seen, heard and 

helped; they are effectively safeguarded, properly supported and their 

lives improved by everyone working together.

THE CHSCP

P
age 22

https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Published-2223-Safeguarding-Arrangements-.pdf


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
10 11

Principles  

As leaders across a range of organisations, the commitment of the CHSCP 

is to work together to make the lives of children safer by protecting them 

from harm; preventing impairment to their health and development, 

ensuring they receive safe and effective care; and ensuring a safe and 

nurturing environment for them to live in.  The CHSCP wants to make sure 

that everyone who works with children across the City of London and 

Hackney has the protection of vulnerable children and young people at 

the heart of what they do. In practice, this means that children are seen, 

heard and helped: 

•	 Seen; in the context of their lives at home, friendship circles, health, 

education and public spaces (both off-line and on-line).  

•	 Heard; by professionals taking time to hear what children and young 

people are saying - putting themselves in their shoes and thinking 

about what their life might truly be like.  

•	 Helped; by professionals remaining curious and by implementing 

timely, effective and imaginative solutions that help make children 

and young people safer. 

 

THE CHSCP

P
age 23



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
12

The CHSCP’s aim is to ensure that safeguarding practice and outcomes 

for children are at least good, and that staff and volunteers in every 

agency, at every level, know what they need to do to keep children 

protected, and communicate effectively to ensure this happens. All of our 

activity is underpinned by the following principles:  

•	 Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility. As a partnership, we will 

champion the most vulnerable and maintain a single child-centred 

culture.

•	 Context is key. Capitalising on the unique opportunities presented by 

a dual-borough partnership, we will have an unswerving focus on both 

intra-familial and extra-familial safeguarding contexts across the City 

of London and the London Borough of Hackney.

•	 Anti-Racist practice is key.  The CHSCP’s safeguarding arrangements 

are proactively anti-racist.  Our focus in this context moves beyond 

the rhetoric and is evident in our leadership, our practice and in the 

outcomes of the children, young people, and families we engage.  

•	 The voice of children and young people. We will collaborate with 

children and young people and use their lived experience to inform 

the way we work. We will regularly engage with them as part of our 

core business and ensure their voices help both design and improve 

our local multi-agency safeguarding arrangements.

•	 The voice of communities. Improving our understanding of the 

diverse communities across the CHSCP’s footprint, we will regularly 

communicate with, listen to, and engage local communities in the 

work of the CHSCP. We will harness their experience to both inform 

and improve the way we safeguard and promote the welfare of 

children and young people.

•	 Enabling high quality safeguarding practice. We will promote 

awareness, improve knowledge and work in a way that is 

characterised by an attitude of constructive professional challenge.

•	 Fostering a culture of transparency. We will enable the CHSCP to 

learn from individual experience and continuously improve the quality 

of multi-agency practice.

THE CHSCP

P
age 24



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
12 13

Key Roles & Relationships

SAFEGUARDING PARTNERS

The safeguarding partners agree on ways to coordinate safeguarding 

services; act as a strategic leadership group in supporting and 

engaging others; and implement local and national learning.  All 

safeguarding partners retain an equal and joint responsibility for local 

safeguarding arrangements.  In situations that require a single point 

of leadership, safeguarding partners will decide on which partner will 

take the lead on relevant issues that arise.  The safeguarding partners 

in the City of London and the London Borough of Hackney are Hackney 

Council, The City of London Corporation, NHS North East London (NHS 

NEL), The Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) and The City of London 

Police.  The lead representatives of the safeguarding partners during 

2021/22 were: 

•	 Tim Shields, The Chief Executive of Hackney Council (retired in 

May 2021 and replaced by Mark Carroll in July 2021)

•	 John Barradell, The Town Clerk of the City of London Corporation 

•	 Jane Milligan, The Accountable Officer of the City & Hackney CCG 

(left in June 2021 and replaced by Zina Etheridge in June 2021)

•	 Marcus Barnett, The Commander of the MPS Central East BCU 

•	 Ian Dyson, Commissioner, City of London Police (retired in January 

2022 and replaced by Angela Mclaren in January 2022)

THE CHSCP

ASSURANCE 

 

The Statutory Safeguarding Partners have equal and joint responsibility 

for local safeguarding arrangements.  The leadership role of the 

safeguarding partner is based firmly on the notions of authority to act 

and the accountability for action taken. Its purpose is to ‘remove the 

blockages, bureaucracy and organisational self-interest that bar the 

route to the effective and efficient delivery and practice of multi-agency 

services to protect and safeguard children.’   Wood Report 2021.  Lead 

representatives of the Statutory Safeguarding Partners have scheduled 

bi-annual meetings that include the Independent Safeguarding Children 

Commissioner of the CHSCP.

ASSURANCE 

 

In May 2021, Sir Alan Wood published his second report into the new 

safeguarding arrangements.  In response, the CHSCP’s safeguarding 

arrangements were updated in July 2021 and now include the following:

•	 Anti-Racist Practice as a key principle of the CHSCP

•	 Arrangements for the lead representatives of statutory 
safeguarding partners to meet together with the Independent 
Child Safeguarding Commissioner.

•	 The escalation of issues from the Executive to the lead 
representatives of statutory safeguarding partners.

•	 A specific section on Unregistered Education Settings.

•	 The CHSCP’s Scrutiny Oversight Board, Strategic Analyst, 
the revised Self-Assessment process and Child Safeguarding 
Statements.

•	 Revised narrative about annual reporting requirements.

P
age 25



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
14

RELEVANT AGENCIES

Safeguarding partners are obliged to set out which agencies are required to work as part of 

the CHSCP’s arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of local children. These 

agencies are referred to as relevant agencies and have a statutory duty to cooperate with the 

CHSCP’s published arrangements. A defined number of relevant agencies will meet regularly 

with safeguarding partners through the City of London Safeguarding Children Partnership 

Board and the Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership Board.  Others are invited when 

deemed necessary and/or be included in various sub-groups / thematic groups.  The 

relevant agencies to which the CHSCP’s safeguarding arrangements apply includes all those 

agencies defined in part 4 of the Child Safeguarding Practice Review and Relevant Agency 

(England) Regulations 2018 . They include:

•	 Homerton Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust

•	 East London NHS Foundation Trust (ELFT)

•	 All schools (including independent schools, academies, and free schools),colleges and 

other educational providers. 

•	 The Probation Service (London Division)

•	 Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service (CAFCASS)

•	 Hackney Council for Voluntary Services (HCVS)

•	 London Ambulance Service (LAS)

•	 London Fire Brigade (LFB)

•	 NHS England

•	 All registered charities within the geographic area of the CHSCP whose staff / volunteers 

work with or come into contact with children and their families.

IMPACT 

 

As part of the CHSCP’s ongoing recognition of 

the value that schools and colleges play as 

‘relevant agencies’ in our safeguarding system, 

the CHSCP’s website was updated to include a 

specific section for the education sector.  Whilst 

a work in progress, our intention is to set out 

the range of safeguarding support available to 

schools and colleges from safeguarding partners, 

other relevant agencies and key services within 

the partnership.  Structured under three key 

headings of people, policy and practice, we aim 

to keep this up to date and to alert schools / 

colleges to any changes as they arise. For many, 

the information will be familiar, but we hope 

that having a central repository for schools and 

colleges on the CHSCP website will help make 

the information easier to access and strengthen 

our collaboration.

THE CHSCP

P
age 26



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
14 15

ASSURANCE 

 

The CHSCP has taken a broad approach in the ‘naming’ of relevant agencies as 

part of our local architecture.  If an organisation works with children and is covered 

in the regulations, why wouldn’t they be deemed as relevant and why wouldn’t they 

have a statutory duty to cooperate with the CHSCP?  There remain challenges in 

identifying the full spectrum of such agencies, particular those that might be charities 

and smaller VCS organisations.  With that in mind, emerging thinking involves the 

introduction of a process that would see only ‘registered relevant agencies’ being able 

to access the CHSCP’s free training offer.  This will help incentivise agencies to register 

with us, whilst maintaining a comprehensive list of those agencies we need to engage 

in our self-assessment, staff survey and Child Safeguarding Statement processes.  

Scoping is underway to plan for what the registration mechanism will involve.  

THE CHSCP

IMPACT 

 

Through the CHSCP’s Quality Assurance Sub 

Group, multi-agency guidance, policies and 

procedures are developed and reviewed by 

safeguarding partners and relevant agency 

representatives.  

Over 2021/22, amongst a range of documentation 

produced, the CHSCP launched the following:

•	 Safeguarding Disabled Children: Practice 

Guidance

•	 Working with the Risk of Intra-Familial 

CSA: Practice Guidance and  

•	 Plans: Best Practice Examples (to support 

professionals develop clear and coherent 

plans for children in need and/or at risk).   

More material can be found within the 

CHSCP’s A-Z directory of Practice Guidance. 

IMPACT 

 

Following a number of injuries and sad deaths of children falling from windows in 

the East London area over the last two years, Hackney’s Resident Safety Team have 

produced a leaflet advising Hackney residents about ensuring that children are kept 

safe around windows and balconies. It offers advice and for council tenants, contact 

details of repairs teams if there are faults with safety catches and closing mechanisms. 

It is hoped that this reaches as many households as possible in order to prevent any 

further tragedies.  Find the leaflet HERE.

P
age 27

https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/CHSCP-Safeguarding-Disabled-Children-Practice-Guidance-FINAL.pdf
https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/CHSCP-Safeguarding-Disabled-Children-Practice-Guidance-FINAL.pdf
https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/CHSCP-Working-with-the-Risk-of-Inter-Familial-Sexual-Abuse-Practice-Guidance-FINAL.pdf
https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/CHSCP-Working-with-the-Risk-of-Inter-Familial-Sexual-Abuse-Practice-Guidance-FINAL.pdf
https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Plans-Best-Practice-Examples-FINAL.docx.pdf
https://www.chscp.org.uk/practice-guidance/
https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/HDS12587-Window-safety-flyer-v4-1.pdf


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
16

NAMED ORGANISATIONS

Safeguarding partners can also include any local or national 

organisation or agency in their arrangements regardless of 

whether they are named relevant agencies.  Whilst not under 

the same statutory duty, there remains an expectation of 

compliance, with legal powers existing in some areas to ensure 

this happens. For example, Section 16H of the Children Act 2004 

contains a wider power exercisable by the safeguarding partners 

to request a ‘person or body’ to provide information to them.  

There is no limitation or definition of ‘person or body’ therefore 

the request can be made to anyone.  Local organisations named 

by the CHSCP include all ‘Out of School Settings’ (providing 

tuition, training, instruction or activities without the supervision of 

parents or carers) and Social Housing providers.

ASSURANCE 

 

The CHSCP also intends to explore the viability of a registration 

process involving named organisations, recognising the important 

contribution they make to safeguarding children and the need for 

such organisations to be fully part of our local system.  

THE CHSCP

P
age 28



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
16 17

THE INDEPENDENT 
SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN 
COMMISSIONER

Jim Gamble QPM is the Independent 

Safeguarding Children Commissioner 

(ISCC) of the CHSCP.  This role is 

appointed by safeguarding partners 

and given authority to coordinate 

independent scrutiny of the local child 

safeguarding arrangements.  

 

The ISCC is fundamentally independent 

and has delegated authority from 

safeguarding partners to instigate Local 

Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews. 

The ISCC has significant experience 

of operating at a senior level in the 

strategic coordination of multi-agency 

services to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children. 

ASSURANCE 

 

Through engagement, commentary, and lobbying, the ISCC provides independent leadership in respect 

of local matters relevant to the safeguarding of children and young people. The ICSC holds both 

safeguarding partners and relevant agencies to account for their effectiveness in safeguarding children 

and young people.  The ISCC chairs the CHSCP’s Executive and the CHSCP Boards to ensure fundamental 

independence is built into the oversight of statutory safeguarding partners and relevant agencies.  The 

ISCC also chairs the Case Review sub-group to ensure independent decision making in respect of the 

commissioning and progress of reviews.  The ISCC continues to be engaged with elected officials to brief 

on specific issues, raise concerns and to provide an independent overview of practice.  This takes place via 

1:1 meetings and other forums (such as ‘joint chairs’ meetings) and those that engage elected members 

and other local boards (Health & Wellbeing / SAB / CSP).  The ISCC is also engaged by the Local 

Authority scrutiny functions in both the City of London and Hackney.   

  

ASSURANCE 

 

Following the accidental deaths of two children in their homes in Hackney, the Designated Doctor for 

Child Deaths in the City and Hackney escalated her concerns about the circumstances for the families 

involved.  As a result, the ISCC asked for the relevant housing protocols to be reviewed to ensure that 

sufficient regard is given to a household’s circumstances when a traumatic child death occurs, specifically 

the mental health impact on the family in remaining in the home where the death took place.  In the City 

of London, Members discussed this request and noted that the City Corporation’s Housing Allocations 

Scheme already gives officers wide discretion to assist families in traumatic circumstances - via the 

‘Management Transfer’ route. However, the scheme has now been amended to explicitly state that 

families suffering a child bereavement will automatically be eligible for Management Transfer; the highest 

category of priority on the housing register.  

THE CHSCP

P
age 29



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
18

Consistent with Working Together 2018, independent scrutiny 

of the safeguarding arrangements in the City of London and 

Hackney acts as a constructive critical friend and promotes 

reflection to drive continuous improvement. It helps improve 

outcomes for children and young people. The CHSCP’s 

approach to independent scrutiny is built on the fundamental 

premise that multi-agency working neither happens by itself 

nor via the good will of dedicated staff. Multi-agency work 

needs to be harnessed and driven and must at its heart be 

open to independent challenge to do better. 

 

Whilst led by the ISCC, independent scrutiny is delivered 

by more than one role and one person. It is embedded in 

the culture of how the CHSCP operates and how cross-

agency challenges from one agency to another can provide 

both a level of independence and the support needed for 

improvement. It is also part of a wider system which includes 

the independent regulation of safeguarding partners and 

relevant agencies by inspectorates and the partnership itself 

via the Joint Targeted Area Inspection’s regime. 

IMPACT

In September 2021 and March 2022, the CHSCP commissioned external 

safeguarding experts to undertake independent audits on the quality of 

referrals and strategy discussions respectively.  Details of the learning and 

impact are set out in the Learning & Improvement section of this report.

IMPACT

In line with recommendations from the Wood reviews into Local Safeguarding 

Arrangements, the CHSCP continued to utilise the in-house expertise of its 

Senior Professional Advisor.  The SPA is fundamentally independent from 

operational activity and has authored a number of case reviews for the 

CHSCP, alongside quality assuring those undertaken by external reviewers. 

Details of the learning and impact from the work of thw SPA are set out in the 

Learning & Improvement section of this report.

IMPACT

Hackney Children & Education commissioned the LGA to undertake a peer 

review of its arrangements to safeguard vulnerable adolescents.  Findings 

from this process were shared in February 2022 and are being used as a 

platform by partners to further develop our local response in this area.  

P
age 30



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
18 19

ASSURANCE 

 

Independent scrutiny similarly features as a fundamental principle of the CHSCP’s approach to learning and improvement, reflecting the partnership’s 

commitment to independent challenge and support. It is focused on achieving good and safe outcomes as follows:

 

•	 Agencies being subject to external inspection and positively responding to any findings and recommendations for practice improvement. 

•	 The ISCC being granted a ‘right to roam’ and the ability to access relevant information to test the sufficiency of the CHSCP’s safeguarding 

arrangements.

•	 A Senior Professional Advisor being appointed by safeguarding partners and working on behalf of the ISCC to lead the CHSCP support 

team. The SPA chairing the Quality Assurance Sub Group and being responsible for the delivery of the CHSCP’s Learning and Improvement 

Framework.  

•	 The ISCC providing an objective and independent assessment of the effectiveness of the safeguarding arrangements as part of an annual 

reporting cycle.

•	 The ISCC being engaged in resolving operational disputes through the CHSCP’s escalation process.

•	 Safeguarding partners, relevant agencies and the ISCC actively strengthening networks and building opportunities for local peer review and 

sector-led support. Where available, this will include independent support as negotiated with safeguarding partners in other local authority 

areas and/or any such support coordinated via the Local Government Association (LGA) and pan-London Safeguarding Children Partnership.

•	 The CHSCP commissioning external scrutiny as part of its Learning and Improvement Framework to help provide independent reassurance on 

the quality of practice.

•	 A Scrutiny Oversight Panel (SoP) meeting twice yearly to provide strategic insight, collective oversight and coordination of all scrutiny activity 

relating to the safeguarding children in the City of London and Hackney. 

P
age 31



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
20

THE CHSCP EXECUTIVE 
CHSCP Executive members are senior officers that can speak with authority for 

the safeguarding partner they represent.  They can hold their organisation to 

account, take decisions and commit them on policy, resourcing and practice 

matters.  The Executive is chaired by the ISCC and during 2021/22, comprised the 

following:  

•	 Anne Canning, The Group Director of Children, Adults and Community 

Health (Hackney Council) (replaced by Jacquie Burke, Group Director, 

Children & Education) 

•	 Andrew Carter, The Director of Children and Community Services (The City 

of London Corporation) 

•	 Siobhan Harper, Director of Transition (North East London CCG) (replaced by 

Amy Wilkinson, Integrated Commissioning Director) 

•	 Marcus Barnett, The Commander of the MPS Central East BCU 

•	 Dai Evans, T/Commander, City of London Police 

•	 Annie Gammon, Director of Hackney Education (Hackney Council)

THE CHSCP BOARDS
In mid-2021, the former CHSCP Executive group split to become two separate 

forums – The City of London Safeguarding Children Partnership Board and the 

Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership Board.  These groups comprise 

representatives from safeguarding partners and several relevant agencies.  They 

include named and designated professionals.  Both are independently chaired by 

the ISCC and are responsible for delivering the CHSCP business plan.  The core 

membership of the CHSCP Boards can be found HERE.  

ASSURANCE 

 

Covid-19:  This reporting year commenced in 

April 2021, shortly after children returned to 

school following the second extended period of 

national home learning (January - March 2021). 

This coincided with the launch of the national 

vaccination programme for COVID-19 and a large 

part of the partnership’s work was therefore again 

dominated by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Partnership meetings and subgroups continued 

to engage digitally. Contingency Oversight Group 

(COG) meetings (having been stood down) were 

also re-initiated for a number of sessions.  These 

concentrated on the direct and indirect impact 

of the pandemic by focussing on health and 

wellbeing of the partnership workforce (COVID 

fatigue, work pressures, isolation and vaccine 

hesitancy), line of sight of children and emerging 

safeguarding themes, as well as multi-agency 

interoperability.   COG meetings also reviewed 

the partnership risk assessment and multi-

agency responses to the pandemic, including the 

emerging safeguarding concerns following the 

national return to school.  

THE CHSCP

P
age 32

https://www.chscp.org.uk/members-and-partners/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
20 21

THE CHSCP TEAM
The CHSCP continues to be supported by 

a dedicated group of staff.  The core team 

includes a Senior Professional Advisor, a 

Business and Performance Manager, a 

Training Coordinator and a Partnership 

Coordinator.  

RELATIONSHIPS WITH OTHER 
BOARDS
There was ongoing engagement with the 

City & Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board 

(CHSAB) and other strategic partnerships 

in the City of London and Hackney during 

2021/22.  A Joint Strategic Chairs meeting 

continues to help facilitate oversight, 

coordination and challenge across these  

key forums.

THE CHSCP

P
age 33



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
22

CHSCP Structure 2021/22

The Executive

Statutory Safeguarding 
Partners Hackney Health & 

Wellbeing board

Hackney Community 
Safety Partnership

Hackney CYP Security

Safer City Partnership

City of London Health & 
Wellbeing Board

City of London 
Safeguarding Committee

Strategic Links to:

Hackney Safeguarding 
Children Partnership 

Board

Case Review Quality Assurance
Training, Learning & 

Development
Thematic Sub-Groups 
/ Task & Finish Groups

City of London 
Safeguarding Children 

Partnership Board

The Independent 
Safeguarding Children 

Commissioner

THE CHSCP

P
age 34



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
22 23

Attendance

CHSCP EXECUTIVE (FORMALLY KNOWN AS SLT)

Organisation April 2021 July 2021 Jan 2022 April 2022 Agency Specific Attendance (%)

City of London Corporation Yes Yes No Yes 75

Hackney Council Yes Yes Yes Yes 100

City & Hackney NHS North East London Yes Yes Yes Yes 100

Metropolitan Police Service Yes Yes Yes Yes 100

City of London Police No No Yes Yes 50

THE CHSCP

P
age 35



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
24

HACKNEY BOARD (FORMALLY KNOWN THE HACKNEY EXECUTIVE)

Organisation June 2021 Sept 2021 Nov 2021 Feb 2022 Agency Specific Attendance (%)

CAFCASS - Children & Families Court 

Advisory & Support Service
No No No No 0

Hackney Education No Yes No Yes 50

London Fire Brigade No Yes No No 25

Hackney Children & Families Service Yes Yes Yes Yes 100

Hackney Community & Voluntary Services No No No No 0

Homerton Healthcare NHS Foundation No Yes Yes Yes 75

NHS North East London (City and 

Hackney)
No Yes Yes Yes 75

East London NHS Foundation Trust Yes Yes Yes Yes 100

Hackney Housing Services No No No Yes 25

Metropolitan Police Service No No No No 0

Probation Service No No No No 0

Public Health Yes Yes Yes Yes 100

THE CHSCP

P
age 36



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
24 25

CITY OF LONDON BOARD

Organisation June 2021 Sept 2021 Nov 2021 Feb 2022 Agency Specific Attendance (%)

CAFCASS - Children & Families Court 

Advisory & Support Service
No No No No 0

City of London Corporation Yes Yes Yes Yes 100

London Fire Brigade No Yes Yes Yes 75

Homerton Healthcare NHS Foundation No No Yes Yes 50

City & Hackney NHS North East London 

(City and Hackney)
No Yes Yes Yes 75

East London NHS Foundation Trust Yes No Yes Yes 75

City of London Police No No Yes Yes 50

Probation Service No No Yes Yes 50

Public Health Yes Yes Yes Yes 100

THE CHSCP

P
age 37



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
26

Financial Arrangements

IMPACT

As part of its Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) programme, 

INEQE Safeguarding Group continues to support the local 

partnership in the production of its annual report.

INCOME £

Hackney Council 236,972  
(not including 
overheads)

City of London Corporation 29,480

Hackney Education 24,480

East London NHS Foundation Trust 24,480

City & Hackney CCG 12,000

Homerton Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 12,000

Metropolitan Police Service 5,000

Probation Service (London Division) 2,000

London Fire Brigade 500

Training Income 200

DFE Project funding 40,000 (one-off)

Total Income 347,112

THE CHSCP

EXPENDITURE £

Serious Case Reviews 5,995

Staffing and Travel 281,763

Training, Learning & Development 40,977

Printing, Supplies & Equipment 15,592

Venues & Miscellaneous 613

Total Expenditure 344,940

P
age 38

https://ineqe.com/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
26 27

Communication

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

27COMMUNICATION

P
age 39



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
28

THE CHSCP WEBSITE

    www.chscp.org.uk
 

23,274 visitors to the CHSCP website. 

1,403 monthly average visitors.

83% UK based visitors.  17% Global visitors. 

97 unique languages accessed the site. 

Following the publication of the Child Q review, 1,748 people  

visited the site on a single day (Wednesday 16 March 2022).

INTERACTION 

Total Page views 24,447 times

Home Page views 13,593 times

Case Reviews views 9,860 times

Child Q Review views 2,899 times

Training Calendar views 2,691 times

Membership Page views 1,624 times

Practice Guidance views 1,443 times

COMMUNICATION

P
age 40

https://chscp.org.uk/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
28 29

CHSCP TWITTER

    @lscp_chscp

In March 2022, 3,154 visitors landed on the CHSCP Twitter 

homepage.  The CHSCP’s Tweets regarding Child Q were viewed 

64,300 times with #ChildQ having a significant profile and reach:

4,790 original #ChildQ posts (not including retweets)

39,000 #ChildQ tweets (including retweets)

1,160 #ChildQ engagements (how many times a tweet has been 

clicked on, liked or retweeted)

55,400,000 #ChildQ impressions (how many Twitter user timelines 

Child Q appeared on)  

PRIVATE FOSTERING APP
 

The CHSCP continues to promote its Private Fostering App.  

To date, there have been over 16,000 downloads.  Alongside 

providing information about private fostering, the App includes 

a training module and other important advice for safeguarding 

professionals.

TUSK BRIEFINGS

    www.chscp.org.uk

The CHSCP produces e-briefings called Things You Should 

Know, more commonly referred to as ‘TUSK briefings’. These 

are circulated to subscribers and also cascaded by safeguarding 

partners, relevant agencies and named organisations.  The 

number of subscribers to the TUSK remained broadly static over 

2021/22, increasing from 1,432 to 1,441. 

YOUTUBE 

The CHSCP has produced several video guides covering a range 

of safeguarding topics.  These can be viewed HERE.  These have 

attracted just over 1,500 views to date.

COMMUNICATION

P
age 41

https://twitter.com/lscp_chscp
https://chscp.org.uk/chscb-briefings/
https://www.youtube.com/@chscp4170
https://apps.apple.com/gb/app/chscp/id1112523411
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.ineqe.privatefosteringawareness&hl=en_GB


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
30

Technology  
& Social Media

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

30TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

P
age 42



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
30 3130

With the growing use of technology and social media, all professionals need to adopt 
a much more sophisticated approach to their safeguarding responsibilities.  They 
need to reflect on the changing nature of communication and how this impacts upon 
practice issues, particularly those focused on the identification and assessment of 
potential risk.  To do this successfully, professionals need to recognize that children 
and young people do not use technology and social media in isolation.  Their offline 
and online worlds are converged, and both need to be understood when trying to 
identify the type of support that a child, young person and their family might need.  

To help professionals (and parents / carers) better understand this complex 
environment (and to help mitigate the escalation of this threat following the first 
Covid-19 lockdown), two Apps were launched by Hackney Council and the City of 
London Corporation.  The Safer Schools App provides support on topics including 
online bullying, mental health, sexting, media literacy, gaming and sexual exploitation 
online.  It costs nothing to download and provides access to advice, guidance and 
CPD accredited training, with a specific focus on making children and young people 
safer in the online world. It costs nothing to download.

TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

P
age 43

https://www.chscp.org.uk/practice-guidance/#1627129216463-76ac2b60-ac59


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
32

City Safeguarding 
Snapshot

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

32

P
age 44



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
32 3332

653 children and young people aged 0-18  

↑

7.7% of total population ↔

 

12% of children living in poverty 

13.7% of children in primary schools in receipt of free school       

meals (national average 20.8)

40 cases referred / stepped-down to the City’s Early Help Team

35 Team around the Child (TAC) meetings held

4 young people going missing from care (12 incidents)

0 incidents of children & young people missing from home

551 contacts to the City Children & Families Team Hub

139 referrals

15% re-referrals

41 statutory social work assessments completed by The City 

Children & Families Team

72% of assessments completed within 45 days

23 child protection investigations 

2 children on a Child Protection Plan as of March 2022

139 Children in Need episodes as of March 2022 

12 children & young people looked after as of March 2022

5 MARAC meeting involving children

15 referrals to the LADO

0 Private Fostering arrangements as of March 2022

P
age 45



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
34

Safeguarding 
in The City of 
London

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

34SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 46



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
34 3534

City of London Demographics

The City of London has an estimated resident population of about 8600 people 

and approximately 587,000 workers. City jobs have grown over 15% between 2017 

and 2021, with nearly 75,000 more jobs than in 2017. Of the resident population, 

2940 children and young people (0-25) live in the City of London. 709 are from 

ethnic minority backgrounds. The City of London is an economically diverse area, 

with its population characterised by areas of affluence and poverty. Within the 

Square Mile, there are large disparities.  The Barbican West and East residential 

areas are among the most affluent areas in England.  Portsoken Ward, however, 

is among the most deprived. The Bangladeshi community makes up 3.3% of 

the total population. Poverty and overcrowding in housing was identified as a 

significant issue in children’s wellbeing as well as the Covid 19 pandemic. The 

pandemic increased the demand for mental health and speech and language 

services, and had a detrimental impact on children’s personal, social, and 

emotional development.  Within the City, there is one maintained primary school 

(with a Children’s Centre attached), four independent schools and several higher 

educational establishments. It has no maintained secondary schools. The majority 

of children attending these schools come from other boroughs and most of the 

local authority’s secondary school age children go to school outside of the City.  

*Note:  The City of London total population from the Census 2021 was 8579.  The 

under 18 population (0-17) was 653.  Census figures are lower than they were 

expected to be.  Official mid year population estimates from ONS are not due to be 

officially released until 21 December 2022. 

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 47



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
36

Early Help

Early help services across the City of London are delivered by 

People’s Services and a range of partners, including schools, children 

centres, one GP surgery and health colleagues as well as other local 

service providers, including the community and voluntary sector.  

They are effective, and some are particularly strong.  The range of 

services available to children, young people and their families in the 

City continue to adapt and evolve based on the needs of the local 

population.  The early help arrangements in the City have been in 

place now for a number of years and are embedded with agencies.  

All children needing an early help service in the City receive a well-

resourced, dedicated service, which is provided by trained staff.  Over 

2021/22, the Early Help Strategy for the City of London continued to 

drive partnership improvements.   With a focus on ensuring the right 

help is provided at the right time and in the right place, the strategy is 

focussed on key strategic objectives and is coordinated by the CHSCP 

City Early Help Sub-Group. Through critical reflection, consultation 

and co-production with children and families, partners from the Multi-

Agency Practitioners Forum and the City’s Parent Carer Forum for 

children with SEND, the following progress has been made.

EVIDENCE

In 2021/22, 40 cases were referred or stepped down to early 

help services. This is a substantial increase on the 12 referred 

the previous year.  In Q1 of 2022/23 there were 30 reflecting the 

support provided to families as part of the Afghan Resettlement 

Programme.  31 Early Help assessments were completed and 35 

Team around the family meetings held.  

EVIDENCE

No child resident in the City aged under 18 years has committed 

an offence in the last two years. One child committed an offence 

in the last five years. Whilst child population numbers remain 

low, the robust Early Help offer in the City of London and its 

outstanding social care service are likely to be key contributors to 

low levels of both offending and recidivism.  

ASSURANCE

No cases were stepped up to Children’s Social care reflecting 

the effectiveness of the City’s multi-agency intervention to 

improve outcomes for children and young people and preventing 

problems getting worse. 

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 48



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
36 37

ASSURANCE

The City of London has a clear Thresholds of Need document 

that has been agreed with partner agencies. This is used to 

provide services at an appropriate stage and as early as possible 

to prevent higher levels of need in the future.

There is a single point of contact for referrals to Early Help 

services and Children’s Social Care, enabling timely and 

appropriate decision making and allocation.

The Early Help Assessment is co-created with the family, 

including discussions with the child/ young person as well as 

with practitioners from involved agencies. 

Early help practice in the City of London is Empowered: 

evidenced through insightful assessments by highly skilled staff, 

that lead to robust offers of help.  Child-centred: evidenced by 

children and young people routinely being present at meetings or 

represented through direct work.  Integrated: evidenced through 

a strong ‘Think Family Focus’, and a ‘top-three’ (cases of concern) 

collaboration across children’s, health, adult, housing and 

homeless service

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 49



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
38

Children in Need of Help  
and Protection 

Good practice with children and young people who are in need of 

help and protection can be seen when help is provided early in the 

emergence of a problem and there is a well-coordinated multi-agency 

response. Thresholds between early help and statutory child protection 

work are appropriate, understood and operate effectively. Risk is 

effectively mitigated and outcomes improved through good assessment, 

authoritative practice, planning and review.

ASSURANCE

In January 2022, a review project was started for MASH processes, 

following on from an Audit of contacts, assessments and referrals 

that took place in late 2021. This is also factoring in the findings 

from a London-wide review of the MASH process as they emerge. 

Additional strengthening of the MASH and Front door system is 

ongoing. Currently 100% MASH responses have been timely, and 

MASH is checked consistently by staff. A consultant has been 

recruited to add additional capacity. Data monitoring and audit work 

have confirmed that children and families are receiving a timely, safe 

decision-making service. 

ASSURANCE

MASH health contributes to the CoL virtual MASH through 

participating in strategy discussions, representing health, gathering 

health information for MASH checks, and identifying /facilitating 

appropriate health professionals to participate in strategy meetings. 

Working with the Homerton informatics team, data has now been 

disaggregated to show CoL specific information. The CoL virtual 

MASH continues to be effectively supported by Homerton colleagues.  

During 2021/22, there were 10 health requests for MASH checks and 

participation in 27 strategy discussions.

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 50



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
38 39

Contacts, Referrals  
and Assessments 

The Children and Families Team Hub provides responsive screening 

activities and ensures all contacts are immediately progressed as 

a referral if the threshold for a statutory social work assessment is 

met. Signposting activity requires staff to have a continually updated 

knowledge of local services alongside a comprehensive understanding 

of the City of London Thresholds of Need.  The Children and Families 

Team Hub aims to ensure that only those children meeting thresholds 

for statutory assessments are progressed as referrals.  Local Authorities 

undertake these assessments to determine what services to provide 

and what action to take.  The full set of statutory assessments under the 

Children Act 1989 can be found HERE.  

EVIDENCE

The 551 contacts made to the Children and Families Hub reflects a 

substantial increase on the 259 in 2020/21.  Referrals also increased 

from 62 in 2020/21 to 139 in 2021/22.  The re-referral rate in the City 

of London increased from 9.7% in 2020/21 to 15%.  Notwithstanding 

the increased demand during 2021/22, the performance data in the 

City continues to be indicative of a good social work response and 

timely access to appropriate support that helps children and their 

families.  The Children and Families Team completed 59 assessments 

during 2021/22, compared to 38 in 2020/21.  71% of assessments 

were completed within 45 days or less.  Child protection activity 

increased significantly.  There were 23 child protection (Section 47) 

enquiries in 2010/22, compared to just five in 2020/21.

ASSURANCE

Despite the clear challenges arising from identification of need and 

risk, children continued to receive a swift service during 2021/22 

when safeguarding concerns became apparent.  All Section 47 

enquiries undertaken in the City are led by a suitably qualified and 

experienced registered social worker. 

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 51

http://www.workingtogetheronline.co.uk/chapters/chapter_one.html#assessments


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
40

CHILDREN ON CHILD PROTECTION PLANS 

Following a child protection enquiry, where concerns of significant harm 

are substantiated and the child is judged to be suffering, or likely to suffer, 

significant harm, social workers and their managers should convene an Initial 

Child Protection Conference (ICPC). An ICPC brings together family members 

(and children / young people where appropriate) with supporters, advocates 

and professionals to analyse information and plan how best to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of the child / young person. If the ICPC considers that 

the child / young person is at a continuing risk of significant harm, they will be 

made the subject of a Child Protection Plan (CPP).  Children who have a CPP 

are considered to be in need of protection from either neglect, physical, sexual 

or emotional abuse; or a combination of one or more of these. The CPP details 

the main areas of concern, what action will be taken to reduce those concerns 

and by whom, and how professionals, the family and the child or young person 

(where appropriate) will know when progress is being made.  Ten children were 

subject to a CPP in the City over the course of 2020/21.   

ASSURANCE

100% of Initial Child protection Conferences were held within 15 days of the 

strategy discussion triggering a child protection enquiry.  100% of all children 

who had a Child protection Plan were reviewed within 3 months of the plan 

being made.   

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 52



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
40 41

Children in Care  

A child or young person who is ‘looked after’ is in the care of the local 

authority. They can be placed in care voluntarily by parents struggling 

to cope, they can be unaccompanied asylum-seeking children; or in 

other circumstances, The City of London Corporation and partners will 

intervene because the child or young person is at risk of significant harm.   

As of 31 March 2022, the City of London Corporation was responsible for 

looking after 11 children and young people, a reduction from 20 (81%) in 

2020/21.  There were 30 looked after children throughout the reporting 

year which represents a decrease of 36% (there were 41 children looked 

after throughout the previous reporting year). 

ASSURANCE

There was continued focus on the promotion of the Children’s 

Right services in the City of London, resulting in a significant rise 

and consistent use of advocacy and independent visiting service. 

This helps increase the level of support for looked-after children 

and gives them access to social opportunities.

EVIDENCE

27 of the 30 children looked after during this period required 

accommodation due to being unaccompanied asylum-seeking 

children (UASC) and in each of these cases, they were received into 

care under Section 20 of the 1989 Children Act and appropriately 

remained looked after under this legal status throughout the year. 

PLACEMENT STABILITY, TYPE AND LOCATION

In 2021/22, no looked after child had three or more changes 

of placement over the year. This continues to reflect good 

performance and means that children looked after by the City tend 

to enjoy good stability and placements that meet their needs well.  

The local authority does not have its own fostering service due to 

the size of the looked after children population, but spot purchases 

from the Pan London consortium. Ofsted rates all independent 

fostering agencies used by the City either Good or Outstanding. 

There are sufficient suitable placements available to meet the 

needs of the City’s looked after children and young people.  All 

placements are outside of the local authority, with eight young 

people being placed over 20 miles from the City. 

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 53



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
42

Care Leavers  

There is a strong range of support for care leavers in the City of London.  

Care Leavers are well supported, workers remain in touch with them, 

there is availability of suitable accommodation, and they are provided 

with health support.  There were 42 Care Leavers at the end of March 

2022.  

ASSURANCE

A permanent Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) has been in 

post since 2017.  During 2021/22, the IRO embedded the use of the 

independent skills checklist. This has been a key area of focus for 

the IRO service and is prioritised when reviewing young people’s 

pathway plans. This helps to identify any gaps in young people’s 

skills and helps them to be more prepared when they start to live 

independently. 

ASSURANCE

Face-to-face work with Care Leavers has resumed in 2022 and 

additional support has been put into place to support care-leavers 

with issues arising from the pandemic. Mental health, loneliness and 

isolation have been identified as key issues, so face-to-face meetings 

and small group outings with social workers and other Care Leavers 

have been implemented in order to help them feel more connected to 

their peers and their workers. Feedback from care leavers highlighted 

the success of the ongoing practical and emotional support which 

had got them to a stage of managing their own lives successfully 

and with confidence. City of London Self Assessment 2022.

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 54



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
42 43

Violence Against Women and Girls 

Children and young people who are exposed to domestic violence 

and abuse can grow up in a vacuum of what is expected in terms 

of a positive and healthy relationship.  This can create additional 

vulnerabilities and/or harmful behaviours.  Responding proactively and 

in collaboration with the Safer City Partnership (SCP), violence against 

women and girls remains a key priority for the CHSCP, recognising both 

the short and long-term impact on the safety and welfare of children 

and young people.  During 2021/22, the SCP continued its focus on 

developing services and a new Violence Against Women and Girls 

Strategy.

EVIDENCE 

Between 2019 and 2021 there were just under 200 crimes in the City 

of London where the victim was under the age of 18 (most related 

to non-City residents). Just over a third of these offences affected 

girls. Whilst overall crime decreased due to the Covid-19 lockdowns, 

there was a sharp jump in the number of sexual offences committed 

against female children in 2020. These offences comprised rapes, 

sexual assault and reports of peer on peer sexual assaults of 

teenage girls. Publicity surrounding the website ‘Everyone’s Invited’ 

may have encouraged these latter victims to report. 

MARAC 

Operational arrangements for MARAC (multi-agency risk assessment 

case conference) processes are clearly defined in the City.  The City 

MARAC operates a lower threshold than in other local authorities and 

takes cases where a preventative approach would be helpful. This is 

good practice and enables children with these families to have a better 

co-ordinated multi agency service.

EVIDENCE 

In 2021/22, 10 MARACs were held, four of which involved children.  

This increase mirrors the patterns seen elsewhere across London and 

the UK in terms of domestic violence and abuse escalating during 

periods of lockdown.

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 55



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
44

Safeguarding Adolescents 

Understanding the context in which children and young people live their lives is an essential 

feature of effective multi-agency intervention. For the CHSCP, this issue remains central to our 

overall approach in making children and young people safer. Context is key.  During 2019/20, 

the CHSCP refreshed its defined strategy for safeguarding adolescents.  This strategy builds on 

the progress made by the partnership in safeguarding children and young people at risk of child 

sexual exploitation (CSE) and those missing from home, care and education. It was developed 

in parallel to our improved understanding of the issues facing young people; established 

through focused problem profiles, national and local learning and intelligence pictures involving 

vulnerable adolescents. 

The strategy continues draws on evidence about effective practice from contemporary research. 

It is a focussed document that sets the parameters for developing our understanding of the 

complexities of young people’s vulnerabilities and finding more effective multi-agency responses 

to these issues. The strategy maintains a focus on making sure that professionals are getting the 

basics right whilst striving to develop best practice in terms of the following priorities:

•	 Knowing our Problem, Knowing our Response 

•	 Strong Leadership 

•	 Prevention and Early Intervention 

•	 Protection and Support 

•	 Disruption and Prosecution 

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 56



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
44 45

CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION

Understanding the nature and prevalence of child sexual exploitation 

(CSE) and harmful sexual behaviour (HSB) and ensuring that partner 

agencies provide appropriate safeguarding responses and interventions 

remains a priority.  In February 2017, a revised definition of CSE was issued 

by the Department for Education (DfE).   

‘Child sexual exploitation is a form of child sexual abuse. It occurs 

where an individual or group takes advantage of an imbalance of 

power to coerce, manipulate or deceive a child or young person 

under the age of 18 into sexual activity (a) in exchange for something 

the victim needs or wants, and/or (b) for the financial advantage 

or increased status of the perpetrator or facilitator. The victim may 

have been sexually exploited even if the sexual activity appears 

consensual. Child sexual exploitation does not always involve 

physical contact; it can also occur through the use of technology.’ 

DfE 2017 

The City of London continued to experience a low number of cases 

relating to Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE), with most contacts being 

about non- residents.  Over the last four years, the crimes relating 

to CSE that have been recorded by the City Police include rape, 

sexual activity and possession of indecent images.  Cases have also 

included grooming by offenders via the internet / social media.  

Partner agencies engaged in the City continue to share intelligence 

that may influence the knowledge of the profile.  Of significance is the 

City’s location as a major transport hub.  A quarterly data set of over 

twenty indicators produced for the MACE Group supplements the 

information provided by the City Police. This informs understanding, 

and the identification of risk indicators.  In recognition of the 

overlapping vulnerabilities adolescents face, the City Multi-Agency 

Sexual Exploitation panel was changed to the Multi-Agency Child 

Exploitation panel to include all forms of abuse and exploitation that 

adolescents are at increased risk of. Although few in number and type 

and relatively lower level risk in comparison to neighbouring LAs, the 

City is not complacent and maintains an ‘it could happen here’ stance.

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 57



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
46

CHILDREN MISSING FROM HOME, CARE AND EDUCATION 

The City Police lead on all children who go missing from home or 

care and a coordinated response takes place with the City Children 

and Families team, working closely with the child’s parents or carers.  

Numbers of children who go missing in the City of London are very low.  

A specific part of the Safeguarding Adolescent Strategy focuses on the 

effective management of children who are missing.  The City of London 

has reviewed its Missing from Care Procedures and the arrangements 

for Return Home Interviews.  There remains senior leadership oversight 

through the missing period  with robust partnership arrangements 

in place. All strategy meetings have health, social care and police 

engagement as a minimum.  This has helped with the timely response to 

missing episodes and alerting relevant authorities to missing episodes.   

ASSURANCE

Since 2015, the City of London Corporation has implemented a 

rigorous system to identify all children of statutory school age and 

where they attend school. The City of London maintains this record 

of where children are placed through the primary and secondary 

transitions process. A school tracker is updated and reviewed 

regularly. 

ASSURANCE

There is senior leadership oversight through the missing period with 

robust partnership arrangements in place.  All strategy meetings 

have health, social care and police engagement as a minimum. This 

has helped with the timely response to missing episodes and alerting 

relevant authorities to missing episodes.

A Vulnerable Children’s list includes missing and includes oversight 

by social care and education. This is currently reviewed monthly and 

throughout Covid-19 was reviewed weekly.

ASSURANCE

NCH Action for Children is commissioned by the City of London 

Corporation to give missing children a return home interview within 

72 hours.  These interviews are followed up with therapeutic support 

depending on the outcome to address risk-taking behaviour. This 

is in line with statutory guidance published by the Department of 

Education in 2014.  Return home interviews are reviewed and used by 

the partnership to understand the reasons why children go missing 

and inform strategy and service delivery.  

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 58



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
46 47

GANGS, CRIMINAL EXPLOITATION AND  

SERIOUS YOUTH VIOLENCE 

There are a number of ways in which young people can be put 

at risk by gang activity, both through participation in and as 

victims of gang violence which can be in relation to their peers 

or to a gang-involved adult in their household.  The City of 

London Drugs Profile found that the largest area of drug misuse 

was among affluent City workers with the supply of drugs 

controlled by organised criminal groups involving male ‘runners’ 

in their 20s who often deal pre-ordered drugs out of their cars. 

While drug related crime involving resident CYPs is low, a 

case involving a trafficked young person highlights this as an 

emerging theme that requires close attention and partnership 

working between Police, Adult and Children’s Social Care, 

and businesses in the City.  There is concern in the north that 

young adults known to be associated with Islington gangs have 

started to hang around Golden Lane Estate. Community safety 

partners are monitoring this closely and report ‘no hard issues’ 

other than gang related graffiti to date. Work with the estate and 

Islington is needed to understand this emerging pattern and 

mitigate associated risks for CYP. 

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

LEARNING

Child Criminal Exploitation is an issue of abuse not a 

lifestyle choice and the children who are criminally 

exploited are victims. It is important that practitioners 

understand this when engaging young people and 

recording any information about them. In many cases, 

the boundary between ‘victim’ and ‘offender’ will often 

be blurred. Practitioners need to give sufficient priority 

to both areas as part of their practice. Put simply, when 

offending is driven by exploitation, one won’t be addressed 

without the other.  In response to local learning, the 

CHSCP developed a briefing on Child Criminal Exploitation 

including what it is, recognising vulnerability and signs to 

look out for. Download the briefing HERE.  

LEARNING

To help influence practice when responding to 

children subjected to exploitation, as well as wider 

organisational culture across the partnership, the 

CHSCP promoted the excellent guidance issued by the 

Children’s Society on the use of appropriate language 

in child exploitation.  Read the guidance HERE.

P
age 59

https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/Child-Criminal-Exploitation-Safeguarding-in-Seven.pdf
https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/Child-Exploitation-Appropriate-Language-Guide-2022.pdf


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
48

RADICALISATION

The Counter Terrorism and Security Act received Royal Assent on 12th 

February 2015.  Prevent was placed on a statutory footing in July 2015 to 

ensure all specified authorities in local areas, as a minimum, understand 

the local threat and take action to address it, assess if local frontline staff 

need training to recognise radicalisation, and to ensure that all of those 

who need to work together to deliver the programme do so in the most 

effective way.  The City of London has not been identified as a Priority 

Area and as such, receives no additional Home Office funding to deliver 

its Prevent programme.  The Safer City Partnership (SCP) retains overall 

governance of this agenda, which includes a focus on ensuring there are 

sufficient arrangements in place to safeguard children and young people. 

The City of London Police delivers Prevent training to schools, youth 

providers and businesses.

Project Servator was established in the City of London in partnership with 

the Centre for the Protection of National Infrastructure in 2014. It aims to 

disrupt a range of criminal activity, including terrorism, while providing a 

reassuring presence for the public. Since then, 23 other police forces have 

adopted it under the leadership of the CoLP, including New South Wales 

Police Force in Australia. During 2016–2019 : 

•	 over 33,500 engagement messages were given to the public; 

•	 78 people received ACT (Action Counters Terrorism) training within the 

year 2019; 

•	 enhanced collaboration with the Corporation of London public realm 

teams has led to the implementation of a number of security and 

safety projects across the City of London; 

•	 1,000+ Project Servator deployments;

•	 115 reports of suspicious activity related to terrorism were 

investigated; and

•	 57 arrests were made by Project Servator officers.

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 60



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
48 49

Private Fostering 

A child under the age of 16 (under 18, if disabled) who is cared 

for and provided with accommodation by someone other than 

a parent, person with parental responsibility or a close relative 

for 28 days or more is privately fostered.  The arrangements 

for managing private fostering in the City accord with statutory 

requirements.  No notifications were received in The City of 

London during 2020/21.  Promotion continues via the CHSCP 

Private Fostering App.  

IMPACT

A Private Fostering App originally launched in the 

City of London (and subsequently developed by the 

CHSCP) to support awareness raising across the 

partnership has been downloaded 16000 times.  

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 61

https://hackney.gov.uk/fostering-private


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
50

Children with Disabilities
 

Since the introduction of the special educational needs and disability (SEND) 

reforms in September 2014, the City of London Corporation has made 

good progress in implementing these.  All former Statements of Special 

Educational Needs were transferred to Education, Health and Care (EHC) 

plans well in advance of the national deadline of 1 April 2018.  All statutory 

assessments are completed within 20 weeks (the statutory timeframe).  There 

remains a very high level of satisfaction rate amongst families accessing the 

City of London’s services and their view of multi-agency working is good. The 

SEND Joint Strategy and self-evaluation form (SEF) has been developed with 

both partners and families to set out the City’s priorities and to highlight the 

areas where the most progress is being made. 

MAPPA 
 

Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) are the 

statutory measures for managing sexual and violent offenders. 

The Police, Prison and Probation Services (Responsible Authority) 

have the duty and responsibility to ensure MAPPA are established 

in their area and for the assessment and management of risk of 

all identified MAPPA offenders.  The purpose of MAPPA is to help 

reduce the re-offending behaviour of sexual and violent offenders 

in order to protect the public from serious harm, by ensuring all 

agencies work together effectively.  

EVIDENCE

Across London on 31 March 2022, there were 6700 

Category 1 ‘Registered Sex Offenders’ (RSOs) (6549 in 

2020/21, 6581 in 2019/20 and 6452 in 2018/19), 3660 

Category 2 ‘Violent Offenders’ (3521 in 2020/21, 3735 in 

2019/20 and 4128 in 2018/19) and 55 Category 3 ‘Other 

Dangerous Offenders’ (61 in 2020/21, 31 in 2019/20 and 27 

in 2018/19).  

153 RSOs were cautioned or convicted for breach of 

notification requirements.

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 62



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
50 51

Afghan Families 
Resettlement Programme 

Since August 2021 the UK government has evacuated over 

ten thousand Afghan nationals to the UK. The government 

established bridging hotels around the UK as temporary 

accommodation for evacuees to reside in until they are 

matched with long term homes. 

EVIDENCE

There are two bridging hotels within the City of London, 

secured by the Home Office, that have accommodated 

556 individuals (including new-borns) to date.  Over the 

last 9 months, 104 individuals (across 26 households) 

have moved on to settled homes or alternative short 

term accommodation. Move on accommodation offers 

are being sourced and offered by the Home Office based 

on the support of local authorities across the country. 

IMPACT

Partners in the City of London moved at pace to respond to this rapidly 

evolving situation.  With the City of London Corporation leading coordination, 

a dedicated steering group was set up with defined terms of reference.  This 

group was responsible for: 

•	 Identifying those affected and in need of universal, targeted or specialist 
support

•	 Working proactively with the Home Office regarding wrap-around support and 
provision at the hotels

•	 Ensure an appropriate level of support is available for families and individuals

•	 Monitoring of performance and intervening to bolster the response where 
necessary

•	 Liaising with communities, including the business and faith communities to  
co-ordinate effective responses and promote community cohesion

•	 Ensuring effective mechanisms exist for sharing of information and workload 
between relevant agencies, voluntary and community groups and neighbouring 
boroughs

•	 Promoting safeguarding, health and safety and the minimisation of risks for 
Afghan citizens, volunteers, staff and communities.

Overall, City of London leaders and practitioners have provided comprehensive 

wraparound support to Afghan families to help their transition to the UK.  This 

has covered the full spectrum of services and has (and continues to be) a 

tremendous response.

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 63



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
52

IMPACT

Guests at Afghan Resettlement Programme hotels have 

been helped throughout this last year with accommodation, 

practical and emotional support, cultural orientation, 

parenting help and consistent kind Early Help support 

via twice weekly drop-ins. Staffing was increased with an 

Afghan Project Lead social worker, additional administrative 

capacity, and an additional social worker. The project 

has helped families leave the hotel, either to move to 

their new permanent accommodation, or to their next 

accommodation provided by the Home Office. Support was 

offered to help understand new areas, transfer of schools 

and health services, as well as basic tasks such as buying 

bags/suitcases. This project is coming to an end as guests 

relocate. The project lead has capacity to further strengthen 

the City’s Children in Need work. 

ASSURANCE

To help improve the ability of hotel staff to recognise the signs and 

symptoms of child abuse and neglect, the CHSCP delivered bespoke 

training to a range of hotel managers and operatives.

EVIDENCE

Recognising the new environment in which families would 

be living, the CHSCP partnered with the Royal Society for 

the Prevention of Accidents to issue translated material for 

families in both Pashto and Dari.

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 64



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
52 53

Everyone’s Invited

Following the murder of Sarah Everard in March 2021 there was 

increased awareness of the issue of violence against women and girls. 

It was at this time that the Everyone’s Invited website came to national 

prominence. Everyone’s Invited stated that it was ‘a place for survivors to 

share their stories’ and had as its mission ‘to expose and eradicate rape 

culture with empathy, compassion and understanding’.

The website saw thousands of young women report their experiences 

of harassment, abuse and assault perpetrated by boys or young men 

who either attend their own school, a neighbouring school or their 

university. The reports were anonymous though the testimonies often 

named the school or university the perpetrator attended. Independent 

and state schools nationally were named on the site. Reported 

incidents occurred both in school and out of school (e.g. at parties). 

Some boys also posted their experiences. Nationally in response the 

following occurred:

•	 Nationally coordinated police response.

•	 A ‘Report Abuse in Education’ helpline set up.

•	 Ofsted were asked to conduct a review; and

•	 Entries reviewed and, where appropriate, local safeguarding 

partners notified.

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 65



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
54

EVIDENCE 

In June 2021 Ofsted published their review of into sexual abuse 

and harassment in schools and colleges having visited 32 schools 

and spoken with over 900 young people in those settings.  Ofsted’s 

review highlighted how prevalent sexual harassment and online 

sexual abuse are for children and young people and that incidents 

were so commonplace that children and young people saw no point 

in reporting them.

 

Girls told Ofsted that sexual harassment and online sexual abuse 

was much more prevalent than adults realise and that it occurred 

so frequently that it had become commonplace. The frequency of 

harmful sexual behaviours means that some children and young 

people consider them normal.

When asked about where sexual violence occurred unsupervised 

spaces outside of school, such as parties or parks without adults 

present, were mentioned though some girls reported to Ofsted that 

they also experienced unwanted touching in school corridors.

Children and young people, especially girls, told Ofsted that they do 

not want to talk about sexual abuse for several reasons, even where 

their school encourages them to. For example, the reported that the 

risk of being ostracised by peers or getting peers into trouble is not 

considered to be worth it for something perceived by children and 

young people to be commonplace. They were also worried about 

how adults will react, because they think they will not be believed, 

or that they will be blamed. They also think that once they talk to an 

adult, the process will be out of their control.

The Ofsted review found that children and young people reported 

that they were rarely positive about the relationships, sex and health 

education (RSHE) they had received. They felt that it was too little, 

too late and that the curriculum was not equipping them with the 

information and advice they needed to navigate the reality of their 

lives.

In the schools and colleges Ofsted visited, some teachers and 

leaders underestimated the scale of the problem. They found that 

schools either did not identify sexual harassment and sexualised 

language as problematic or they were unaware they were 

happening. They were however dealing with incidents of sexual 

violence when they were made aware of them, and following 

statutory guidance.

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 66



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
54 55

IMPACT 

Since publication of Ofsted’s report, schools and colleges have 

responded to the issues raised in the review and have sought to 

create a culture where girls and young women are safe in schools. 

Different schools and colleges nationally have responded to 

the report in different ways depending on their school or college 

context. Activities have however broadly fallen into one of five 

categories:

•	 Understanding the current situation by meeting with groups of 

pupils / meeting with staff & reviewing behaviour incidents

•	 Handling disclosures by reviewing and updating reporting 

mechanisms / Introducing anonymised reporting & discussing 

how best to report with pupils

•	 Policies, procedures and training by updating safeguarding 

and behaviour policies & providing training for relevant staff

•	 RSHE Curriculum by reviewing and updating the RSHE 

curriculum, ensuring key topics were revisited & training for staff 

delivering the RSHE curriculum

•	 Raising Awareness by holding age-appropriate assemblies with 

pupils & briefing staff on the report and any changes to policies

ASSURANCE

In September 2021, the Executive of the London Safeguarding Children 

Partnership met and discussed the ongoing work to protect children 

from sexual harassment and assault.   Following that discussion, it 

highlighted to local safeguarding partnerships a joint letter from the 

Department of Health and Social Care, the Department for Education 

and the Home Office that had been sent to all safeguarding partners.  

The letter reminded safeguarding partners of the request from Minister 

Ford to review how they work with all your schools and colleges locally 

[including academies and independent schools] and to set out your 

offer of support to schools and colleges.  The CHSCP’s offer of support 

can be found on its dedicated schools and colleges webpages HERE.

ASSURANCE

The CHSCP recognises the vital role of schools and colleges in 

safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and young people.  

As part of our local safeguarding system, all schools and colleges in 

the City of London and Hackney are designated as relevant agencies.  

This places them at the centre of our arrangements. 

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 67

https://chscp.org.uk/schools-colleges/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
56

ASSURANCE

A key collaboration of people is evident within the City of London’s 

Safeguarding Education Forum (SEF).  The SEF provides an 

opportunity for the City of London Schools to meet on a termly basis to 

share and consider policy, practice and procedural issues relating to 

safeguarding arrangements in school settings. 

The SEF will review national, regional and local issues in terms 

of statutory requirements and best practice developments.  The 

partnership will provide an opportunity to share learning and best 

practice, drawing upon school inspections, reviews, self-assessments 

and school improvement plans in order to improve safeguarding 

arrangements across all City of London schools. 

ASSURANCE

There are a range of organisations, teams, forums and individual 

practitioners in the City of London that can provide direct support to 

schools, colleges and the wider education sector.  

These arrangements help make children safer and support positive 

experiences for them in education. 

56SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 68



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
56 5756

Safer Workforce 
 

Despite all efforts to recruit safely there will be occasions when 

allegations are made against staff or volunteers working with children.  

Organisations should have clear procedures in place that explain 

what should happen when such allegations are raised. These should 

include the requirement to appoint a Designated Safeguarding Lead 

(DSL) to whom these allegations are reported. It is ordinarily the 

responsibility of the DSL to report allegations to, and otherwise liaise 

with, the Designated Officer in the local authority (referred to as the 

LADO).  The LADO has the responsibility to manage and have oversight 

of allegations against people who work with children.  Reporting to the 

Assistant Director of People Services, the LADO role in the City is held 

by the Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Service Manager.  The LADO 

should always be contacted when there is an allegation that any person 

who works with children has:

•	 Behaved in a way that has harmed a child, or may have harmed  

a child.

•	 Possibly committed a criminal offence against or related to a child.

•	 Behaved towards a child or children in a way that indicates they may 

pose a risk of harm to children.

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 69



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
58

EVIDENCE

Themes - Of the 15 referrals received, eight related to incidents involving physical contact, six related to sexual concerns and 

one was due to the professional’s behaviour.  In total there were five cases that related to incidents in the personal lives of the 

professionals (four of these case related to concerns of a sexual nature).

EVIDENCE

Activity - There were 15 referrals made to the LADO during 2021/2022, the same as 2020/21.  Sources of referrals were varied, 

with the highest proportion coming from other Local Authorities. There was also a noted increase in referrals from employment 

agencies based in the City of London (covering health, social care and education). Concerns from this sector involved allegations 

that occurred outside of the City of London (where the professionals worked).  Whilst the City of London LADO provided support and 

advice, all these allegations were managed by the LADO in the area they occurred.  

EVIDENCE

Activity - Of the 15 referrals received, five required an Allegation Against Staff and Volunteers (ASV) Meeting. Of the 10 remaining 

referrals, three did not meet the threshold for LADO involvement, and seven required advice and support from the LADO in 

managing the concerns.

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 70



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
58 59

IMPACT

LADO Training & Awareness Raising  - Designated Safeguarding Leads accessed training through the CHSCP.  Part of this 

training focuses on the role of the LADO. Due to the pandemic, face-to face training by the LADO was similarly hindered in 

2021/22, but key professionals remained engaged through the Safeguarding Education Forum, CHSCP meetings, CHSCP training 

and the Contingency Oversight Group meetings convened in the City of London.   

IMPACT

The allegations management process can be especially difficult for those smaller agencies or charities who have minimal support 

from human resources.  Support from the City of London LADO helped assist many of these agencies in the management of risk and 

disciplinary processes as required.  All the agencies that were supported over 2021/22 fully understood the role of the LADO and 

managed the allegation appropriately within their agency. 

IMPACT

Virtual working allowed for the ongoing rapid engagement of the LADO in cases of concern. The speed at which meetings could 

be convened was enhanced without availability being affected by travel, distance and room availability.

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 71



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
60

ASSURANCE

The responsibility of the LADO is set out in 

Working Together to Safeguard Children 

2018 and Chapter 7 of the London Child 

Protection Procedures (7th edition). All 

allegations made against staff, including 

volunteers, that call into question their 

suitability to work with or be in a position 

of trust with children, whether made about 

events in their private or professional life, 

need to be formally reported to the LADO.  

Chapter 7 of the London Child Protection 

Procedures has recently been amended 

to provide consistency in respect of the 

response to low level concerns and to 

include the wider definition of people 

in ‘Positions of Trust’ (The Police, Crime, 

Sentencing and Courts Act 2022 has 

extended the definition of Position of Trust 

within the Sexual Offences Act 2003 section 

22A to include anyone who coaches, 

teaches, trains, supervises or instructs 

a child under 18, on a regular basis, in a 

sport or a religion).

ASSURANCE

In January 2022, the CHSCP Executive discussed the interface between the police and the 

Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO).  This related to the absence of routine contact from 

the police concerning conduct matters that meet the threshold for the LADO to be notified. 

This has been an ongoing issue for some time and is not unique to the City of London or 

Hackney.  A Pan-London group looked at solutions, although work was placed on hold due 

to COVID-19 and subsequently stalled.  With the agreement of the Executive, a small group 

was scheduled to meet to discuss the possibility of a local protocol, although for a variety of 

reasons, this did not go ahead.  

Given there remained no consistent mechanism allowing for oversight on possible LADO 

issues concerning the police, the ISCC wrote to Commanders in both the City of London and 

Hackney seeking their cooperation in this regard.  The request has been relatively simple in 

that the City Police and CE BCU should include a trigger point within their processes to notify 

the LADO of any case that meets the criteria.  This will not interfere with conduct procedures 

and will create immediate alignment with other safeguarding partners and relevant 

agencies.  At present, the police remain an outlier to working within our defined safeguarding 

arrangements and procedures.

LEARNING

LADO Training & Awareness Raising - CHSCP training at Level 1 and 3 covers the 

management of allegations against staff and volunteers.  The City of London LADO has 

agreed to run a number of seminars for the CHSCP training programme during 2023/24.

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

P
age 72



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
60 61

Hackney 
Safeguarding 
Snapshot

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

61

P
age 73



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
62

Approximately 55,560 children and young people 

..............under 18

21% of total population

           24.7% of under 16s live in a low income family 

483 children were subject to a CAF and MAT intervention

291 new early help cases identified and supported ............ 

/////....through the MAT process

12,313 contacts to Hackney CFS

3,559 referrals

17% re-referrals

3,293 assessments completed by Hackney CFS

82% of assessments were completed within 45 days

795 child protection investigations

211 Children on a Child Protection Plan as of March 2021

405 children & young people looked after as of March 2021

301 MARAC meetings involving children and young people  

..............living in families with domestic violence

311 contacts to the LADO

16 Private Fostering arrangements

     16,676  young people accessed universal services offered 	

           through Young Hackney

     1,471 young people received targeted support through Young 	

           Hackney

179 children entered care during 2021/22 

387 care leavers aged between 17 and 21 were being	  	

           supported by the Leaving Care service  

     279 children and families were referred to the Clinical Service 	

           in 2021/22

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 74



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
62 63

Safeguarding  
in Hackney

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

63SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 75



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
64

Hackney Demographics

The London Borough of Hackney is an inner-city London borough.  The 

ONS estimates there were 259,200 people living in Hackney in March 2021 

with 22.5% of its population aged under 18 (58,345 children).  Hackney is a 

culturally diverse area, with significant ‘Other White’, Black and Turkish/

Kurdish communities.  A large Charedi Jewish community is concentrated 

in the North East of the borough and is growing.  Hackney was the 22nd 

most deprived local authority overall in England in the 2019 Index of 

Multiple Deprivation, in 2015, it was ranked eleventh, and in 2010 it was 

ranked second.  It is relatively more deprived in relation to barriers to 

housing and services. income and living environment than its overall rank 

suggests, but generally less deprived than its overall ranking for crime, 

employment and health and significantly less deprived for education.  At 

GCSE the average Attainment 8 point score per pupil in Hackney was 

54 points, this was higher than the London average of 50.6 points. The 

borough experienced a slight decline in the incidents of crime. The average 

number of open cases in 2020-21 was 648. In 2021-22 this reduced to 

620.  However Hackney’s crime rate is 22% higher compared to the rest of 

London and 38% higher compared to the national average. 

*Note:  Hackney’s total population from the Census 2021 was 259,200.  The 

under 18 population (0-17) was  55,560.  Census figures are lower than they 

were expected to be.  Official mid year population estimates from ONS are 

not due to be officially released until 21 December 2022.  

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 76



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
64 65

Early Help 

Children and young people in Hackney continue to have access to and 

benefit from an extremely wide range of early help services that are 

sharply focused on meeting the diverse needs of local communities.  

These services are delivered by the Hackney Children and Families 

Service, Hackney Education and a range of partners, including 74 

schools, a network of 21 children centres delivering a range of services 

and working closely with schools, GPs and health colleagues as 

well as other local service providers, including the community and 

voluntary sector.    

IMPACT

Over the reporting year, there were developments in creating an Early 

Help Hub within Hackney’s  Multi-agency Agency Safeguarding Hub 

as a single point of access for practitioners working with children, 

young people and families.  The Early Help Hub screening process has 

placed particular focus on obtaining explicit consent from parents (and 

where age appropriate young people), providing families with a clear 

understanding of what targeted early help services offer, and ensuring 

that the voice of young people is respected. Services have reported 

that this has been positive in helping them to develop better working 

relationships with children and families. 

IMPACT

Other Early Help activity during 2021/22 included the following:

•	 Implementation of a single ‘request for support’ form across SEND 

and social care.

•	 Implementation of single assessment form and process across 

children’s centres and council family support teams.

•	 Application of consistent practice standards including timescales 

for children being seen, completion of an assessment and a plan 

developed with the family.

•	 Formulation of proposals for a deferred prosecution scheme for 

youth justice and building upon the outcomes achieved through 

prevention and diversion to scope a deferred exclusions pilot.

•	 Conversion of some of the Young Hackney commissioning resources 

to a new grants programme promoting social inclusion, encouraging 

independence and developing personal resilience.

•	 Engagement and co-design with partner agencies to begin the 

development of a family hub model and sites to support the Early 

Help system and access and relationships with service users.

•	 Workshops across the partnership to promote use of the early help 

hub, the new request for support form and the Hackney Wellbeing 

Framework.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 77



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
66

LEARNING

Learning from both inspection outcomes and from our data, 

the CHSCP commissioned the Graded Care Profile 2 (GCP2) to 

help strengthen our collective response to neglect  The GCP2 is 

an evidence-based assessment tool developed by the NSPCC.  

It helps professionals measure the quality of care provided by 

a parent or carer in meeting their child’s needs, particularly 

where there are concerns about neglect.  In 2022, around 20 

practitioners were trained as our local GCP2 trainers.  Full roll  

out is planned in early 2023.  More details are available HERE. 

ASSURANCE

In 2023, Hackney will open children and family hubs. Hubs will 

offer a universal ‘front door’ for families with children and young 

people aged 0-19 to access integrated whole-family support 

services and provide the framework for locality-based delivery of 

targeted early help.

ASSURANCE

In 2022, an Early Help Strategic Group of the CHSCP was formed 

to place the accountability for early help within the clear remit of 

the partnership and the CHSCP’s safeguarding arrangements.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 78

https://chscp.org.uk/gcp2/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
66 67

CHILDREN’S CENTRE FAMILY SUPPORT AND MULTI-
AGENCY TEAM (MAT) MEETINGS

Family support in children’s centres seeks to improve parenting capacity, 

protect children from harm and neglect and improve outcomes for young 

children.  Family support is part of the early help Universal Partnership 

Plus offer to families with children predominantly but not exclusively, 

under 6 years and is coordinated by the MAT (Multi-Agency Team 

meetings), underpinned by the Common Assessment Framework (CAF) 

early help assessment.  MAT meetings have continued to occur fortnightly 

in each of the six strategic Children’s Centres in Hackney. Chaired by 

a qualified social worker employed by Hackney Learning Trust, MAT 

meetings are attended by a range of professionals including midwives, 

health visitors, Children’s Centre family support teams, speech and 

language therapists and First Steps.  Early help interventions delivered 

include: parenting programmes; individual and small group work to 

address family relationships and dynamics; support with: housing; finance; 

child behaviour; sleeping; toilet training; routines; and the transition to 

nursery and school. 

YOUNG HACKNEY

Young Hackney provides early help, prevention and diversion service 

for children and young people aged 6-19 years old and up to 25 years if 

the young person has a special education need or disability. The service 

works with young people to support their development and transition 

to adulthood by intervening early to address adolescent risk, develop 

pro-social behaviours and build resilience. The service offers outcome-

focused, time-limited interventions through universal plus and targeted 

services designed to reduce or prevent problems from escalating or 

becoming entrenched and then requiring intervention by Children’s Social 

Care. 

IMPACT

An estimated total of 16,676 young people accessed universal 

services offered through Young Hackney during 2021/22, based 

on 160,223 named and anonymous attendances. This reflected an 

increase of 170% of named individuals accessing Young Hackney 

Universal services from 2020/21, following the pandemic lockdown 

periods which had a significant impact on the 2020/21 data. Young 

Hackney delivered targeted support to 1,471 young people in 

2021/22.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 79



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
68

Children in Need of Help  
and Protection 

Good practice with children and young people who are in need of 

help and protection can be seen when help is provided early in the 

emergence of a problem and there is a well-coordinated multi-agency 

response. Thresholds between early help and statutory child protection 

work are appropriate, understood and operate effectively. Risk is 

effectively mitigated and outcomes improved through good assessment, 

authoritative practice, planning and review.

CONTACTS, REFERRALS AND ASSESSMENTS

During 2021/22, Hackney redesigned its First Access & Screening Team 

to a Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) model.  This now acts 

as the single point of contact for referrals to Children’s Social Care in 

Hackney and provides responsive screening activities.  The move to a 

MASH aligns Hackney with most other LA areas.  Alongside integrating 

an Early Help Hub within the MASH and revisions to the Hackney Child 

Wellbeing Framework, a MASH consultation line was also introduced to 

help practitioners navigate issues such as consent and thresholds for 

intervention.   

EVIDENCE

The Hackney MASH received 12746 contacts from a range of sources 

of which 29% were accepted as a referral to CFS (an increase from 

26% in 2020/21).  This remains less than the number of contacts 

and referrals pre-pandemic (2019/20), but an increase from the last 

reporting year.  The percentage of re-referrals decreased to 17% and 

is less than statistical neighbour (18%) and England averages (22%).  

ASSURANCE

The increase in contacts and referrals is to be expected in the 

context of ‘increasing demand for children’s social care on a national 

and local level.  We have also changed the way that contacts are 

recorded, with information requests now not captured as a contact 

and referral record which they have been historically.’  Hackney 

Children & Families Annual Report 2021/22.  Whilst an increase in 

activity, this will potentially account for the volume of contacts being 

less than expected.’ 

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 80



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
68 69

EVIDENCE

3,293 assessments (516 per 10k) were completed in 2021/22, a further 

decrease compared to 4,923 and 3664 assessments in 2019/20, 

2020/21 respectively. Hackney’s current rate of assessment is now 

just below the rates seen in statistical neighbour authorities.  Whilst 

early days, there has been positive feedback about the introduction 

of the consultation line which is likely to be helping divert families 

away from unnecessary statutory intervention.    

ASSURANCE

A new MASH Daily Risk meeting (DRM) was introduced in October 

2021 which serves as a channel to ensure that action regarding 

high-risk cases and overnight critical incidents is taking place and is 

co-ordinated to enhance and promote good practice, improve joint 

working between the Police, Social Care and partner agencies and to 

ensure a robust multi - agency response where it is believed a child, 

young person or adult may be at risk of significant harm, particularly 

those who are at risk of Mental Health, Criminal Exploitation, Missing 

Persons, Gang Activity, High Risk Domestic Abuse, Honour Based 

Violence, Sexual Offences, Radicalisation and any other crime type 

or risk that meets the threshold or is deemed high risk. 

Following contact, the MASH aims to ensure that only those children 

meeting thresholds for statutory assessments are progressed as 

referrals to CFS.  Local Authorities undertake these assessments to 

determine what services to provide and what action to take. The full 

set of statutory assessments under the Children Act 1989 can be found 

HERE.   

EVIDENCE

Last year, performance in relation to the timescale for the completion 

of assessments within 45 working days was on a trajectory of 

improvement.  93% of assessments during the first quarter of 2021/22 

were completed within 45 working days.  At the end of 2021/22,this 

was 82% compared with 78% for 2020-21.  However, in early 2022/23, 

there has been a notable decline.  Reasons for this as set out by 

Hackney Childrens & Families Services include the reintroduction 

of the Mosaic recording system, some notable staff challenges as 

a result of staff sickness (including due to COVID-19), staff changes 

and some performance management concerns.  During 2021/22, 

a significant proportion of assessments result in families receiving 

timely and proportionate response.   

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 81

http://www.workingtogetheronline.co.uk/chapters/chapter_one.html#assessments


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
70

EVIDENCE

825 Section 47 investigations (child protection investigations) began 

in 2021/22, in line with 836 the previous year. This represents a rate of 

129 Section 47 investigations per 10,000, which is less than statistical 

neighbours (175 in 2020-21) and the England average (164 in 2020-

21).  32% of Section 47 investigations progressed to an Initial Child 

Protection Conference in 2021-22, a decrease from 37% in 2020-21. 

This is in line with statistical neighbours (32% in 2020-21) and lower 

than the England average (37% in 2020-21). 

ASSURANCE

In 2021-22, 70% of assessments completed resulted in no further 

statutory social work action, an increase compared to 66% in 2020-

21. As at the end of September 2022, this rate has now decreased 

to 51% of statutory assessments completed resulting in no further 

statutory social work action- this is a positive development in the 

context of the introduction of Early Help Assessments within the 

Family Support Service in April 2022.  Hackney Children & Families 

Annual Report 2021/22.

70SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 82



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
70 7170

STRATEGY DISCUSSIONS

Ofsted’s inspection of Hackney’s children’s social care services in 

2019 identified that in some strategy discussions, they do not involve 

all relevant partners sharing agency information until the initial child 

protection conference stage.  In response, the CHSCP has developed 

this protocol as a practical guide for Hackney professionals involved 

in a child protection enquiry.  It covers details about when strategy 

discussions should be convened, who needs to be involved and what 

factors need to be considered.  The protocol includes an agenda 

template that will help you follow the process and understand the 

decisions that need to be made.  This material has been further 

enhanced through the CHSCP launching an animated video guide on 

strategy discussions. Watch it HERE. 

ASSURANCE

The CHSCP Quality Assurance Sub-Group maintains oversight of 

the quality of strategy discussions via audit and tracks the progress 

of multi-agency improvement actions. The most recent audit was 

commissioned using external auditors in March 2022.  Broad findings 

in audit rounds demonstrated good timeliness, with evidence of 

sufficient information sharing, understanding the child’s needs, 

decision making and planning. No cases were escalated as a 

concern. For further details, please refer to Auditing in the Learning & 

Improvement section of this report.  

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 83

https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/Hackney-Strategy-Discussion-Guidance-2022-.pdf
https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Copy-of-Strategy-Discussion-Template.docx
https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Copy-of-Strategy-Discussion-Template.docx
https://www.chscp.org.uk/strategy-discussions/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
72

EVIDENCE

At the end of March 2022, 211 children were on a CP Plan, a reduction 

of 237 from 2020/21.  This reducing rate continues the trend seen 

over previous years and at 33 per 10k is well below statistical 

neighbours (42) and the England average (42).  Hackney Children 

& Families Services accounts for this as follows:  This decrease is 

mostly accounted for by the 14% decrease in Initial Child Protection 

Conferences with 267 held in 2021/22 compared to 312 in 2020/21. 

The duty consultation process between our Safeguarding and 

Reviewing Team (Child Protection Chairs) and the social work units 

has better supported appropriate threshold decisions for children. 

CHILDREN ON CHILD PROTECTION PLANS

Following a child protection enquiry, where concerns of significant 

harm are substantiated and the child is judged to be suffering, or 

likely to suffer, significant harm, social workers and their managers 

should convene an Initial Child Protection Conference (ICPC).  An ICPC 

brings together family members (and children / young people where 

appropriate) with supporters, advocates and professionals to analyse 

information and plan how best to safeguard and promote the welfare of 

the child / young person. If the ICPC considers that the child / young 

person is at a continuing risk of significant harm, they will be made the 

subject of a Child Protection Plan (CPP).  

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 84



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
72 73

Children in Care 

A child or young person who is in care is in the care of the local 

authority. They can be placed in care voluntarily by parents struggling to 

cope, they can be unaccompanied asylum-seeking children; or in other 

circumstances, Hackney CFS and partners will intervene because the 

child or young person is at risk of significant harm.   

EVIDENCE

As of 31st March 2022, Hackney was responsible for looking after 406 

children and young people. There has been a significant decrease in 

the number of children who are in care from a peak of 477 children 

(75 per 10k) in November 2020 (Hackney CFS believe the high 

numbers were a direct result of family stressors arising as a result of 

Covid-19 lockdowns). The March 2022 rate (64 per 10k) is similar to 

the statistical neighbour average.

EVIDENCE

‘34% of our looked after children are aged 16 and 17; we continue 

to have a high proportion of adolescents coming into care. Analysis 

indicates that these children have a family history of trauma, 

educational exclusion, extra-familial risk and have significant risk 

factors for adolescents on the edge of care (with Black Caribbean 

and African backgrounds strongly over-represented). This analysis 

is informing the development of our Edge of Care strategy. Levels 

of children accommodated under Section 20 continue to fall. More 

work is required through the Edge of Care strategy to try and support 

children to safely return home to parents or family from care, whether 

they are in care short or long-term.’ Hackney Children & Families 

Annual Report 2021/22.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 85



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
74

PLACEMENT STABILITY, TYPE & LOCATION

On the whole, stability is associated with better outcomes for children. Proper 

assessment of a child’s needs and a sufficient choice of placements to meet the 

varied and specific needs of different children are essential if appropriate stable 

placements are to be achieved. Inappropriate placements tend to break down 

and lead to frequent moves. Data capture on these indicators was affected by 

the pandemic.  Similar to earlier years, the vast majority of children who are in 

care are in foster placements.  

Care Leavers 

The Leaving Care Service ensures that young people are 

supported to develop independent living skills, offered 

career advice and training and educational opportunities, and 

supported to reach their full potential in all aspects of their life.  

387 care leavers aged between 17 and 21 were being 

supported by the Leaving Care service at 31 March 2022, 

an increase of 11 (3%) from 376 at the same point in 2021. 

357 care leavers were supported at the end of September 

2022. There were 63 care leavers aged 22 and older 

being supported as at 31st March 2022, lower than the 

79 supported as at March 2021. This has decreased to 55 

care leavers being supported as at 30th September 2022.  

Hackney Children & Families Annual Report 2021/22.

EVIDENCE

There has been an increase in the number of children experiencing three or 

more care arrangements over the course of a year - the 2021/22 outturn was 

15% which is higher than the statistical neighbour and national averages of 9%. 

There has been a decrease in the proportion of children aged under 16 who 

have been looked after for more than 2.5 years, who have lived in the same 

home for over 2 years (71% in 2021/22 compared to 77% in 2020/21). Hackney’s 

performance against this indicator is in line with the statistical neighbour and 

England averages in 2020/21. 2020/21 stability figures were particularly good, 

believed to be influenced by the context of lockdown in the pandemic. However, 

further analysis is underway on the cohort of children with 3+ care arrangements 

and those who have left long term homes to think about what we need to do to 

address this.  Hackney Children & Families Annual Report 2021/22.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 86



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
74 75

Violence Against Women and Girls 

It is estimated that 3 in 10 women (aged 16+) will have experienced 

domestic abuse at some point in their lives and that 1 in 5 children have 

been exposed to domestic abuse in the home.  Responding proactively 

and in collaboration with the Community Safety Partnership remains a key 

priority for the CHSCP, recognising both the short and long-term impact 

on the safety and welfare of children and young people.  

The CHSCP is represented on Violence Against Women and Girls 

operational and strategic panels, which is comprised of statutory and 

voluntary sector organisations.  

The partnership in Hackney progressed its ambition to move from a 

strategy based on tackling DV to one that aims at a wider approach 

responding to all forms of VAWG. This development follows national 

and regional policy and aims to embrace all forms of violence that 

are committed against women and girls as they have a number of 

commonalities and therefore suggest a linked approach.  

 

 

 

Operationally, the Domestic Abuse Intervention Service (DAIS) in Hackney 

encompasses the following areas:   

•	 Intervention Officers. The Intervention Officer posts allow for the 

recruitment of social workers, former police officers, probation officers 

as well as qualified domestic abuse advocates. This will build a service 

with a mix of skills and backgrounds who are experienced in assessing 

and managing risk.

•	 Perpetrator interventions. This model integrates allows for the 

flexibility for staff to engage with perpetrators directly as needed to 

deliver a responsive, holistic and victim-focused risk management 

service.

•	 Operational and strategic management. Managers are responsible 

for operational case work and for strategic / partnership working. This 

differs from the usual model whereby a ‘VAWG co-ordinator’ role sits 

separately from the delivery of risk management services working 

with clients.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 87



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
76

EVIDENCE

The average weekly number of referrals into DAIS across 2021/22 was 

23, slightly below the weekly pre-Covid rate of 25 cases per week.

EVIDENCE

With a focus on perpetrator interventions, the Domestic Abuse 

Prevention Programme, working with those who harm others through 

their behaviour is a 26 session programme that continues to operate 

virtually on a rolling basis. Most recent data shows that since April 

2022 to October 2022, eight people have completed the programme.

MARAC
 

The MARAC (Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference) is a fortnightly 

multi-agency meeting to discuss and take action on cases of domestic 

abuse where there is a ‘high risk’ of death or serious injury. Numbers 

have continued to rise and the partnership continues to reflect a robust 

response to providing multi-agency support to victims and children at risk.  

EVIDENCE

694 cases were heard at MARAC in 2021/22, a 15% increase from 

2020/21 when 595 cases were heard.  In two years, cases heard 

at MARAC have risen by over 200, which is a rise of 41%. Around 

half of all MARAC cases have children living in the household; this 

has remained consistent over recent years. Domestic Violence and 

Abuse remains one of the key issues impacting upon the safety and 

welfare of Hackney’s children. 

From April 2017, the Domestic Abuse Intervention Service (DAIS) 

joined the Children and Families Service as part of the Early Help and 

Prevention Service. DAIS works with anyone experiencing domestic 

abuse who is living in Hackney, aged 16 or over, of any sex and gender, 

and of any sexual orientation. The service assesses need; provides 

information and support on legal and housing rights; supports service 

users with court attendance; supports service users to obtain legal 

protection; and works with service users and other professionals 

to address their needs. The service also works with perpetrators of 

domestic abuse to try to reduce risk. 

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 88



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
76 77

Safeguarding Adolescents 

Understanding the context in which children and young people live their 

lives is an essential feature of effective multi-agency intervention. For 

the CHSCP, this issue remains central to our overall approach in making 

children and young people safer. Context is key.  During 2019/20, the 

CHSCP refreshed its defined strategy for safeguarding adolescents.  This 

strategy builds on the progress made by the partnership in safeguarding 

children and young people at risk of child sexual exploitation (CSE) 

and those missing from home, care and education. It was developed 

in parallel to our improved understanding of the issues facing young 

people; established through focused problem profiles, national and local 

learning and intelligence pictures involving vulnerable adolescents. 

The strategy continues to draw on evidence about effective practice 

from contemporary research. It is a focussed document that sets the 

parameters for developing our understanding of the complexities of 

young people’s vulnerabilities and finding more effective multi-agency 

responses to these issues. 

The strategy maintains an unswerving focus on making sure that 

professionals are getting the basics right whilst striving to develop best 

practice in terms of the following priorities:

•	 Knowing our Problem, Knowing our Response 

•	 Strong Leadership 

•	 Prevention and Early Intervention 

•	 Protection and Support 

•	 Disruption and Prosecution 

The partnership has continued to develop its understanding of 

exploitation and extra-familial harm including criminal exploitation, county 

lines and trafficking. The Extra-Familial Risk Panel, a key operational 

component, continued to be held fortnightly to ensure consistent 

oversight and planning for cases where young people are at risk of 

experiencing, or are involved in, harmful behaviours outside the home. 

There is strong multi agency attendance from Police, Education, Health, 

Youth Offending Team, Young Hackney and the Integrated Gangs Unit. 

The Panel develops operational actions which looks to reduce harm 

and disrupt exploitation of children. Themes and strategic issues from 

the Extra-Familial Risk Panel are shared with the Multi-Agency Child 

Exploitation (MACE) group for wider consideration and agency action. 

Both forums also report back any significant issues via the CHSCP 

Safeguarding Adolescents Group. 

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 89



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
78

ASSURANCE

In February 2022, the Local Government Association (LGA) 

undertook a peer review at Hackney’s invitation to look at its 

work with children during adolescence across the Children and 

Families Service . The LGA found: 

•	 The team reviewed 16 children’s files and were highly 

complimentary about Hackney’s child-focused practice.

•	 The LGA also recognised Young Hackney as a fantastic 

resource but they think Hackney should do more to 

communicate the offer, evidence outcomes and link better with 

the wider offer for children during adolescence in the borough.

•	 Management structures may need to be addressed to benefit 

communication and reduce silo working - The report highlights 

the need for partners to do more work regarding anti-racism 

and highlights the work being done on decolonising the 

curriculum by the Education team and schools. Additionally, 

there were recommendations for schools and the police to 

firstly safeguard children rather than criminalise or exclude.

•	 The review highlighted that Hackney doesn’t currently have a 

clear practice model, and work began on refreshing this. 

LEARNING

Of the range of recommendations made by the LGA, a key one 

relates to how we adopt a more coherent strategic approach to 

safeguarding adolescents across our entire partnership and the 

various partnership forums that have a role in this area.  The LGS 

recommended there is a need to ensure there is a whole system 

approach across the Partnership to working with vulnerable 

adolescents, based on a shared responsibility for better outcomes 

underpinned by joined up performance and other information and 

analysis. 

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 90



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
78 79

CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION 
 

Understanding the nature and prevalence of child sexual exploitation 

(CSE) and harmful sexual behaviour (HSB) and ensuring that 

partner agencies provide appropriate safeguarding responses and 

interventions remains a priority.  In February 2017, a revised definition of 

CSE was issued by the Department for Education (DfE).   

 

‘Child sexual exploitation is a form of child sexual abuse. It occurs where 

an individual or group takes advantage of an imbalance of power to 

coerce, manipulate or deceive a child or young person under the age of 

18 into sexual activity (a) in exchange for something the victim needs or 

wants, and/or (b) for the financial advantage or increased status of the 

perpetrator or facilitator. The victim may have been sexually exploited 

even if the sexual activity appears consensual. Child sexual exploitation 

does not always involve physical contact; it can also occur through the 

use of technology.’ 

DfE 2017

EVIDENCE

Analytical research has been undertaken to interrogate data 

relating to CSE and HSB and to identify emerging themes and 

trends which inform service development.  The research has 

highlighted three broad CSE profiles in Hackney:

•	 CSE risk resulting from peer-on-peer abuse (sexual offences/

exploitation against one or more victims and usually 

perpetrated in a group setting)

•	 CSE risk from an adult perpetrator (typically a young person 

believing themselves to be in a ‘relationship’ with an adult after 

being introduced to them by a normally vulnerable friend, or 

through online contact)

•	 Exploitation via social media (inciting or encouraging a victim to 

take and send explicit images of themselves)

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 91



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
80

EVIDENCE

Redthread is a charity that works alongside young people who have been 

affected by, or are at risk of, violence and/or exploitation and has been based 

in ED at Homerton Hospital since July 2018.   

 

‘Over the past year two thirds of referrals have related to under 18s and 63% 

of these were female. This is a significant increase from the previous year.  

The most common reason for referral varied between male and females: 22% 

of the referrals received for youths were for assault, whilst the remaining 15% 

varied between risk of harm, child exploitation and gang affiliation.  Female 

teenagers were most often referred due to sexual assault (15%). However, 

during this reporting period there seemed to be an increase in referrals for 

assault (13%) even amongst this group. The remaining 27% of referral reasons 

varied between domestic violence, risk of harm, child exploitation, child 

sexual exploitation, history of assault and gang affiliation. It is important 

to note how in the past year Redthread has seen a significant increase in 

referrals for females, particularly since our Young Women Service (YWS) 

launched in July 2021, with HUH being the first local hospital to have the YWS. 

From July 2021 till January young women made up 37% of the total eligible 

referrals, which represents a 54% increase within the same reporting period 

since the launch of the service’.  

 

 Homerton Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report 2021/22

IMPACT

Redthread intervention has demonstrated to be 

especially beneficial to the young people who 

engaged with the service.  This has been possible 

thanks to the strong multi-agency collaboration 

between ED, the SCT and CAMHS. 56% of referrals 

are from ED, 37% from the SCT and 11% from CAMHS. 

The collaboration between Redthread and the 

above teams has proven essential to identify and 

engage more young people to their programmes.  

•	 54% decrease for the young people engaged 

to be at risk of harm after engaging with our 

programme

•	 36% decrease for the young people engaged to be 

at risk of criminal and/or sexual exploitation after 

engaging with our programme

•	 36% decrease for the young people engaged to 

experience criminal behaviour after engaging with 

our programme	

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 92



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
80 81

CHILDREN MISSING FROM HOME, CARE AND EDUCATION 

The Police lead on all children who go missing from home or care and 

a coordinated response takes place with Hackney CFS working closely 

with the child’s parents or carers. For those young people who repeatedly 

go missing this co-ordinated response often involves a lead professional 

from education, Young Hackney, Youth Justice Service and the Integrated 

Gangs Unit.  Hackney CFS has led on strengthening the partnership’s 

understanding of and response to children and young people who go 

missing from home and care. Missing episodes are considered as part of 

a broader spectrum of vulnerabilities effecting adolescents which include 

CSE, harmful sexual behaviour (HSB), radicalisation and gang and youth 

violence.  

When a young person returns from an episode of going missing, they 

are offered an independent return home (IRH) interview by the Children’s 

Rights Service.  The use of Independent Return Home Interviews 

continues to be effective in supporting young people to share information 

about push and pull factors, what happens when they go missing and 

what support they need to reduce further episodes. The implementation 

of a daily meeting with Missing Police has supported better working 

relationships, information sharing and development of robust risk 

assessments and timely plans to locate children and offer the appropriate 

support.  The most prominent themes in reasons children and young 

people have been going missing is ‘difficulties at home or school’, with 

overcrowding being highlighted in a number of cases. Mental health 

and emotional wellbeing was also a key precipitating factor for missing 

episodes and additional learning needs whereby young people became 

confused with how to get home or made poor decisions due to peer 

influences.  

IMPACT

Hackney CFS and the police have agreed that any child identified as 

high risk with a pattern of missing episodes will have a Missing Child 

Meeting within 24 hours of them going missing rather than 72 hours, 

with the aim to respond to these children in line with other concerns, 

such as domestic abuse.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 93



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
82

In respect of children missing education, The Children Missing Education (CME) Team 

continues to identify, monitor and track children missing or not receiving a suitable 

education. This includes liaison with MASH when there are safeguarding concerns. 

The work of the CME team fits closely with other strands of work to support vulnerable 

pupils including supporting schools and families to prevent poor school attendance, 

truancy, exclusions and supporting schools and families to get children back to school 

once absence has occurred. The team liaises closely with the Education Attendance 

and Admissions services. 

ASSURANCE

During 2021/22, Hackney CFS undertook audits on care experienced children and 

young people who had repeated missing episodes. The looked after children and 

young people audited were chosen because they had the most frequent missing 

episodes over recent months. All were under 18 at the time of audit: eight were held 

in the Looked After Children service and two in Leaving Care. Half were male and 

half were female. 80% were from a Black or global majority background. 

60% were rated Good or Outstanding

In 40% of the audits, the children or young people were visited in line with Practice 

Standards; 40% partially in line and 20% not in line with expectations.

In 70% of audits there was evidence of sufficient management oversight. 

EVIDENCE

As of August 2022, there were 213 children electively 

home educated (EHE) by their parents. Numbers 

increased in Autumn 2020 in response to the Covid-19 

pandemic however numbers have steadily fallen 

back over time but remain above pre-pandemic 

levels. A new EHE policy and assessment framework 

was introduced in June 2020 and is now embedded 

into practice. New referrals receive a suitability 

assessment within 12 weeks of referral and an annual 

assessment. 95% of our current cohort were seen 

within 12 weeks.  

Locally, the majority of children missing education 

(CME) are from the Orthodox Jewish community, 

with these children attending unregistered education 

settings (UES) on a full time basis, where we are 

unable to assess the suitability of their education. 

As of August 2022, there are 808 registered children 

missing education, with 754 from the Orthodox Jewish 

community. Processes are in place for tracking CME 

in and out of the borough and steps are taken to 

visit the known Orthodox Jewish families to check 

on children’s wellbeing, though impact here is more 

limited.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 94



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
82 83

GANGS, EXPLOITATION AND SERIOUS YOUTH VIOLENCE 

The approach of safeguarding partners to violence treats it as a 

preventable public health issue; using data and analysis to identify 

causes, to examine what works and to co-produce solutions. Incidents 

of serious violence have a significant and lasting impact on the wider 

community as well as for the young people and families involved. 

Safeguarding partners remain conscious of the impact and effect of 

trauma and as a partnership, we are committed to increasing resilience 

and developing trauma informed practice. 	

EVIDENCE

Local police continue to conduct serious violence threat assessments 

daily, weekly and monthly to support the tasking process. The 

tasking process ensures that partnership resources are allocated to 

undertake interventions in an integrated way.  Health services and 

third sector charities are also playing a key part in the approach to 

tackling SYV.  Red Thread and St. Giles Trust staff are embedded at 

Homerton University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (HUHFT) and the 

Royal London Hospital trauma unit respectively and use ‘teachable 

moments’ to divert young people away from offending and violence. 

Hackney’s Context Intervention Unit and Integrated Gangs Unit 

are developing closer working relationships with both teams to 

ensure the partnership is fully sighted on emerging trends and 

peer groups and locations of harm.  Within the Safer Schools 

Partnership, information is exchanged on a case by case or school 

by school basis to inform daily and weekly deployments of police, 

schools and partnership staff.  A monthly Gangs Partnership 

Tasking Meeting is held to present the latest intelligence and 

analysis on gang youth related violence and exploitation. This 

meeting identifies priority areas and individuals who require 

immediate and longer-term partnership interventions.

and peer groups and locations of harm.  Within the Safer Schools 

Partnership, information is exchanged on a case by case or school 

by school basis to inform daily and weekly deployments of police, 

schools and partnership staff.  A monthly Gangs Partnership 

Tasking Meeting is held to present the latest intelligence and 

analysis on gang youth related violence and exploitation. This 

meeting identifies priority areas and individuals who require 

immediate and longer-term partnership interventions.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 95



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
84

IMPACT

A vast range of activity was carried out by officers across the Met 

as part of Operation Sceptre, including targeted patrols in violence 

hotspots; warrants to target high harm offenders; and weapons 

sweeps in areas known for stashed weapons. Officers also worked 

closely with British Transport Police during knife arch deployments 

at transport hubs, aimed at deterring people from carrying weapons 

and drugs on the train and tube network. Automatic Number Plate 

Recognition technology was also used by Met and City of London 

officers, targeting those carrying and supplying drugs on the roads 

in and out of London.

Crucially, there was also a focus on education, diversion and 

prevention, with officers engaging with 10,563 young people; 

community members and business owners. While conducting 

community weapons sweeps, local officers worked side-by-side 

with community members, listening to their concerns and searching 

for hidden or discarded weapons. Officers, Met Special Constables 

and Volunteer Police Cadets also carried out 290 retailer visits to 

educate businesses and ensure they were not – and do not in the 

future - selling knives irresponsibly.

In total, the operation, which ran from Monday, 15 November 

to Sunday, 21 November 2021, resulted in 290 knives recovered; 

937 arrests; 82 warrants executed; 186 community meetings and 

educational events, engaging with 1,206 individuals; 264 school 

presentations and engagements, involving 8,063 young people and 

2,745 weapon sweeps.

For CE BCU, there were 137 weapon sweeps, 13 knives found, 51 

arrests with 11 for weapon offences and 18 test purchases.

We visited all of our Habitual Knife Carriers who were engaged with 

by our integrated gangs unit or Violence Suppression Unit. Over 1200 

children engaged with through schools presentations or the Junior 

Citizenship Programme. Our local plan was led by our Violence 

Suppression Unit and supported by partners at both Tower Hamlets 

and Hackney local authorities. 

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 96



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
84 85

YOUTH JUSTICE 
 

The Youth Justice Service works with all young people in Hackney 

who are arrested or convicted of crimes and undertakes youth justice 

work including bail and remand supervision and supervising young 

people who have been given community or custodial sentences. Young 

people are supported by a multi-agency team including a Forensic 

Psychologist, the Virtual School, Speech and Language Therapists, the 

Police, a Nurse, Probation Services, a Substance Misuse Worker and a 

Dealing Officer. 

EVIDENCE

The overall number of young people entering the youth justice system 

for the first time in Hackney in 2021/22 was 67, a 15% decrease from 79 

young people in 2020-21. This remains below national and statistical 

neighbour averages.  88% of the young people referred to the Youth 

Justice Prevention and Diversion Team via Triage in 2021/22 were 

successfully diverted from becoming first time entrants to the youth 

justice system. However, early help for young people at risk of becoming 

involved in crime is still not effective enough at preventing the most 

serious youth crime: the small number of young people referred to the 

Prevention and Diversion Team from Triage who have gone on to enter the 

youth justice system have in many cases faced extremely serious charges 

against them. Hackney Children & Families Annual Report 2021/22.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING

Child Criminal Exploitation is an issue of abuse not a 

lifestyle choice and the children who are criminally 

exploited are victims. It is important that practitioners 

understand this when engaging young people and 

recording any information about them. In many cases, 

the boundary between ‘victim’ and ‘offender’ will often 

be blurred. Practitioners need to give sufficient priority 

to both areas as part of their practice. Put simply, when 

offending is driven by exploitation, one won’t be addressed 

without the other.  In response to local learning, the 

CHSCP developed a briefing on Child Criminal Exploitation 

including what it is, recognising vulnerability and signs to 

look out for. Download the briefing HERE.  

LEARNING

To help influence practice when responding to 

children subjected to exploitation, as well as wider 

organisational culture across the partnership, the 

CHSCP promoted the excellent guidance issued by the 

Children’s Society on the use of appropriate language 

in child exploitation.  Read the guidance HERE.

P
age 97

https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/Child-Criminal-Exploitation-Safeguarding-in-Seven.pdf
https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/Child-Exploitation-Appropriate-Language-Guide-2022.pdf


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
86

RADICALISATION 
 

Statutory guidance expects Local Authorities to assess the threat of radicalisation in their 

areas and to take appropriate action.  The Community Safety Partnership (CSP) retains overall 

governance of this agenda, which includes a focus on ensuring there are sufficient arrangements 

in place to safeguard children and young people.  The Prevent Strategy is a key part of the 

Government’s counter-terrorism Contest strategy. It aims to stop people becoming terrorists 

or supporting terrorism and has three objectives - challenging ideology, supporting vulnerable 

individuals and working with sectors and institutions.  A strategic priority for Hackney’s Prevent 

work is to ensure the safeguarding of children and young people to prevent them becoming 

drawn into supporting terrorism. In Hackney a multi-agency Channel Panel, chaired by the Head 

of Safer Communities, works at the pre-criminal stage to support vulnerable individuals where a 

risk of radicalisation is assessed and a plan of action devised.  

EVIDENCE

During 2021/22, there were 22 Prevent referrals received (an increase from 11 in 2020/21) of 

which 5 referrals were supported by the Hackney Channel Panel.  Total referrals received during 

the pandemic experienced a significant drop for all Local Authority areas during the reporting 

period. All referrals concerned male subjects, with the highest number being generated from the 

MPS. Five of these referrals involved young people under 18.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 98



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
86 87

Private Fostering 

A child under the age of 16 (under 18, if disabled) who is cared for 

and provided with accommodation by someone other than a parent, 

person with parental responsibility or a close relative for 28 days or 

more is privately fostered.  Comparison with national and statistical 

neighbours has not been undertaken following the DfE ceasing to 

publish statistics on notifications and closing the private fostering data 

collection for local authorities. 

EVIDENCE

In total, during the period 1 April 2021 - 30 March 2022, private 

fostering arrangements for 16 children were assessed or 

supported by Hackney CFS.  Eight of the children were male and 

8 female. The ages of the cohort ranged from 3 years up to 15 

years old, although the majority of them were aged 10 - 15 years 

old.  Seven new private fostering referrals were received within 

the 2021/22 financial year. Referrals are most commonly received 

from partner agencies, in particular from the Home Office, schools 

and school admissions, as well as notifications from other internal 

teams for children already open to Hackney Children and Families 

Service. No self-referrals were made by the parents or private 

foster carers of children this year.

EVIDENCE

Possible vulnerabilities identified within the cohort included insecure 

immigration status, the experience of migrating and the impact of 

their separation from their parents and wider family (at times with 

opportunities for regular communication limited).  There were no 

children known to be in private fostering arrangements who had 

been enrolled at a language school or boarding school. No children 

were identified as having additional needs or disabilities.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 99



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
88

IMPACT

A Private Fostering App developed by the CHSCP to support 

awareness raising across the partnership has been downloaded 

nearly 16000 times.  Hackney has also worked closely with 

colleagues working on this area within the North London 

Consortium, to share best practice.   Other activities to increase 

awareness of private fostering include the following: 

•	 Arrangements with school admissions to amend in-year application 

forms, to support the identification of possible private fostering 

arrangements; 

•	 Consultation with Norwood (a Haredi community organisation) 

to explore ways to increase knowledge of private fostering within 

the community;

•	 Updating the Hackney Council website to ensure information is 

up to date;

•	 Creation of a North London Private Fostering Consortium website 

(https://www.privatefosteringnorthlondon.co.uk) providing an 

additional resource about private fostering;

•	 Ongoing offer of consultation to staff on private fostering 

regulations and the circumstances of individual children and 

families.

ASSURANCE

Audits are completed regularly by Hackney CFS for all children 

known to be in a private fostering arrangement. Audits completed in 

October 2021 found that 8 of the 9 cases were rated as ‘good’ with 

one rated as ‘outstanding’. No safeguarding concerns were identified 

for any of these children.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 100

https://hackney.gov.uk/fostering-private
https://www.privatefosteringnorthlondon.co.uk


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
88 89

Children with Disabilities 

At the end of March 2022, Hackney’s Disabled Children’s Service was 

working with 395 children and young people. Of these 131 were female 

and 262 were male.  This is a 6% increase compared to 2020/21, when 

the service was working with 374 children and young people.  In 2017/18, 

the service was working with 241 children and young people.  Since April 

2021, children receiving care packages who are also on Child in Need 

Plans in relation to safeguarding concerns have transferred to the Disabled 

Children’s Service. This minimises transitions, provides more consistency and 

ensures that processes are clearer for families.  As at the end of September 

2022, there were 23 children on Child in Need Plans, two children on Child 

Protection Plans and one looked after child receiving support from the 

Disabled Children’s Service.

IMPACT

Care packages for all children were reviewed in the last year or are 

currently in the process of being reviewed by the Disabled Children’s 

Service.  

 

This is a significant improvement from 2019 when Hackney Children & 

Families Service took over the service, at which point there were numerous 

care packages which had not been reviewed in three years. Since April 

2021, assessments for 630 children have been completed.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 101



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
90

Children’s Mental Health
 

The Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) in City 

and Hackney are provide by Homerton Heathcare NHS Foundation 

Trust (First Steps and the CAMHS disability team - a joint service with 

ELFT CAMHS); Clinicians employed by London Borough of Hackney’s 

children’s social care and the Specialist Service is provided by the ELFT. 

ELFT CAMHS provides the specialist (tier 3) community based service, 

the CAMHS provision within the Young Hackney Service and a service 

for adolescents with more complex mental health needs, for example, 

first onset psychosis and complex eating disorders. East London NHS 

Foundation Trust also provides the inpatient service (tier 4) and the out-

of-hours service for City and Hackney.

EVIDENCE

There has been a sustained doubling of referrals to all CAMHS 

providers (compared to pre-pandemic levels).  Pressure on and 

inpatient paediatrics and Tier 4 beds continues to be high.  Crisis 

presentations are on average double pre- pandemic levels and 

increasing. This reflects a similar pattern across NEL and London.  

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 102



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
90 91

EVIDENCE

There has been a significant increase in referrals to all parts of 

the service, especially ASD diagnosis following COVID in CAMHS 

Disability, with crisis presentations significantly increasing for 

children with ASD and ID. Also, more children in First Steps require 

an individualised psychological intervention (rather than workshop, 

consultation or group) due to more concerning presentations. 

This has meant the wait for treatment or assessment has increased 

significantly to over 12 months at the current time (compared to are 

general three- month waiting times). First Steps is on the trust risk 

register and a demand and capacity review is under way, similarly 

for ASD assessments. In First Steps, the enhanced concerns are due 

to a mix of increased mental health concerns and vulnerability in 

their living context e.g. housing, family, education as well as school 

closures and isolation from peers and protective adults. The service 

expects this vulnerability to increase following the imminent cost of 

living crisis.  

 

Homerton Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report 2021/22

ASSURANCE

Eating Disorders Services have seen a sustained doubling in referrals 

and this has meant the service had to close to routine referrals.  

Following several summit meetings under the Emotional Health and 

Wellbeing partnership, plans are being implemented to address the 

eating disorders pathway problems. 

IMPACT

CAMHS is having to respond flexibly to support families during this 

surge period. Robust contingency plans in place for this to continue. 

This includes: solid governance structures, RAG rating patients, 

children and families, the introduction of online support and new 

services being developed.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 103



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
92

MAPPA
 

Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) are the statutory 

measures for managing sexual and violent offenders. The Police, Prison 

and Probation Services (Responsible Authority) have the duty and 

responsibility to ensure MAPPA are established in their area and for the 

assessment and management of risk of all identified MAPPA offenders.  

The purpose of MAPPA is to help reduce the re-offending behaviour of 

sexual and violent offenders in order to protect the public from serious 

harm, by ensuring all agencies work together effectively.  

MAPPA

Across London on 31 March 2022, there were 6700 Category 1 

‘Registered Sex Offenders’ (RSOs) (6549 in 2020/21, 6581 in 2019/20 

and 6452 in 2018/19), 3660 Category 2 ‘Violent Offenders’ (3521 in 

2020/21, 3735 in 2019/20 and 4128 in 2018/19) and 55 Category 3 

‘Other Dangerous Offenders’ (61 in 2020/21, 31 in 2019/20 and 27 in 

2018/19).  

153 RSOs were cautioned or convicted for breach of notification 

requirements.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 104



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
92 93

Unregistered Educational Settings 

In the context of Hackney, the response to Unregistered Educational 

Settings (UES) has focused upon Yeshivas within the Charedi community.  

Many of these Yeshivas provide ‘full-time’ education to children of 

compulsory school age but teach a curriculum that is too narrow for the 

setting to constitute a ‘school’. The consequence is that they cannot be 

registered (or regulated) and this remains a significant issue of concern 

for the safeguarding partners of City & Hackney Safeguarding Children 

Partnership (CHSCP).  The following narrative is from the Independent 

Safeguarding Children Commissioner of the CHSCP: 

Despite ongoing efforts to engage community leaders and my repeated 

lobbying of the government, the situation over 2021/22 was largely 

unchanged.  This was both frustrating and frankly, unacceptable.  There 

has been no measurable impact by community leadership on this issue, 

no apparent acknowledgement of the safeguarding risks that children 

are facing and no acceptance of help.  A straightforward and non-

contentious offer of support from the CHSCP has been on the table for 

months and yet, despite this, not one single Yeshiva has approached 

us wanting to constructively engage.  In short, community leaders are 

still either unwilling or unable to provide any influence on this matter.  

Whilst dialogue has taken place, the repeating pattern of conversations, 

meetings and letters is achieving little, if anything at all.  We are still 

exactly where we were when I first raised this issue in 2014/15.  

 

 

In the last 12 months, there has been no contact from those with 

whom I previously engaged.  Letters have gone unanswered and other 

individuals have been introduced to other professionals (such as in 

Hackney Education) to continue the same conversations - but elsewhere. 

This pattern of relationships being built, conversations being held and 

optimism being created has all been seen before.  Ultimately, however, 

when the message being delivered isn’t one that wants to be heard, 

those conversations move on and the cycle starts again.  The end result 

is that nothing changes for children.  We still have hundreds of Hackney 

children completely out of our line of sight and a two-tier approach to 

safeguarding depending on where a child receives an education.

 

Illustrating this further, despite what I believed to have been constructive 

engagement with representatives from the UOHC, its evidence to the 

IICSA enquiry raised significant and unexpected criticism.  This came soon 

after my response to the suggested ‘ring-fencing of Yeshivas’ where I 

stated my concern that this would create an impression we were ‘trading 

off achieving the required safeguarding standards by compromising on 

issues linked directly to the curriculum’.  The UOHC’s evidence to IICSA 

and my formal response to these points are set out below:

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 105



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
94

The Union of Orthodox Hebrew Congregations (UOHC) said that 

the CHSCP does not understand the Charedi community and takes 

approaches that are impractical. The UOHC said that engagement with 

the local authority had not yet yielded positive results and had caused 

a lot of frustration. (OHC000001_008 para 35).

The evidence shows otherwise and identifies the significant efforts that 

I have personally made, together with the CHSCP’s Senior Professional 

Advisor and others to engage the community in a constructive and 

respectful way. This is reflected in my initial approach to the UOHC to 

seek their support and the subsequent engagement that followed.  I 

have been invited to two meetings at the home address of [the UOHC 

representative identified as the Health & Safety link for Yeshivas], met 

his family and undertaken a site visit to a synagogue where children 

were studying during the half-term period. My approach has been far 

from insensitive and has sought to gain a better understanding of the 

community.  My proposals have also been far from impractical.  Many are 

already in operation across numerous organisations in Hackney.  Those 

made in respect of Yeshivas are all achievable and have been made in 

the attempt to improve the safeguarding arrangements for children and 

young people in Hackney.  All these proposals remain open, and we 

remain eager to work with the community to implement them. 

 

As my evidence shows, this work has never gained traction, not because 

of a lack of understanding or impractical suggestions, but mainly because 

of how the curriculum (or lack of it) within Yeshivas is a ‘red-line’ for them.  

This is the reason why no progress has been made.  

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 106

https://www.iicsa.org.uk/key-documents/20973/view/OHC000001.pdf


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
94 95

The UOHC thought that the assertion that children should be in the line 

of sight of the local authority was arrogant, overbearing and intrusive. 

(OHC000001_008-009 para 36).

In respect of this statement, I sincerely hope the Inquiry will strongly 

challenge the UOHC’s position that children and young people in the 

Orthodox Jewish community should somehow be afforded less protection 

by statutory authorities and regulators.  My letter to the Secretary of 

State for Education in June 2017 clearly sets my position on this.  ‘My 

primary concern is the children at the centre of this issue and the fact they 

are not being afforded the same level of protection that we expect for 

every other child in the UK. The Government statutory guidance ‘Keeping 

Children Safe in Education’ is fundamentally undermined if it only applies 

to certain children who happen to attend a certain type of education. This 

two-tier approach to safeguarding children is unacceptable and reflects an 

approach that suggests it is only interested in keeping some children safe – 

not all of them.’

The UOHC said that the CHSCP can make negative portrayals and 

statements about the Charedi community. 

(OHC000001_008-009 para 36).

I absolutely refute this point in the strongest terms.  There has never been 

any approach that seeks to make negative portrayals or statements about 

the Charedi community.  Our consistent critique has been about the lack 

of a sufficient safeguarding framework for Yeshivas and the challenges for 

us in implementing one. 

 

Never has this strayed into a critique of how the community live their lives, 

or to a large degree teach their children.  I have always been clear, as the 

evidence shows, that the curriculum is a matter for the DfE and Ofsted.  

My focus has always been on ensuring the safety of those children and 

young people in Yeshivas.  The evidence in my communication shows 

that I and others in the CHSCP have always approached those with whom 

I have engaged with the utmost respect. 

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 107

https://www.iicsa.org.uk/key-documents/20973/view/OHC000001.pdf
https://www.iicsa.org.uk/key-documents/20973/view/OHC000001.pdf


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
96

The UOHC said that the CHSCP does not understand that the UOHC cannot control 

the Charedi community or furnish the CHSCP with a list of out of school settings. 

The UOHC thought the CHSCP had an unrealistic expectation of the administrative 

capacity of out of school settings. 

(OHC000001_008-009 para 35-36; Jehudah Baumgarten 12 August 2020 119/9-25).

 

This is inaccurate.  I have always understood the limitations of the governance 

arrangements for Yeshivas as seen in paragraph 52 of my statement.  Furthermore, 

this is exactly the reason why the suggestion was made for the UOHC to set up its 

own independent safeguarding committee.  This would have created a community 

leadership body to provide influence within the community on all matters relating to the 

safeguarding of children and young people.  Whilst recognising the limited authority 

of the UOHC over individual Yeshivas, the experience and status of those on the UOHC 

would undoubtedly help in this context.

 

In terms of administrative capacity, it is relevant to note that for the most part, our 

proposals are coordinated centrally by the CHSCP team (i.e., the self-assessment / audit 

process).  The proposals also included our offer of providing technical advice to help 

this operate.  With regards to the provision of a list of Yeshivas, I do not accept such 

a list cannot be provided.  As far back as the 24th of July 2017, the UOHC wrote to me 

advising that [an individual] had been nominated to ‘circularise all Synagogues, Hasidic 

Congregations and Study Centres….to ensure that everyone is aware of your requirements’.  

Given the nature of this role, I would be surprised if the UOHC did not know of their 

whereabouts. 

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 108

https://www.iicsa.org.uk/key-documents/20973/view/OHC000001.pdf
https://www.iicsa.org.uk/key-documents/20985/view/public-hearing-transcript-12-august-2020.pdf


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
96 97

The Inquiry saw a degree of miscommunication and misunderstanding between some religious 

organisations and statutory authorities. Religious organisations thought statutory authorities do not 

understand them, judge them and have acted in a heavy handed way in the past. 

(Jim Gamble 11 August 2020 140/14-141-7; Jehudah Baumgarten 12 August 2020 113/10-14; 116-13-117/17).

The challenges faced by us locally in respect of the safeguarding arrangements in Yeshivas have not been 

created by miscommunication or misunderstanding.  For my part, our approach has been reasonably simple in 

that we have been attempting to align Yeshivas with the processes we have in place for all other organisations in 

Hackney, particularly schools.  There has been resistance because Yeshivas do not want to be ‘forced’ to change 

what they teach and as such, cooperation on any matter becomes frustrated. 

 

My approach has been far from ‘heavy handed’, but I will not apologise for strongly advocating and doing what 

I can to make sure that all children and young people in Hackney are safe, not just those who happen to attend 

an educational setting that is inspected by Ofsted.  This issue has become more complicated and has been 

unnecessarily drawn out as a result of the drift and delay caused by central government.  My evidence to the 

inquiry in this context is absolutely clear and yet we are still in a position where nothing has changed. 

 

As recently as May 2021 this year, I wrote to the government asking for an update on the delayed consultation 

on Regulating Independent Educational Settings (which involved Yeshivas).  Despite ending in November 

2020, there is no information about next steps. The legislative vacuum around Yeshivas has allowed them to 

continue to operate outside of any registration or regulation and this has limited our oversight on safeguarding 

arrangements.   Government has been aware of this for many years and yet continues to prevaricate on action.  

Evidence shows that absolutely no pace has been attached by the government to resolving this issue. 

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 109

https://www.iicsa.org.uk/key-documents/20895/view/public-hearing-transcript-11-august-2020.pdf
https://www.iicsa.org.uk/key-documents/20985/view/public-hearing-transcript-12-august-2020.pdf


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
98

Everyone’s Invited
 

Following the murder of Sarah Everard in March 2021, there was increased 

awareness of the issue of violence against women and girls. It was at this 

time that the Everyone’s Invited website came to national prominence.  

Everyone’s Invited stated that it was ‘a place for survivors to share their 

stories’ and had as its mission ‘to expose and eradicate rape culture with 

empathy, compassion and understanding’.

 

The website saw thousands of young women report their experiences of 

harassment, abuse and assault perpetrated by boys or young men who 

either attend their own school, a neighbouring school or their university.  

The reports were anonymous though the testimonies often named the 

school or university the perpetrator attended.  Independent and state 

schools nationally were named on the site.  Reported incidents occurred 

both in school and out of school (e.g. at parties).  Some boys also posted 

their experiences.  Nationally in response the following occurred:

 

•	 A nationally coordinated police response;

•	 A ‘Report Abuse in Education’ helpline set up;

•	 Ofsted were asked to conduct a review; and

•	 Entries reviewed and, where appropriate, local safeguarding partners 

notified. 

 

In response Hackney Education held briefings for head teachers, 

designated safeguarding leads and school governors so they were fully 

aware of the website, the issues raised and appropriate actions to take in 

response. The first of these meetings was held on April 21st 2021 and was 

jointly led by Hackney Education, the MPS and Young Hackney.

 

In June 2021 Ofsted published their review of into sexual abuse and 

harassment in schools and colleges having visited 32 schools and spoken 

with over 900 young people in those settings. Ofsted’s report can be 

found here.  Following publication of Ofsted’s report, local schools 

and colleges responded to the issues raised in the review and sought 

to create a culture where girls and young women are safe in schools.  

Different schools and colleges have responded to the report in different 

ways depending on their school or college context. 

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 110



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
98 99

IMPACT

Young Hackney undertook the following activity in response to Everyone’s 

Invited:

•	 Held sessions with pupils in several primary and secondary schools 

covering consent, healthy relationship, child sexual exploitation, 

pornography and sexual harassment.

•	 Delivered training for staff/professionals on harmful sexual behaviour.

IMPACT

Hackney’s Context Intervention Unit undertook the following activity in 

response to Everyone’s Invited:

•	 Peer group work in secondary schools around sexual exploitation.

•	 Held drop down days in conjunction with CHYPS Sexual Health Service 

and the Young Hackney Health and Wellbeing Team.

•	 Carried out student surveys in some schools and colleges, which include 

scoping questions around sexual harm in schools.

•	 Implemented the Mentors in Violence Prevention program in three 

secondary schools.

•	 Developed an early help and critical incident school assessment guide to 

support schools in responding to extra-familial harm of which sexual assault 

is one form of harm.

IMPACT

One school ran three projects with students on these issues. For 

Years 10 and 11 boys - Beyond Equality; for Year 9 they have the 

Mentors in Violence Prevention program and for Years 7 and 8 they 

commissioned a theatre company called Immediate Theatre to 

create a relevant performance on the issue.

Another school issued an all-student questionnaire regarding 

sexual abuse and harassment. They held lunchtime reflections 

to raise awareness and sent letters home to parents/carers 

regarding sexual abuse and harassment.

Other schools worked with Hackney Education and the Context 

Intervention Unit to disseminate surveys to children and staff 

members about their experiences of safety,including from sexual 

harm and exploitation. The responses to these were used as 

part of ‘context assessments’ and the targeting of appropriate 

interventions from Young Hackney and referrals to the Extra 

Familial Risk Panel where necessary.

Another school held a parent forum to discuss the RSHE 

curriculum and the Ofsted findings. They also surveyed all 

students to give them an opportunity to say how helpful they found 

RSHE and how they would like to change it.

One college worked with Young Hackney to run a fortnightly 

women’s empowerment group.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 111



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
100

ASSURANCE

Hackney Education carried out an audit of schools in December 

2021 to ascertain actions taken in response to Everyone’s Invited. 

This showed schools had overwhelmingly acted upon the Ofsted 

report findings.

•	 94.7% reported that they had assigned a member of SLT to lead 

on this

•	 86.8% reported that they had reviewed incidents

•	 94.7% reported that the school’s safeguarding policy had been 

updated 81.6% had reported that they had provided training to 

staff

•	 81.6% reported that they have reviewed and revised their RSE 

curriculum

•	 76.3% reported that they had reviewed their reporting 

mechanisms

ASSURANCE

In September 2021, the Executive of the London Safeguarding 

Children Partnership met and discussed the ongoing work to 

protect children from sexual harassment and assault.   Following 

that discussion, it highlighted to local safeguarding partnerships 

a joint letter from the Department of Health and Social Care, 

the Department for Education and the Home Office sent to all 

safeguarding partners.  

The letter reminded safeguarding partners of the request from 

Minister Ford to review how they work with all your schools and 

colleges locally [including academies and independent schools] 

and to set out your offer of support to schools and colleges.  The 

CHSCP’s offer of support can be found on its dedicated schools 

and colleges webpages HERE. 

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 112

https://chscp.org.uk/schools-colleges/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
100 101

Cyberattack

Hackney Council was the victim of a serious cyberattack in October 

2020. The attack meant that the social care management system 

(Mosaic) and document management systems (Comino and eDOCS) 

were unavailable, which has had a significant and widespread 

impact on Hackney’s Children & Families Service (HCFS).  The 

cyberattack affected the ability of the CHSCP to oversee the full 

suite of performance metrics relevant to CFS.  Work to recover 

systems continued through 2021/22.

ASSURANCE

Hackney Council immediately stood up an interim system that 

enabled us to continue working with families including some degree 

of information capture. The immediate recovery programme involved 

a drive for practitioners to record case summaries for all of their 

children and young people, whilst working with partners to gather 

as much information about the children and young people we were 

working with. 

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 113



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
102

IMPACT

In October 2021 a decision was made to restore Mosaic as the 

main case management system in HCFS. A programme team 

was established and accountable to a weekly Board meeting 

chaired by the DCS. The programme was complex and 

involved migrating records from the interim system, matching 

historic records, developing cyber security with a new cloud 

based system and training staff as the recovered system 

was not identical to the pre-cyber system. Work continues 

on recovering some historical data that has not yet been 

restored. There are still some data quality issues relating to 

data but HCFS is in a good position to meet statutory and 

local reporting requirements.

IMPACT

On 4th April 2022 the service returned to Mosaic, The 

development of live reporting tools continued and has been 

live since July 2022. The decision to go live with Mosaic in 

advance of reporting tools being ready was to enable HCFS 

to have accurate information to submit for statutory returns. 

Managers are now able to track progress of work at a level 

they had not been previously.

ASSURANCE

Following the deactivation of Child Protection Information Sharing (CPIS)  

in October 2020 following the cyber-attack on the London Borough of 

Hackney, it was reactivated by NHSE early this year. NHSE asked Homerton 

to undertake two audits to provide assurance that vulnerable children 

and pregnant women whose unborn were subject to child protection 

plans were identified and managed appropriately when they presented 

to an unscheduled care setting. Both audits did not find any significant 

safeguarding deficits. NHS England gave staff who worked on the audits a 

safeguarding star. 

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

ASSURANCE

In April 2021, the ISCC engaged the National Deputy Head of Safeguarding 

for NHS England & NHS Improvement regarding plans for the future 

development of CP-IS.  Plans were understood to involve expanding the 

remit of CP-IS beyond the scope of unborn babies and children who are 

subject to local authority Child Protection Plans and to include vulnerable 

adults (such as care leavers).  Learning from one of the CHSCP’s reviews 

concerning a young person who took their own life resonated with these 

planned changes.  Whilst no timescale was immediately available , the ISCC 

wrote to confirm our full support for these plans, highlighting the positive 

step towards addressing the issue of ‘transitional safeguarding’, where we 

know vulnerabilities remain for young adults who turn 18.  

P
age 114



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
102 103

Safer Workforce

Despite all efforts to recruit safely there will be occasions when 

allegations are made against staff or volunteers working with children.  

Organisations should have clear procedures in place that explain what 

should happen when such allegations are raised. These should include 

the requirement to appoint a designated safeguarding lead (DSL) to 

whom these allegations are reported. It is ordinarily the responsibility 

of the DSL to report allegations to, and otherwise liaise with, the 

designated officer in the local authority (referred to as the LADO).  The 

LADO has the responsibility to manage and have oversight of allegations 

against people who work with children.  The LADO should always be 

contacted when there is an allegation that any person who works with 

children has:

•	 Behaved in a way that has harmed a child, or may have harmed  

a child.

•	 Possibly committed a criminal offence against or related to a child.

•	 Behaved towards a child or children in a way that indicates they may 

pose a risk of harm to children.

EVIDENCE

Activity - There were 311 contacts to the LADO in 2021/22, a 44% 

increase from the 174 contacts in 2020/21. Activity is back to pre-

pandemic levels.  During 2020/21, Covid-19 lockdowns and school 

closures resulted in less professional engagement with children 

and young people and less LADO activity during this period.  This 

was particularly relevant to the education sector, given schools 

and nurseries are the dominant employment groups that generate 

referrals to the LADO service. 

EVIDENCE

The occupations with the highest number of contacts were teachers 

(29%), school support staff (23%) and nursery workers (17%). This 

is a slight change to previous years where school support staff 

received the highest number of contacts. The increase for teachers is 

significant, given it has risen by 7.4%. 

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 115



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
104

EVIDENCE

This period saw a change for previous reporting, where the highest 

number of contacts has consistently been physical harm.  In 

2020/2021, ‘concerns in private life’ accounted for 28% of the total 

concerns, whereas physical harm was the reason for 21% of the 

LADO contacts. ‘Conduct’ was the third highest category at 20%.  This 

change is likely to have arisen due to the pandemic and with people 

spending more time at home

EVIDENCE

Themes - Another key theme for the period of 2020/21 was the 

increased complexity of some of the cases.  For example, one case 

required three review meetings following the initial ASV meeting 

due to the nature of the concerns. It is unclear why complexity 

has increased, although this is a theme that has been echoed by 

colleagues across London.  

 Again, it could be indicative of the complexities brought on by 

societal changes as a result of the pandemic, although this is 

somewhat speculative.

EVIDENCE

Consultations were the highest demand for the LADO service in 

2021/22 accounting for 74.9% of contacts.  This is almost exactly 

the same percentage for the previous period (74%) albeit the volume 

differed on account of the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on 

overall figures. The same applies to ASV meetings at 10.6%, which is 

similar to the period for 2020/21 (10.3%). 

Once contact has been made with the LADO service, it will result in one 

of the five following actions being taken:

•	 The contact/referral is managed by a LADO in another local 

authority.

•	 A consultation takes place where the matter is discussed between 

the referrer and the LADO to decide on what action to take next 

•	 An evaluation meeting is held when the contact provides information 

that would suggest there is potential risk in the person’s employment 

but would require further information before the decision is made 

that LADO oversight or an investigation is required.

•	 Guidance and oversight is offered by the LADO when an employer 

is completing an internal investigation.  An ASV meeting will be 

convened when it has been decided by the LADO that the threshold 

of harm/risk has been met.  

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 116



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
104 105

EVIDENCE

The majority of cases considered at an ASV meeting during 

2021/2022 resulted in a ‘substantiated’ outcome. 42% of all 

cases that met the threshold for an ASV meeting had sufficient 

evidence to support the allegation made/concerns raised. 

Uncommonly, two cases resulted in a ‘false’ outcome. Six cases 

were ‘inconclusive’ including one that had been ongoing for 

almost a year due to its complexity. The other five cases were 

awaiting Police outcomes (four being related to indecent images 

of children).  Timing in these cases is invariably longer due to the 

forensic analysis of electronic devices required and delays owing 

to the volume of such cases.	

EVIDENCE

LADO Training & Awareness Raising - The Hackney Education (HE) 

Safeguarding in Education Team runs an extensive training programme 

throughout the year including Safeguarding and Child Protection 

training for Hackney Education staff, Designated Safeguarding 

Leads for schools, colleges and early years, school and college staff, 

governors, early years and childminders. Their training covers safe 

practice and the procedures for dealing with allegations against adults 

who work with children and young people. They continue to run specific 

training dealing with managing allegations for managers in the early 

years and school sector, once every academic year for schools and 

twice for early years managers.  CHSCP training at Level 1 and 3 also 

covers the management of allegations against staff and volunteers.  

The Hackney LADO has agreed to run a number of seminars for the 

CHSCP training programme during 2023/24.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 117



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
106

ASSURANCE

The responsibility of the LADO is set out in Working Together 

to Safeguard Children 2018 and Chapter 7 of the London Child 

Protection Procedures (7th edition). All allegations made against 

staff, including volunteers, that call into question their suitability 

to work with or be in a position of trust with children, whether 

made about events in their private or professional life, need to 

be formally reported to the LADO.  Chapter 7 of the London Child 

Protection Procedures has recently been amended to provide 

consistency in respect of the response to low level concerns and 

to include the wider definition of people in ‘Positions of Trust’ 

(The Police, Crime, Sentencing and Courts Act 2022 has extended 

the definition of Position of Trust within the Sexual Offences Act 

2003 section 22A to include anyone who coaches, teaches, trains, 

supervises or instructs a child under 18, on a regular basis, in a 

sport or a religion).

ASSURANCE

Practice audits of LADO work are conducted every 6 months 

by the Service Manager and Practice Development Managers 

in the Safeguarding and Reviewing Service. These consistently 

find timely responses from the LADO Service, positive working 

relationships between the LADO and partner agencies, clear 

actions and outcomes being achieved. The most recent audit in 

July 2022 looked at six LADO cases.  

•	 100% of audits found partnership working to be good or 

outstanding. 

•	 100% of referrals were rated as good or outstanding. 

•	 100% of audits found decision making to be good or 

outstanding. 

•	 100% of audits found evidence that there were positive 

outcomes/positive impacts on the child’s plan as a result of 

LADO intervention, with practice rated as good. 

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 118



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
106 107

ASSURANCE

In January 2022, the CHSCP Executive discussed the interface between the 

police and the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO).  This related to the 

absence of routine contact from the police concerning conduct matters that 

meet the threshold for the LADO to be notified. This has been an ongoing issue 

for some time and is not unique to the City of London or Hackney.  A Pan-

London group looked at solutions, although work was placed on hold due 

to COVID-19 and subsequently stalled.  With the agreement of the Executive, 

a small group was scheduled to meet to discuss the possibility of a local 

protocol, although for a variety of reasons, this did not go ahead.  Given there 

remained no consistent mechanism allowing for oversight on possible LADO 

issues concerning the police, the ISCC wrote to Commanders in both the City 

of London and Hackney seeking their cooperation in this regard.  The request 

has been relatively simple in that the City Police and CE BCU should include a 

trigger point within their processes to notify the LADO of any case that meets 

the criteria.  This will not interfere with conduct procedures and will create 

immediate alignment with other safeguarding partners and relevant agencies.  

At present, the police remain an outlier to working within our defined 

safeguarding arrangements and procedures.

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

P
age 119



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
108

Learning & 
Improvement

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

108LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 120



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
108 109108

Reviews of Practice

Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews (reviews) are undertaken on ‘serious 

child safeguarding cases’ to learn lessons and improve the way in which local 

professionals and organisations work together to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children. These reviews were previously known as Serious Case 

Reviews (SCRs) but were transitioned to this alternative model in July 2019.  

ASSURANCE

Since its inception, the National Child Safeguarding Practice Review 

Panel has emphasised the responsibility of safeguarding partners to 

decide upon whether a review is needed or not.  However, the risks in 

this approach have been recognised, with safeguarding partners of 

the CHSCP agreeing to maintain fundamental independence within 

our reviewing arrangements.  This is the right thing to do in terms of 

transparency and to ensure that safeguarding partners avoid being in a 

position of either marking their own homework or deciding not to do their 

homework at all.  Locally, the decision-making function for instigating 

a review is delegated to the Independent Safeguarding Children 

Commissioner.  Safeguarding partners ratify any decisions made, with a 

resolution process existing to deal with any differences of opinion. 

EVIDENCE

There were two serious incident notifications and 

one Rapid Review report was submitted to the Child 

Safeguarding Practice Review Panel.  

 

Two other cases were also considered by the Case 

Review Sub-Group, although none resulted in the need 

for a Rapid Review. 

Two Serious Case Reviews were published: Child B in 

April 2021 and Child I in July 2021. 

 

Two Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews 

(LCSPRs) were published: Child R in December 2021 

and Child Q in March 2022.  

 

No LCSPRs were instigated in 2021-22 and none 

remained underway at the end of the year. 

Full details of all the reviews published by the CHSCP 

are available HERE. 

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 121

https://www.chscp.org.uk/case-reviews/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
110

Rapid Reviews

On notification of a serious incident, a Rapid Review 

meeting will be convened. The CHSCP has 15 days 

from the original notification to produce and send an 

overview of the Rapid Review to the National Child 

Safeguarding Practice Review Panel setting out the 

actions it intends to take. The panel will decide if the 

case is of national importance and may instigate its own 

review.  One Rapid Review was undertaken in 2021/22.

 

RAPID REVIEW 1 – BABY Z 
 

Following birth, Baby Z went to live with her parents 

in a multi-generational household. Within this 

extended family, there was evidence of long-standing 

safeguarding concerns and intervention by Hackney 

agencies.  In 2021, Baby Z was brought by her parents 

to hospital and on analysing her blood, medics found 

abnormally high levels of both sodium and chloride – an 

indication of salt poisoning. Following treatment, Baby 

Z has recovered and is safe, although the longer term 

impact upon her development remains unclear. 

In considering the pre-birth period, the Rapid Review noted that both parents 

actively engaged with midwifery services and there were no immediate 

concerns about the capacity of the parents.  That said, being a first child, this 

was untested territory.  There was known neglect within the family and as such, 

there was a need to establish what this might have meant for Baby Z.  Whilst 

the Rapid Review found evidence of some practice being authoritative, child 

focussed and consistent with both statutory guidance and local procedure, it 

also identified periods where practitioners did not fully consider the context 

of this family and the known concerns.  The potential for the wider family 

dynamics to impact on Baby Z’s safety and welfare weren’t considered as they 

should have been.  Indeed, Baby Z appears to have been seen in ‘isolation’ to 

the rest of the household, as opposed to a vulnerable child who was going to 

be fundamentally integrated within it.  If risks were already evident, Baby Z was 

likely to be exposed to them one way or another. 

ASSURANCE

Following careful consideration, and reference to the relevant guidance 

set out in Chapter 4 para 15-19 of Working Together to Safeguard 

Children 2018, the ISCC made the decision not to instigate a local child 

safeguarding practice review in this case.  Safeguarding partners of the 

CHSCP fully ratified this decision as did the National Child Safeguarding 

Practice Review Panel. 

By way of rationale, there was no clear evidence that either the actions 

or inactions of practitioners resulted in missed opportunities to protect 

Baby Z.  Whilst the circumstances highlighted the need for improvement, 

the immediate learning and recommendations were responded to via the 

existing structures of the CHSCP and individual agencies.  

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 122



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
110 111

LEARNING

The threshold criteria for triggering assessments, including pre-birth 

assessments, needs to be reviewed to ensure it sufficiently describes 

circumstances in which risk might derive from other family members 

and significant others connected to a child.  This is particularly 

relevant in multi-generational households.

The CHSCP’s Neglect Steering Group to review the practice guidance 

and procedure governing the impact of risk arising in the context of 

multi-generational households.

The CHSCP to review its guidance on ‘Think Family’ to ensure that 

this not only covers the interface with adult services, but that this 

extends to fully include other children and wider extended family 

members living in the same household or connected to the child.

Pending the implementation of its new case management system, 

Hackney CFS should rapidly review the functionality of the interim 

system to ensure it can identify connections with other family 

members and significant others.  Where this is identified as 

not being difficult / not possible, Hackney CFS to consider any 

immediate mitigating action that can be taken as part improving the 

information retrieved. 

The processes, guidance and training (for midwives and health 

visitors) covering the retrieval of community health records should 

be reviewed to ensure these are sufficient to prompt consideration of 

other family members as required.

As a separate issue, the Rapid Review heard that Z’s mother had 

been using distilled / bottled water to prepare feeds.  The use 

of bottled water is understood to be against the manufacturers’ 

advice.  The NEL CCG and local providers to consider the best way of 

communicating this to families as part of any engagement by GPs, 

midwifery, and health visiting services.

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 123



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
112

IMPACT

Local threshold tools were reviewed and updated to include more 

description of the circumstances in which risk might derive from 

other family members and significant others connected to a child 

(in particular multi-generational households).

The CHSCP webpage on neglect was refreshed. 

The CHSCP Neglect strategy and guidance are being reviewed as 

part of the implementation of the NSPCC’s Graded Care Profile 2. 

Work is ongoing to refresh the Think Family Protocol with the 

CHSAB.

Noting that the use of bottled water (as used in this case) is against 

the manufacturers’ advice for baby feeds, the Specialist Practitioner 

for Infant Feeding delivered a number of training sessions to health 

visitors and midwives about providing consistent advice to families 

(verbally and in writing) on preparing formula feeds appropriately.

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 124

https://www.chscp.org.uk/neglect/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
112 113

Published Reviews
 

The following case reviews were published by the CHSCP during 

2021/22.

SERIOUS CASE REVIEW – CHILD B 

Child B was known to Hackney Children & Families Service (CFS) since 

birth and had been overseen by Hackney’s Children with Disabilities 

(CWD) Service. In May 2015, Child B was admitted to hospital for an 

amputation that could have been prevented with appropriate treatment.  

Child B was not brought to a number of medical appointments and there 

were concerns in the professional network about neglect.   

LEARNING

The SCR was authored by Rory McCallum, Senior Professional 

Advisor, CHSCP and Malcolm Ward, Independent Reviewer.  It made 

six findings and nine recommendations for improving multi-agency 

safeguarding practice. These have particular relevance for those 

working with children who have complex needs and disabilities.  

Continued overleaf. 

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 125



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
114

LEARNING CONTINUED

Finding 1: Children not being brought to appointments is an 

indicator of potential neglect. This was a clear finding and one that 

has been seen in other reviews. Child B, whilst being offered many 

appointments by different services, was not brought to a significant 

number of these. The hypothesis that these were as a result of 

neglect was not robustly pursued and there was little practical 

support offered to help the family manage the appointments. 

Finding 2: Effective and child focused safeguarding practice with 

disabled children ensures they are seen, heard and helped.  Whilst 

Child B was seen on many occasions, there was limited evidence that 

his voice was consistently heard or that he was directly engaged by 

involved professionals. However, some professionals, particularly 

school staff were able to effectively engage and communicate with 

Child B. 

Finding 3: The focus on engaging parents and carers to support 

disabled children is key, but this should not dilute professional 

challenge when needed. Parental involvement for disabled children 

with communication difficulties is especially important. However, 

practitioners had no real clarity or guidance within the system about 

when non-engagement should be a ‘red flag’. This lack of clarity 

is likely to have been a reason why the identification of potential 

neglect to Child B took so long to action.

 

Finding 4: Multi-agency working, information sharing and 

understanding the responsibilities of others can be complex.  

Clear systems and processes can support effective child 

focussed safeguarding practice. It is clear that no agency 

involved with Child B had a clear overview of the family 

history, its dynamics or a complete picture of Child B’s needs. 

Even professionals who knew Child B well were learning new 

information as part of a practitioner workshop convened for 

this SCR. A strong view expressed was that the lack of this 

complete picture can often arise in the system supporting 

children with complex health needs and disabilities when so 

many different agencies are involved. This is a known feature 

and a challenge for both professionals and parents alike. 

Finding 5: The need for professionals to think family and think 

fathers. It was accepted that there was no clear picture of the 

dynamics of Child B’s family.  Professionals should have been 

thinking (and acting) beyond the individual they were working 

with. There was a need to Think Family. There should also have 

been a greater focus on Child B’s father. The SCR recognised 

an over-reliance on contact with mother and not enough 

questioning of the dynamics of the relationship with Child B’s 

father and what his role was in supporting his child’s care.

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 126



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
114 115

IMPACT

GP guidance was updated to include identification of repeat 

cancellations. 

A ‘Rethinking Did Not Attend’ video was added to the GP website.

Multi-agency guidance on safeguarding disabled children was 

developed and promoted.  This includes communication guidance and 

hearing the voice of disabled children. 

A review of the Disabled Children’s Services terms of reference and 

agenda structures for meetings was undertaken to better allow capture 

/ monitoring of attendance at appointments. 

Reassurance activity was undertaken with local agencies on their 

recording systems being sufficiently robust to identify patterns of 

children not being brought to appointments. 

The Hackney Child Wellbeing Framework was updated to emphasise 

indicators of children not being brought to appointments. 

The review of Hackney’s early help services included consideration 

of improvements about how lead professionals are identified when 

cases are stepped down. More recently, the formation of an Early Help 

Strategic Group under the CHSCP will provide further focus on this 

issue.

The SEND structure was realigned and underpinned with Early Help 

principles. A working group was developed to ensure the use and 

involvement of social care practitioners in developing EHC plans and 

the EHC Plan Annual Review. 

Safeguarding Briefings were developed and disseminated about 

Working with Men. There are ongoing Task Groups on the themes of 

the ‘Myth of Invisible Men’ and ‘Think Family’ (collaboration with the 

CHSAB).

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 127

https://mailchi.mp/hackney/chscp-things-you-should-know-june-10521721?e=81814a485c


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
116

SERIOUS CASE REVIEW - CHILD I 

This Serious Case Review was commissioned following the death 

of Child I from natural causes whilst in custody at a Young Offender 

Institution. At the time of his death, Child I was 16 years old and on 

remand for murder. He had a known history of carrying weapons and 

had been arrested several times in possession of Class A drugs. 

Over what was a relatively short period of time, Child I’s offending 

escalated significantly. It was entrenched, serious and harmful. Exactly 

how and why Child I became involved in such a spiral of criminal activity 

remains largely unknown. However, it is reasonable to assume that 

despite having ‘agency’, he was unlikely to have chosen this path for 

himself. At various points in his life, there would have been a range of 

factors at play that ultimately determined the actions he took. It is highly 

likely that one such factor was criminal exploitation. 

That said, the SCR neither sought to excuse Child I’s behaviour nor dilute 

the impact it had upon many, not least his victims and without doubt, 

his own family. It does, however, recognise that for many children, the 

boundary between ‘victim’ and ‘offender’ will often be blurred. Front-line 

professionals need to recognise this too and give sufficient priority to 

both areas as part of their practice. Put simply, when offending is driven 

by exploitation, one won’t be addressed without the other. 

ASSURANCE

The SCR was authored by Rory McCallum, Senior Professional 

Advisor, CHSCP.  Following submission and as part of its response to 

the CHSCP, the National Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel 

noted:  We thought that this was a very strong Serious Case Review 

with thoughtful family engagement and important learning which was 

well considered throughout the report. The review is an exemplar for 

your future Local Safeguarding Practice Reviews.

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 128



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
116 117

LEARNING  

The SCR identified three key findings:

 

Finding 1: Practitioners not only need to recognise and respond to well-established ‘critical 

moments’, but ‘subtle moments’ too; moments that might present clear opportunities to help 

and protect a child.  As an example, whilst in residential care Child I told staff that he didn’t 

want his electronic tag to be removed. Not much weight was afforded to this comment at 

the time. In hindsight, this could have been a cry for help or a serious suggestion from Child I 

about how he might be kept safe.

Finding 2: We know much about the circumstances in which risk relating to exploitation, 

criminality and serious youth violence is predictably going to increase. Despite this knowledge, 

practice does not always accrue the benefits of a coherent multi-agency approach.  Early 

intervention with Child I could have benefitted from improved coordination with a wider set of 

agencies (and the family) and might have helped more effectively address the causes of Child 

I’s behaviour.

Finding 3: Where children are identified as needing early help, it is important that parents and 

carers fully understand what this involves in respect of a coordinated, multi-agency approach 

to help and protection. Without this understanding, they may be hindered in their ability to 

provide informed consent.

 

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 129



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
118

IMPACT  

The Hackney Children and Families Service Critical Incident Protocol and the CHSCP’s Strategy Discussion guidance and 

agenda template were updated and disseminated to ensure practice relating to critical moments (well established and 

less obvious) were sufficiently robust to ensure effective safety planning. 

Local MPS activity and data provided to the CHSCP Safeguarding Adolescents Group / MACE on a quarterly basis to 

provide reassurance / oversight about the sufficiency or otherwise of local disruption activity targeting those who are 

criminally exploiting children.

In the wider context of reducing exclusion in Hackney, the Re-Engagement Unit model has been expanded to cover 

all primary schools and provide an expanded offer for secondary schools. Alongside, the new Early Help Hub this will 

strengthen the early help and support available for pupils who are vulnerable to exclusion.  

Termly SEND multi-agency planning (MAP) meetings look at planning support for children with additional needs.

Local threshold tools were reviewed to reference the need to consider persistent disruptive behaviour and behaviours 

resulting in children receiving persistent short term exclusions and those at risk of permanent exclusion.  Both tools 

define these indicators as illustrating children with additional needs and hence relevant to an early help response by the 

partnership.

The CHSCP developed and disseminated a video guide on consent.

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 130



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
118 119

LOCAL CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW – CHILD R

This Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review was initiated following Child R, a 

three year old child, sustaining significant injuries including head injuries.

On arrival at the family’s address, paramedics from the London Ambulance 

Service found Child R to be unconscious with extensive physical injuries. He 

had bruising, lacerations, scabbing to his cheek, a large cut on his back and 

scarring around the feet. The accommodation was unkempt and there were 

signs of disturbance. Paramedics contacted the Metropolitan Police Service. 

Child R was taken to hospital, where further tests identified a bleed on his brain. 

No explanation was given to the police to account for Child R’s condition or his 

injuries. Child R’s mother maintained she had not seen anything and that her son 

was with her partner prior to the ambulance being called. A witness reported 

hearing shouting and sounds of a child being hit. 

Child R and his mother had only recently moved to Hackney and were living 

in temporary accommodation. Risks relating to domestic abuse and concerns 

about mother’s parenting capacity were evident in the family history. In the days 

immediately preceding the discovery of Child R’s injuries, reports were made to 

the police about his safety. Following a criminal investigation, mother’s partner 

pleaded guilty to Grievous Bodily Harm and to causing or allowing a child to 

suffer serious physical harm. He was sentenced to three years imprisonment. 

Child R’s mother pleaded guilty to causing or allowing a child to suffer serious 

physical harm. She was sentenced to two years imprisonment, suspended for 

two years, and with requirements for unpaid work, rehabilitation, and community 

service. Notwithstanding the impact of the emotional trauma experienced by 

Child R, he has physically recovered from his injuries. 

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 131



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
120

LEARNING 

The Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review was authored by Rory McCallum, Senior Professional Advisor, 

CHSCP and Sarah Baker, Independent Reviewer.  It made six findings and seven recommendations for 

improving practice. 

Finding 1: Poor and untimely information sharing hindered practitioners gaining a full understanding of what 

Child R’s daily life was like and the potential risks that he was facing.

Finding 2: There was a lack of authoritative practice in response to concerns about domestic abuse and child 

abuse. This meant that opportunities to help and protect Child R through statutory intervention were missed.

Finding 3: Safeguarding Children Partnerships need to find better ways to embed a culture of practice that 

routinely includes adult males when assessing need and risk to children.

Finding 4: Opportunities were missed to understand Child R’s circumstances in the context of risk. This arose 

due to a lack of professional curiosity and intervention that failed to put Child R at the heart of practice. He 

wasn’t seen, heard and helped. 

Finding 5: On occasions, practitioners lacked curiosity about significant aspects of Child R’s mother’s 

background which impacted on the assessment and planning of services to ensure that Child R and his 

mother were safe.

 

Finding 6: Signs of possible neglect and the identification of patterns of cumulative harm weren’t effectively 

identified by safeguarding practitioners. 

 

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 132



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
120 121

IMPACT

Homerton Healthcare’s Safeguarding policy was reviewed and updated to include the transfer and 

receipt of community health records to ensure timely transfer and escalation (escalation section 

already in policy) if not received.  

A suite of CHSCP video guides were developed to support high quality referral making. Auditing 

through the CHSCP QA process was also undertaken to review the quality of referrals and additional 

learning identified / progressed.

 

Following a request to the London Safeguarding Children Partnership, the editorial board updated 

the London Safeguarding Children Procedures on the transfer of cases of children in need. As of 

September 2022, the procedures have been strengthened to include requirements for handover 

meetings and facilitation of closure in one area and case opening in another. Development of a 

regional protocol (with local authorities bordering London) is underway. 

 

Greater promotion of local training to reinforce the seriousness of domestic abuse has been achieved 

through the integration of the Hackney VAWG training programme with the CHSCP online learning 

management system. 

 

Local activity to dip sample recordings of body worn videos (BWV) has been highlighted with NPCC 

leads as best practice for all police services. BWV guidance is currently subject to a thematic review 

and will contain revised guidance on the use of BWV in incidents with Children & Young Persons.

 

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 133



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
122

LOCAL CHILD SAFEGUARDING PRACTICE REVIEW  – 
CHILD Q 

In 2020, Child Q, a Black female child of secondary school age, was 

strip searched by female police officers from the Metropolitan Police 

Service. The search, which involved the exposure of Child Q’s intimate 

body parts, took place on school premises, without an Appropriate Adult 

present and with the knowledge that Child Q was menstruating. 

Teachers told the review that on the day of the search they believed 

Child Q was smelling strongly of cannabis and suspected that she might 

be carrying drugs. On questioning Child Q, she denied using or having 

any drugs in her possession. A search of her bag, blazer, scarf, and shoes 

revealed nothing of significance. Remaining concerned, teachers sought 

advice from the Safer Schools Police Officer. Due to the restrictions 

arising from Covid-19, this officer was not on site. He recommended that 

the school call 101 and ask for a female officer to attend. 

A male and female officer subsequently arrived at the school, followed 

by another two officers (one of whom was also female). After discussions 

between the police and teachers, Child Q was escorted to the medical 

room. She was subsequently strip searched. No Appropriate Adult was in 

attendance, teachers remained outside the room and Child Q’s mother 

was not contacted in advance. No drugs were found during either the 

strip search or a search of the room in which Child Q had been waiting 

beforehand. 

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 134



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
122 123

Child Q was later allowed to return home where she disclosed the 

events to her mother. Child Q described how she had been strip 

searched whilst menstruating. Due to the level of her distress, Child Q’s 

mother took her to the family GP who made a referral for psychological 

support. This led to contact with Hackney CFS. 

Given these circumstances, a Rapid Review was initiated by the 

CHSCP. The Rapid Review report was submitted to the National 

Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel in early 2021. As part of its 

response, the Panel made the following suggestion. ‘We noted your 

decision to carry out a local child safeguarding practice review (LCSPR) but 

would encourage you to think carefully about whether one is necessary as 

we felt that this case was not notifiable and did not meet the criteria for 

an LCSPR.’ Despite this suggestion, a Local Child Safeguarding Practice 

Review was nonetheless initiated. The delegated decision to do this 

was made by the ISCC and ratified by safeguarding partners in line 

with the CHSCP’s written safeguarding arrangements. In considering 

the relevant statutory guidance , the overwhelming opinion was that 

Child Q had been exposed to a traumatic incident and had undoubtedly 

suffered harm. Whilst there was less certainty about whether the precise 

definition of a ‘serious child safeguarding case’ had been met, there 

was little doubt that the impact on Child Q had been profound. The 

repercussions on Child Q’s emotional health were obvious and ongoing. 

Given the context of where and how the search took place, it was 

impossible not to view these circumstances as anything other than the 

most serious and significant. The incident also illustrated unambiguous 

issues of importance that warranted independent analysis, not least 

the potential impact of disproportionality and racism and how these 

factors might have influenced the actions of organisations and individual 

professionals. 

The review made eight findings and 14 recommendations for improving 

practice.  In line with statutory guidance, these were focused upon 

preventing or reducing the risk of recurrence of similar incidents. The 

review has not been conducted to hold individuals, organisations or 

agencies to account, as there are other processes for that purpose, 

including through employment law and disciplinary procedures, 

professional regulation and, in exceptional cases, criminal proceedings.

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 135



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
124

LEARNING 

Finding 1: The school was fully compliant with expected practice 

standards when responding to its concerns about Child Q smelling 

of cannabis and its subsequent search of Child Q’s coat, bag, scarf 

and shoes. This demonstrated good curiosity by involved staff and an 

alertness to potential indicators of risk. 

Finding 2: The decision to strip search Child Q was insufficiently attuned 

to her best interests or right to privacy.

 

Finding 3: School staff deferred to the authority of the police on their 

arrival at school. They should have been more challenging to the police, 

seeking clarity about the actions they intended to take. All practitioners 

need to be mindful of their duties to uphold the best interests of children.

 

Finding 4: School staff had an insufficient focus on the safeguarding 

needs of Child Q when responding to concerns about suspected drug use.

 

Finding 5: The application of the law and policy governing the strip 

searching of children can be variable and open to interpretation.

 

Finding 6: The absence of any specific requirement to seek parental 

consent when strip searching children undermines the principles 

of parental responsibility and partnership working with parents to 

safeguard children.

 

Finding 7: The Covid-19 restrictions in place at the time appeared to 

have frustrated effective communication between school staff and 

the Safer Schools Officer.

 

Finding 8: Having considered the context of the incident, the views 

of those engaged in the review and the impact felt by Child Q and 

her family, racism (whether deliberate or not) was likely to have been 

an influencing factor in the decision to undertake a strip search.

IMPACT

The review was authored by Jim Gamble QPM, Independent Child Safeguarding Commissioner and Rory McCallum, Senior Professional Advisor.  

It attracted significant public interest and a range of activity has been ongoing since the report’s publication in March 2022.  Details will be more 

fully reported in next year’s annual report and will include the update report due to be published by the ISCC in January 2023.

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 136



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
124 125

SERIOUS CASE REVIEW – TASHAÛN (CHILD C) UPDATE 
REPORT

 

On 1 May 2019, Tashaûn Aird, a 15-year-old male, died after being 

stabbed whilst in the street. Tashaûn had been permanently excluded 

from school and three months before his death, he was seriously injured 

in another stabbing incident. On 19 December 2019, a 15-year-old boy 

was found guilty of his murder at the Old Bailey. A 16-year-old boy and 

an 18-year-old male were both convicted of manslaughter. A fourth 

suspect, a boy aged 16, died in custody prior to trial after becoming 

unwell.  

Tashaûn’s Serious Case Review (SCR) was published in December 2020 

and made nine findings relating to the protection of young people at 

risk of extra-familial harm.  In December 2021, the SCR Tashaûn (Child 

C) update report was published to evaluate the impact of progress 

made against the review and the three key areas (exclusions, alternative 

provision and contextual safeguarding and the response to extra-familial 

risk) agreed for further scrutiny on publication.  The update report can 

be found HERE.

LEARNING

•	 Exclusion from mainstream school can heighten risk.

•	 Education settings need access to local intelligence. 

•	 A focus on the individual child is important.

•	 Clarity is needed about interventions to mitigate extra-familial 

risk. 

•	 Developing positive relationships with young people is important. 

•	 Involving and supporting parents is essential to effective safety 

planning. 

•	 Inconsistent judgements about risk creates uncertainty. 

•	 The use of child protection procedures. 

•	 Poor case recording can directly impact on practice.

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 137

https://www.chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/CHSCP-SCR-Child-C-Report-PUBLISHED-FINAL.pdf
https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/CHSCP-SCR-Tashaun-Aird-Child-C-Update-Dec-21.pdf


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
126

IMPACT

Awareness Raising and Training - Actions in response to the need 

for awareness raising and the delivery of training have largely been 

completed.  Relevant learning continues to be promoted, embedded, 

and tested as part of the CHSCP’s Learning & Improvement Framework.  

The SCR report has been cascaded to front-line practitioners via partner 

agency leads, single agency communications, a CHSCP Things You 

Should Know (TUSK) briefing and via the CHSCP website.

Two learning seminars were also hosted by the CHSCP in March 2021.  Led 

by the independent author, these sessions involved Tashaûn’s mother, 

stepfather and sister providing an account of the family’s perspective.  

Feedback was overwhelmingly positive, and the contribution of Tashaûn’s 

family was powerful in driving home key lessons for practice.  Over the 

course of the two events, 133 practitioners participated.  94% of those 

attending said the content was either excellent or very good and 92% said 

the learning shared on the day would enable them to safeguard children 

and young people more effectively.  A selection of comments made by 

participants are set out below:   

“The fact that the parents and sister of the young man who lost 

his life contributed to the presentation, was both humbling and 

powerful. I am most grateful to them for sharing their thoughts, 

feelings, and reflections. As professionals we MUST learn from this”.

“The voice of the parents was crucial to us as professionals 

remembering we are dealing with people, not cases, and each 

child should be seen as an individual not a statistic”.

“Understanding the true impact on the family. Having the 

opportunity to hear first-hand from the parents’ perspective. 

Hearing real, live emotion, distrust, their journey. How things 

can improve from young people and the necessary steps to 

prevent this from happening in the future”.

In support of these events and to help create a ‘learning legacy’ of 

Tashaûn’s experiences, the family has also agreed to participate in 

a video training resource for the CHSCP.  Whilst the imposition of 

the pandemic has frustrated our ability to finalise this, we remain 

hopeful it will be completed in early 2023.  This resource will be 

available to the entire professional network and will form part of the 

CHSCP training programme focused on safeguarding adolescents.  

Of relevance, Hackney Education has also revised the content 

of exclusion training for school governors to include reference to 

Tashaûn and the SCR’s findings. Further information for school 

governors was similarly developed and has been shared via the 

Hackney Governors’ Forum.

 

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 138

https://mailchi.mp/hackney/chscp-things-you-should-know-sept-7109569
https://mailchi.mp/hackney/chscp-things-you-should-know-sept-7109569


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
126 127

IMPACT

Exclusions - The publication of Tashaûn’s SCR acted as a 

major catalyst for considering how schools are supported 

to prevent exclusions. Building on the work undertaken by 

Hackney’s CYP Scrutiny Commission and Council officers, 

proposals were developed to create a universal education 

early help offer to support pupils vulnerable to exclusion. 

Consultations took place with schools and activity to develop 

the proposal was undertaken in collaboration with Early and 

Young Hackney to ensure the offer aligned with the wider 

Early Help offer. Whilst in development, there was a focus on 

securing alternatives to exclusion where possible through the 

use of managed moves. Exclusion reviews were also held in 

some schools to provide learning from a permanent exclusion. 

As of September 2022, the Universal Re-engagement Unit 

offer is in place which covers all primary schools and has 

an expanded offer for secondary schools, enabling them 

to support greater numbers of pupils who are vulnerable to 

exclusion than currently.  This has been developed alongside 

the wider changes in early help provision within Hackney and 

referrals for support are made via the Early Help Hub, thus 

allowing for a wider understanding of needs and support to 

be established at the point of referral. The development of a 

universal education early help offer enables a greater number 

of pupils to sustain their placements in mainstream schools 

and reduce the need for Alternative Provision placements. 

IMPACT

Alternative Provision - A defined risk assessment process has 

been incorporated into the exclusion notification form.  This will 

undoubtedly support Alternative Providers as part of inducting 

pupils into a new setting and risk management in the context 

of the child, other pupils, peer groups and the setting itself.  

This was a key issue in Tashaûn’s SCR, where the Alternative 

Provider held limited information about the risks that Tashaûn 

was exposed to. Hackney’s Integrated Gangs Unit provides 

ongoing briefings to education professionals about the key 

themes, patterns and trends relating to gang activity.

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 139



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
128

IMPACT

Named Professionals / Trusted Adults - Tâshaun’s SCR 

recommended that the multi-agency partnership should 

nominate a named professional or adult who has (or who can 

develop) a trusted relationship with children who are assessed 

to be at risk of serious youth violence.  This named professional 

should focus on developing the child to adult relationship.  

Actions against this recommendation are complete.  The 

CHSCP has also revised and updated its practice guidance 

on strategy discussions to ensure that every child at risk of 

serious youth violence now has the possibility to benefit from 

developing a positive relationship with a trusted professional.  

Guidance now sets a clear expectation for trusted adults to be 

identified at the strategy discussion stage of intervention.  

Multi-agency audits undertaken by the CHSCP in June 2021 

identified evidence of good practice in this context with 

named / trusted leads identified in several cases involving 

serious youth violence.  Strategy discussion guidance and its 

accompanying agenda template continue to be promoted by 

the CHSCP.  A video explainer has also been released by the 

CHSCP and can be found here.  

IMPACT

Risk Gradings - The SCR recommended that the CHSCP should 

review partnership and individual agency processes that 

involve the application of risk gradings for young people at 

risk of serious youth violence.  Where required, these should be 

changed to ensure consistency and a clear understanding as to 

what the judgement means in the context of practice.  Actions 

in response to this recommendation are complete.

Several multi-agency sessions were held to better understand 

practice in this context.  It was agreed impractical to try 

and align all agencies’ risk processes into one singular 

approach.  This was largely due to the fact these are used 

for different purposes.  As a ‘workaround’, local guidance has 

been strengthened to ensure the more detailed information 

about risk gradings / judgements is shared during strategy 

discussions.

 

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 140

https://www.chscp.org.uk/strategy-discussions/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
128 129

Auditing

THE CHSCP’S SELF-ASSESSMENT FRAMEWORK 

During 2020/21, the CHSCP launched its new Safeguarding Self-

Assessment Framework to help organisations make children safer.  It 

replaced the Section 11 audits and Section 157 / 175 audits with the 

aim of making the process easier to access and update.  Whether an 

organisation is a safeguarding partner, a relevant agency or named 

within our local arrangements, there is an expectation that the self-

assessment is completed.  The Self-Assessment programme engaged 

Social Housing Providers and Out of School Settings (OOSS) for the first 

time and demonstrated increased engagement by VCS organisations. 

EVIDENCE

Evaluation of self-assessment returns from the City of London and 

Hackney provided reassurance about the sufficiency and focus on 

safeguarding children.  Areas for improvement included increased 

awareness raising to OOSS on topics such as CHSCP training, policies 

and guidance. Activity in 2022-23 will include a relaunch of the 

Self-Assessment programme, a comprehensive staff survey and the 

introduction of Child Safeguarding Statements.

IMPACT

•	 Self-Assessment activity by the CHSCP identified that settings 

were producing increasingly complex and non-user-friendly child 

protection policies.  The CHSCP developed and disseminated 

Safeguarding & Child Protection Policy Guidance to support 

organisations in writing their policy and how to structure it for best 

effect. 

•	 Update and repromotion of the CHSCP Minimum Standards for 

Safer Commissioning. 

•	 Promotion of the dedicated CHSCP webpage targeted towards 

supporting schools, colleges and other educational settings. 

•	 A targeted campaign to engage Out of School Settings to directly 

sign up to monthly TUSK safeguarding briefings. 

•	 Targeted training campaigns e.g Safer Recruitment training 

disseminated to Social Housing Providers.

•	 Regular dissemination of TUSK Safeguarding Briefings and training 

to social housing providers and school governors.

•	 Targeted promotion of the CHSCP Safeguarding Policy guidance 

with Social Housing Providers.

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 141

https://www.chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/CHSCP_policyguidance_2020.pdf


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
130

 

ASSURANCE

Child Safeguarding Statements - The CHSCP is preparing to launch 

an additional process to help strengthen safeguarding leadership 

and accountability.  This involves the requirement for organisations 

to complete a Child Safeguarding Statement.  Developed from a 

model in operation in Ireland, Child Safeguarding Statements should 

be developed once a self-assessment has been completed. To do 

this, organisations will need to undertake a risk assessment that 

considers the potential for harm to come to children while they are in 

the organisation’s care. Risk in this respect is the risk of abuse and not 

general health and safety risk.  The risk assessment exercise does not 

need to follow a prescribed format but should be sufficient to allow 

organisation to establish whether there are any practices or features of 

their service that have the potential to put children at risk.  It is intended 

to enhance an organisation’s ability to identify potential risks, develop 

policies and procedures to minimise these risks by responding to them 

in a timely manner and review whether adequate precautions have 

been taken to eliminate or reduce these risks.  After the risk assessment 

has been completed, organisations will be required to develop their 

Child Safeguarding Statement.  

These are written statements that specify a number of key points: 

•	 The nature of the organisation and the services being provided.

•	 The organisation’s commitment to child safeguarding 

 

•	 An overview of the measures in place to ensure that children are 

protected from harm. It may also refer to more detailed policies 

which can be made available on request.

•	 Any potential risks to a child that have been identified and the 

actions in place to mitigate these.

Upon completion, a Child Safeguarding Statements must be signed 

by the Chief Executive Officer or equivalent.  For schools, both the 

Headteacher and Chair of Governors must sign. For charities, both 

the CEO and the Chair of Trustees must sign.  Child Safeguarding 

Statements must be shared with all staff members / volunteers.  

They must be displayed in a prominent place and made available to 

parents and guardians and members of the public upon request.  Child 

Safeguarding Statements are reviewed within 24 months (or as soon 

as practicable after there has been a material change in any matter to 

which the statement refers).  Requiring Chief Executives and/or those 

in senior leadership positions to be directly engaged with and sighted 

on their individual organisation’s strengths and weaknesses, will also 

help provide clarity on accountability. Being required to publicly display 

such statements will help with transparency and reinforce messaging 

about the protection of children and young people.

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 142



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
130 131

MULTI-AGENCY CASE AUDITS 

The Multi-Agency Case Auditing programme 

was further developed to focus on specific 

areas of the safeguarding system. This has 

allowed multi-agency partners to increase the 

number of auditing rounds and the breadth 

of scrutiny whilst adapting rapidly to local or 

national intelligence.  This auditing methodology 

has received excellent feedback from partners 

and lessons identified have led to tangible 

improvements.  

All audits result in an outcome focussed 

action plan that the CHSCP uses to track and 

evidence improvements in front-line practice. 

Learning is also disseminated to front line 

staff via the Things You Should Know (TUSK) 

monthly briefings. In 2021-22, the CHSCP utilised 

the expertise of the partnership as well as an 

externally commissioned service (to provide 

another level of independent security). 

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 143

http://www.chscb.org.uk/chscb-briefings/
http://www.chscb.org.uk/chscb-briefings/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
132

LEARNING

•	 Tools are already in place to support professionals attending 

Child Protection Conferences. 

•	 There remains work to do in respect of all agencies submitting 

written reports in a timely manner that have been shared with 

families in advance.

•	 HCFS systems require review to ensure that professionals are 

correctly identified and invited to conferences.

•	 Professionals need to submit a written report including 

information and professional judgements that can support 

decision making about significant harm for the child. 

•	 Professionals should engage families in advance of Child 

Protection Conferences, including ensuring that their information 

submitted is relayed. This is easier for professionals when a 

strengths-based approach is undertaken.

CHILD PROTECTION CONFERENCES AUDITS

 

Read the full report here:

 

    CHSCP Multi-Agency Case Audit 

IMPACT

•	 Release of CHSCP video guide for parents / carers on CP 

Conferences. 

•	 CHSCP video guide created and disseminated setting 

out expectations for professionals when invited to a 

conference. 

•	 Exemplar conference reports added to the CHSCP 

website to support quality of submissions. 

•	 Update and dissemination of the CHSCP Conference 

template to request explicit reflection on ethnic/

cultural/identity issues (including observations from 

previous assessments).

•	 Ongoing promotion of learning by single agencies and 

inclusion of conference reports in internal audit cycles. 

0:00 0:00

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 144

https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Multi-agency_Case_Audit_-_April_2021__Child_Protection_Conferences.pdf
https://youtu.be/JgVIsp_bV1U
https://youtu.be/KPDmwctjqes


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
132 133

EVIDENCE

•	 There was evidence of good timeliness in identifying 

concerns and convening strategy discussions.  

•	 There was also high confidence that the decisions and 

actions made at the strategy discussion made children 

safer. 

•	 The significant majority of cases demonstrated the sharing 

of sufficient information to confidently inform decision 

making and planning. 

•	 There was good evidence of information being provided in 

a timely manner after the strategy discussion, where this 

was not immediately available.

•	 The significant majority of cases evidenced relevant 

information sharing about significant others involved with 

the family. 

•	 The significant majority of cases audited were clear on the 

next steps and timescales for immediate and short-term 

protection and support. 

•	 Of the cases involving Serious Youth Violence, there was 

evidence that named professionals were being identified 

to support the young person, consistent with the CHSCP’s 

Strategy Discussion guidance.

STRATEGY DISCUSSIONS AUDITS LEARNING

•	 Prior to participating in a strategy discussion, practitioners should 

watch the CHSCP video and have to hand the CHSCP Guidance and 

Agenda template.  This will help ensure that all necessary areas are 

covered, with participants having a clear understanding of the key 

decisions that strategy discussion should make.  

•	 All can be found on the dedicated CHSCP webpage for strategy 

discussions.  

•	 Whilst no professional disagreement was evidenced in the cases 

audited, it is important that practitioners remain aware of the CHSCP 

Escalation Policy and are confident in its use.

•	 HCFS should amend its interim case recording template for strategy 

discussions to match the headings set out in the CHSCP Agenda 

template.

•	 Improvement is needed in the circulation of formal minutes of 

strategy discussion minutes to agencies in attendance and other 

relevant professionals.

•	 Explore options to facilitate opportunities to engage GPs.

•	 Improve the engagement of ELFT at strategy discussions by ensuring 

ELFT practitioners involved with families (both adults and children) 

are identified and invited.  This improvement to be supported via the 

introduction of an ELFT role within the new Hackney MASH model. 

•	 To ensure that any impact arising as a result of race and ethnicity 

are consistently considered and evidenced within strategy 

discussions. 

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 145



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
134

0:00

IMPACT

•	 The HCFS interim case recording template (in use at the 

time) for strategy discussions was updated to match 

the headings within the CHSCP Strategy Discussion 

template. 

•	 New Strategy Discussion template built into Mosaic to 

support best practice. 

•	 Recording template for larger sibling groups built into 

Mosaic template to support separating out risks for 

individual children. 

•	 HCFS promoted the requirement for the consistent 

dissemination of formal strategy discussion minutes and 

invitations to be sent to GPs. 

•	 Engagement of ELFT at strategy discussions by means 

of a dedicated MASH practitioner. 

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 146

https://youtu.be/NnupBQNRB8U


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
134 135

STRENGTHS

•	 Evidence of Requests for Support being made in a timely manner 

enabling timely review and offer of help or safeguarding support.

•	 Sufficient information was provided by referrers to enable the 

MASH Service to quickly and easily make contact with them, 

facilitating a prompt response to children and their families.

•	 Evidence of sufficient information sharing involving all children in 

the family enabling MASH to consider possible risks to them too. 

Evidence of sufficient information sharing on details of mothers.

•	 Appropriate request for escalation by a referrer, having 

contacted the MASH twice previously for the same concerns 

which they identified as continuing.

•	 Escalation took place, and the family were progressed for 

assessment.

•	 Evidence of additional reports from the referrer submitted to 

provide context to the Request for Support and reasons for their 

concern at that time.

•	 Evidence of cases where referrers (who often knew the family 

well) described what they assessed needed to change for the 

family to enable them to feelless concerned about the child.

•	 Evidence of outcomes recorded clearly and referrers being 

notified of the decision. In instances where decision was for No 

Further Action, referrers were invited to contact the Consultation 

Line or re-refer in the event of safeguarding concerns relating to 

the child coming to their attention.

•	 Evidence of referrers describing the involvement and/or support 

they had already offered to the child and/or their family which 

provides context, and reflects what is not working, or has not 

previously been sufficient.

•	 Positive feedback from GPs regarding use of the consultation line 

and where disagreements occur. Constructive use of escalation 

routes via GP Safeguarding Leads.

•	 Evidence of regular single-agency auditing of decision making / 

consultation line advice within existing MASH Quality Assurance 

processes.

QUALITY OF REFERRALS

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 147



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
136

AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT

•	 Raise the profile of the MASH consultation line - Evidence that 

some Requests for Support would have been strengthened by 

utilising the expertise of the consultation line practitioners. 

•	 Increasing awareness of seeking consent and when this is 

required - Requests for Support in which consent was not sought 

included cases of Early Help, where consent should always be 

sought. 

•	 Seeking consent from children and young people – Seeking and 

recording the consent of children and young people (where of 

an age and level of understanding to give it) was not clearly 

recorded. The Hackney Child Wellbeing Framework sets out this 

requirement.

•	 Requests for Support should better reference the Hackney 

Child Wellbeing Framework – practice could be significantly 

strengthened, and the referrer’s understanding of thresholds 

improved by using this document as a guide to explaining risk 

and need. 

•	 Improving the recording of fathers, adult males and significant 

others. Poor quality in some cases noted as being due to 

organisational recording systems / incomplete record keeping on 

household composition.

•	 Improvement needed in describing the support required for 

children or families at an early help or statutory level.

•	 Improvement needed in describing the support already in place; 

detail is especially relevant where a specialist intervention is in 

place.

•	 The MASH should ensure that practitioners making Requests for 

Support are swiftly informed of its decisions for further action. All 

practitioners need to make sure these decisions are accurately 

recorded.

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 148



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
136 137

0:00

0:00

0:00 0:00

IMPACT

•	 Awareness raising of the MASH Consultation 

line and its inclusion in the CHSCP video “What 

to do if you are worried about a child”

•	 Regular scheduled promotion of the CHSCP 

consent’ and ‘request for support’ videos.

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 149

https://youtu.be/JgVIsp_bV1U
https://youtu.be/xSWkZIxWFbI
https://youtu.be/1_XjsPjrTB0
https://youtu.be/XY4gm5HIScA


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
138

The Voice of the Child, Family & Community

EVIDENCE

Reviews undertaken during this period have 

maintained a clear, child centric focus.  They have 

engaged children and their families, with their 

experiences and views being fully reflected in the 

findings and recommendations.

EVIDENCE

Homerton University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust uses a range of mechanisms 

to capture the feedback of service users which includes but not limited to: 

electronic surveys, the Friends and Family Test and complaints. Information is 

collected through hand held devices or electronic survey links are sent to the 

parents. The impact of the pandemic and the reduction in face to face contact 

with children and families impacted on collecting service user feedback.  

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 150



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
138 139

EVIDENCE

The City of London Corporation commissions Action for Children to complete an annual survey of all the children and young people open to 

the Children’s Social Care Team and Early Help Service. This survey is completed by someone independent from the city, and the information is 

anonymous, so children and young people can speak freely. This survey is shared across the organisation, with partner agencies and Members, so 

that any learning from this survey can be acted on. The 6th annual survey was undertaken in 2021-22 with an overall 65% overall response rate:

•	 Comments made by looked after children and care leavers were mainly positive, the children and young people valued the support they received 

from their social workers, identifying them as a trusted person who they would turn to if they had a problem.

•	 Dissatisfaction from some young people around the disparity in what they received from their social workers, in comparison to their peers, i.e., 

bikes, equipment was resolved in a follow up video call to the young people explaining the reasons for this e.g. charity resources. There was positive 

feedback from the video, as young people were able to understand the reasons behind the difference. 

•	 Early help services received positive feedback, children and families felt listened too, and included in plans to support the family.

•	 Feedback from families supporting through children in need and child protection processes was largely positive. Noting that it can be difficult for 

families to have social work intervention, to receive positive feedback demonstrates the strengths within the Children’s Social Care team in engaging 

with children and families in this area.

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 151



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
140

EVIDENCE

ELFT CAMHS has strong People Participation work to capture 

the voice of young people in our services – they run events with 

young people, families and carers several times a year to hear 

directly from young people what they want from their services. 

ELFT has NHS mandated surveys, a dedicated people participation 

lead for East London and as part of its recruitment processes 

mandate service users on their recruitment panels for staff and 

are encouraged to prepare their own questions for candidates, 

based on experiences of care they have received from CAMHS. The 

safeguarding children team hold annual service user participation 

groups in which young people are invited to share their views on a 

range of safeguarding issues

The importance of capturing the voice of the child is embedded 

in the safeguarding children policy and safeguarding children 

supervision policy. Tools are available for practitioners to use to 

assist in capturing the voice of the child including the “my world 

triangle” and the assessment framework.

Online meetings were held with service users and parents/

caregivers around their experience of attending A&E hospitals 

during a crisis episode. The feedback was used to create a set of 

Quality Standards for A&E hospitals to work towards achieving. 

 

City and Hackney CAMHS approached service users to review 

material for an online Anxiety group. Service users tactfully support 

the CAMHS team to redesign the workshop material, removing 

unnecessary information slides, and including content that young 

people experiencing varying levels of anxiety would be able to 

relate to, and ensuring that the language used was accessible for 

all ages. This input helps to ensure that the workshop material is fit 

for purpose whilst sustaining retention rates by attendees. 

Young people were involved in producing and delivering a staff 

training session for CAMHS staff on how to become an ally, and 

support young service users from the LGBTQI+ community when 

accessing services. The workshops were attended by over 80 

members of staff across the Trust.

Service users helped to co-produce a campaign to promote Suicide 

Awareness, including support information for a webpage on the 

Trust site and a campaign poster displayed at Liverpool Street and 

Stratford stations in partnership with Transport for London and 

Network Rail for Suicide Awareness Day.

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 152



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
140 141

EVIDENCE

Feedback surveys are carried out by Hackney CFS to gather the 

views of children and young people that they work with, for example 

a survey, carried out by text message, was sent to 2,333 children and 

families with links to web-based surveys asking about their experience 

of support during the pandemic. 64% of respondents responded that 

the service they had received from Children and Families Service was 

‘about the same as before’, 11% said better than before and 11% said 

much better than before. 

EVIDENCE

An annual survey of the experiences and feelings of children in care 

and care leavers was also carried out with the findings and next steps 

agreed at the Corporate Parenting Officer Group and the Corporate 

Parenting Board. Some of the feedback is detailed as below:

Children in Care:

•	 89% said they know who their social worker is

•	 79% said they understood what their social worker tells them

•	 84% said they have someone to speak to where they live

•	 100% said that they think their carer / key worker cares about them

•	 86% of children in care aged 12 to 14 and 80% of 15-18 year olds said 

they knew who their Independent Reviewing Officer was. 

Care leavers:

•	 81% said they find it easy to speak to their Leaving Care worker

•	 90% said their Leaving Care worker helps them with problems 

they have

•	 90% said their Leaving Care worker does what they say they will 

•	 62% of care leavers said they were not supported to keep in 

touch with past carers

•	 81% of care leavers said they did not know or weren’t sure who 

the Children’s Rights Officer was

•	 40% of care leavers said they had much less or less interaction 

with their worker during Covid than they did before

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 153



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
142

EVIDENCE

A Live Learning Audit on the theme of neglect was undertaken by 

Service Managers across the Children and Families Service (CFS). 

As part of the audit process, where appropriate, families were 

contacted to provide feedback on their experiences of working 

with CFS.  Feedback included:

•	 [Mother] said that [the social worker] was brilliant, she had no 

complaints whatsoever and said she was very supportive and 

proactive in helping them as a family. She said she did not feel 

judged by [the social worker].

•	 Overall she [mother] is happy with the current services offered. 

She felt that the clinical services offered to them both have 

helped him and he is certainly calmer and increasingly  able to 

express his feelings. [Mother] stated the services offered by DCS 

are good…She feels that the social worker has a reasonable 

understanding of [her son’s] needs that grow every time she 

meets with him.

•	 [Mother] was complimentary about the social worker and 

thought that she ‘got her’.

EVIDENCE

Three young people from the Junior Division of Hackney’s Children 

in Care Council completed a youth inspection of the Ferncliff 

Centre. Care Council representatives visited the Ferncliff Centre 

in order to review whether the new provider had responded to the 

recommendations made by the Care Council during their previous 

consultation in 2019. 

Staff at the Ferncliff Centre were able to provide positive feedback 

from families and young people who had used the contact centre 

before and after the new provider started running the centre. Families 

commented on the change to the physical space at the centre which 

they found to be brighter and more colourful. The number of contact 

rooms has also increased from 3 to 6 with two being designed for 

teenagers. 

Feedback shared with the Children in Care Council showed that these 

changes have been welcomed by families. 

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 154



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
142 143

Performance Data 

Due to Covid-19, activity in 2021/22 focussed on review of the CHSCP 

dataset to ensure it remains proportionate and avoids duplication 

of metrics already captured. The dataset is structured around core 

indicators with supplementary thematics providing wider context on the 

data.  The cyber attack on Hackney continued to limit the availability of 

data during the year.  City data was unaffected.

EVIDENCE

The CHSCP was successful in securing DfE funding for a fixed-

term Strategic Data Analyst post to assist in the development of 

contemporary threat assessments. Data analysis and interpretation 

will strengthen decision making, improve scrutiny and enhance 

tactical decision making of safeguarding partners and relevant 

agencies of the CHSCP.   Despite securing funding, a series of 

unsuccessful recruitment rounds meant that this post was unfilled 

during 2021/21. Scheduling of the Strategic Threat Assessments 

reporting to the Executive Groups is underway for 2022/23. 

Front-Line Intelligence 

A number of Contingency Oversight Groups met during 2021/22. These 

groups actively considered service impacts, vaccination rates, covid 

fatigue, workforce pressures, community engagement and the health 

and wellbeing of staff (staffing levels, protective clothing, access to 

occupational health, homeworking, and communication channels).   

In response to feedback, information on bereavement support and 

services was developed and disseminated to the partnership in May 

2020 alongside signposting access to mental health services.  The 

CHSCP intends to capture a wider range of front-line intelligence via the 

launch of its staff survey in 2022/23.  

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 155



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
144

External Learning 

The CHSCP is a learning organisation and is 

constantly looking outwards to identify relevant 

learning opportunities that may help assist in its role 

of coordinating and ensuring the effectiveness of 

the safeguarding systems across the City of London 

and Hackney.  Where relevant, national reviews and 

inspection reports are considered by the CHSCP.  Links 

to NSPCC thematic briefings and wider learning from 

other local areas continued to be disseminated to 

front-line staff via CHSCP training and TUSK briefings. 

ASSURANCE

Following the local death of a baby and the 

publication of the Sudden Unexpected Deaths 

in Infants (SUDI) report, a SUDI Task Group was 

formed to consider local and national findings. 

This group initially met to map current initiatives 

and identify areas to strengthen the local 

approach. 

IMPACT

Related activity undertaken across 2021/22 delivered the following impact: 

•	 A review undertaken with Early Years highlighted an opportunity to support 

conversations with parents by one off purchasing of Lullaby Trust literature. 

Disseminated to GPs, HCFS and City of London Corporation, Housing and Early 

Years in Hackney (already resourced in City). Feedback from Hackney agency 

lead….I was in a centre last Tuesday and they had the wallet cards out - was great 

as I saw a group of parents with small babies sat together in discussion about 

safe sleep instigated by the cards! (November 2022)

•	 Local threshold tools in the City of London and Hackney were reviewed and now 

include reference to Safer Sleep in the indicators of need. 

•	 The London Safeguarding Children Procedures were updated in relation to the 

CHSCP’s learning on SUDI (added under referral and assessment, s47 and child 

protection procedures). 

•	 The repository of information for parents and carers on the CHSCP website 

was updated and the Lullaby Trust Easy Read Card was translated locally into 

Yiddish to better support parents and carers in the local community. This is now a 

nationally available resource on the Lullaby Trust website.

Continued overleaf.

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 156

https://chscp.org.uk/chscb-briefings/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/901091/DfE_Death_in_infancy_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/901091/DfE_Death_in_infancy_review.pdf
https://chscp.org.uk/safer-sleeping/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
144 145

IMPACT CONTINED

Related activity undertaken across 2021/22 delivered the following impact: 

•	 The service specifications / local practice for Health Visiting 

and Midwifery services were reviewed. Midwifery contract was 

updated to include Safer Sleep. Health Visiting contracts were 

part of recommissioned 0-25 services and will include enhanced 

assessment of sleeping arrangements.

•	 The current practice (and resources provided to parents and 

carers) within Midwifery, FNP, Perinatal Mental Health and NICU 

teams were reviewed. Activity underway includes:

•	 An offer of bespoke training to NICU teams given step down 
of care from hospital to parental care. 

•	 A review of web-based material across Homerton Healthcare 
and Early Years Settings. 

•	 A statement of SUDI / situation risk will be added to 
midwifery platforms and signposting to national review. The 
service is also awaiting a date for inclusion in Tips of the 
Fortnight which needs to be signed off that all midwives have 

seen this communication. 

•	 A review of GP practices confirmed that SUDI and situational risk 

are discussed in level 3 training and GP reflective sessions. 

•	 A Housing representative was engaged on the Task Group to 

review local learning and confirm clear escalation / pathways 

are available to staff should concerns arise. Hackney Housing 

communicated these routes to both housing staff and registered 

providers. 

•	 Making Every Contact Count training (delivered by Public 

Health) highlighted to agency leads and publicised to the wider 

partnership in the July 2022 TUSK briefing. 

•	 The CHSCP training programme was reviewed: 

•	 Safer sleep conversations are now included in difficult 
conversations training. 

•	 The CHSCP Safer Sleep training content was reviewed

•	 A CHSCP Safer Sleep poster designed and disseminated to 
encourage attendance at local training. A one off training 

TUSK promoted this training in July 2022. 

•	 Safer Sleep briefing developed - disseminated in November 

2022. 

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 157

https://mailchi.mp/hackney/chscp-things-you-should-know-june-11829660


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
146

ASSURANCE 

•	 An Invisible Men Task Group met across 2021/22 to map 

the local initiatives in response to both national (‘The Myth 

of Invisible Men’ National Panel Report) and local learning 

(Child R / Child M, the CHSCP Safeguarding Briefing 

‘Working with Men’, MACA Audit: Quality of Referrals).  

This learning identifies that services and the professional 

network ordinarily focus on care provided by mothers 

and that there can be little visibility or assessment of 

significant men (including those who pose a risk to 

children). Ongoing area of focus include:

•	 Policies, Procedures and Multi-agency System, 

•	 Communication, Awareness Raising and Community 
Engagement and 

•	 Training, Workforce Development and Supervision. 

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

P
age 158

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1017944/The_myth_of_invisible_men_safeguarding_children_under_1_from_non-accidental_injury_caused_by_male_carers.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1017944/The_myth_of_invisible_men_safeguarding_children_under_1_from_non-accidental_injury_caused_by_male_carers.pdf
https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/Working-with-Men-Safeguarding-in-Seven.pdf
https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/Multi-agency_Case_Audit__Quality_of_Referrals_September_2021.pdf


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
146 147

Key Messages  
for Practice

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

147KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

P
age 159



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
148

SAFEGUARDING FIRST 

The need for practitioners to adopt a ‘Safeguarding First’ approach to their 

practice has been a key theme for the partnership since the publication of 

its review into Chadrack Mbala-Mulo, and more recently Child Q.  This is 

not a particularly complicated message, but one that needs to be routinely 

reinforced, along with the CHSCP’s principles of children being seen, heard 

and helped.  Put simply, whatever your role or whatever policy or procedure 

you might be following, you should always be considering the safeguarding 

needs of a child.  Their safety and welfare should always be your first 

priorities and whilst ‘safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility’, that doesn’t 

mean you can rely on someone else to act.  You need to.

Applying this approach to practice is less about reading pages and pages 

of guidance, but more about the culture of how you and your agencies 

operate.  Developing a culture that places the safety of children at the heart 

of our system is the first step we all need to take.  It’s also something that our 

leaders need to promote rigorously.  If they aren’t talking about safeguarding 

as a priority, those on the front-line won’t be either.  The next step is 

acknowledging that whilst safeguarding might be one priority amongst 

many for you, you need to make a concentrated effort to always base your 

decisions and actions on the best interests of the child.  Develop your skills 

and confidence, engage other practitioners and access the support from your 

supervisors. Listen to what children and young people have said they need 

from those who work with them (Working Together 2018).

•	 Vigilance: to have adults notice when things are troubling them

•	 Understanding and action: to understand what is happening; to 

be heard and understood; and to have that understanding acted 

upon

•	 Stability: to be able to develop an ongoing stable relationship of 

trust with those helping them

•	 Respect: to be treated with the expectation that they are 

competent rather than not

•	 Information and engagement: to be informed about and 

involved in procedures, decisions, concerns and plans

•	 Explanation: to be informed of the outcome of assessments 

and decisions and reasons when their views have not met with a 

positive response • Support: to be provided with support in their 

own right as well as a member of their family

•	 Advocacy: to be provided with advocacy to assist them in putting 

forward their views

•	 Protection: to be protected against all forms of abuse and 

discrimination and the right to special protection and help if a 

refugee.

CHILDREN HAVE SAID THEY NEED

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

P
age 160



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
148 149

CHILDREN HAVE SAID THEY NEED Context

Context is key and understanding the context of a child’s 

life is essential for effective safeguarding.  In terms of 

practice, this is about how the partnership works together 

to better understand the lived experience of children at 

home, in education and in health, alongside those aspects 

that are typically outside of the family environment; such 

as peer groups, places and spaces, and the virtual world 

that children occupy through their use of technology and 

social media.  Knowing about these contexts will help 

us determine whether they reflect pathways to harm or 

pathways to protection.  However, it is usual that no one 

individual has oversight on the detail of everything.  In 

this respect, a first and important step is to make sure 

that professionals are confident in sharing information 

and talking with each other.  If you are worried about a 

child or young person, you are allowed to talk with other 

professionals without fearing you are doing something 

wrong. You aren’t. Talking to each other and sharing 

information when trying to protect people from actual 

or likely harm or to prevent a crime is lawful and in the 

substantial public interest.  

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

P
age 161



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
150

Curiosity

Professional curiosity is the capacity and communication skill to 

explore and understand what is happening within a family rather 

than making assumptions or accepting things at face value.  This has 

been described at the need for practitioners to practice ‘respectful 

uncertainty’ – applying critical evaluation to any information they 

receive and maintaining an open mind.  In safeguarding the term ‘safe 

uncertainty’ is used to describe an approach which is focused on safety 

but that takes into account changing information, different perspectives 

and acknowledges that certainty may not be achievable. Professional 

curiosity can require practitioners to think ‘outside the box’, beyond their 

usual professional role, and consider families’ circumstances holistically.  

Professional curiosity and a real willingness to engage with children, 

adults and their families or carers are vital to promoting safety and 

stability for everyone.

Much has been written about the importance of curiosity during home 

visits and the need for authentic, close relationships of the kind where 

we see, hear and touch the truth of their experience of ‘daily life’ and are 

able to act on it and to achieve similar closeness with parents or carers.  

Practitioners will often come into contact with a child, young person, 

adult or their family when they are in crisis or vulnerable to harm. These 

interactions present crucial opportunities for protection. Responding to 

these opportunities requires the ability to recognise (or see the signs of) 

vulnerabilities and potential or actual risks of harm, maintaining an open 

stance of professional curiosity (or enquiring deeper), and understanding 

one’s own responsibility and knowing how to take action.  Children in 

particular, but also some adults, rarely disclose abuse and neglect 

directly to practitioners and, if they do, it will often be through unusual 

behaviour or comments. This makes identifying abuse and neglect 

difficult for professionals across agencies. We know that it is better to 

help as early as possible, before issues get worse. That means that all 

agencies and practitioners need to work together – the first step is to be 

professionally curious.

Curious professionals will spend time engaging with families on visits. 

They will know that talk, play and touch can all be important to observe 

and consider. Do not presume you know what is happening in the family 

home – ask questions and seek clarity if you are not certain. Do not be 

afraid to ask questions (and difficult questions) of families, and do so in 

an open way so they know that you are asking to keep the child or young 

person safe, not to judge or criticise. Be open to the unexpected, and 

incorporate information that does not support your initial assumptions 

into your assessment of what life is like for the child or young person in 

the family.

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

P
age 162



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
150 151

Challenge

Differences in professional opinion, concerns and issues can arise for 

practitioners at work and it is important they are resolved as effectively 

and swiftly as possible. Having different professional perspectives 

within safeguarding practice is a sign of a healthy and well-functioning 

partnership. These differences of opinion are usually resolved by 

discussion and negotiation between the practitioners concerned. 

It is essential that where differences of opinion arise they do not 

adversely affect the outcomes for children, young people or adults 

and are resolved in a constructive and timely manner.  Differences 

could arise in a number of areas of multi-agency working as well 

as within single agency working. Differences are most likely to arise 

in relation to the criteria for referrals, outcomes of assessments, 

roles and responsibilities of workers, service provision, timeliness of 

interventions, information sharing and communication.  Safeguarding is 

everyone’s responsibility and front-line staff need confidence in talking 

with each other about decisions that have been made, discussing any 

concerns regarding those decisions and where there isn’t agreement; 

escalating those concerns as appropriate.  Remember, equally 

important is the culture of how we work; and it is vital that front-line 

staff are encouraged to remain professionally curious and to raise 

issues where they feel that their concerns for children and young 

people aren’t being addressed.  To help staff resolve professional 

differences, the CHSCP has issued a simple  Escalation Policy.

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

P
age 163

https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/ESCALATION-POLICY-December-2021.pdf


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
152

Training & 
Development

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

152TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT

P
age 164



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
152 153152

Training Summary 2021/22 

The training opportunities offered by the CHSCP are 

designed to meet the diverse needs of staff at different 

levels within the wide range of organisations that work 

with children, young people, or adult family members. 

Sessions range from those that raise awareness about 

safeguarding and child protection to specialist topics 

aimed at more experienced staff.  

The training programme focuses on areas of practice 

prioritised by the CHSCP, with learning from local 

and national case reviews integrated into the training 

material.  As a result of the pandemic, the CHSCP’s 

training programme rapidly pivoted to virtual delivery. 

The CHSCP team and trainers were swift to adapt and 

overall, attendance figures increased from 2019/20.  

Feedback also remained positive with the programme 

continuing to improve the knowledge and skills of the 

safeguarding workforce.

EVIDENCE

•	 47 training sessions were held in 2021/22 (69 9mn 2021/22 and 70 in 

2019/20).

•	 21 safeguarding topics were covered.

•	 All courses were delivered virtually over a 12-month period 

•	 1451 available training places, 1031 attended. 

•	 Of the booked places, 1031 delegates attended, 420 (29%) either cancelled or 

did not attend the course (an increase from 24.2% in 2020/21) 

•	 66% of those attending worked in Hackney, 10% in the City of London, and 

24% worked across both Boroughs. 

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT

P
age 165



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
154

EVIDENCE

•	 7 ‘Safeguarding Children Basic Awareness’ courses (Level 1)  

203 participants

•	 4 ‘Designated Safeguarding Lead’ courses (Level 3) 181 participants 

•	 9 ‘An Introduction to Adultification’ courses. 170 participants

•	 2 ‘Children’s Wellbeing and Mental Health’ courses. 33 participants

•	 3 ‘Safer Sleep’ courses. 41 participants

•	 3 ‘Neglect and Emotional Abuse courses. 43 participants

•	 1 ‘Safer Recruitment’ course. 6 participants

•	 8 ‘An Introduction to Contextual Safeguarding’ courses.  

170 participants

•	 2 ‘Safeguarding in a Digital World’ courses. 43 participants

•	 2 ‘Working with Cultural & Economic Diversity’ courses.  

34 participants

•	 2 ‘Child Abuse Linked to Faith or Belief’ courses. 51 participants

•	 1 ‘Cultural Awareness - Working with the Orthodox Jewish Community’ 

course. 14 participants

•	 2 ‘Early Help Assessment’ (Hackney) courses. 33 participants

•	 1 ‘Improving Professional Participation in Child Protection 

Conferences’ courses. 9 participants

EVIDENCE

Over the course of 2021/22, nine Adultification sessions 

were delivered to the partnership. One session was 

delivered exclusively for the MPS during this period.  A 

total of 170 practitioners attended, with 47 others booking, 

but cancelling.  The number of Adultification courses 

doubled for 2022/23 and the programme continues to 

be rolled out by the CHSCP.  As of November 2022, 316 

practitioners had received this training.

EVIDENCE

The PHEW learning management system has been a 

great addition to the training element of the CHSCP.  It 

has helped to reduce admin time in terms of not having 

to download registration data and evaluation data 

from multiple sources and the training coordinator not 

having to produce individual certificates for delegates. 

In addition, the system sends calendar invites for each 

course, booking confirmations and reminder emails to 

delegates.  Delegates are now able to download and print 

their own certificates after completion of the evaluation 

form for the relevant course. The system also now has the 

feature where delegates can add their bookings to their 

calendars directly.

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT

P
age 166



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
154 155

Delegate Breakdown

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT

As a result of the introduction of the 

CHSCP’s new Learning Management System, 

reporting for this year only covers the 

sectors attending the 2021/22 programme.  

Reporting next year will be more detailed.

Education

296

Voluntary & 
Community services

264
Local Authority

204

Health

171
Police

19
Other

77

P
age 167



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
156

Evaluation 

Supported by its Training Evaluation and Analysis Framework, 

the CHSCP continues to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness 

of its core training programme. Work undertaken to review 

the quality of training in 2021/22 has enabled the CHSCP to 

gain important insight into the difference it is making towards 

improved outcomes for children and young people.   

EVIDENCE

97.3% of delegates stated that the trainers’ facilitation skills, 

teaching style and knowledge were GOOD (10.3%) VERY GOOD 

(34.2%) or EXCELLENT (52.8%). 

This is excellent feedback and a testament to the skill and 

expertise of our internal & commissioned trainers.

“I must say the trainer was great and had fabulous knowledge 

about the subject”.

EVIDENCE

Having received training, 93.4% stated their knowledge was GOOD 

(20.3%), VERY GOOD (50.4%) or EXCELLENT (22.7%).

 

98.4% stated what they had learned would help them safeguard 

children & young people more effectively.

“I am now more able to deal with children and families’ situations within 

a multi agency approach before they escalate so that children can have 

a good outcome”. 

“The course enabled me to think more so in terms of the impact and 

young person’s voice being heard”. 

“I think the most useful aspect of the course was learning how to 

correctly identify vulnerability amongst young people and how to 

proceed accordingly whilst following an organisation’s safeguarding 

policy”. 

“Finding out how Safeguarding can positively impact and potentially 

save a child’s life. Also, I liked how emphasis was put on taking 

situations and incidents seriously because you might not know what is 

actually happening in the background”.

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT

P
age 168



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
156 157

Delegates found the MOST USEFUL elements of courses 

included: 

“Recognising that safeguarding comes first followed by context, 

curiosity and challenge”

“The real life examples used”

“Practical take-homes for how to identify risks and what to do 

to when presented with an ambiguous situation” 

“Signposting to numbers to call to consult on a given situation” 

“Symptoms in children of various types of abuse”

“Finding out how Safeguarding can positively impact and 

potentially save a child’s life. Also, I liked how emphasis was 

put on taking situations and incidents seriously because you 

might not know what is actually happening in the background”

“Updates on changes to safeguarding following recent serious 

case reviews and national trends”.

IMPACT

Delegates said training will be used:

“To provide the right support for staff and visitors to our venue 

and help improve in-house procedures”

“To write the safeguarding policy and procedure for our 

organisation”

“To evaluate young peoples’ behaviour and situations 

and respond accordingly if I have been told something in 

confidence. I also now know when to escalate concerns and 

who to take them to”

“I think I will have higher expectations of  colleagues in terms 

of extending the breadth of their assessments beyond the 

home environment.  I also feel that I will be more confident to 

challenge the use of stereotyping”

ASSURANCE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT

P
age 169



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
158

IMPACT

•	 87.5% of delegates rated their knowledge as being Good (12.5%), Very Good (50%) and 

Excellent (25%) after attending an Adultification course.

•	 100% said the course met their expectations

•	 100% of delegates said the training would help them safeguard children and young people 

more effectively.

“Within my day-to-day practice at work, challenging terminology used by professionals 

and being vocal when I observe professionals behave in a way demonstrates adultification 

in practice.”

“To continue to be curious and question assessments of children and families that do not 

explore the impact of race and social graces on the interventions that we offer families. 

Being conscious of labels that we apply and asking for context and examples of said 

behaviours. Remembering to question and reflect on my biases.”

“It will all be there in my head when working with young people and will help me to raise 

awareness in discussion with other colleagues. Also to take care in language when writing 

in notes and to challenge others misconceptions and the language they also use. Challenge 

others to think about their biases and misconceptions”.

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT

P
age 170



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
158 159

Priorities & 
Pledge

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

159PRIORITIES & PLEDGE

P
age 171



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
160

CHSCP Priorities 2021/22

Priority 1:  The Health & Stability of the Safeguarding Workforce

Outcome:  Safeguarding partners, relevant agencies and named organisations attract, retain, develop, and support their workforce.  A healthy 

and stable workforce contributes to high quality safeguarding practice that improves outcomes for children and young people.

Priority 3:  The Voice of Children and Young People

Outcome: Multi-agency safeguarding practice reflects the lived experience of children and young people.  The voices of children and young 

people are central to all aspects of practice across the child’s journey in the safeguarding system.  These influence action and improve outcomes.

Priority 2:  Active Anti-Racist Practice

Outcome:  The partnership’s approach to safeguarding children and young people in a ‘racialised society’ is characterised by active anti-racism.  

This is reflected in the people employed, the policies developed, and the practice undertaken.  Practice that disproportionately and negatively 

impacts on Black and Global Majority children (and their outcomes) is identified and reduced.  Children and their families are confident in 

challenging their experiences of racism and have mechanisms in place to escalate their concerns, practitioners are confident in challenging 

racism and there is evidence this is being done.  Children and families tell us that they can see change.

PRIORITIES & PLEDGE

P
age 172



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
160 161

Priority 4:  Getting the Basics Right

Outcome:  Safeguarding practice in the City of London and Hackney is at least good.  Children and young people are effectively protected from 

harm by early, robust, timely and coordinated multi-agency intervention and support. 

Priority 5:  The Appetite to Learn

Outcome:  Children and young people are effectively safeguarded by professionals being actively engaged with the CHSCP’s learning & 

improvement framework.  Leaders encourage independent scrutiny, challenge performance, and embed lessons for practice improvement 

across their respective organisations. 

Priority 6:  Making the Invisible Visible

Outcome: The activity of safeguarding partners, relevant agencies and named organisations makes children and young people who live in 

groups and communities that are less visible and less engaged with public services safer.  Of specific relevance to our local context, legislation 

in respect of Unregistered Educational Settings (UES) is amended by the government and the CHSCP obtains reassurance that the safeguarding 

arrangements of all settings are sufficiently robust.  

PRIORITIES & PLEDGE

P
age 173



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
162

OUR PLEDGE

The Health & Stability of the Safeguarding Workforce - Without a healthy and 

engaged workforce, no agency can fully participate in and support the work of the 

partnership.  The CHSCP will therefore seek to develop a better understanding 

of the pressures that staff and volunteers face and the steps that can be taken to 

mitigate them.  This work will be undertaken in the context of what we know about 

the current conditions – Covid-19, organisational change, and restructure, reduced 

resourcing levels and increased demand.  It will include evaluation of workforce 

stability, its capacity, and the support available to help deliver high-quality practice. 

Active Anti-Racist Practice – Through our collective leadership, we will model our 

values and promote a way of working that puts active anti-racism front and centre.  

This will be seen in the strategies we develop, the decisions we take and the people 

we employ.  Critically, active anti-racist practice will be evidenced in the behaviours 

of our staff and volunteers.  Through a relentless focus on improvement and 

challenge, children and families will see, hear and feel the difference when engaged 

by those responsible for their help and protection.  

The Voice of Children and Young People - We will support and enable a culture 

of working that routinely seeks out and reflects the voices of children and young 

people.  The lived experience of local children and young people and their 

voices will be evident in the policies we create, the practice we review and the 

communication channels that our wider partnership creates.  Importantly, it will be 

evident in our casework and our intervention to improve outcomes for children and 

young people.

PRIORITIES & PLEDGE

P
age 174



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
162 163

Getting the Basics Right - Whilst welcoming innovation, the 

CHSCP is aware that good practice begins with getting the 

basics right.  We will maintain focus on ensuring these aspects 

are embedded in our work covering the journey of the child 

through the safeguarding system.  This includes our approach 

to early help, children in need (including those with SEND), 

child protection, looked after children and care leavers.  We 

will also concentrate on those areas that require strengthening 

as identified by our Learning & Improvement Framework, local 

intelligence and the CHSCP strategic data analyst.  

The Appetite to Learn - We are committed to maintaining our 

improvement journey and to that end, we will actively seek out 

and embrace opportunities to learn.  Our quality assurance 

activity remains structured on our learning and improvement 

framework.  We will routinely revisit the action plans to ensure 

that identified improvements are reflected in contemporary 

practice.  Critically, we will respect the independent scrutiny 

role of the Independent Child Safeguarding Commissioner, 

the right to ‘roam’, the right to ask difficult questions and the 

right respectfully challenge.  Whenever required, safeguarding 

partners, relevant agencies and named organisations will 

provide whatever information they can to address a relevant 

enquiry or concern.  

Making the Invisible Visible - The CHSCP will seek to 

better understand the vulnerabilities that can negatively 

impact on the outcomes for children and young 

people, particularly with those for whom oversight, and 

engagement is limited.   We will seek to develop a more 

complete understanding of existing and emerging harms 

in the City of London and Hackney and work to mitigate 

and prevent them.  We will map and analyse vulnerability 

as we know it based on age, location, need and the 

context of young people’s lives, at home, in care and in 

the public spaces and places (including the internet) they 

frequent.   

PRIORITIES & PLEDGE

P
age 175



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
164

Strategic Threat 
Assessment

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

164STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

P
age 176



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
164 165164

For this year’s annual report, we have included the CHSCP’s first 

draft Strategic Threat Assessment report covering Q4 2022/23. It 

remains a work in progress and should be read in that context.

It has been issued for two key reasons:

1.	 To provide strategic partners, key decision-makers and 

other relevant forums, with routine insight into the emerging 

safeguarding themes that the CHSCP is currently concerned 

with.

2.	 To provide and share a range of high-level strategic 

intelligence requirements and to prompt others to consider 

whether they have any information that might help us better 

understand and define and meet the challenges we face.

Locally, partner agencies continue to work to adapt their roles, 

care for children and young people and help and protect them 

from harm. The insights in the draft threat assessment provide 

opportunities to support that work and target our multi-agency 

response much more proactively.  Whilst many of the threats 

set out are supported by available research, data and evidence 

(including that from within our local safeguarding arrangements - 

such as minutes of key meetings and the CHSCP’s risk registers), 

the assessment also includes items that are best described as 

emerging hypotheses.  These have been developed from broader 

horizon scanning and our professional judgement. 

STRATEGIC THREAT 1:  
Health, Wellbeing &  
Stability of the Workforce
 

The safeguarding workforce is our most important asset in helping 

and protecting children from harm.  A healthy and stable workforce 

contributes to high quality safeguarding practice and improved 

outcomes for children.  The importance attached to attracting, retaining, 

developing, and supporting their workforce is why this issue has been a 

long-standing priority of the CHSCP and why it is included as one of the 

key strategic threats for the partnership. 

 

For some background context, at the beginning of the pandemic, 

Contingency Oversight Groups (COGs) held in the City & Hackney 

monitored the trends relating to staff health and wellbeing.  At the time, 

there were concerns about the potential for rapid attrition across the 

system due to illness and additional burdens placed upon staff who 

remained in work.  Fortunately, this was not realised to the extent feared 

and organisations and their workforces remained broadly resilient in 

the face of unprecedented events.  COGs in the City of London and 

Hackney maintained a watching brief on this issue, testing sufficiency, 

overseeing risk and being provided with a good degree of reassurance 

about the arrangements in place to support the health and wellbeing 

of practitioners. This activity highlighted the support available with 

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

P
age 177



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
166

physical health and safety, mental health and sources of help such as 

counselling, employee assistance programme and occupational health 

services.  The CHSCP’s Covid-19 Resilience Audit identified:

•	 88% of organisations had either partially or fully identified best practice 

and agreed pathways for staff to access occupational health support.

•	 96% of organisations had a risk assessment process which assesses 

the risk to individual employees from the COVID-19 virus.

•	 93% of organisations had ensured staff who have suffered 

bereavement, due to COVID-19 or other reasons, were supported to 

access specialist support services and that they have policies and 

practices in place for pastoral support of staff.

 

Activity undertaken by organisations focused upon the provision of 

ongoing guidance for line managers to support their teams, pivoting 

to the use of digital solutions to maintain operations, creating avenues 

for sensitive conversations and signposting to expert help where 

needed. The focus on workforce sufficiency has remained as part of the 

CHSCP’s approach to risk management and the core business of both 

Boards and the Executive Group. Over the last 12 months, we have seen 

growing pressure in this space.  As a safeguarding system, the impact 

of post-pandemic burn-out, combined with the cost-of-living crisis 

and the prospect of ‘eye-watering cuts’ to public services raises clear 

concerns about sufficiency and the likelihood that many services, could 

significantly struggle to meet demand.

RECRUITMENT AND RETENTION

 

Local Authority

Research analysis published by Ofsted in July 2022 emphasised the 

ongoing recruitment and retention challenges across children’s services. 

‘Children’s social care has been plagued by workforce challenges for 

some time. But we have seen these issues accelerate in recent years, with 

more social workers moving to agency contracts, and residential workers 

leaving the sector entirely…As a result, too many children, with increasingly 

complex needs, are not getting the help they need.’  Nationally, for the 

year ending September 2021: 

•	 Around 5,000 practitioners working with children and families left a 

social work post in England.

•	 This resulted in a 7% increase in vacancies from the same period in 

2020 (6,500 FTE).  Sickness absence was up from 2.9% to 3.1%.

•	 Agency worker numbers had increased by 3%. 

•	 There was a 3% drop in the number of social workers who were ‘case 

holding’, encompassing those in front line roles, excluding senior 

practitioners.

 

A concerning trend in terms of both stability and experience has also 

been identified nationally via the Phase 8 Safeguarding Pressures report 

of the ADCS.   This noted ‘a large number of social workers’ had left local 

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

P
age 178



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
166 167

authorities to join agencies, to take advantage of ‘increased flexibility and 

competitive incentives’.  Furthermore, there was a reported increase in 

the ‘number of agency social workers [who] are newly qualified, which is 

concerning.’

 

In the City of London, front-line staffing remains secure and interim 

arrangements to address the departure of the Director of Children and 

Community Services in November and the Town Clerk in December are 

in place / underway. There is no change at Assistant Director and Head 

of Service level and this is providing continuity for the workforce. The 

Team Manager currently remains an interim acting up arrangement, 

although permanent recruitment to this post is being progressed.

 

In Hackney, there has been an increase in staff turnover over the past 

year, and challenges in recruiting and retaining social workers. Where 

Hackney has recruited staff, they can be less experienced, and require 

increased support from managers to ensure high-quality practice.  As of 

31 March 2022, there were:

 

•	 171.5 FTE permanent social workers

•	 63 agency social workers, representing 27% of the social work 

(increase from 22% in 2021)

 

Pressures have been particularly marked in the ‘front-door’ teams of 

social workers in Hackney, such as Access and Assessment.  These are 

known pressures, confirmed through the recent Ofsted focused visit in 

September 2022 and subject to targeted work by the leadership team in 

the Children and Education directorate.

 

Police

In the Central East BCU, workforce pressures are being seen in the 

large numbers of local police that are either on their probationary period 

or young in service.  This inexperience leads to training deficits which 

requires additional local training inputs and supervision.  There is a lack 

of sufficient time to provide regular CPD sessions due to lack of available 

staff, abstractions for other duties (backfilling) and dealing with other 

incidents across London.

 

In the City of London Police, at the start of 2022, the Public Protection 

Unit (PPU) were carrying three DC vacancies. These vacancies arose 

following the resignation of officers leaving the police service.  The posts 

were advertised three times during 2021, however remain unfilled due 

to a lack of suitable applicants.  Historically the PPU has only recruited 

qualified detectives, however the advert released in January 2022 

included the opportunity for Trainee Detective Constables to apply. 

Whilst increasing the pool of applicants, this would clearly impact on 

available expertise.

  

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

P
age 179



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
168

Health

At Homerton Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust, there has been on-

going challenges to recruit to some specialist children posts, namely 

occupational therapists, paediatric nurses, A&E doctors and health 

visitors.  Recruitment in the LAC Paediatrics service has also been an 

issue.  There is a national shortage of public health nurses in London and 

England which has an impact locally.  As the lead practitioner for school 

age children (with increasing safeguarding needs in the population), this 

creates increasing demands on the school nursing service.  In CAMHS, 

workforce issues around long-term sickness, recruitment and retention 

remain a serious problem. With regards to General Practitioners (GPs), 

whilst 625 more GPs were recorded nationally (1.7%), in August 2022, 

there were:

•	 1.1% (314) fewer Fully FTE qualified GPs (excludes GPs in Training 

Grade) compared to August 2021.

•	 0.5% (128) fewer FTE Qualified permanent GPs (excludes GPs in 

Training Grade and Locums) compared to August 2021

 

Schools

National DfE Statistics published in June 2022 show that the total FTE for 

teachers increased by 4,400.  Pupil to teacher ratios remain similar to the 

previous year at 20.6 pupils per teacher in nurseries and primary schools 

and 16.7 in secondary schools, and 6.3 in special and PRU schools. The 

education sector is, however, far from immune to pressure.  For example, 

Unions have raised concern that teaching assistants, an important set of 

‘eyes and ears’ when it comes to safeguarding children) are quitting their 

roles to pursue better paid jobs elsewhere.

 

Probation

In Probation, staffing is a recognised risk, although since April 2022, 220 

starters have been recruited within the region.

 

Wellbeing & Support

Whilst many organisations responded to the CHSCP’s resilience audit 

and have engaged their own staff to better understand these issues, 

we have no up-to-date partnership view on how practitioners rate the 

wellbeing and the support available to them.  Some organisations will 

undoubtedly be doing better than others, but this area requires further 

action to identify and evaluate the available evidence. 

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

P
age 180



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
168 169

Demand and Complexity

Against a backdrop of increasing concerns about workforce stability, 

demand pressures are also seen.  The most recent ADCS Safeguarding 

pressures report noted: ‘In the context of increased demand, complexity 

and impacting factors already evidenced in this report, this quite simply 

means that the size of the workforce is not keeping up with social care 

demand’.

 

The DFE’s children and young people’s survey (Waves 1 to 22) found 

from March 2020-2021, Local Authorities across the UK reported an 

increase in complex caseload with more issues involving domestic 

abuse alongside: mental health problems, children and parental 

substance misuse, neglect and emotional abuse, non-accidental injury, 

more new-borns presenting in care proceedings, self-harming in young 

people, acute family crisis situations and escalation of risk in existing 

cases. Given the multi-dimensional nature of this complexity and the 

very obvious multi-disciplinary response required because of it, impact 

will be felt across the system.

 

Local Authority

Nationally, there has been an 8.8% increase in referrals to children’s 

social care – in part, the result of the removal of lockdown restrictions 

– and a 9.6% rise in the number of child protection enquiries in 2021-22.  

The trajectory of growth across a range of performance measures is 

being experienced in Hackney.  For example:

 

•	 The volume of contacts is showing an increase for the period April 

to September 2022 when compared to the same period in previous 

years. This is in the context of contacts having decreased as a result 

of the lockdown and pandemic and steady increase since that time.  

There is an estimated 12% increase for 2022-23 compared with 2021-

22 if current volumes continue for the rest of year. 

•	 Similarly the volume of referrals has also increased, with a 5% 

increase forecast for 2022-23. The latest London comparator is 559 

per 10,000 whilst the annualised estimate for Hackney 2022-23 is 

606 per 10,000.

•	 The volume of assessments completed in Hackney is showing a 

rise when compared to the same period in 2021. 2075 have been 

completed in April to September 2022 compared with 1564 in the 

same period in 2021.

•	 Performance in relation to the timescale for the completion of 

assessments within 45 working days is showing a decline with 60% 

in timescale for between April and September 2022, compared with 

82% for 2021-22 and latest London comparators at 81%.  This notable 

decline is the context of staff shortages and sickness particularly 

since December 2021, including a small number of staff leaving 

before completing assessments and performance management 

issues which were more challenging to have oversight of prior to the 

re-introduction of MOSAIC.

 

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

P
age 181



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
170

Domestic Abuse Services

A total of 893 cases were allocated within Hackney Council’s Domestic 

Abuse Intervention Service following screening.  The first quarter of 

2022-23 has seen a rise of 18% compared the same time period from 

the year before.  The number of cases heard at Hackney Multi Agency 

Risk Assessment Conference reached a total of 694 cases for 2021/22, 

an increase of 15% on the number of cases over 2020/21.  In two years, 

high-risk cases have risen by over 200 per annum (41%).

 

Police

In the last 12 months, CE BCU officers have dealt with over 35,000 

offences in Hackney.  This equates to a rate of 127 per 1,000 population 

and an increase of 4.9% on the previous 12 months.  Offences rates are 

the 6th highest across London.  Whilst not broken down for children, the 

MPS dashboard shows that Hackney officers dealt with:

 

•	 8,328 offences of violence against a person

•	 973 sexual offences over the last year.

•	 604 knife crimes at a rate of 2.1 per 1000 population and whilst a 

reduction of 2.1%, Hackney knife crime rates are the 5th highest in 

London

•	 72 gun crime offences – although Hackney recorded a reduction of 

22.9% over the last 12 months and the current rate is 0.3 per 1000 

population

•	 3,589 Domestic Abuse offences at a rate of 12.8 per 1000 population 

(2.5% reduction)

•	 1,322 Hate Crimes – Down 0.8%, but 3rd highest in London

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

P
age 182



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
170 171

Health

At Homerton Healthcare NHS Trust, the increased breadth of the 

safeguarding agenda within a fixed resource (financial and people) 

across the NHS as whole is creating pressure.  The ability to respond to 

the increase in contemporary safeguarding issues is an acknowledged 

risk by the CHSCP. 

 

The number of safeguarding referrals made by Health Visitors for 

children and young people (and consequently their caseloads) was 

noted as having increased from 2,785 in 2018/19 to 3,366 in 2020/21.

 

In CAMHS, there has been a sustained increase of referrals to all CAMHS 

providers (compared to pre-pandemic levels). Pressure on inpatient 

paediatrics and Tier 4 beds continues to be high.  Crisis presentations 

are on average double pre-pandemic levels and increasing. This reflects 

a similar pattern across NEL and London. 

 

•	 CSC Clinical Service (Formally CSC CAMHS) – An increase of 514 

(+126%) referrals from 20/21 to 21/22.

•	 Specialist CAMHS (ELFT) – An increase of 765 (+38%) referrals from 

20/21 to 21/22.

•	 CAMHS Disability Service (HHFT) – An increase of 168 (+58%) 

referrals from 20/21 to 21/22

•	 First Steps (HHFT) – An increase of 25 (+2%) referrals from 20/21  

to 21/22. 

Within NHS NE London, the redeployment of safeguarding professionals 

across adults and children to support mass vaccinations against Polio 

creates a risk in the availability of key designated professionals to carry 

out their statutory safeguarding functions.  Some workstreams are 

predicted to be placed on hold which will create delays and leave the 

ICB at risk of not fully completing its function of safeguarding adults and 

children across NEL.

 

In CAFCASS, because of increased demand and delay within the family 

court, the number of families a guardian works with has increased. This 

can potentially have an impact on the quality of practice.

 

Intelligence Requirement

1.	 For the CHSCP to better understand the nature and scale of the 

local workforce pressures impacting upon the multi-agency 

partnership (and how these are impacting upon our effectiveness 

to help and protect children), a deeper analysis of the sufficiency 

of this area should be undertaken.   This should seek to examine 

consistent and agreed data items for themes patterns and trends 

within and across agencies.  A particular focus will be applied to 

those front facing teams with responsibility for child protection.  

 

2.	  The CHSCP to launch its staff survey to further test wellbeing and 

availability of support to the workforce.

 

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

P
age 183



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
172

STRATEGIC THREAT 2:   
Emerging Safeguarding Issues
 

The Cost-of-Living Crisis

The rising cost of living crisis and inflation are combining with existing 

disadvantages and vulnerabilities within communities, to put many 

households at greater risks of immediate hardship.  The Office for 

National Statistics claim ‘around 9 in 10 (89%) adults in Great Britain 

continue to report that their cost of living has increased, equal to around 

46 million people. An increase of 62% (32 million adults) from when the 

initial question was asked in November 2021’.

 

The impact on households includes higher food, electricity, and fuel 

costs, reduced opportunities and wellbeing.  Whilst significant work 

is underway by organisations to mitigate the impact of this crisis, 

safeguarding pressures are likely to grow.  Soaring stress levels will 

likely worsen mental health. For children, this is likely to be reflected 

in how they cope at school, amongst their peer groups and also, their 

interactions online. Potential threats are across the board, ranging from 

a loss of concentration and performance at school through to self-harm, 

thoughts of suicide and eating disorders. For parents, further increasing 

tensions at home might lead to more conflict, abuse, and neglect. 

Indeed, alongside exacerbating difficulties for families that might already 

be struggling (which is likely to result in increased demand for early help 

and statutory services), some themes are raising particular concern.

 

For example, new research from Women’s Aid the crisis is already 

stopping victims from leaving an abuser: 73 per cent of women living 

with or who have financial links with the abuser said that the cost-of-

living crisis had either prevented them from leaving or made it harder for 

them to do so.

 

Additionally, as echoed by the former Children’s Commissioner, Anne 

Longfield, there is also a genuine concern that financial hardship in 

some families may make youngsters more vulnerable to exploitation, 

particularly criminal exploitation.

 

 

Intelligence Requirements / Actions

1.	 The CHSCP has undertaken mapping exercise and strategic leads 

from Council leading on the poverty agenda routinely engaging 

with the Boards.  Councils and local partners to continue to 

deliver services and support to those most in need. Partners to 

do what is required to protect residents against higher costs, 

targeting help at those facing the most complex challenges. 

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

P
age 184



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
172 173

Child Sexual Abuse

Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) is included as a threat, not because of the 

volume of work being managed, but because of the absence of it.

Child sexual abuse in 2020/21: Trends in official data published by 

the Centre for Expertise on child sexual abuse (CSA) focuses on the 

recorded cases of child sexual abuse and draws on the latest available 

evidence from the official data released by child protection, criminal 

justice and health agencies in England and Wales.

 ‘It paints a worrying picture of the gap between what is estimated to be 

the prevalence of child sexual abuse in England and Wales and what 

is recorded in official data. Right now, agencies are only identifying and 

responding to a small minority of child sexual abuse that occurs in society 

and the latest data from services shows significant variations in the levels 

of child sexual abuse identified and responded to across local areas in 

England and Wales.’  

The Centre for Expertise on CSA also identified the following:

•	 Nearly two thirds of local authorities in England – including the 

majority of those in Inner London – placed five children or fewer on a 

child protection plan under the category of sexual abuse. Half of all 

local authorities in Wales also placed no or very few children.

•	 In policing, forces differed threefold in the rate of recorded child 

sexual abuse offences relative to the size of their child population.

•	 Data from Sexual Assault Referral Centre’s (SARC’s) also varied 

widely across the seven health regions, with London having the 

lowest and South West the highest reach among under-18s.

 

Locally, CSA is an identified threat.  Not only does this relate to the low 

numbers (raising questions about prevalence versus the identification of 

CSA),  but resonates with the national picture concerning this issue. 

 

This has most recently been reflected in the final report by Independent 

Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse, which emphasises the extent to which 

state and non-state institutions failed in their duty of care to protect 

children from sexual abuse and exploitation.

 

Intelligence requirement

1.	 A deeper dive into this thematic is required to better understand 

the nature and scale of CSA and how it impacts and affects 

children and families locally.  This is intended to help strategic 

leaders identify what action is needed in response.

 

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

P
age 185



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
174

Social Media & Technology

Learning from case reviews published by the NSPCC in October 2022 

explains:  Children can be exposed to harmful content online such as 

material encouraging anorexia, self-harm or suicide. They may build 

relationships with online contacts promoting this type of content and 

feel pressured or encouraged by them to engage in harmful behaviour. 

Perpetrators of child abuse and exploitation can form online communities 

and share child abuse images online. Children might unknowingly interact 

with a perpetrator of child sexual abuse and be groomed or coerced into 

sharing sexual images of themselves.

 

During the Covid-19 pandemic, we saw children and young people 

spend more time viewing content and engaging with others online.  

During the first lockdown, we also saw cyber-enable offences featuring 

as one of the main issues being raised in local referrals.  This was a 

key factor influencing the release of the City of London and Hackney 

Safer Schools Apps in 2020.  These continue to be promoted and gain 

traction. 

 

That said, in both Hackney and the City of London, our understanding 

of the themes, patterns and trends relating to social media use remains 

limited.  There are valid questions to ask about how much focus this 

issue gains as part of our core activity when assessing need and risk, 

and what we should be focusing upon in terms of information and 

advice to children, young people and their parents and carers.  Whilst 

we know that all social media and technology can be a threat, we don’t 

know where this threat is emerging from with the greatest potency.

 

Intelligence requirement

1.	 The CHSCP needs to gain a better understanding of the use of 

social media and technology across children and young people.  

We need to use this understanding to target awareness raising, 

share learning and educate and empower children and families 

to be safe and resilient in this context.  Suggest this aspect is 

covered in a CYP Survey.  Details of this to be determined – i.e. 

can we take a large-scale approach to surveys – collating a range 

of key themes we want to understand as opposed to individual 

thematics? 

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

P
age 186



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
174 175

Mental Health & Wellbeing

As part of its Safeguarding Pressures Report Phase 8, the ADCS also 

published a thematic report on mental health.  Correlating with the 

workforce and demand pressures identified locally in Hackney, identified 

findings were based on evidence from a range of interviews and data 

from 125 responding local authorities.  The report concludes that the 

increase in demand seen in the past two years is forecast to continue 

exponentially, with worrying outcomes for our children which will only 

continue into adulthood.

Key themes raised include: the lack of emotional resilience, emotional 

wellbeing and poor mental health as the most significant factors 

impacting on all areas of life for our children, sometimes with devastating 

consequences.

Locally, this issue remains on the risk registers of the Integrated Care 

Partnership Board (ICPB) and the CHSCP.  Full mitigation plans are in 

place, having been reported to LBH overview and scrutiny, committee 

and ICPB.  Additional resource has been invested in services to tackle 

pressures and backlogs. CAMHS performance and system pressures 

being monitored closely through the system.  Demand in some areas is 

stabilising, although pressures remain in crisis presentations, Tier 4 and 

eating disorders.

 

As a connected issue – engagement with young people as part of the 

response to Child Q, (including engagement with the family) continues to 

highlight concerns about the wellbeing and mental health of children at 

school. 

 

Whilst the CHSCP is sighted on initiatives such as the WAHMS 

programme, many of those with whom we have spoken continue to 

emphasise that the approach to behaviour management, discipline 

and the overall culture in some schools is having a negative impact on 

children’s mental health and wellbeing.

 

The extent of impact is unknown but coupled with the demand 

pressures to which we are alert and the direct feedback from young 

people expressing their views on this matter, this is an area that warrants 

further evaluation.

 

Intelligence Requirements / Actions

1.	 For the CHSCP to survey children and young people their views 

about school, covering issues such as wellbeing, support 

for mental health, behaviour and discipline.  As per previous 

suggestion regarding survey activity.

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

P
age 187



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
176

 The Management of Allegations Against Staff

Earlier in 2022, the CHSCP discussed the interface between the police 

and the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO).  This related to the 

absence of routine contact from the police concerning conduct matters 

that meet the threshold for the LADO to be notified.  What we have seen 

locally, is that when such matters are identified in the police these are 

ordinarily passed straight to the Directorate of Professional Standards 

and / or the IOPC.  Whilst this is absolutely the correct pathway, there 

should also be a simultaneous notification to the LADO.

There remains ongoing ambiguity and this means there is no consistent 

mechanism allowing for oversight by safeguarding partners on possible 

LADO issues concerning the Met’s workforce.

 

Leaders in the City of London Police and the CE BCU are alert to this 

and seeking resolution, but there remains a wider threat created by the 

absence of any line of sight on the sufficiency of the safer workforce 

arrangements in the police.  This has most recently been highlighted by 

the interim report from Baroness Casey on police misconduct.

 

Intelligence Requirement / Actions

1.	 There is a need to establish the nature and extent of concerns 

/ allegations made against police officers locally.  We know 

from recent media that circa 600 police officers in the MPS are 

subject to misconduct complaints relating to domestic and sexual 

incidents.

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

P
age 188



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
176 177

Unregistered Educational Settings

The issue of Unregistered Educational Settings (UES) remains a strategic 

threat.  Whilst the Schools Bill was intended to help resolve the local 

challenges we have experienced over many years, reports now suggest 

that the government may look to abandon the Bill entirely. 

 

The Bill was introduced on 11 May 2022 and includes remedies to 

close the clear loopholes that have enabled UES to operate without 

any requirement for registration or regulation.  This has left the CHSCP 

completely unsighted on the safeguarding arrangements in these 

settings.

 

Repeated attempts to encourage community leaders to engage in a 

defined offer of support have delivered no results.  Despite several 

attempts by the Independent Safeguarding Children Commissioner to 

continue dialogue about this offer, there has been no response.  As of 

today, it is understood that a Yeshiva Working group has been set up 

that is engaging Hackney Education staff. 

 

This pattern of different community leaders / stakeholders engaging, 

dis-engaging and then re-engaging with different parts of the system 

is not unfamiliar.  Our experience shows that this delivers little by way 

of reassurance or progress.  The status quo continues and the ‘two-tier’ 

safeguarding system for children attending UES and those attending 

regulated provision remains.

Intelligence Requirement / Actions

1.	 Establish Government position on the Schools Bill.

2.	 Maintain the CHSCP’s open offer of support to Yeshiva’s and 

Community Leaders.

3.	 Support the Group Director of Children & Education in establishing 

a network of other Local Authority areas experiencing issues with 

UES.

 

Violence Against Women and Girls

Whilst remaining one of the key issues impacting upon children (as seen 

in the national data covering outcomes at the end of an assessment), 

there were concerns that domestic abuse and the impact on children 

would rise during the World Cup starting in 2022.  Children are likely 

to face increased risk because of increases in stress levels, alcohol 

consumption and gambling.  Nationally, call by vulnerable children to 

the NSPCC helpline increased by a third to more than 1,000 during the 

previous tournament in 2018.

 

Intelligence Requirement / Actions

1.	 Activity underway through VAWG steering group - links with 16 

days of action. Details to be established and shared with Exec / 

Boards.

 

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

P
age 189



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
178

STRATEGIC THREAT 3:  
Multi-Agency Interoperability
 

Hybrid Working

Digital technology has allowed vital services to carry on providing 

support to those who need it throughout the pandemic and has 

encouraged new and innovative ways of working. Research suggests 

that latent demand for permanent flexible working arrangements, 

including working from home and hybrid office-home working, have 

been unlocked by the pandemic. Although the number of people 

working from home doubled in 2020, this only accounted to 25% of 

people (ONS Survey May 2021). Many safeguarding professionals 

continued to travel to workplaces during and post-pandemic.

 

Whilst we know that the pivot to home working and the use of 

technology (because of Covid-19) accrued clear benefits at the time, 

emerging intelligence is revealing the impact of these different ways 

of working on practice.  For example, Ofsted’s report:  Children’s social 

care 2022: recovering from the COVID-19 pandemic[10], published in July 

2022, highlights the limits of home-based working for peer support and 

for learning and development opportunities for social workers and other 

staff.

 

Face-to-face interaction with colleagues is particularly important for 

newly qualified social workers, who have mainly operated in pandemic 

conditions and have had limited opportunities to interact with, and learn 

from, experienced colleagues. Staff training continues to be mostly 

online, despite concerns that it is less engaging for staff and reduces 

retained learning.

 

Whilst focused on children’s social care, the messages from this 

research are likely to resonate across many in the safeguarding sector.

Conclusion

This assessment is not intended to provide a comprehensive insight into 

the breadth and depth of the complex and challenging issues being 

managed daily by our multi-agency safeguarding partnership.  It is a new 

approach and a work in progress.  No doubt, there is much that can be 

improved upon, but this first phase is intended to build momentum.   The 

CHSCP would therefore welcome constructive feedback that will help 

us in our commitment to continuous improvement.

 

Intelligence Requirement / Actions

1.	 Future working arrangements and the ongoing use of hybrid / 

virtual models of practice linked to the safeguarding children to 

be considered by the CHSCP in the New Year.

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

P
age 190



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
178 179

What You  
Need to Know

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

179WHAT YOU NEED TO 
KNOW

P
age 191



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
180

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE

•	 Nothing is more important than making sure you are safe and well cared for.

•	 As adults, sometimes we think we always know best... we don’t... and that’s why your voice is so important.

•	 This is about you and we want to know more about how you think children and young people can be better 

protected.

•	 We want to talk to you more often and we want to know the best way to do this... please help.

•	 If you are worried about your own safety or that of a friend, speak to a professional you trust or speak to  

Childline on 0800 1111.

WHAT YOU NEED TO 
KNOW

P
age 192



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
180 181

PARENTS AND CARERS

•	 Public agencies are there to support you and prevent any problems you are having getting worse...Don’t be 

afraid to ask for help.

•	 Tell us what works and what doesn’t when professionals are trying to help you and your children.

•	 Make sure you know about the best way to protect your child and take time to understand some of the risks 

they can face.

•	 You’ll never get ahead of your child when it comes to understanding social media and IT – but make yourself 

aware of the risks that children and young people can face.

THE COMMUNITY 

•	 You are in the best place to look out for children and young people and to raise the alarm if something is going 

wrong for them.

•	 We all share responsibility for protecting children. Don’t turn a blind eye. If you see something, say something.

•	 If you live in Hackney, call the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) on 0208 356 5500.

•	 If you live in the City, call the Children & Families Team on 0207332 3621.

•	 You can also call the NSPCC Child Protection helpline on 0808 800 5000.

WHAT YOU NEED TO 
KNOW

P
age 193



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
182

FRONT-LINE STAFF AND VOLUNTEERS WORKING WITH CHILDREN OR ADULTS

•	 Make children and young people are seen, heard and helped.  SAFEGUARDING FIRST, CONTEXT,  

CURIOSITY & CHALLENGE.

•	 Your professional judgement is what ultimately makes a difference and you must invest in developing the 

knowledge, skills and experiences needed to effectively safeguard children and young people. Attend all 

training required for your role.

•	 Be familiar with, and use, when necessary, the Hackney Child Wellbeing Framework and/or The City of 

London Thresholds of Need tool to ensure an appropriate response to safeguarding children and young 

people.

•	 Understand the importance of talking with colleagues and don’t be afraid to share information. If in doubt, 

speak to your manager. 

•	 Escalate your concerns if you do not believe a child or young person is being safeguarded. This is  

non- negotiable.

•	 Use your representative on the CHSCP to make sure that your voice and that of the children and young people 

you work with are heard.

•	 If your work is mainly with adults, make sure you consider the needs of any children if those adults  

are parents.

WHAT YOU NEED TO 
KNOW

P
age 194



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
182 183

LOCAL POLITICIANS 

•	 You are leaders in your local area. Do not underestimate the importance of your role in advocating for the 

most vulnerable children and making sure everyone takes their safeguarding responsibilities seriously.

•	 Lead members for Children’s Services have a key role in children’s safeguarding – so does every other 

councillor.

•	 You can be the eyes and ears of vulnerable children and families... Keep the protection of children at the 

front of your mind.

CHIEF EXECUTIVES AND DIRECTORS

•	 You set the tone for the culture of your organisation.  When you talk, people listen. Talk about children and young 

people. Talk about SAFEGUARDING FIRST.

•	 Your leadership is vital if children and young people are to be safeguarded.

•	 Understand the capability and capacity of your front-line services to protect children and young people - make 

sure both are robust.

•	 Ensure your workforce attend relevant CHSCP training courses and learning events.

•	 Ensure your agency contributes to the work of CHSCP and give this the highest priority. Be compliant with 

minimum standards for safeguarding.

•	 Advise the CHSCP of any organisational restructures and how these might affect your capacity to safeguard 

children and young people.

WHAT YOU NEED TO 
KNOW

P
age 195



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
184

THE POLICE

•	 Robustly pursue offenders and disrupt their attempts to abuse children.

•	 Ensure officers and police staff have the opportunity to train with their colleagues in partner agencies.

•	 Ensure that the voices of all child victims are heard, particularly in relation to listening to evidence where children 

disclose abuse.

•	 Ensure a strong focus on MAPPA and MARAC arrangements.

HEAD TEACHERS AND GOVERNORS OF SCHOOLS 

•	 Ensure that your school / academy/ educational establishment is compliant with statutory guidance KCSIE. 

•	 You see children more than any other profession and develop some of the most meaningful relationships with 

them.

•	 Keep engaged with the safeguarding process and continue to identify children who need early help and 

protection.

WHAT YOU NEED TO 
KNOW

P
age 196



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
184 185

INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING BOARDS

•	 The ICB has a key role in scrutinising the governance and planning across a range of health organisations. 

•	 Discharge your safeguarding duties effectively and ensure that services are commissioned for the most vulnerable 

children.

THE LOCAL MEDIA 

•	 Safeguarding children and young people is a tough job.

•	 Communicating the message that safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility is crucial - you can help do this 

positively.

•	 Hundreds of children and young people are effectively safeguarded every year across the City and Hackney.

•	 This is news.

WHAT YOU NEED TO 
KNOW

P
age 197



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
186

An INEQE Safeguarding Group Ltd CSR Publication 2022

© CHSCP 2022

Address: 4th Floor Hackney Learning Trust

1 Reading Lane, Hackney EH 1GQ

Website: www.chscp.org.uk

Email: chscp@hackney.gov.uk

Tel: 0208 356 4183

Twitter: @lscp_chscp

p. 04.01.23 v.1.0.2

P
age 198

http://www.chscp.org.uk/
mailto:chscp%40hackney.gov.uk?subject=
https://twitter.com/lscp_chscp


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

THE CHSCP COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY & 
SOCIAL MEDIA

SAFEGUARDING IN THE 
CITY OF LONDON

STRATEGIC THREAT 
ASSESSMENT

SAFEGUARDING  
IN HACKNEY

LEARNING & 
IMPROVEMENT

KEY MESSAGES FOR 
PRACTICE

TRAINING & 
DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO 

KNOW
186 187

Seen | Heard | Helped
www.chscp.org.uk

P
age 199



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission 

 January     16th     2023 

 Item     5     -     Unregistered     Educational     Settings 

 Item     No 

 5 
 Outline 
 In     response     to     local     safeguarding     concerns,     the     Commission     undertook     a     review     of 
 unregistered     educational     settings     (UES)     in     2017/18.     UES     provide     a     ‘full-time’ 
 education     to     children     of     compulsory     school     age     but     teaches     a     curriculum     that     is     too 
 narrow     for     the     setting     to     constitute     a     ‘school’.      The     consequence     is     that 
 they     cannot     be     registered     (or     regulated)     in     the     same     way     that     schools     are.      In     the 
 Hackney     context,     UES     are     predominantly     (though     not     exclusively)     local     Yeshiva 
 which     educate     boys     from     the     Orthodox     Jewish     Community. 

 In     the     absence     of     new     primary     legislation,     attempts     by     agencies     and     local     partners 
 to     establish     regulatory     (planning,     fire     regulation,     health     and     safety)     and     safeguarding 
 oversight     of     children     that     attend     UES     have     proved     challenging.      Given     the     ongoing 
 safeguarding     risks     to     children,     the     Commission     retains     regular     oversight     of     this     issue 
 within     its     work     programme. 

 Reports 
 -  Unregistered     Educational     Settings:     Report     Update 

 Attending: 
 -  Kate     Cracknell,     Head     of     Wellbeing     and     Education     Safeguarding 
 -  Paul     Senior,     Director     of     Education     and     Inclusion 
 -  Billy     Baker,     Lead     Officer      Pupils     Out     of     School 
 -  Jim     Gamble,     Independent     Chair     of     City     and     Hackney     Safeguarding 

 Partnership 
 -  Rory     McCallum,     Senior     Professional     Adviser 

Page 201

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Scrutiny Commission Report
Report Title Unregistered Education Settings (Inquiry Recommendations Update

Meeting: Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission

Date: 16 January 2023

Report Authors Rory McCallum, Senior Professional Advisor, City and Hackney
Safeguarding Children’s Partnership (CHSCP)

Billy Baker, Principle, Pupils Out Of Schools Team

Katherine Cracknell, Acting Head of Wellbeing & Education
Safeguarding, London Borough of Hackney (LBH)

Report Authorised Jacquie Burke, Group Director, Children and Education
Paul Senior, Interim Director of Education and inclusion

Report Summary
This report summarises the work undertaken by the Council and its partners to move closer to
establishing a clear line of sight for children attending unregistered education settings (UES), so
that we can be assured of both their safety and their exposure to a broad, balanced and relevant
curriculum offer.

In Hackney UES are predominantly Yeshivas, which provide a full time faith based education to
boys aged 12 plus from the Orthodox Jewish community.  The narrowness of the Yeshiva
Curriculum means that they do not meet the requirements to register as a school, therefore they sit
outside of the regulatory framework.  This means there are no minimum standards in respect of
quality of education or safeguarding.

The Schools Bill previously proposed changes that would change the criteria for registration and
mean these settings, that would be required to register as independent education settings and
meet the independent school standards. Whilst this proposal would not have overcome all of the
challenges in this space, it would have gone some way to providing the statutory powers that we
feel are necessary in order to provide all children in Hackney with equitable access to safety and to
a broad curriculum of education.

The Schools Bill which was proposed in May 2022 is no longer being progressed in Parliament and
as such will not be implemented in its current form. Whilst ministers cite a commitment to the
objectives of the Bill, it remains to be seen how this commitment will be manifested in the future
and we await further updates on this position.

The UES working group, chaired by the Director of Education and SEND, continues to meet
regularly to oversee our work in this area, and to ensure an appropriate level of oversight for an
area which we deem to be a considerable risk.

Largely there has been little progress beyond that was previously reported in January 2022, and
whilst our UES protocol continues to be used to ensure a multi agency response to suspected
UES, the children that attend them and their sites, the ongoing  legislative vacuum that currently
exists facilitates the ongoing operation of UES as they are and prevents us being able to make
more meaningful progress towards assurance, that all Hackney children are safe and are
accessing a broad curriculum of learning.

Page 203



UES Inquiry Update Page 2 of 21

Report title: Unregistered Education Settings (Inquiry Recommendations Update)

Meeting date: 16 January 2023

Report originators: Rory McCallum, Senior Professional Advisor, CHSCP

Billy Baker, Chief Officer, Pupils Out Of Schools Team

Katherine Cracknell, Acting Head of Wellbeing & Education
Safeguarding, LBH

1. Purpose of the report

1.1. In January 2018 the Scrutiny Commission published its report following an inquiry into
Unregistered Education Settings (UES) in Hackney. This was followed by a report in January
2022 that updated the commission on the response to the Inquiry’s recommendations . This
report provides a further update on progress.

2. Recommendations

2.1. That the commission notes the limited progress made since January 2022, and recognises
that this is primarily due to factors outside of the control of the London Borough of Hackney
(LBH) and the City & Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership (CHSCP).

2.2. That the commission notes the Government redaction of the Schools Bill and the ambiguity
this has created about the proposed legislation covering UES.

2.3. That the commission supports safeguarding partners of the CHSCP, including LBH, in
making use of the potentially useful but limited legal powers available to them in response to
UES.

2.4. The commission acknowledges the Council and the CHSCP have continued to demonstrate
that considerable effort has been made under current legislative and regulatory constraints to
implement the recommendations made by the CYP Scrutiny Commission.

3. Background

3.1. Over the course of 2017 Hackney’s Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission
conducted an inquiry into the issue of UES in Hackney. Its  report, which was published in
January 2018, made ten recommendations.

3.2. UES provide a ‘full-time’ education to children of compulsory school age but teach a
curriculum that is too narrow for the setting to constitute a ‘school’. The consequence is that
they cannot be registered (or regulated) in the same way that schools are. This was and
remains a significant issue of concern for the safeguarding partners of the CHSCP.

3.3. In Hackney, the vast majority of children we believe to attend UES are teenage boys within
the Orthodox Jewish community, who are withdrawn from a school where they receive a
wider curriculum at aged 12, and placed in a Yeshiva where they receive a more narrow
religious instruction.

3.4. Some changes were introduced and shared with the commission in January 2022. These
were designed to support and improve the multi-agency response to concerns raised about
UES:

3.4.1. The continued engagement and efforts of the Independent Child Safeguarding
Commissioner on behalf of the CHSCP;

3.4.2. The work and oversight of the UES Working Group, which is chaired by the Director
of Education;

3.4.3. The work of the Out of Schools Settings (OOSS) Project to better engage settings in
the child safeguarding agenda; and

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY
Page 204



UES Inquiry Update Page 3 of 21

3.4.4. The implementation of the UES protocol, which provides a multi-agency framework
for coordinating the response to settings by bringing together a range of services and
partners.

3.5. The aforementioned Schools Bill proposed legislation to support statutory capacity to ensure
that children within UES were able to enjoy the same protections and access to education as
children in registered schools.

3.6. This legislation proposed a central register for children not in schools, and to extend Ofsted’s
power to inspect to include UES.

3.7. The Schools Bill was not moved into the third session of Parliament as planned in December
2022, and its progress has been halted.

3.8. The government states that ministers are committed to the objectives of the Bill, however we
are awaiting to see how this commitment will be manifested and what this will mean for our
plans going forward.

3.9. Further delays in legislating on this matter (in the absence of any meaningful progress on the
introduction of a cooperative safeguarding framework) means that children remain out of the
line of sight of statutory safeguarding partners.

3.10. The additional statutory powers that were proposed in the Bill are much needed to first and
foremost ensure a safe education environment for all Hackney children.

4. Commission recommendations with progress update

4.1. The commission’s recommendations along with a progress update as of December 2022 can
be found in Appendix A to this report. Please see this appendix for full details.

4.2. The commission will want to be aware of some of the specific work that has been undertaken
in respect of UES over the past 12 months.

4.2.1. The UES protocol is now embedded into operational practice and in 2022 six
protocol meetings were convened to consider our response to ten settings.  Protocol
meetings are multi-agency and as well as representatives from relevant Hackney
Council services they are attended by the police, fire brigade, health and Ofsted. This
has led to Ofsted inspections of settings and other measures to safeguard children.

4.2.2. Collaboration between Hackney Education and the Planning Department has led to
the identification of new UES provision and the co-ordinated appropriate use of
planning powers in response to these where planning permission is also lacking.

4.2.3. In January 2022 there were 609 children and young people known to Hackney
Education who were believed to attend UES; we believed this to be a fraction of the
true number, which is estimated to be in excess of 1,500.

4.2.4. In December 2022 there are 1087 children and young people known to Hackney
Education who we believe attend UES, which demonstrates the tenacity and strength
of the partnership in our identification process.

4.2.5. In July 2021 the Children missing education (CME) team appointed an additional
officer to focus on this cohort. Since starting, the officer has undertaken visits to
families to check a) on the education arrangements and b) the welfare of the child.

4.2.6. Following a home visit, the majority of parents cite that they are educating their
child(ren) otherwise than at school (i.e. elective home education). However we have
no right of access to Yeshivas in order to assess the suitability of the education
provided. The only education body that has these powers is Ofsted as part of an
investigation into possible unregistered schools under s.97.

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY
Page 205



UES Inquiry Update Page 4 of 21

4.2.7. As we are unable to confirm the suitability of the education these children receive at
a Yeshiva, the children who attend them are classified as children missing education
rather than electively home educated children.

4.2.8. Efforts have been ongoing to engage with Orthodox Jewish representative bodies
regarding safeguarding practice in UES and ensure we have assurance as to those
arrangements. However, these have not been successful at bringing about
satisfactory engagement with UES themselves to provide the necessary assurance we
seek regarding safeguarding.

4.2.9. A full safeguarding support offer has been made by the CHSCP to Yeshivas (details
available here).This was shared with the Union of Orthodox Hebrew Congregations
(UOHC) and a private company PR Pro for distribution.  PR Pro had been engaged by
a local Rabbi to help look at arrangements in advance of the Schools Bill.  They
advised they were in dialogue with the UOHC and would discuss this offer with them
further.

4.2.10. Community specific sessions were set up to deliver safeguarding training for
Yeshivas and Orthodox Jewish settings; these sessions were not attended.

4.2.11. The CHSCP has frequently and routinely lobbied the Department for Education for
changes in legislation for many years. The Schools Bill provided a potential vehicle to
close identified loopholes and bring clarity to the registration and regulation of UES.
The scrapping of the Bill will leave our local position fundamentally unchanged.

4.2.12. The CHSCP has previously sought counsel’s advice on the use of statutory powers
available to safeguarding partners.  The Council has subsequently utilised these
powers  in one case.

4.2.13. A proprietor of a suspected unregistered school (able to be classified as such due to
primary children attending, so a wider curriculum offer than a Yeshiva) was served an
injunction under Section 16(H) Children's Act 2004. The court ordered the setting to
share information about the children on their premises with the LA.

4.2.14. The information has not yet been shared, and there is an expectation that we will
return to court.

4.2.15. The UES working group, chaired by the Director of Education, continues to meet
regularly to oversee our work in this area, and to ensure an appropriate level of
oversight for an area which we deem to be a considerable risk.

4.3. Between August and November 2021 LBH’s internal audit reviewed the progress of the
commission’s recommendations. The audit found the following:

4.3.1. Implemented - Two

4.3.1.1. Recommendations 5 and 7

4.3.2. In progress (within the Council’s control) - Two

4.3.2.1. Recommendations 4 & 10

4.3.3. Partially implemented (constrained by factors outside of the Council’s control) - Six

4.3.3.1. Recommendations 1,2, 3, 6, 8 & 9

4.3.4. Not implemented - None

4.3.5. Recommendation 4 - was noted to be in progress in January 2022, and our position
is largely the same. There has been some limited involvement with the Yeshivas
Protocol Committee which was formed in response to the Schools Bill (now redacted),

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY
Page 206

https://www.chscp.org.uk/unregistered-educational-settings/
https://www.chscp.org.uk/unregistered-educational-settings/


UES Inquiry Update Page 5 of 21

as well as some consultation with other Local Authorities who serve an Orthodox
Jewish community. Largely though, it has been further evident to the Council and
partners that other communities in other Local Authorities face different challenges to
those we face here in Hackney.

4.3.6. Recommendation 10 -  remains the same from January 2022

4.3.7. The internal audit highlighted that six of the recommendations were partially
implemented due to constraint by factors outside the control of the Council - these
external factors continue to hinder the implementation to any further degree

4.3.8. Internal audit made one recommendation, which was that

4.3.8.1. ‘Further consideration is given to making use of the legal powers
confirmed by the legal advice  provided to the CHSCP on the legal position
relating to UES in the context of the Children Act 2004 and the new safeguarding
arrangements led by statutory safeguarding partners.’

4.3.9. The management response to this recommendation was:

4.3.9.1. ‘The Children and Education Department recognises its legal powers to
take action regarding UES. We established a system to respond to concerns
about UES and this includes seeking legal (counsel) advice and taking legal
action. This is an ongoing activity.’

4.3.10. Since this recommendation was made the Council continue to use the established
system to respond to concerns and regularly seek legal counsel.  Our response has
included going to court and successfully requesting an injunction be served on proprietors
of a suspected unregistered school.

5. Conclusion -
5.1. Local children who attend UES in Hackney continue to be outside the line of sight of

safeguarding professionals. There is no direct mechanism to ensure that the premises within
which they congregate are safe; that the infrastructure is sound; environment appropriate; or
that contemporary safer recruitment practices are being applied to those working frequently
and routinely with children.

5.2. Despite repeated attempts to engage community leaders and seek their cooperation, the
status quo continues. A comprehensive package of safeguarding support has been
developed and shared with community leaders. Even with this package excluding any focus
on what is being taught in UES, these leaders have been unable or unwilling to commit to or
influence cooperation with any programme of work. Based on the conditions seen at some
UES (via the UES protocol meetings), this remains a significant concern.

5.3. Equally concerning is the ongoing legislative vacuum that facilitates the operation of UES as
they are. The redaction of the Schools Bill, alongside the absence of any meaningful
cooperation from those responsible for UES, is not making children who attend UES safer.

5.4. This overall situation regarding the above means that the position concerning UES remains
largely unchanged from when the commission examined this issue in 2017.

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY
Page 207



UES Inquiry Update Page 6 of 21

Report originators: Rory McCallum, Senior Professional Advisor, CHSCP

Billy Baker, Chief Officer, Pupils Out Of Schools Team, LBH

Katherine Cracknell, Acting Head of Wellbeing & Education
Safeguarding

Other contributors: Donna Thomas, Head of Early Years, Early Help and Wellbeing

Name Designation Section

Date: 19.12.2022

Cleared by:

Paul Senior, Interim Director of Education & Inclusion

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY
Page 208



UES Inquiry Update Page 7 of 21

Appendix A - Commission recommendations and progress update

Commission Recommendation Progress Update January 2022 Progress Update January 2023

1 To formalise and build on the work that has
already been undertaken locally, it is
recommended that the Council develop and
publish a strategy that clearly sets out its
approach to UES in the borough. Such a
strategy will help to develop a comprehensive,
consistent and transparent approach to UES,
particularly within the Orthodox Jewish
Community in Hackney.

a) Local ambitions and priorities for UES and
those children that attend, and which clearly
describe the expected benefits of registration
and compliance with the regulatory framework in
respect of health and safety, safeguarding,
educational outcomes and community cohesion;

b) The legal duties of the Council (and partners)
in ensuring that children attending UES in
Hackney are taught in safe and hygienic
conditions, that there are rigorous safeguarding
protocols in place, that their well-being is
promoted and that the curriculum taught
conforms to agreed standards;

c) The roles and responsibilities of the Council
and its statutory partners in the regulatory and
enforcement framework for UES; specifically to
state how they work together to identify, support
and promote compliance with regulatory
standards for health and safety, safeguarding
and quality of education taught;

The impact of the strategy has been limited. The
overall vision of the strategy remains frustrated
on a number of levels.

Although the Council has endeavoured to
constructively manage this problem, no real
progress has been made.  There are considered
to be two primary reasons for this.

● The first reason is highlighted by the
absence of a central faith and
community based body with
responsibility for and authority over
yeshivas. Each setting is understood to
be autonomous and the local proposals
to strengthen safeguarding oversight
have simply gained no traction. Whilst
there remains an aspiration by partners
to work together to ensure that all
children in Hackney receive appropriate
educational opportunities in safe and
suitable environments, there is all but no
progress in the context of collaboration
and co-production in this regard.

● The second reason is because there is
no existing regulatory/statutory
framework within which these settings
neatly fit. As a consequence, the
Council has been both required and
encouraged to be lawfully audacious in
its approach to assuring the safety of
the children who attend these settings,

There is no change from the January 2022
update.

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY

P
age 209



UES Inquiry Update Page 8 of 21

d) How the Council will engage the Orthodox
Jewish community and its representatives to
promote compliance and adherence to the
regulatory framework;

e) The legal responsibility of parents to provide
an appropriate and full-time education for their
child regardless of setting.

which the Council has done with limited
success.

The Council has engaged (and continues to
engage) the police, fire service and other
partners focusing on health and safety to
intervene with those running the establishments
in an effort to safeguard the young people
frequenting them.

The position the Council finds itself in was
previously summarised by Amanda Spielman,
Ofsted’s Chief Inspector

“We can issue a warning notice, but ... .no one
has the power to close them, neither us, local
authorities or the Department for Education.
There is no general power to close something
that is not registered as a school. We need a
better definition of a school – it is too easy to
fiddle at the margins and claim that something
isn't a school. When people are operating
illegally, there should be somebody with powers
to make it close.  There should be serious
consideration of disqualifying people who've run
an illegal school. The legal framework needs to
evolve.”

The Council endorses Amanda Spielman’s
comments regarding the need for a clearer
definition of a school and the importance of a
legal framework within which we can act to
inspect and regulate establishments to ensure
the welfare of children and young people.

2 Whilst the Commission acknowledges the
challenges in developing meaningful
engagement and involvement with the Charedi

Whilst the Independent Child Safeguarding
Commissioner of the CHSCP and Hackney
Council have attempted to find a resolution to
this problem (and despite continuing efforts to

There is no change from the January 2022
update.

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY

P
age 210



UES Inquiry Update Page 9 of 21

Orthodox Jewish community, this remains the
only way to secure consensual and lasting
change and to bring UES into regulatory
compliance in Hackney. The Commission
therefore recommend that engagement efforts
are renewed, and that a contact group be
established between Community leaders,
including the Union of Orthodox Hebrew
Congregations, Interlink, Head Teachers of
Registered Independent Schools and Chief
Rabbis of all Charedi sects operating yeshivas in
Hackney, and the City and Hackney
Safeguarding Children Board (or its equivalent
successor organisation) to support the
development of a safeguarding reassurance
process. The establishment of such a contact
group would help to build trust and confidence,
and demonstrate a commitment to improve
understanding of those issues pertaining to UES
and to develop shared solutions to improved
safeguarding arrangements for children that
attend such settings.

It is recommended that the contact group:

a) Is led by the Independent Chair of the
Safeguarding Board and therefore free from
involvement of any other statutory body including
e.g. Hackney Council, the Metropolitan Police or
Ofsted;

b) Should develop a clear remit and terms of
reference which should:
(i) Set out those measures that will build
confidence between and among various
representative including how UES will be
engaged and involved;

engage community leaders), no real progress
has been made.

Since 2014, the Independent Child
Safeguarding Commissioner (ICSC) and the
Council have been proactively advocating that
the central government needs to enact
legislation that provides the same level of
safeguards for all children who attend full-time
education settings, whatever subject is being
taught.  The DfE consulted on possible changes
to legislation in 2020 but to date, the outcome of
the consultation has not been published and no
such legislation has been implemented.

Local children who attend UES in Hackney
continue to be outside the line of sight of
safeguarding professionals. There is no direct
mechanism to ensure that the premises within
which they congregate are safe; that the
infrastructure is sound; environment appropriate;
or that contemporary safer recruitment practises
are being applied to those working frequently
and routinely with children.

Disappointingly, despite repeated attempts to
engage community leaders and seek their
cooperation to develop a safeguarding
reassurance framework, they have been unable,
unwilling or lacked the overarching authority to
commit to the changes required.

Significant communication has been sent by the
Independent Child Safeguarding Commissioner
to a variety of stakeholders encouraging UES to
engage in a range of opportunities set out within
an agreed ‘offer’ (to be led by the CHSCP and
Hackney Education)..  More recently the
CHSCP has been contacted by PR Pro, a PR

Section 16H sets out the requirement for
persons or bodies to supply (on request)
information to the safeguarding partners for the
purpose of enabling or assisting the
performance of their functions. When a recipient
does not comply with such a request, a
safeguarding partner may apply for a High Court
or county court injunction to enforce it. An
injunction was requested under 16H Children's
Act 2004 to obtain information from the
proprietors of a UES. The court ordered the
setting to share information about the children
on their premises with the LA.  The information
has not yet been shared, and there is an
expectation that we will return to court.

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY

P
age 211



UES Inquiry Update Page 10 of 21

(ii) Agree the nature of safeguarding standards
to be established in UES (for example DBS
checks on staff, staff awareness and training in
safeguarding, anti-bullying, complaints
procedures, whistleblowing, health and safety);
(iii) Identify those systems and processes that
will provide assurance that identified
safeguarding standards are being met within
UES (e.g. health checks, piloting and peer
assessment and assurance) and acknowledge
that this will be an incremental process;
(iv) Agree key milestones and outcomes (both
process and safeguarding practice) and the
timeframe for their implementation within UES in
Hackney.

c) Report back progress of its work twice yearly
to the Children and Young People Scrutiny
Commission and annually within the City and
Hackney Safeguarding Children Board Annual
Report.

company engaged by a Rabbi in the UOHC.
Our understanding is that this company has
been commissioned to help broker progress
against the CHSCP’s offer.

IICSA - The ICSC of the CHSCP gave evidence
on behalf of the Council to the Independent
inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse (IICSA).  This
was as part of the Inquiry’s focus on religious
institutions and settings.  This set out the
already known problems, the attempts at
resolution and the action required by the
government.

IICSA published its report in September 2021.
Of two recommendations, one specifically
related to UES, which was:

Legislation on the definition of full-time
education and unregistered educational
institutions providing full-time education The
government should introduce legislation to:
• change the definition of full-time education,
and to bring any setting that is the pupil’s
primary place of education within the scope of
the definition of a registered educational setting;
and
• provide the Office for Standards in Education,
Children’s Services and Skills (Ofsted) with
sufficient powers to examine the quality of child
protection when it undertakes inspections of
suspected unregistered institutions.

UES Protocol - In 2020, the CHSCP developed
a protocol to help manage the response to the
identification of UES and any concerns arising in
respect of them. It is disappointing that this has
been necessary, but in the absence of any
appetite from either community leaders or

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY

P
age 212



UES Inquiry Update Page 11 of 21

Yeshivas themselves to cooperate, this is the
best we have been able to do as a partnership.

UES protocol meetings are chaired by the Head
of Wellbeing & Education Safeguarding,
Hackney Education.  When convened, there is
good engagement from all relevant agencies,
including Ofsted.  The Disclosure & Barring
Service has recently been made a standing
member of the group
The protocol itself is relatively straightforward.
There is an expectation that when UES are
identified, they are notified to Hackney
Education and when there are reported
concerns, that defined procedures oversee the
response to these.  The protocol has not been
constructed on the basis of educational
registration requirements, but on core
safeguarding requirements.  It is already distinct
in that its entire focus is upon those settings that
are neither registered nor regulated.

Legal Advice - The CHSCP has also sought
counsel advice on the legal position relating to
UES in the context of the Children Act 2004 and
the new safeguarding arrangements led by
statutory safeguarding partners.

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY

P
age 213



UES Inquiry Update Page 12 of 21

3 It is recommended that the Mayor and Chief
Officers within the Council continue to robustly
press the Government, Department for
Education and relevant parliamentary bodies
(e.g. Education Select Committee) for a more
effective legislative framework for UES.
Government should review its legislative
timetable and produce a ‘statement of intent’
about how it plans to close the evident legal
loopholes that allow UES to operate with
impunity. Specific improvements required of
such new legislation would be to:

a) Extend the definition of a school, or a
part-time school, to include where this setting is
the child’s main educational experience;

b) Expand the powers of entry, inspection and
enforcement of UES to give local authorities
greater powers to regulate and improve such
settings, particularly in relation to health and
safety and the safeguarding of children;

c) Improve regulation around home schooling,
specifically making it a legal requirement for
parents to notify the local authority if their child is
being electively home educated, and additional
powers for the local authority to ensure the
quality of education where children are home
schooled;

d) Improved statutory guidance for how local
statutory agencies work in partnership to
improve safeguarding of local children (sharing
of inspection data, shared intelligence);

e) Improve statutory guidance and powers to
help local authorities track those children
missing from education – with a duty of

The record on this issue already details the
significant lobbying undertaken with ministers.
Disappointingly, there appears to have been
little appetite to progress solutions at pace and
the overall response from the government has
lacked any sense of urgency.

The Department for Education launched a
consultation concerning the regulation of UES
and other independent settings on 14 February
2020.  This consultation was withdrawn on 7
May 2020 due to the coronavirus (COVID-19)
outbreak and was relaunched on 13 October
2020. It closed on 27 November 2020.

More recently, the CHSCP’s Independent Child
Safeguarding Commissioner has escalated this
matter to the former Parliamentary Under
Secretary of State for the Schools System
(Baroness Berridge of the Vale of Catmose).
This yielded no clarity.  Subsequent letters to the
new Secretary of State for Education, The Rt
Hon Nadhim Zahawi MP, were the same.   The
new Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for
the Schools System,  Baroness Barran, replied
on 3 December.  Her letter stated:

I am happy to confirm that the government
remains committed to changing the law on the
registration of independent education settings,
which would bring into scope a range of
currently unregistered institutions. You will know
that we repeated that commitment in the
department’s evidence to the Independent
Inquiry on Child Sexual Abuse, and we
welcomed the recommendation when the report
was recently published. I expect that we will be
publishing the response to the Regulating

There was  optimism with the publication of the
draft Schools Bill for England in May 2022 that
we would see a greater and enforceable power
to ensure children in UES had access to a safe
environment in which to learn, and a broad
curriculum alongside any faith-based learning.

The Bill outlined a requirement for administered
lists of children not in schools to be kept by LAs,
and included new powers for Ofsted to gather
evidence which would support prosecutions
against those running unregistered, unlawful
independent schools and registered
independent schools which are not meeting the
required standards.

Changes were proposed to be made to the
registration requirements for independent
schools so that more settings which provide
education to children on a full-time basis needed
to register as independent schools and meet the
standards.

These changes would have made it easier to
identify and act against educational settings

which are ignoring the Department’s rules and
regulations. Ensuring that more children are
receiving their education in regulated settings
which are subject to regular inspection is an
important safeguarding measure which is
intended to keep children safe.

The impact of these proposed changes would
have been big for our work in UES, so it was
disappointing that the Bill was redacted in
December 2022. Whilst ministers pledge a
commitment to the objectives of the Bill, we will

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY

P
age 214



UES Inquiry Update Page 13 of 21

cooperation among partners (see
recommendation 6);

f) Provide further clarification about the
introduction of a system of regulation for out
of-school settings (including for example, the
maintenance of a central register and being
subject to inspection and sanctions for those not
meeting required standards).

Independent Educational Institutions
consultation shortly.

Our collective position remains unchanged.
Government needs to strengthen both the
registration requirements and regulation of UES.
Without such change, children and young
people will continue to be exposed to a two-tier
safeguarding system that is simply
unacceptable.

have to wait to see what this means for
legislative change around UES.

4 It is recommended that the Council should take
the lead in developing an alliance with those
authorities which experience similar issues with
UES. Such an alliance will facilitate the sharing
of good practice and help to develop a common
approach to resolving those concerns with UES.
In addition, such an alliance will aid the
collection of evidence and strengthen the
position of those authorities to lobby for
legislative change with the Secretary of State for
Education and other governmental departments.
To support this recommendation the Council
should consider hosting a UES conference for
local authorities as this will help to maintain the
public profile of this issue, assist in identifying
the legislative reforms required and help to
identify common ways forward for local
authorities.

The Council has previously had contact with a
number of authorities who are concerned about
existing legislation – although it’s important to
note that Hackney’s concerns are distinct and
very different to those of other councils, so
learning has been limited.

The Council met with the Yeshiva Liaison
Committee, which is a group set up in response
to the Schools Bill (recently redacted). The
Committee advised the Council they would be
undertaking their own audit of safeguarding in
Yeshivas and would be willing to share their
report with us. We await this report from Rabbi
Moishe Kornbluh, the secretary of the
committee.

The Council continue to liaise with other
authorities that have sizeable Orthodox Jewish
communities that may face similar concerns
around lack of oversight of UES for teenage
boys in Yeshivas. Meetings have taken place
with Gateshead, Salford and Essex, however
whilst initially there appear to be some
similarities, there are complex nuances in the
doctrine of these communities that mean their
experiences and the subsequent challenges
experienced by the relevant local authorities are
not directly comparable.

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY

P
age 215



UES Inquiry Update Page 14 of 21

The Out of Schools Settings (OOSS) project
has, however, assumed this role at a local level.
The project brings together 16 Local Authorities,
nine of which are East London boroughs.  The
OOSS Project, which is funded by the DfE, is
designed to map and support settings in relation
to safeguarding children. It sits alongside
existing work undertaken by LBH officers
including the Prevent Education Officer and
Children Missing Education Team.

The strategic direction of the OOSS project has
been to build a comprehensive typology of
settings and test interventions to discover what
works and identify the challenges or barriers to
engagement. In practical terms the interventions
have included meetings with trustees, staff and
volunteers, policy support and the offer of
signposting to safeguarding training.

The OOSS project team has undertaken
extensive mapping of the sector and identified
over 300 settings including yeshivas, tuition
centres, sports clubs, housing associations,
community centres, charities, church halls and
other religious settings.

The OOSS project team has also developed a
RAG rating system. This has been adopted by
other pilot projects and promoted, via the DfE,
as a model of good practice.

Engagement thus far has concentrated in
community spaces, particularly those hiring halls
to other/smaller organisations or clubs and
ensuring hire agreements explicitly describe
expectations to safeguard.

OOSS project has largely come to an end, the
legacy of this project forms part of the CHSCP
offer to Yeshivas (outlined in 4.2.9 of this report).
There is also an online safeguarding information
platform for OOSS providers that has been
created and will be maintained as part of our
ongoing commitment to improving safeguarding
oversight in OOSS, this platform provides links
to information, model safeguarding policies and
guidance, as well as contact information for
relevant council officers. The extensive contact
database collated during this project forms the
basis of the CHSCP contact list for OOSS
providers, and is a core part of the
communication strategy for safeguarding
partners in this area.

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY

P
age 216



UES Inquiry Update Page 15 of 21

To support this, an example policy has been
written and organisations are signposted to
relevant sources of support including the
NSPCC’s webpages for the sector, the voluntary
code for OOSS and CHSCP training.

A significant challenge to understanding and
embedding effective safeguarding practice is
staff and volunteers accessing appropriate
safeguarding training. To remedy this the OOSS
project team has developed a training offer that
will be delivered free of charge either in settings
(if there are sufficient staff) or via The Tomlinson
Centre. This sits alongside the core training
offered by the CHSCP. Three sessions have
been held, to introduce the OOSS project to
settings that have been delivered, supported by
HCVS.

Promotional materials have been produced for
parents/carers and for proprietors; information is
presented on the Local Offer and an OOSS App
is in development. This is in addition to an
OOSS online portal that contains instructive
videos from the HE Safeguarding in Education
Team and Re-Engagement Unit, highlighting
OOSS responsibilities with links to local and
national guidance. Partnership working with
other pilot areas including Redbridge,
Manchester and Birmingham is online to
develop the portal.

In conjunction with the CHSCP, all mapped
OOSS were sent a tailored Safeguarding Self
Assessment audit tool, after being named as
‘relevant agencies’. In total the following
responded:

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY

P
age 217



UES Inquiry Update Page 16 of 21

● 30 OOSS
● 6 Community Halls
● 11 orgs under Southern / Hackney

Housing
● 22 religious settings
● 16 OOSS which are also captured

under the commissioned provider

5 The Commission noted evidence of  positive
collaboration among regulatory partners, though
it is apparent that such partnerships between the
Council (Planning, Learning Trust, Children &
Families and Food Safety) and statutory partners
(Health & Safety Executive, Fire Service, Ofsted)
could be improved and formalised to help
strengthen and improve the regulatory
framework for UES. To support this process, it is
recommended that a Memorandum of
Understanding or similarly agreed protocol is
developed across these agencies to:

a) Identify a common approach and priorities for
UES – e.g. child safeguarding;

b) Share data and intelligence about UES across
statutory partners (e.g. location, number of
children in attendance, health and safety
concerns etc.);

c) Undertake joint holistic inspection and
assessments of UES;

d) Develop a coordinated response and
interventions where such settings are
uncovered, and do not meet regulatory
standards.

Positive collaboration remains across a range of
local agencies and services involved with UES.
The Council also continues to engage with
Ofsted and DfE, particularly through the
operation of the CHSCP’s UES Protocol. When
called, meetings are well attended by partners
and actions taken away;  including partners
such as LFB and Ofsted.

Oversight on progress against strategy and
operational actions with individual settings is
overseen by the UES Working Group, which is
chaired by the Group Director.

There is no change from the January 2022
update.

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY

P
age 218



UES Inquiry Update Page 17 of 21

6 Understanding that a significant number of
Charedi Orthodox Jewish children are able to
remain outside the registered school sector and
therefore unknown to the Council and other
regulatory partners, the Commission
recommends that the Council must improve
those systems for identifying and tracking
children missing from education. Improved
tracking and identification processes are central
to developing an informed and proportionate
response to UES, and will help to establish a
clearer picture of the nature and scale of UES
and the children that attend them, and to guide
and support regulatory and enforcement action.
To this end it is recommended that the Council:

a) Lobby for legislative change that legally
requires parents to notify their LA if their child is
electively home educated (as in 3 above);

b) In line with statutory requirements, ensure
that all local Independent Schools notify the LA
of those children that enter or leave the school
register at standard transition points;

c) In line with statutory requirements ensure that
all local Independent Schools notify the local
authority when a child leaves or is placed on the
central school register outside transition points;

d) In line with statutory guidance, raise
awareness of the Council’s children missing
education procedures and notification processes
with local agencies including schools, GPs, other
health professionals (Health Visitors), clinical
commissioning groups, police and other
emergency services, housing agencies and
voluntary sector groups;

The EHE consultation ended in June 2019.  A
formal response by the government is still
awaited after all this time, though revised
guidance was issued by the DfE in April 2019.

Despite the proposed duties undoubtedly
strengthening oversight on the children
attending such settings, the consultation failed
to adequately address the issue of oversight of
the settings themselves by way of regulation.

The local authority has recruited an additional
officer to manage the recent requirement for
schools to inform the local authority of
non-standard phase admissions. This duty
applies to state funded and independent
schools. The return rate is subject to ongoing
monitoring. Schools with no or inconsistent
returns are reminded of their responsibilities.
Where a school ‘off rolls’ a pupil, they are
required to specify or undertake joint
investigations to determine the name of the
receiving setting. If this cannot be determined
the issue is referred to the CME team.
Reminders of the process are sent to schools
annually.

Hackney Education’s processes regarding
elective home education were updated and
revised in July 2020 and the resources
undertaking EHE assessments were increased
from 0.5 FTE to 1 FTE. These processes were
subject to a recent internal audit and no
recommendations were made. In addition
Hackney Education has employed a Pupils Out
of School Officer, part of whose job is to engage
with Orthodox Jewish families who are believed
to be attending a yeshiva. This is to check on

a) CHSCP continues to lobby for
legislative change, Hackney Education
have shared views with Independent
Schools Team from Ofsted and Dfe

b) & c) Tracking work within the
Admissions Service is ongoing and an
update will be provided around
engagement in the Spring term

d) In  2016 Hackney Education adapted and
amended our ways of working for CME, in
accordance with legislative change, this policy is
shared with partners and updated regularly. The
service frequently receives referrals from GPs,
Social Care, Homerton Hospital, health
professionals. Work continues to build
relationships with Housing and the Voluntary
Sector.

e) We are adequately resourced for the service
we are currently offering, this would have
required additional resourcing if the Schools Bill
had been progressed, as such if the
commitments of the Bill pertaining to EHE is
upheld we would need to consider resourcing

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY

P
age 219



UES Inquiry Update Page 18 of 21

e) Given the possible numbers of children
involved (1,000-1,500), ensure that the Children
Missing Education Service is adequately
resourced and supported to undertake
systematic identification, tracking and
enforcement procedures;

f) With improved detection of those children
missing education, introduce a more robust
policy of administering enforcement notices and
School Attendance Orders.

children’s wellbeing and their education
arrangements. Families who attend yeshivas
state that they are educating otherwise than at
school and therefore come under the scope of
the EHE/CME procedures.

7 Although there are limited statutory duties and
responsibilities for the Council in respect of
registered schools within the independent school
sector, given

a) the interrelationship between this sector and the
children that attend them and UES and

b) the number of local independent schools which
are not reaching the required standards or where
explicit safeguarding concerns have been raised; it
is recommended that engagement and liaison with
the local independent school sector by the Council
should be strengthened. Improved relationships
will help build links, trust, and confidence and help
to establish those systems and processes which
ensure local children are taught in safe conditions,
that their welfare is safeguarded and they obtain
the best possible educational outcomes.

The activities and approaches cited in the previous
update continue to be pertinent. A standing
invitation remains to Special Educational Needs
and Disability Coordinators (SENDCOs) from
independent sector schools to attend events such
as the termly SENDCO forum and annual
conference that SENCOs from the maintained
sector attend.

Following engagement with Interlink, Hackney
Education has, in conjunction with independent
schools, established a forum for heads of
independent schools. The forum will be jointly
coordinated by a senior leadership and
management advisor from HE and an independent
school headteacher.

Hackney Education has also met with Interlink and
school leaders to discuss SEND provisions and
will be attending their next meeting of the
independent schools SENCO Forum.

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY

P
age 220



UES Inquiry Update Page 19 of 21

8 Parents are ultimately responsible for the safety
and welfare of their child and legally obliged to
ensure that they are in receipt of appropriate
full-time education. It is recommended therefore
that the Council should engage and involve
parents within the Charedi Orthodox Jewish
community, to inform them of relevant statutory
health and safety regulations (e.g. fire safety) and
safeguarding standards (e.g. DBS checks)
required for their child’s schooling, with the
intention of supporting parental enquiry and
challenge to local UES. It is recommended that the
Council should start to engage directly with parents
in the Charedi community, rather than relying on
intermediary bodies

As part of the OOSS project, guidance for parents
and carers for children attending OOSS (including
UES) has been revised and is available on the
Local Offer.

Whilst the identities of some children are known,
there remains an absence of intelligence on a
significant majority of children attending UES and
hence the parents / carers who could be ‘enabled’
to challenge UES.

The changes in legislation concerning Home
Educated Children might provide an avenue to
identify these families at some point in the future
as might the application of the legal powers open
to safeguarding partners through the seeking of an
injunction.  The latter is yet to be tested.
Hackney’s new EHE procedures are clear on the
threshold for determining suitability and this
includes an element of a secular education (as
required by the DfE).

The DfE has published guidance for
parents/carers with the intention of developing
their understanding of the types of questions they
should ask proprietors of, and people offer OOSS.
This will be available via the OOSS App.

Hackney Education’s Elective Home Education
processes are now fully embedded. Every child on
our register will receive a home visit and a
curriculum suitability assessment within twelve
weeks of us receiving notification of their intent to
EHE.

9 Whilst it was broadly recognised that child
safeguarding must take a priority for the Council
and other regulatory bodies, there was widespread
recognition that specific issues with the curriculum
at yeshivas remained which could not be ignored
and not addressed given the marked differences in
educational attainment and the work and training
outcomes that result for the Orthodox Jewish
Community (particularly among males). It is the
belief of the Commission that there will be a

Engagement with registered Orthodox Jewish
schools continues from Hackney Education.

Hackney Education also continues to work with
partners on the issue of UES.  Whilst dialogue
continues and a clear offer of support / advice for
UES has been made by Hackney Education,
activity at present is primarily focused on
responding to UES under the CHSCP’s protocol.

There is no change from the January 2022 update.

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY

P
age 221



UES Inquiry Update Page 20 of 21

significant benefit for the Charedi Orthodox Jewish
community if English and STEM subjects (science,
technology, engineering and maths) were taught in
parallel with religious studies, and in advance of
likely changes to legislation. Specifications and
standards for any school curriculum, irrespective of
setting, are however determined and regulated by
the Department of Education and this is an area
over which the Council has no powers. In addition,
the Department of Education and Ofsted are
responsible for inspection, compliance and
enforcement of the curriculum quality and
standards within all educational settings. In this
context, the Commission recommend that the DfE
and Ofsted work with the Charedi Orthodox Jewish
Community to identify those processes which can
lead to a pathway to compliance for UES, in which
the curriculum taught is balanced, of sufficient
quality and provides outcomes for children which
enable them to achieve better outcomes for
themselves and their families. The Commission
recognises that the Council has no direct role here,
but recommends that the Council should facilitate
this work and help to move this issue forward
wherever possible.

1
0

The Commission noted that the Stamford Hill Area
Action Plan (AAP) is still in the process of
development and finalisation, and as such
represents an opportunity to address those
education and training issues identified for the
Orthodox Jewish Community within this review. It is
recommended therefore that the Council ensures
that the Stamford Hill AAP makes sufficient
provision in respect of:

The Stamford Hill Area Action Plan (AAP) is being
developed. The need for further school places and
community facilities is recognised in the plan.
Even though,  it is not possible to distinguish
between registered and unregistered provision
within planning policy, the AAP does include an
Informative on Safeguarding and Health & Safety
in Schools which sets out the need for new
schools to register with the Department for
Education and meet the requirements set out in

There is no change from the January 2022 update.

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY

P
age 222



UES Inquiry Update Page 21 of 21

Capacity of educational settings to deal with future
demand from the Orthodox Jewish community;

Availability of potential sites for registered
education settings;

Youth employment, training and apprenticeship
opportunities for young people in the areas,
particularly from the Orthodox Jewish community

the Independent Schools Standards. It also sets
out that if an existing school is looking to expand
or change their site they must notify the
Department for Education of a material change to
their existing registration.

The AAP’s approach to educational facilities is to
increase the capacity of existing educational
settings in a managed manner and to identify site
allocations that can accommodate flexible and
adaptable space to accommodate a wide range of
community needs, which could include educational
facilities.

OFFICIAL: HE report template - CURRENT v181114

LONDON BOROUGH OF HACKNEY

P
age 223



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission 

 January     16th     2023 

 Item     6     -     Outcome     of     School     Exclusions     Update 

 Item     No 

 6 
 Outline 
 In     response     to     high     rates     of     permanent     school     exclusions     in     Hackney,     the 
 Commission     undertook     a     review     of     the     Outcomes     of     School     Exclusion     which 
 reported     in     December     2021  .      The     review     made     18     recommendations     to     the     Council. 
 Responses     to     the     recommendations     were     approved     by  Cabinet     in     March     2022 

 The     Commission     agreed     to     review     progress     against     the     recommendations     9     months 
 after     agreement     by     Cabinet. 

 Reports 
 -  Outcome     of     School     Exclusions:     Review     Update 

 Attending: 
 -  Kate     Cracknell,     Head     of     Wellbeing     and     Education     Safeguarding 
 -  Paul     Senior,     Director     of     Education     and     Inclusion 
 -  Billy     Baker,     Lead     Officer     Pupils     Out     of     School 

Page 225

Agenda Item 6

https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s73176/Item%206a%20-%20Outcome%20from%20School%20Exclusions%20Report.pdf
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s75993/Appendix%201%20-%20Hackney%20Education%20response%20to%20the%20Scrutiny%20Report%20on%20School%20Exclusions%20%203.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Scrutiny Commission Report

Report Title Reducing School Exclusions - Update report

Meeting: Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission

Date: 16 January 2023

Report Author Katherine Cracknell, Acting Head of Wellbeing and Safeguarding in
Education

Report Authorised Jacquie Burke, Group Director, Children and Education

Report Summary
This report summarises the work undertaken by the Council and its partners towards
meeting the recommendations set out following the Commission’s review of school
exclusions in Hackney in December 2021.

These recommendations were agreed by Cabinet and published with Cabinet response in
March 2022. This report considers each of these recommendations in turn, and tracks the
Council’s progress against them.

In Hackney reducing exclusions and suspensions from school continues to be a key focus of
the Council’s work to ensure every child is able to be happy and achieve well.

The expansion of the early help offer for children (and families and schools) managing
social, emotional and mental health challenges that are placing them at risk of exclusion is
now complete and the Re-engagement Unit is fully functioning as a universal service.
Uptake has been excellent and the work becomes steadily stronger and more impactful as
relationships grow between the service, schools and families.

There has been a steady decline in exclusions since 2017 outside of the anomalous impact
of Covid-19, which has been informed by the work detailed in this report, as well as the “No
Y7 Exclusion” piece of work that was undertaken in Hackney Education from 2020-2022
(now subsumed within the universal early help offer).

Whilst exclusion figures are locally reported immediately, suspension data is not as reliably
available. When “Working Together to Improve School Attendance” guidance becomes
statutory no later than September 2023 the new duty on schools to report suspension data
immediately to the local authority will allow the Council to use this to inform a targeted
approach to not just individual schools, but individual children whom we identify as being at
risk of exclusion based on suspension data. Work is well underway to ensure that this
reporting function is established.

Disproportionality continues to be a challenge which the Council is committed to overcoming.
The coproduction of the Inclusion Charter with headteachers and senior leaders, will allow
for practical approaches across schools will support this work, as well as our clear thread of
actions in the joint anti racist action plan with Children and Education.

Page 227



Scrutiny Commission Report
Report title: Reducing School Exclusions - Update report
Meeting date: 16 January 2023
Report originator: Katherine Cracknell, Acting Head of Wellbeing & Education

Safeguarding

1. Purpose of the report
1.1. The Commission completed its review of school exclusions and published

recommendations in December 2021, these were agreed by Cabinet with the Cabinet
response published in March 2022.

1.2. The purpose of this report is to update the Commission on the progress made against
these recommendations since March 2022.

2. Recommendations
2.1. That the Commission notes there has been a steady decline in exclusions in Hackney

since 2017, independent of the impact of partial school closures due to Covid-19.

2.2. That the Commission recognises the shift towards developing inclusion, and not just a
reduction in exclusions is at the centre of all the progress that has been made.

2.3. That the Commission acknowledges progress has been made as a result of relational and
partnership working between school colleagues, partner organisations, the Council and
families.

2.4. That the Commission notes that this commitment to partnership working and to
meeting need as the community we serve experiences it, extends into a collaborative
leadership approach within our early help offer. Most notably with steering groups
made up of school colleagues, partnership service providers and of our families.

2.5. That the Commission notes the targeted response to schools and settings that
contribute disproportionately to exclusion and suspension figures.

2.6. That the Commission notes that when “Working Together to Improve School
Attendance” guidance becomes statutory, the Council will be able to co-ordinate a
targeted response both on an individual basis and systems approach to the whole
school, to high incidence of suspension.

2.7. That the Commission notes the Council’s recognition of disproportionality in our
exclusions to be an ongoing challenge, even within the recent decline in exclusion
figures. The coproduction of the Inclusion Charter with headteachers and senior
leaders, will allow for practical approaches across schools.  Working with schools on
their anti-racist action plans further supports this area of work.

2.8. That the Commission notes the Council’s work towards tackling this disproportionality
with a clear thread of actions in the joint anti racist action plan with Children and
Education, contributes towards improving the outcomes of black children and young
people.  The ongoing work with the second phase of the Hackney Diverse Curriculum
is also pivotal in children from the black diaspora seeing themselves in the curriculum
through a different lens.

2.9. That the Commission is assured that progress is steady and will continue to be, with
clear next steps and lines of accountability.

Page 228



Scrutiny Commission Report
3. Background
3.1. Reducing exclusions was a strategic priority for Hackney Education in its 2019-2022

improvement plan.

3.2. It remains a priority in the 2022-2025 improvement plan under ‘Working with schools,
settings and partners in promoting wellbeing and inclusion for every child (including
provision for children with SEND in mainstream schools, reducing exclusions,
anti-racism and recovery from Covid)’

3.3. Permanent exclusions declined significantly during the pandemic with only six
permanent exclusions from Hackney secondary schools in 2020/21. There were no
permanent exclusions from Hackney primary schools.

3.4. Whilst nationally there was also a reduction in permanent exclusions as a
consequence of the pandemic the fall in Hackney was steeper and took the local
percentage rate below that of the comparable rates for England, Inner London and the
majority of our statistical neighbours.

3.5. The low number of permanent exclusions in 2020/21 was not sustained into 2021/22.
However, it has not returned to pre-pandemic levels.

3.6. The provisional locally reported data for 2021/22 shows that there were 34 permanent
exclusions from Hackney secondary schools. If confirmed then this is lower than the
52 permanent exclusions there were in 2017/18 and 44 permanent exclusions there
were in 2018/19.

3.7. Data suggests that there has been a 35% decrease in exclusions for Hackney
secondary schools between 2017/18 and 2021/22, with a 23% decline in exclusions for
Hackney secondary schools between 2018/19 and 2021/22.

3.8. This data remains provisional and unvalidated at this stage.

3.9. Of those 34 children excluded in 21/22, Black and Global Majority children continue to
be disproportionately represented. Children from a Black heritage background
accounted for 52% of our permanent exclusions and around 32% of our Hackney
school population.

3.10. The reduction compared to pre-pandemic numbers has been entirely a reduction in the
number of boys being permanently excluded, with the number of girls remaining
largely static. Girls now represent 50% of our permanent excursions, whereas
pre-pandemic it was between 25% and 35%.

Page 229



Scrutiny Commission Report
3.11. The number of permanent exclusions broken down by ethnicity and gender:

3.12. Of these 34 permanent exclusions 5 had education, health and care plans (EHCPs/
15%), 18 were on SEND Support (53%) and 11 had no identified SEND (32%) .

3.13. 27 (79%) of the permanent exclusions were for pupils in Key Stage 3, with just 7 in
Key Stage 4.

3.14. The number of permanent exclusions would appear to be on a lower trajectory than
pre-pandemic levels, though not sufficiently low to state with confidence that we are
sustaining a reduction in permanent exclusions compared to pre-pandemic levels.

3.15. Local data suggests that there were thirteen exclusions in the Autumn term 22/23.

3.16. Seven of these children are from a Black ethnic background (58%).

3.17. One has an EHCP, and 2 are receiving SEND Support.

3.18. One of these exclusions was open to the Re-engagement Unit (REU) at the time,
however the case had only been referred four days previously.

3.19. According to our most recent published data, children in Hackney primary schools are
less likely to be suspended or excluded than children attending schools nationally. This
applies regardless of ethnicity or SEND.

3.20. Children at Hackney secondary schools are more likely to be suspended compared to
the rate for children attending schools nationally.

3.21. Secondary age White British children are less likely to be suspended from their
Hackney school compared to peers nationally.  Whereas those from Black and Mixed
heritage backgrounds are more likely to be.

3.22. As well as disproportionality in respect of ethnicity there are differences in suspension
rates for children either on EHCPs or eligible for free school meals (FSM) in Hackney
secondary schools.

3.23. This suggests that ethnicity, poverty and SEN could be viewed as intersectional factors
and drivers for suspension and exclusion.

Page 230



Scrutiny Commission Report
4. Commission recommendations with progress update
4.1.   The commission’s recommendations along with a progress update as of December

2022 can be found in Appendix A to this report. Please see this appendix for full
details.

5. Recommendation 1
5.1. A report covering the range of data set out in this recommendation is now produced for

the Commission annually.

5.2. The optimum time for this report was felt to be in the Autumn term of each academic
year and the most recent report was presented on 31/10/22 and can be found here.

5.3. Data around suspensions and exclusions is a key part of providing a targeted
response as part of an informed plan to reduce exclusions.

5.4. Significant work has been undertaken by Hackney Education to move all of our
schools towards sharing data electronically with the LA.

5.5. This has taken a variety of forms due to the different IT packages used across schools,
however we are on track to have successfully completed this for 60 out of the 79
schools.

5.6. Of the 19 remaining, 6 schools have said they do not wish to share data in this way,
and work to bring the remaining 13 schools on board with this process is ongoing.

5.7. “Working Together to Improve School Attendance” guidance will become statutory at
the start of the next academic year at the latest and there will be a duty on all schools
to provide the local authority with live, up to date attendance data.

5.8. The Council will be able to co-ordinate a targeted response both on an individual basis
and systems approach to the whole school, to high incidence of suspension.

6. Recommendations 2, 3 and 6
6.1. The principles of the inclusive school are commonplace across Hackney schools and

are consistently reiterated through the work of partnership forums, head teacher and
SENCO forum meetings, through the work of the Hackney Schools Group Board and
also targeted communications.

6.2. The Re-engagement Unit (REU) is focused on delivering systemic change and
developing inclusive practice, not just reducing exclusions.

6.3. 45 Schools have now been trained in Attachment and Trauma. The schools new to the
WAMHS project will be targeted to receive this training in the coming year.

6.4. All but one school have now joined the WAMHS programme, which has been running
in most schools for four years. The work focuses on systemic change, including better
understanding of children’s behaviour.

6.5. The School Improvement team continues to offer two sessions a year of training to
School Governors on Wellbeing and how governors ensure the development of
emotional, mental health and wellbeing of children.

6.6. To further support schools in developing a graduated response to identifying,
assessing and meeting the needs of pupils, the Team Around the School (TAS) model
was formally launched this term.

6.7. TAS is supported by multi-agency planning meetings to ensure the right support at the
right time is provided to children to allow all learners an equitable access to education
and emotional wellbeing.

Page 231

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1f5WAzJ7bnwprb4N4uT8GBQoBV1gCWrzL_YadKzbCg6U/edit
https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/469/
https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/469/


Scrutiny Commission Report
6.8. The Behaviour and Wellbeing Partnership continues to meet with very high levels of

attendance.

6.8.1. Recent areas that have been explored include:

6.8.1.1. Early Help Hub offer

6.8.1.2. Re-engagement Unit universal offer

6.8.1.3. Ofsted inspection of behaviour and personal development

6.8.1.4. Developing partnerships with voluntary organisations to support
families

6.8.1.5. Extending the 0-5 multi-agency team around families, to children 0-19
years, to  provide targeted, coordinated and monitored family intervention
to families who would benefit from early help.

6.9    Targeted support for high excluding schools is being provided through the Director of
Education and the School Improvement Service.

6.10  A specific special educational needs co-ordinator (SENCO) forum session focused on
social, emotional and mental health (SEMH) and Behaviour Policies was offered to all
schools during 21/22 and will continue to be a theme during 22/23.

7. Recommendation  4
7.1. A range of targeted forums, meetings and training activity was facilitated,

commissioned and delivered by Hackney Education in recent months to support
implementation of this recommendation. Examples include targeted activity with a
focus on school governors and strengthened information, advice and guidance to
education system personnel.

7.2. The SENDIAS (special educational needs and disabilities information and advice
service) has increased their capacity and capability for engaging and working with
parents and carers in this regard.

7.3. The education,health and care (EHC) Caseworker team has seen a significant
increase in capacity in the size of establishment, leading to reduced caseloads per
member of the service and a greater capacity to engage with parents and carers and
progress EHC plans within the required 20 week timescale.

8. Recommendation  5 and 8
8.1. The successful expansion of the Re-engagement Unit to provide a universal offer of

SEMH support to all schools was completed by August 2022

8.2. The REU was launched to all schools in September 2022, as planned

8.3. To date, the REU has received 107 referrals

8.4. The REU referral data reflects our exclusions data proportionally, suggesting our
schools are identifying risk profiles effectively

8.5. 90% of our referrals for secondary schools are from KS3, and around 45% of all
referrals are girls

8.6. Children from a Black heritage background make up around 50% of local referrals

8.7. 20% of our referrals have an EHCP in place at point of referral, and 70% qualify for
pupil premium grant

Page 232



Scrutiny Commission Report
8.8. The REU reaches out to local high excluding schools on a termly basis to link them

into the wider SEMH offer

8.9. In commitment to collaborative leadership and accountability, the REU reports against
their key performance indicators (KPIs) to several steering committees made up of
primary headteachers, secondary headteachers and partner agencies

8.10. The REU also runs regular family groups where performance data is shared

8.11. The family groups and steering committees feedback is used to feed into our
improvement cycle

8.12. Half yearly and annual impact reports are scheduled to be produced and shared at
Reducing Exclusions Board meeting and with partners

8.13. The REU offers families and schools:

8.13.1. Fast responsive support for children families and teachers

8.13.2. A dedicated worker who works flexibly, in schools and in the family home

8.13.3. Multi disciplinary expertise from a range of professionals including teachers,
clinicians and social workers

8.13.4. Access to a discreet CAMHS unit, staffed by CAMHS clinicians

8.14.  The REU and EH Hub have embedded comms processes, with joint attendance at
team  meetings on a regular cycle and co-ordinated support provided to families where
it is needed.

9. Recommendation 7
9.1. Schools are required to undertake and record a safeguarding assessment on their

exclusion paperwork

9.2. On receipt of an exclusion all appropriate partners are notified (including Children and
Families Services, New Regents College, Re-engagement Unit, Youth Justice Team,
Virtual School)

9.3. Upon receipt of this notification, relevant professionals share information which
facilitates an accurate and relevant risk assessment and assessment of need to be
undertaken with the receiving pupil referral unit (New Regents College/ NRC)

10. Recommendations 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14 and 15
10.1. Hackney Education is a member of a five borough partnership that quality assures

alternative provision collaboratively. Coordinators for alternative provision from
different London areas meet each term to oversee this process. Activities are based on
a shared quality assurance framework, co-produced by all partners.

10.2. Hackney Education is the only borough that provides direct representation from school
performance and improvement at these meetings. An officer has been assigned to carry out
this function.

10.3. The schedule of visits is organised by NRC staff. Going forward, agreement in principle
has been reached, to streamline the process. It will include school performance and
improvement and, where appropriate, other Hackney Education staff, such as SEND.
Quality assurance activities usually carried out by a host partner and a visiting partner
seeing provision first hand, onsite at an individual provision.

10.4. A database has been created that brings together quality assurance judgements. Work
is underway to incorporate the annual directory of  local providers of alternative
pathways for 14-19 year olds, into this database, which will be shared across Hackney

Page 233



Scrutiny Commission Report
Education and with key partners, particularly New Regents College (NRC).

10.5. Hackney Education’s Commissioning intentions for excluded pupils and pupils with
SEMH difficulties is to be piloted at NRC.

10.6. A revised Service Level Agreement (SLA) based on a shared vision for NRC, in line
with our SEND Strategy 2022-25 and its underpinning six principles, has been tabled

10.7. Outcomes and destination data for our children attending alternative provisions is
monitored by Hackney Education and NRC with mechanisms to identify where
additional support is required. This includes liaison with external partners e.g.
Children’s Social Care.

10.8. A taskforce to oversee the strategy to ensure that there are robust systems in place to
plan, coordinate and deliver effective welfare support equally to all children in
alternative provision irrespective of its location, is in place and will begin work in
January 2023.

10.9. Regular joint meetings that bring together school performance and improvement,
SEND and Wellbeing and Education Safeguarding help embed the concept of
alternative provisions being seen and recognised as integral, active parts of the local
system.

11. Recommendation 16, 17 and 18
11.1. It is proposed that rather than a separate Hackney Education Anti-racist Action plan

that an integrated children, families and education plan for this focus is brought
forward as part of a corporate Hackney Council plan to ensure necessary synergies
are in place.

11.2. Work towards this shared plan is already in progress.

11.3. The appointment of a Systems Leader for Diversity and Inclusion will ensure that work
around ensuring every child achieves in education is led with a firm focus on anti
racism and delivering equitable opportunity for all children

11.4. The Systems Leader for Diversity and Inclusion will lead on the planning, development
and embedding of an Inclusion Charter amongst our Hackney schools, and this action
plan is progressing

11.5. Stakeholder engagement is underway with the Inclusion Charter, with a particular
focus on hearing the voice of our parents and families.

11.6. The ongoing work of the Inclusion charter, the recent anti - racism symposiums, guest
speakers with regional and national level reputations for excellence in promoting anti-
racism best practice  are some of the examples of progress recently made.

12. Conclusion
12.1. As part of serving our community, Hackney Education remains committed to

developing an inclusive approach and providing services to our borough that are
informed by community and partnership engagement

12.2. The downward trajectory in exclusions since 2017/18 should be seen in the context of

12.2.1. Commitment from our school community to create more inclusive learning
environments

12.2.2. This commitment is underpinned by the work of the School Improvement
Team monitoring exclusions with school leaders, and work to shift views
around “behaviour”

Page 234



Scrutiny Commission Report
12.2.3. A targeted piece of work across 20/21 and 21/22 to minimise exclusions in

Year 7

12.2.4. WAMHS and the trauma informed training package led by the Virtual School

12.2.5. Work of the Hackney Education Exclusions team working with schools to plan
and implement alternatives to exclusion

12.3. Data suggests that a relatively small number of schools (both in the primary and
secondary phase) are responsible for the majority of Hackney’s suspensions and
exclusions

12.4. The targeted response to these schools has begun this academic year

12.5. The REU has begun to address a gap in our family and school facing early help
support to promote inclusion

12.6. Referrals to the REU look to be well-identified and they focus on children who profile
as likely to be pushed out of being able to achieve well and be happy both in school
and in a wider societal sense

12.7. An exclusion crisis response is being drawn up to look to bring a more holistic,
child-centred response to children who are at immediate risk of exclusion following a
one-off incident

12.8. This crisis response should be used less and less frequently as better access to early
help is embedded and our families and schools receive the right help at the right time

12.9. Progress around drawing alternative provisions inline with our expectations of schools
are moving forwards with some outcomes in place already, particularly around
strengthening our quality assurance process

12.10. No later than September 2023 “Working Together to Improve School Attendance”
guidance will become statutory, the Council will be able to co-ordinate a targeted
response both on an individual basis and systems approach to the whole school, to
high incidence of suspension

12.11. This targeted response will work alongside the current process around exclusions,
and will allow us to effect greater change on a individual basis

12.12. Hackney Education is demonstrably part of the wider council and specifically
Children and Families' Services through their shared action planning

Report originator:
Katherine Cracknell, Acting Head of Wellbeing & Education Safeguarding

Other contributors:
Name Designation Section

Billy Baker Principal Officer Pupils Out of School Team

Paul Senior Interim Director of Education & Inclusion Hackney Education

Anton Francic Principal Secondary Adviser School Performance & Improvement

Helena Burke Leadership & Management Advisor School Performance & Improvement

Debra Robinson Systems Leader for Diversity and Inclusion Hackney Education

Page 235



Scrutiny Commission Report

Nick Wilson Interim Head of High Needs and School
Places

Hackney Education

Nick Corker Headteacher of the Virtual School Hackney Education

Date: 03/01/2023

Cleared by:
Jacquie Burke, Group Director, Children and Education
Paul Senior, Interim Director of Education and Inclusion

Page 236



Scrutiny Commission Report
Appendix A

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

Recommendation 1

That school exclusion data is
published and reviewed annually
by the Children & Young People
Scrutiny Commission.  This
annual review will require
Hackney Education Service to
publish demographic data (age,
gender, ethnicity) on:

a) the number of permanent
and fixed term school
exclusions;

b) the number of ‘managed
moves’ to other schools;

c) the number of children
moving to (and totals
within) Elective Home
Education; and

d) the number of children
receiving education
through Alternative
Provision

e) Other unexplained pupil
exits from school.

Hackney Education Service
should continue to monitor and
review the level of all exclusions
and ‘unexplained’ pupil exits, and
to provide challenge to school

Hackney Education agrees with
this recommendation in full: the
significant part of this
recommendation is already
standard practice for the service.

Hackney Education holds data
on the number of exclusions,
managed moves, children being
electively home educated and
attending alternative provision.

Roll movement is monitored
annually and where the level of
roll movement in a school is a
concern, the School
Improvement team investigates
that with the school.

Hackney Education provided a
report to the Commission on this
topic in May 2021.

A report covering the range of
data set out here will now be
produced for the Commission
annually. The optimum time for
such a report would be in the
Autumn term of each academic

Katherine Cracknell
Acting Head of Wellbeing and
Safeguarding in Education

A report covering the range of
data set out in this
recommendation is now
produced for the Commission
annually. The optimum time for
such a report was felt to be in the
Autumn term of each academic
year, and the most recent report
of this kind was presented on
31st October 2022. You can
access that report here.

Roll movement is monitored
annually and where the level of
roll movement in a school is a
concern, the School
Improvement team continues to
investigate that with the school.

Data is produced and provided
externally in alignment with
reporting timelines set by the
Department for Education (DfE).

Additionally, school-level
exclusion reports are provided to
schools annually, along with the
Risk of NEETs (Not in Education,
Employment or Training) report
that includes exclusion data
alongside a range of other

P
age 237

https://docs.google.com/document/d/100B5wrjbsMMMwUR79CCIL5JE9QftEs5IrGi7mNjj5iw/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1f5WAzJ7bnwprb4N4uT8GBQoBV1gCWrzL_YadKzbCg6U/edit


Scrutiny Commission Report

leaders where this exceeds
locally agreed thresholds

year. Data will be produced and
provided externally in alignment
with reporting timelines set by the
Department for Education (DfE).

Additionally, school-level
exclusion reports are provided to
schools annually, along with the
Risk of NEETs (Not in Education,
Employment or Training) report
that includes exclusion data
alongside a range of other
contextual information, and which
goes to secondary schools
annually. Risks of NEETs reports
are also shared across the
Children & Families teams,
including the Virtual School.

Hackney Education is looking to
secure agreement from all
schools to share data
electronically with the local
authority (LA).

contextual information, and which
goes to secondary schools
annually. Risks of NEETs reports
are also shared across the
Children & Families teams,
including the Virtual School.

Significant work has been
undertaken by Hackney
Education to move all of our
schools towards sharing data
electronically with LA. This has
taken a variety of forms due to
the different IT packages used
across schools, however we are
on track to have successfully
completed this for 60 out of the
79 schools. Of the 19 remaining,
6 schools have said they do not
wish to share data in this way,
and work to bring the remaining
13 schools on board with this
process is ongoing.

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

Recommendation 2

1) It is recommended that the
Council reaffirms
commitment to the
principles, purpose and

Hackney Education agrees with
this recommendation in full: this
inclusive approach is already
policy and practice for the service

Paul Senior
Interim Director of Education

These principles are
commonplace across Hackney
schools and are consistently
reiterated through the work of
partnership forums, head teacher
and SENCO forum meetings,

P
age 238



Scrutiny Commission Report

value of the ‘inclusive school’
in which schools are actively
supported to help maintain
children’s placements in
mainstream education
particularly in relation to:
a) The maintenance of a

broad and balanced
curriculum which keeps
children and young
people engaged and
motivated with learning
and school life and
culture, and which
recognises the needs of
those children with SEND
and or other learning
challenges.

b) The maintenance of a
positive and inclusive
Behaviour Management
Policy which is reflective,
and which aims to identify
and address young
people’s unmet needs (as
detailed in Rec 3)

c) A broad programme of
behavioural, emotional
and wellbeing support is
provided as a wraparound
service provided in
tandem with other
statutory (CAMHS,
SEND) and other

and the recommendation outlines
a development of this.

Hackney Education and the lead
members for Education will
review and recommit to their
statement encompassing the aim
for schools in Hackney to be
inclusive, including the role of the
broad and balanced curriculum,
recognising the needs of children
with SEND (Special Educational
Needs and Disabilities) and/or
other learning challenges.

Hackney Education will revisit the
Hackney guidance (produced
November 2019) on behaviour
policies, including these
underlying principles, and how
these will be executed within
primary and secondary settings.
This will be reviewed in
partnership with schools and
disseminated to settings. This
guidance will affirm the
importance of identifying and
addressing unmet needs of
children and young people.

Hackney Education will further
develop a recognition system for
schools, showing excellent
practice in inclusion.

through the work of the Hackney
Schools Group Board and
targeted communications.

Other examples include the work
of the SEND strategy which has
already been shared with the
Scrutiny Committee, along with
the framework of activity
associated with the SEND
partnership and governance
arrangements and with
stakeholder organisations subject
to scrutiny through regular
interfaces with Ofsted for schools
and local authority leadership.P

age 239



Scrutiny Commission Report

providers (e.g. Young
Hackney, WAMHS and
other early help services).

d) A local education system
which rightly celebrates
inclusion alongside
educational achievement
and progress;

e) Ensure that inclusion is
reflected in the training
and support provided to
Governors.

2) It is recommended that a
conference for schools, colleges
and alternative provision to
support policies and practices
which promote inclusivity.

This will generate a list of
schools with best practice in key
areas of inclusion, relationships,
behaviour management and the
principles of inclusive practice.

SIPs (School Improvement
Partners)  and other partners,
through their regular visits, will
support schools to
implement/quality assure a
differentiated, challenging,
relevant and stimulating
curriculum for all groups of
pupils.

The Children and Education
team, working with New Regent’s
College and WAMHS (Wellbeing
and Mental Health in Schools
project), will develop a cohesive
early help approach which
complements the early help and
supportive work provided by
schools.

The Re-engagement Unit offers
SEMH (Social Emotional and
Mental Health) support,
promoting, modelling and
embedding inclusive practice in
commissioning primary schools.
It has an embedded CAMHS
(Child and Adolescent Mental

In 2022-23, The School
Improvement Partner programme
continued to explore elements of
SEND practice.

In the autumn visit, SEND
practice was explored with a view
to looking more closely at
curriculum adaptation later on. In
the autumn term, this included
conversations with pupils with
SEND about their learning to
help schools understand their
impact.P

age 240



Scrutiny Commission Report

Health Services) clinician in its
operational model, allowing for
direct CAMHS work with children,
families and schools, as well as
clinical oversight within the team
as a whole and strong integration
between the services. The plan
to expand this service to offer
further support across all school
phases is under consideration
currently, with a view to this
being delivered in September
2022.

The WAMHS programme will
continue its work with partner
schools in helping them become
settings that support young
people’s mental health and
wellbeing through their ethos,
leadership and inclusive
approaches to behaviour.
CAMHS clinicians in schools will
build capacity in early
identification and early help
among school staff. Provision of
WAMHS support for those
schools without CAMHS workers
will be developed.

Hackney Education will continue
to support schools to implement
best practice in transition from
primary to secondary school. A

Local area partnership planning
activity is underway to progress
local implementation of the work
of the SEND and alternative
provision green paper with a
focus on optimising inclusive
policy and practices.

P
age 241



Scrutiny Commission Report

primary/secondary transition
policy is due to be published
Spring 2022.

Training for school staff and
aspiring school staff on inclusion
and supporting pupils with SEND
will be provided, and knowledge
and experience of these issues
will be included as recommended
areas of expertise in the
recruitment advice we provide to
schools.

Inclusion is a key theme in
governor training: this will
continue with a particular
emphasis on reaching governors
and trustees of all Hackney
schools.

With regards to the second part
of this recommendation, a
conference will be held in Spring
2023 to promote inclusivity.

A new transition protocol was
published and shared with
schools in April 2022 with very
clear guidance sections for pupils
at risk of suspension/exclusion.

P
age 242



Scrutiny Commission Report

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

Recommendation 3

To help identify and extend best
practice in positive behaviour
management it is recommended
that:

a) Hackney Education Service
establishes a conference for
schools, colleges and alternative
provision which can explore the
principles and best practice
applications of positive behaviour
management strategies and the
benefits this confers for an
inclusive school.

b) That Hackney Education
Service works with local schools
in auditing local school policies in
particular school behaviour
policies to ensure that these are
inclusive, comply with equalities
duties, do not disproportionately
impact on certain groups and
make necessary adjustments for
young people with SEND

Hackney Education agrees with
this recommendation in full: this
approach is underway.

Hackney Education and partners
will affirm the key principles
underpinning an inclusive school/
behaviour policy e.g. restorative,
trauma informed, solution
focused. These principles are to
be promoted by all services and
included in relevant support,
guidance and training.

The Behaviour and Wellbeing
Partnership of secondary schools
will continue to develop and
share best practice in
understanding young people’s
behaviour and supporting their
wellbeing.

In their programme of visits,
school improvement partners will
look at behaviour policies and
highlight where rates of exclusion
are well above local and national
figures, and where
disproportionality is entrenched.
They will encourage school
leaders, governors and trustees
to regularly examine whether

Helena Burke
Leadership and Management
Advisor
School Improvement Team

The key principles document has
not yet been revisited. However,
trauma informed approaches are
being promoted across services
within Hackney Children and
Education. The training
programme is being further
promoted.

The Behaviour and Wellbeing
Partnership continues to meet
with very high levels of
attendance and engagement.
Recent areas explored have
included presentations on; the
Early Help Hub offer, the
expanded REU offer, Ofsted
inspection of behaviour and
personal development,
developing partnerships with
voluntary groups to support
parents and families.

All school improvement partner
(SIP) 1 visits to secondary
schools this term have included
sharing information on exclusion
rates and discussion of
comparison to national and local.
Additional meetings have taken
place with schools with higher
levels of exclusion with the

P
age 243



Scrutiny Commission Report

approaches are really working to
ensure that more students are
included.

Best practice from Hackney
schools on helping pupils
affected by the lack of
socialisation during Covid-19 and
tackling the impacts on their
social, emotional and mental
wellbeing will be shared.

WAMHS forums and universal
training will continue to be offered
to all schools to share best
practice in understanding young
people’s behaviour.

With regard to recommendation
3b, opportunities will be identified
for Hackney and other partners to
review behaviour policies in
primary and secondary schools.

The SENCO (Special
Educational Needs and
Disabilities Coordinator) forum
will include training sessions
regarding the inclusion of SEND
pupils in the school approach to
managing behaviour.

The ‘Exclusion Review’ process
will be offered to additional

Director of Education.
Best practice continues to be
shared through Headteacher,
Deputy Head and other leaders
meetings. Head teachers visited
three secondary schools as a
group to share best practice.

WAMHS action plans include
focus on understanding
behaviour, working more closely
with parents and student voice to
promote wellbeing and inclusion.

Exclusion reviews have taken
place in two schools and will be
offered to others in 2023.

A specific SENCO forum session
focused on SEMH and Behaviour
Policies was offered to all
schools during 21/22 and will
continue to be a theme during
22/23.

P
age 244



Scrutiny Commission Report

secondary schools to help them
understand best practice in their
individual context to reduce
exclusions.

Guidance for behaviour policies
will include links to teaching and
learning and personal
development.

A conference will be held in
Spring 2023 to promote
inclusivity.

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

Recommendation 4

a) It is recommended that
Hackney Education
Service continue to:

- Ensure that Schools
leaders and Governing
Bodies continue to be
aware of their equalities
duties and that necessary
adjustments are put in
place for young people
with SEND;

- Should review the support
available to local
SENCO’s and ensure that

Hackney Education
agrees with this
recommendation in full:
this approach is
underway.

a) - Inclusion and equalities
are discussed regularly at
the governors forum and
governors are informed of
their responsibility and
ways to support and
challenge schools in this
work. Hackney Education
already offers training
which focuses on the

Paul Senior
Interim Director of Education

A range of targeted forums,
meetings and training activity
facilitated, commissioned and
delivered by Hackney Education
in recent months to support
implementation of this
recommendation. Examples
include targeted activity with a
focus on school governors and
strengthened information, advice
and guidance to education
system personnel.

P
age 245



Scrutiny Commission Report

there is supporting
infrastructure linking them
to local SEND and
CAMHS services;

- Ensure that there are
appropriate systems for
reviewing and keeping
EHCPs up to date

b) It is recommended that
additional advice, information
and guidance is provided for
parents of children with SEND
who are seeking alternative or
specialist provision for their child.

Hackney Young Black
Men Initiative –
understanding Cultural
Competency, Racial
Identity and Unconscious
Bias. We will now also
offer specific training on
Equality Duties, and
ensure we make Equality
Duties a feature in all
training sessions.

- SENCO Forums are run
regularly and include
advice and guidance
around inclusion. The
new SEND operating
model will allow for further
targeted support on a
locality basis which will
further signpost, advise
and guide SENCOs.

- The new operating
model will allow for
greater transparency,
oversight and guidance
around reviewing and
keeping EHCPs
(Educational Health and
Care Plans) up to date.

- Additional capacity is
being created in the

The SENDIAS (special
educational needs and
disabilities information and
advice service has increased
their capacity and capability for
engaging and working with
parents and carers in this regard.

The EHC Caseworker team has
seen a significant increase in
capacity in the size of
establishment, leading to
reduced caseloads per member
of the service and a greater
capacity to engage with parents
and carers and progress EHC
plans within the required 20 week
timescale.

P
age 246

https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/468
https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/468
https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/468
https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/468
https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/468
https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/468


Scrutiny Commission Report

SEND Service to support
EHC planning.

- Joint work across the
Children and Education
Directorate to form
children and family hubs,
alongside a central early
help hub, will ensure
greater linking between
referrals for behaviour
which could be an
indicator of any one or a
combination of mental
health issues, learning
difficulties or emotional
distress.

b) - Work is going on to
strengthen the
SENDIAGS (Hackney
SEND Information,
Advice & Guidance
Service) offer to
parents/carers.

P
age 247



Scrutiny Commission Report

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

Recommendation 5

It is recommended that Hackney
Education Service should
support the development of a
third party intervention in
secondary schools similar to the
Re-Engagement Unit which is
already established to support
primary settings.  This
intervention could be piloted with
a number of participating
secondary schools:

a) To assess the efficacy of
this approach in providing
coordinated early
intervention support to
children at risk of
exclusion to reduce the
risk and incidence of
school exclusion;

b) To link with Young
Hackney and other early
help support;

c) To assess how such
service can be financially
viable as either directly
commissioned service

Hackney Education agrees with
this recommendation in full: this
approach is underway.

The secondary arm of the REU
(Re-engagement Unit) support
has been in various stages of its
pilot since September 2019.
There is a universal (although
limited) offer in 21/22 and a
proposal for
significant expansion has been
agreed, which will bring the level
of support available in line with
our primary offer.

Efficacy is assessed via our
quality assurance cycle, and this
informs our service development
and ongoing learning.

Established links with Young
Hackney, WAMHS and other
early help support are being
strengthened within the
secondary landscape through
joint working, shared support
plans and regular multi agency
TACs (Teams Around the Child):
this is also part of the REU
approach.

Katherine Cracknell
Acting Head of Wellbeing and
Safeguarding in Education

Nick Wilson
Interim Head of High Needs and
School Places

There has been a full expansion
of the Re-engagement Unit
(REU) completed to the agreed
timeline - the service became
universally available to all
schools in Hackney in September
2022. All are now able to access:
-fast, responsive support for
children, families and teachers
-worker who work flexibly, in
schools and in the family home
-multi-disciplinary expertise from
a range of professionals
including teachers, clinicians and
social workers
-CAMHS input

There is a robust QA process
which includes reporting lines to:
-Council partner agencies
-Secondary senior leaders
-Primary senior leaders
-Parents’ groups
Agreed KPIs are reported on and
feedback from the stakeholders
is used to develop and improve
service provision.

Half yearly and annual impact
reports are produced and shared
at Reducing Exclusions Board
Meeting

P
age 248



Scrutiny Commission Report

(via the high needs
budget) or as a traded
service to schools.

Hackney Education has affirmed
funding of the extension of the
REU by repurposing some of the
High Needs Budget.

Strong links are embedded
between the REU and the EH
Hub, with joint attendance at
team meetings on a regular cycle
and co-ordinated support
provided to families where it is
needed.

A permanent MASH Education
Officer post has been agreed
(following a FTC for the previous
academic year). This post
provides an Education specific
link within MASH, feeding into
the Early Help Hub and
strengthening the consistency
and impact of our narrative and
advice for schools around key
areas such as attendance.

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

P
age 249



Scrutiny Commission Report

Recommendation 6
It is recommended that the
Education Service and wider
Council places a trauma-based
approach at the centre of its
approach to tackling school
exclusions.  As part of this
approach, it is suggested that:

a) School leaders, teaching
staff and Governors are
provided with training to
further understand
adverse childhood
experiences and
vulnerability to develop
and support trauma
informed practice.

b) School leaders (including
those within alternative
provision) should be
encouraged to share
learning in supporting
vulnerable young people
to help develop and
extend good practice in a
trauma informed
approach.

Hackney Education agrees with
this recommendation in full: this
approach is underway.

With regards to recommendation
6a, a one day conference was
provided for 200 schools and
settings’ staff on Trauma
Informed practice in February
2019.

40 members of Hackney
Education staff have been
trained in Trauma Informed
practice. Training is offered to
schools free of charge and in a
format that suits them. A total of
27 sessions have taken place so
far. This work is ongoing and
schools continue to be
encouraged to take up this offer.

All schools were offered whole
school training provided by Kate
Cairns Associates, and 6 schools
have taken up this offer.

A one hour webinar was
commissioned and provided to all
schools in relation to Trauma and
the pandemic in the summer of
2020 and supported discussions
were provided on request.

Nick Corker
Headteacher of the Virtual
School

45 Schools have now been
trained in Attachment and
Trauma. The schools new to the
WAMHs project will be targeted
to receive this training in the
coming year.

All but one school have now
joined the WAMHS programme.

We continue to support and
encourage a Whole School
Approach to wellbeing and
mental health, developing all staff
members’ capacity to recognise
the signs of distress and to know
how to act in this capacity.

To further support schools in
developing a graduated response
to identifying, assessing and
meeting the needs of pupils, the
Team Around the School model
was formally launched this term.
This is supported by termly
Multi-Agency Planning meetings
where external professionals and
school staff meet together to
share information and agree
plans for children causing
concern in the school.
The Childhood, Adversity,
Trauma and Resilience
Programme (ChATR) has been

P
age 250



Scrutiny Commission Report

The Childhood Adversity, Trauma
and Resilience Programme
(CHATR) works in the City of
London and Hackney to reduce
the risk and impact of childhood
adversity and trauma, and give
children the best possible
opportunity for a healthy future.
Training for professionals has
been developed and a portal of
resources is available to all.
Training for perinatal staff has
been delivered and this work led
to the piloting of trauma-informed
approaches to Child Protection
Conferences to enable
professionals to understand how
parents’ past trauma might
impact their current behaviour,
and how best to support them to
break the cycle of trauma by
supporting their children to build
resilience.

The 76 schools in the borough
are part of the WAMHS
programme and have access to
clinicians and training around
attachment-aware practice.

Governors are offered training on
Wellbeing and how governors
ensure the development of
emotional, mental health and

dormant over the pandemic
period but is now re-launching
with a renewed focus.  The target
audience for this workforce
development is health and local
authority. Attachment Aware
Hackney is working closely with
the ChATR team to ensure
alignment.

Hackney Education continues to
offer two sessions  a year of
training to School Governors on
Wellbeing and how governors
ensure the development of
emotional, mental health and
wellbeing of children.  However,
this has historically experienced
a poor take-up and the last
session was cancelled for this
reason.

Through all of this work Hackney
Education are supporting school
staff to develop their ability to
recognise needs together with
their knowledge and
understanding of different ways
to meet these identified needs.

P
age 251

https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/469/
https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/469/
https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/469/
https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/469/
https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/469/
https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/469/
https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/469/


Scrutiny Commission Report

wellbeing of children. We
recognise the need to bring a
greater focus to governors'
understanding of adverse
childhood experiences and
vulnerability.

Guidance was sent out in
Autumn 2019 to all schools to
support them to review their
behaviour policies with an
Attachment and Trauma lens.

Going forward, Hackney
Education will re-run Attachment
and Trauma training; we will
focus SIPs, advisers and
consultants onto monitoring how
settings and schools are using
this provision.

With regards to recommendation
6b, best practice in attachment
and trauma will be shared via
networks and symposia.

P
age 252

https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/469/
https://www.hackneyservicesforschools.co.uk/sites/default/files/document/Behaviour%20advice%20from%20HLT%20-%20for%20reviewing%20behaviour%20policies%20fv%2012-11-19.pdf?dm_i=6NIJ,EEGX,2BNGWO,1QH0G,1


Scrutiny Commission Report

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

Recommendation 7
It is recommended that Hackney
Education Service, with City &
Hackney Safeguarding partners,
ensure that there are robust
systems in place to coordinate
effective support and risk
mitigation for all pupils at the
point of permanent exclusion
and/ or at the point of repeat
fixed term exclusion.  This should
include:

a) That specific guidance
and information for local
schools is developed to
help them assess
safeguarding risks within
school exclusion
decisions;

b) That schools are
encouraged to undertake
an independent
multidisciplinary
safeguarding assessment
prior to any final decision
to permanently exclude a
child;

c) That training is developed
and implemented for
school governors and
other school leaders
about the safeguarding

Hackney Education agrees with
this recommendation: this
approach is being developed and
shaped.

Hackney Education will produce
local supplementary guidance for
schools, utilising the tools and
processes developed through
Hackney’s Contextual
Safeguarding programme, to
assist them in assessing extra
familial safeguarding risks in
relation to exclusion from school.

Alongside this a protocol will be
developed that will

1. encourage schools to
draw upon wider
professional expertise
prior to making a decision
to exclude a pupil
permanently; and

2. Improve information
sharing and
understanding of risk
around permanently
excluded pupils.

The purpose of this protocol will
be to support head teachers in

Katherine Cracknell
Acting Head of Wellbeing and
Safeguarding in Education

Local supplementary guidance
has been drafted around:

Suspension and Exclusion
Protocol - this document outlines
early identification of children at
risk of permanent exclusion and
appropriate intervention
processes. It describes options at
every stage of support for the
child, and also signposts
headteachers to appropriate
Hackney Education officers to
support their decision making.

Suspension and Exclusion
Notifications - this document
describes the process of
information sharing that will
underpin the best support being
made available to each child and
their family at the point of
exclusion

This will be finalised, approved
and shared in the spring term.

A process has been embedded
whereby when an exclusion is
undertaken, Hackney Education
Exclusions Team will notify
appropriate partners (including

P
age 253



Scrutiny Commission Report

risks and implications of
permanent exclusion from
school;

d) That City & Hackney
Safeguarding Children
Partnership (or
appropriate subgroup) is
notified of any permanent
school exclusion ‘in real
time’ to enable a full
safeguarding assessment
of the child/young person,
and the ability of parents
to effectively safeguard
that young person at
home;

e) That systems are
developed to support
effective and timely
sharing of safeguarding
and other welfare
information for excluded
children moving from
school to alternative
provision;

f) That all alternative
provision at which young
people are in attendance
(both internal and
external to the borough)
is routinely included in
safeguarding information
distributed by Hackney
Education Service,

their decision making. It will allow
them to consider alternatives and
ensure that all safeguarding
factors are taken into account
prior to it being made. Should a
child go on to be permanently
excluded, the improved systems
for sharing information will assist
any new education setting in
managing risk.
This will form part of the work of
the new expanded REU offer and
the work of Young Hackney in
reducing exclusions.

A programme of events will be
developed for leaders and
governors to support the
guidance and protocol, which will
be rolled out alongside these.

As part of the protocol, CHSCP
(City of London & Hackney
Safeguarding Children
Partnership) and MASH
(Families Services Multi Agency
Safeguarding Hub) will
automatically be notified of all
permanent exclusions. Upon
receipt of a permanent exclusion
notification, EHH (Early Help
Hub) will gather information from
partners in order to assess the
risk. They will consider whether

Children and Families Services,
New Regents College,
Re-engagement Unit, Youth
Justice Team, Virtual School) and
share this with the excluding
school and the receiving pupil
referral unit (New Regents
College), drawing together the
professional network to enable
accurate risk assessment and
planning to take place.

P
age 254



Scrutiny Commission Report

CHSCP, Gangs Unit or
other relevant bodies;

g) At point of exclusion
Children and Families
Service are notified for
Children in Need or other
Family Support.

the significant harm threshold
has been met and whether a
Children & Families Assessment
is triggered as a consequence of
the permanent exclusion. If the
pupil already has a social worker,
details of the permanent
exclusion will be shared with the
social worker so they can review
the child’s plan.

Hackney Education will work with
the CHSCP, Police and IGU
(Integrated Gangs Unit) to
ensure alternative provision
settings are included in any
safeguarding information that is
disseminated.

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

Recommendation 8

It is recommended that Hackney
Education Service, Children and
Families Service and Young
Hackney and other welfare
support services should improve
information sharing and
coordination to help identify and
support children at risk of
exclusion and to create and

Hackney Education agrees with
this recommendation: this
approach is being developed
jointly.

The expanded universal REU will
have a remit to work across all
primary and secondary schools,
thus providing equitable access
to early help support services for
those vulnerable to exclusion.

Katherine Cracknell
Acting Head of Wellbeing and
Safeguarding in Education

The expanded REU was
successfully launched in
September 2022, and is
accessible to all Hackney
primary, secondary and special
schools. There is no cap on this
resource to individual schools,
which ensure equitable access to
early help support services for
those vulnerable to exclusions.

P
age 255



Scrutiny Commission Report

deliver effective preventative
interventions.  Partners should
work collaboratively to identify
those risk factors which place
local young people at risk of
exclusion and target preventative
services accordingly.

The REU will look to work
collaboratively with Young
Hackney and other elements of
Hackney's early help provision to
ensure young people and their
parents/carers can access
support. Referrals for support
from the REU will be made via
the Early Help hub, thus allowing
needs to be considered in the
whole.

The Early Help Review will enact
changes to existing early help
practice. This will include the
implementation of one form and
pathway that can be used by a
professional  working with a
family to request support from
the Council, with all requests
going to the Early Help hub
established within the MASH.

Requests for early help services
will be screened by this hub and
a decision will be made on the
right level of support (according
to the Hackney Wellbeing
Framework) and the right service
to help a child and family. This
process will often include early
help workers talking to referrers
and families about the request.

The REU works collaboratively
with Young Hackney, undertaking
joint planning on an individual
child level, whole school and
multi school level.

The Early Help Hub screens
requests for early help, with the
capacity to signpost to the REU
and there is a single online form
available to make referrals to
Early Help Hub. There are strong
lines of communication between
the REU and the EH Hub to
ensure a joined up and
responsive package of support
for local families.

The REU continues to take
referrals directly from schools.

Suspension and Exclusion
Protocol guidance has been
drafted. This document outlines
early identification of children at
risk of permanent exclusion and
appropriate intervention
processes. It describes options at
every stage of support for the
child, and also signposts
headteachers to appropriate
Hackney Education officers to
support their decision making.
This will go for sign off at SLT

P
age 256



Scrutiny Commission Report

The single online form will be
used to request support from:

● Safeguarding Services
● SEND Services, with

reference to the Graduated
Response for SEND

● Targeted Youth Support
● Family Support for younger

children
● Family Support for older

children
● Education early help

services

Additionally, a telephone
‘Consultation line’ has been
established for professionals or
members of the public who are
worried about a child, or are
unsure about what support a
child and family needs, or
whether you should make a
request for support.

As part of this, a response to
pupils at risk of PEX (permanent
exclusion) protocol will be
developed to ensure information
is shared and actions
coordinated for those at risk of
permanent exclusion.

and be circulated in the Spring
term.

P
age 257



Scrutiny Commission Report

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

Recommendation 9

1) Hackney Education Service
should ensure that:
i) There is adequate

infrastructure in place to
enable educational settings
to meet, collaborate and
share good practice to
support young people across
the local education system.

ii) In particular, HES should
consider how best alternative
provision can engage and be
involved in local systems to
ensure that their expertise
and learning is shared more
widely.

iii) There is effective
communication across local
education systems to ensure
that the transfer of pupil
information in supporting
excluded children moving to
AP.

iv) The engagement and
involvement of alternative
provision is supported
locally, given their relative
size and operational
capacity.

Hackney Education agrees with
this recommendation in full: this
approach is being developed.

Hackney Education runs regular
half-termly forums for secondary
school leaders on behaviour.
This is chaired by a Headteacher
and provides a means of
exchanging best practice,
collaborating and shaping
approaches across the system to
reduce exclusions.

A pupil panel, chaired by the
Lead for Wellbeing and
Safeguarding, meets regularly to
coordinate and disseminate
information regarding excluded
pupils.

Hackney Education has clarified
its vision for the NRC (New
Regent’s College) and the role
and functions, under newly
appointed leadership, it is
expected to undertake. There will
be a refreshed SLA (Service
Level Agreement) between NRC
and Hackney Education.

With regard to part 2, Hackney

Anton Francic
Principal Secondary Adviser,
School Performance &
Improvement

Hackney Education is a member
of a five borough partnership that
quality assures alternative
provision. Coordinators from
different London areas meet
each term to oversee this
process, share findings from their
visits to alternative provisions
and agree on recommendations.

Hackney local authorities are, at
present, the only borough that
provides direct representation
from school performance and
improvement into this process.
For the four other partners,
coordinators are either senior
managers in pupil referral units
or in Council services.

Key progress
(1) An officer from the

secondary team has been
assigned to providing
systems leadership on
quality assurance of
alternative provisions.

(2) Agreement has been
reached to revise the
process making it more
streamlined and better

P
age 258



Scrutiny Commission Report

2) It is also recommended that
Hackney Schools Group Board
should actively engage and
involve alternative provision to
further bring these settings into
the wider family of schools.

3) Hackney Education Service
should consider how it can
improve links between individual
alternative providers and other
local schools and share best
practice from both schools and
AP in supporting children at risk
of exclusion.

Education will extend the role of
a school improvement officer
from the secondary team, to
provide systems leadership for
quality assurance and
communication.

A key function of this post will be
to run a termly network meeting
for Alternative Provisions. This
will be developed with NRC
under the existing quality
assurance framework. This will
ensure that their expertise and
learning is shared with
mainstream settings and with
secondary headteachers,
enabling this to be seen as
integral to local provision.

The adjustment in roles will
require funding. We estimate this
to equate to a resource
equivalent of one day/week.

The 14-19 team maintains a
directory showing local providers
of alternative pathways for 14-19
year olds. This is updated
annually and will be extended to
include Alternative Provisions
outside of Hackney. The directory
will be a key tool  for the above
post.

focused on safeguarding,
outcomes, health and care
and quality of provision.

(3) A schedule of visits is in
place delivered by staff
from NRC. Over next year,
this will be moved onto a
shared arrangement
involving school
performance and
improvement and, where
appropriate, other Hackney
Education staff, such as
SEND.

(4) The assigned officer will
attend termly meetings of
the partnership
coordinators. One session
has already been attended.

(5) Alongside the above, as
part of our 14-19
development work,
alternative provisions are
invited to attend local
authority run network
meetings. Two have taken
place and two alternative
provisions have attended.

(6) The two team members
regularly exchange
intelligence. Feedback is
shared with the Reducing
Exclusion Group and with
secondary headteachers.

P
age 259



Scrutiny Commission Report

We will propose a revised
process for quality assuring
alternative provisions that
includes settings commissioned
independently of NRC. The
renewed system will be designed
to facilitate identification of strong
provision and the transfer of
information in supporting children
moving from mainstream
education. This process will be
jointly implemented by school
performance and improvement,
wellbeing and attendance, SEND
and NRC.

The 14-19 team maintains a
directory showing local providers
of alternative pathways for 14-19
year olds. This is updated
annually.

With regard to part 3, a new
annual schedule of
meetings/sessions for AP
(Alternative Provision) leaders
will be set up and led by a
Hackney Education officer with
NRC. This will require resources
equivalent to a day a week.

(7) SEND, School
performance and
improvement and
Wellbeing and Education
Safeguarding undertake
termly risk meetings. This
has enhanced
communication across the
system regarding the
transfer of pupil information
in supporting excluded
children moving to AP,
usually overseen by a fair
access panel.

Development has encountered a
number of challenges: the
designated NRC Headteacher
not taking up post; not receiving
additional resourcing; and
changes in senior and systems
leadership.

Our planned next actions
(1) Consolidate the network

meetings to create an
established forum for AP and
other leaders to share
practice.

(2) The allocated school
improvement officer has
begun working with NRC and
the other borough
coordinators on developing

P
age 260



Scrutiny Commission Report

an updated framework for
quality assuring alternative
provisions.

(3) A new AP visit model will be
piloted during Spring &
Summer terms 2023.

(4) Feedback will be provided to
the Reducing Exclusions
Group

(5) During this transitional
period, the current QMET
process will continue with
NRC alongside Camden,
Waltham Forest and
Islington local authorities.

A database has been created
that brings together quality
assurance judgements. Work is
underway to incorporate the
annual directory of  local
providers of alternative pathways
for 14-19 year olds, into this
database, which will be shared
across Hackney Education and
with key partners, particularly
NRC.

P
age 261



Scrutiny Commission Report

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

Recommendation 10

1) It is recommended that
Hackney Education Service
review local commissioning
strategy of AP to ensure that
there is sufficient provision
(capacity, quality, and
diversity) to meet the needs of
young people not in
mainstream education. This
role should be developed
alongside:

- The local SEND team
who share similar
strategic objectives to
develop local service
options for AP;

- Other local authorities
who share
commissioning need for
AP in the sub-region.

2) To help maintain the stability
and sustainability of the local
AP sector, it is recommended
that Hackney Education
Service should explore how
additional business support
can be made available to local
alternative providers to assist

Hackney Education agrees with
this recommendation in general
although the second part needs
exploring further in terms of
responsibilities.

With regard to part 1, the
commissioning strategy has been
reviewed by Hackney Education
and will be reviewed annually, in
liaison with NRC and
neighbouring boroughs.

The directory of AP is regularly
monitored/reviewed to ensure
capacity and assess match to
need.

We will develop a clear process
to receive  input from, and
reporting to, Secondary Schools
on AP and the providers’
capacity, quality and diversity.

Any changes to commissioned
providers will be reflected in the
Alternative Pathways Directory.

With regard to part 2, Hackney
Education is not able to provide
business support directly to
small, independent AP settings.

Anton Francic
Principal Secondary Adviser,
School Performance &
Improvement

Hackney Education
Commissioning Intentions for
excluded pupils and pupils with
SEMH difficulties will be piloted
with NRC, which is part of the
Sufficiency and Estate Strategy
and aligned to the SEND green
paper. The Department for
Education will respond to the
Green paper in the new year.

P
age 262



Scrutiny Commission Report

with business modelling and
financial planning. HES might
consider options for utilising
the skills and experience of
the Business Support
Function (used to support
Early Years sector) as either a
direct or traded service.

However, the local community
has access to the Council’s
Business Portal/Hackney
Business Network.

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

Recommendation 11

i)  It is recommended that
Hackney Education Service
reviews the Service Level
Agreement with New Regents
College to ensure that the
following standards underpin
the sub-Commissioning of
Alternative Provision, in which
young people are:
- Provided with education,

training and learning
support in a therapeutic
environment which seeks
to recognise and address
learning needs and
maximise their
opportunities;

- Have access to a varied
and accessible
curriculum;

Hackney Education agrees with
this recommendation in full: this
approach is being developed.

Young people may be placed at
APs via NRC or directly from
schools.

The role indicated above in
Recommendation 9 will be a key
leader, who alongside the Head
of High Needs and School
Places, will set standards for APs
used by NRC and Hackney
schools.

Both the Hackney Education
officer and the Head of NRC will
work with APs. A protocol for this
work will be developed by
December 2022.

Anton Francic
Principal Secondary Adviser,
School Performance &
Improvement

Hackney Education commissions
places at NRC who oversee the
arrangements for excluded
pupils.

Key progress - see
recommendations 9 and 13

(1) A revised Service Level
Agreement (SLA) based on a
shared vision for NRC, in line
with our SEND Strategy
2022-25 and its underpinning
six principles has been
developed.

(2) Structure and operational
capacity are being
strengthened.  The first
stage of this saw the
introduction of
multi-professional team
meetings; and the second

P
age 263



Scrutiny Commission Report

- Have access to qualified
teachers in all settings
and explicitly for the
teaching of Maths and
English;

- Supported in educational
settings which are of a
high standard, safe and
have access to learning
resources comparable to
young people in
mainstream settings;

- Given equal access to
other educational and
statutory health and
welfare support services
to young people in
mainstream settings.

ii) It is also recommended that
HES should consider whether
School Improvement Partners
can also work with AP settings to
provide quality assurance,
including independent challenge,
and to agree and support the
development of improvement
priorities for individual settings.

stage has brought SEND,
school performance and
improvement and wellbeing
together to look at provision
and system cohesion

(3) A new model for quality
assurance, which will be part
of the revised SLA,  is being
piloted in spring/summer
2023 – outcomes,
destinations, curriculum.

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

Recommendation 12
a) It is recommended that

Hackney Education agrees with
this recommendation: this

Anton Francic
Principal Secondary Adviser,

Outcomes and destination data is
monitored by Hackney Education

P
age 264



Scrutiny Commission Report

HES review and assess the
longer-term destination and
outcomes of those young people
leaving alternative provision and
consider whether additional
transitional support is necessary
to help AP students adjust to new
learning environments.

approach is already well
underway.

Hackney Education holds data
on pupils attending New
Regent’s College and their
commissioned providers, if they
are on roll there or dual
registered.

Hackney Education produces an
annual Risk of NEET indicator
(RONI) for all Hackney pupils on
roll in Hackney mainstream
schools in KS3, 4 and 5. This
includes published data (e.g
school moves) on individual
pupils. This could help identify
additional factors affecting our
defined cohort. This is currently
shared with schools (their
institution only) and Council
officers (all schools). Bespoke
versions are created on request
e.g. Virtual School.

Hackney Education hosts the
Alternative Pathways Directory
on its website. This is updated
annually but the content and
format is due to be reviewed as
part of Hackney Education
changes around AP.

School Performance &
Improvement

and NRC. A spreadsheet which
tracks the September guarantee
is maintained by our 14-19 team
and this also indicates risk of not
being included in education,
employment or training.

The alternative pathways
directory is an annually produced
resource used by schools, young
people and parents as a guide to
identify potential placements.
Most programmes are
traineeships or apprenticeships,
with a strong vocational focus
and can be good preparation for
further study or apprenticeships
at 16.

NRC as the main commissioner
carries out checks regarding
arrangements to support transfer
and transition to an alternative
provision environment. This
process identifies where
additional support is required and
includes liaison with external
partners e.g. Children’s Social
Care.

Schools that commission
independently are always
advised to make their own
checks and visits. Information on

P
age 265

https://education.hackney.gov.uk/content/alternative-pathways-hackney
https://education.hackney.gov.uk/section/alternative-pathways-directory
https://education.hackney.gov.uk/section/alternative-pathways-directory


Scrutiny Commission Report

All students at NRC are
supported via Prospects to find
suitable post 16 places. We will
review the success of this work
to ensure it meets the needs of
these pupils.

The September Guarantee
process is a statutory annual
data collection of the Post 16
destinations of Year 11 students.
This is carried out in Hackney by
Prospects on behalf of the
Council. This dataset could be
used to identify destinations of
previous cohorts to assess
trends, and to identify former AP
students aged 16-18.  Any
students aged 16-18 who are
identified as Not in Education,
Employment or Training (NEET)
are tracked and supported by
Prospects into EET destinations
in partnership with Young
Hackney and youth support
partners.

However, as we only have a duty
to track 16-17 year olds (25 for
those with SEND) under the
September Guarantee, we do not
have access to any reliable
destination data for any young
people older than this.

settings is shared.  The 14-19
team works closely with Adult,
employment and skills service to
ensure young people have timely
support.

P
age 266



Scrutiny Commission Report

Data could, in theory, be shared
with local institutions taking AP
leavers, to allow them to provide
the extra support they might
need for a successful transition.
However, this may involve
additional data sharing
arrangements and young people
do have the right to opt out of the
process.

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

Recommendation 13

It is recommended that Hackney
Education Service, in partnership
with other agencies, should
ensure that there are robust
systems in place to plan,
coordinate and deliver effective
welfare support equally to all
children in AP irrespective of its
location.

Hackney Education agrees with
this recommendation: this
approach is being developed
jointly.

AP providers have equal access
to MASH and early help. When
students are placed at alternative
providers they are discussed at a
multi-agency panel at which
welfare support officers are
present.

A review will take place during
2022/23 of the welfare and
additional support provided to all
pupils at AP, with specific

Anton Francic
Principal Secondary Adviser,
School Performance &
Improvement

● A SEND/AP strategy, linked
to the Sufficiency and Estate
Strategy and the SEND
Green paper is the focus of a
task and finish group
beginning in January 2023.

● Multi-agency professional
planning and joint risk
assessment meetings are
scheduled which allow
issues concerning the
coordination of education,
health and welfare to be
resolves

● Agreement has been
reached to revise the quality
assurance process to make
it better focused on

P
age 267



Scrutiny Commission Report

recommendations to be set out. safeguarding, outcomes,
health and care and quality
of provision.

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

Recommendation 14

It is recommended that Hackney
Education Service should explore
what support (either through
national or local schemes) can
be provided to assist AP settings
to develop their physical estate
and or amenities.

Hackney Education agrees with
this recommendation: this
approach is being developed.

Many APs are small and
bespoke. The renewed quality
assurance process could be
adapted to include the quality of
the physical estate and its
amenities. This process can
highlight strengths and areas for
improvement, including security.
Advice on access to capital funds
will be provided.

Anton Francic
Principal Secondary Adviser,
School Performance &
Improvement

Nothing substantive to add to the
earlier development. The revised
framework will comment on the
physicality of the learning
environment.

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

Recommendation 15

It is recommended that Hackney
Education Service should lead on
recognising and sharing best
practice in the Alternative
Provision sector among other
education providers:

Hackney Education agrees with
the steer in this recommendation
and will take forward
developments linked to this.

This is covered in the response
to recommendation 9.

Hackney Education will extend

Anton Francic
Principal Secondary Adviser,
School Performance &
Improvement

Hackney Education will use the
quality assurance process, the
current inspection evaluation
framework and widely accepted
benchmarks on best practice to
identify strengths in the local
provision.

Alternative Providers are invited

P
age 268



Scrutiny Commission Report

- Making sure that
alternative provision is
seen and recognised as
an integral part of the
local education system
and has a valued
contribution to education
to young people, and that
best practice in the sector
is highlighted and shared
amongst other education
providers;

- That the attendance,
progress and success of
young people attending
alternative provision is
rightly celebrated
alongside those young
people in mainstream
settings;

- Facilitate an AP fair each
year which provides an
opportunity for alternative
provision to showcase
their education and
support offers and to
enable young people to
make a positive and
informed choice when
their needs are unlikely to
be met in mainstream
education.

the role of a school improvement
officer from the secondary team,
to provide systems leadership for
quality assurance and
communication.

A key function of this post will be
to run a termly network meeting
for Alternative Provisions. This
will be developed with New
Regent’s College under the
existing quality assurance
framework. This will ensure that
their expertise and learning is
shared with mainstream settings
and with secondary
headteachers, enabling this to be
seen as integral to local
provision.

The adjustment in roles will
require funding. We estimate this
to equate  to a resource
equivalent of one day/week.

The cycle of meetings for AP
leads set out in response to
Recommendation 9 will enable
the recognition and sharing of
best practice. In addition,
Hackney Education will include
discussion of AP provision and
practice in the regular cycle of
meetings with mainstream

to attend local network meetings.
The secondary school
performance and improvement
team produces a directory of best
practice, which augments the
local system of support. This is
expected to include alternative
provisions.

Regular joint meetings that bring
together school performance and
improvement, SEND and
Wellbeing and Education
Safeguarding help embed the
concept of alternative provisions
being seen and recognised as
integral, active parts of the local
system.

Additional resourcing is required
to continue supporting the
extended and adjusted roles of
officers. Staff will put together a
cost analysis to facilitate an
alternative provisions showcase
event. They have experience of
successfully running a Post-16
conference and last term’s
Choices Event aimed at
supporting vulnerable Year 11
and 11 pupils.

P
age 269



Scrutiny Commission Report

headteachers.

The attendance and progress of
young people attending
alternative providers will be
celebrated by their host
institutions. Success will also be
celebrated alongside that of other
pupils in the summer results
period.

A discussion will move forward
with AP providers about the fair
and best ways to reach young
people in a timely way about the
AP offer.

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

Recommendation 16

It is recommended that the
Education Service set out details
for the further development and
implementation of an Anti Racist
Action Plan and how local
education policies and practice
will address local inequalities

It is recommended that Hackney
Education Service should
continue to work with schools,

Hackney Education agrees with
this recommendation: this
approach, including training,  has
been in place for some time and
further work is planned..

Hackney Education has had an
Equalities/anti racism plan for
some time, informed by wider
schools, stakeholders and
Hackney Education staff
consultation meetings, and
continues to be developed.

Paul Senior
Interim Director of Education

To ensure there is an integrated
strategic approach to this
agenda, the actions being
progressed by Hackney
Education will integrate with that
of the work being progressed by
the Children’s social care team
and have regard to the Council’s
overarching programme of work
with this focus. This is necessary
to minimise the potential for
inappropriate system duplications
and resource wastage.

P
age 270



Scrutiny Commission Report

AP and other educational
settings to provide:

- Training on unconscious
bias, diversity and
inclusion to all staff;

- Support the development
of improvement plans for
local schools which
encompass equality and
inclusion aims;

- Monitor and review
school behaviour and
policies;

- Audit and monitor and
cultural representation of
the workforce in HES and
wider school network;

- Promotion and uptake of
the Black Curriculum.

The Children and Education
Directorate is developing a joint
anti-racist plan which will bring
common themes together. This
approach also reflects the
ambition for greater synergy
within the Directorate approach
to ensure joined-up work that has
the widest impact.

HR policy development has
begun to focus on the
implementation of the workplace
retention and recruitment policy,
with clear guidelines for schools
about how to ensure an inclusive
approach.

All maintained schools will have
the unconscious bias training
fully funded for their school staff
teams.

All settings and schools have
access to unconscious bias
training and Hackney Education
also offers further training to
develop cultural competence and
inclusive schools. There will be
additional work to reach out to
APs regarding this.

Over 50% of primary schools and

The ongoing work of the
Inclusion charter, the recent anti -
racism symposiums, guest
speakers with regional and
national level reputations for
excellence in promoting anti-
racism best practice  are some of
the examples of progress
recently made. Listening events
with young people will continue
to take place to secure a deeper
understanding of their views on
impact and evidence of
demonstrable change.

It is proposed that rather than a
separate Hackney Education
plan be developed for the
aforementioned reasons, that an
integrated children, families and
education plan for this focus as
part of a corporate Hackney
Council plan to ensure necessary
synergies are in place is brought
forward. This work is already in
progress.

P
age 271



Scrutiny Commission Report

70% of secondary school staff
have received the training and
funding will ensure that all
schools can access the training.

SIP partners visit schools each
term and every school has
articulated their journey to an
inclusive curriculum, the areas of
need, and next steps. Schools
will also have to identify the
impact of unconscious bias
training and next steps at a
Spring term visit.

All Hackney Education teams
have received unconscious bias
training to ensure we can meet
the needs of the community and
staff.

A large number of staff in
Hackney have accessed the
Black Contribution curriculum
resources and inclusive
curriculum training has been
delivered in some schools in
Hackney.

Currently (Jan 2022) 63 schools
and settings in Hackney have
downloaded the Hackney
Diverse curriculum resources
(including APs, Special Schools,

P
age 272



Scrutiny Commission Report

Children’s Centres).

Planning has begun for part two
of initial inclusive training, which
will measure impact within
schools and ensure it remains on
a school/setting agenda, so that
they develop deeper
understanding and identify
ongoing steps in equality and
inclusion.

Governors Services offer training
which focuses on the Hackney
Young Black Men Initiative. They
will now also offer specific
training on Equality Duties, and
ensure we make Equality Duties
a feature in all training sessions.

All schools will be engaged on
the issue of inclusions, with the
School Improvement process
renewing its emphasis on
assessing school’s inclusivity and
SEND provision when monitoring
school performance and
conducting visits. A more
targeted approach will further
develop.

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

P
age 273

https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/468
https://hackneyeducation.bookinglive.com/book/add/p/468


Scrutiny Commission Report

Recommendation 17
It is recommended that Hackney
Education Service develop
opportunities for the voice of
children and young people,
particularly in relation to the
following:

- When children and young
people have been
identified as at risk of
exclusion;

- When children are going
through the exclusion
process;

- Where children have
been excluded from
school and in identifying
an AP that best suits their
needs and aspirations;

- In assessing and
monitoring the quality of
AP.

Hackney Education agrees with
this recommendation: this
approach is being developed
jointly.

We will identify existing practice
in settings regarding collecting
pupil voice and using this
feedback to shape school policy.
We will develop best practice
guidance based on this research
so that all schools in Hackney
can see how pupil voice can
positively impact the school and
contribute to more effective
policy.

Exclusion reviews will be offered
to all schools to help leaders
understand better the causes
and factors that lead to
exclusion, and the steps that can
be taken to disrupt this trajectory.

School improvement partners will
focus visits on assessing the
effectiveness of mechanisms for
facilitating pupil voice.

Through governors training and
support provided for PDCs (Pupil
Disciplinary Committees), we will
ensure that school leaders and

Anton Francic
Principal Secondary Adviser,
School Performance &
Improvement

Hackney Education is working
with Hackney Young Futures
Commission in developing the
voice of children and  young
people and how this can be used
to influence decision making and
the shaping provision and policy.
In summer 2022 legacy
champions conducted action
research in schools, focusing on
school council structures, and
reported to Headteachers in
autumn 2022 and spring 2023.
Schools have been invited to
identify opportunities for further
work.

Hackney Education has piloted
the Young Governor initiative
which is now implemented in a
number of schools. Many of
these young governors have
remained in post supporting
schools with diversification and
looking at behaviour and
suspensions.

As per recommendation 3, SIP 1
visits to secondary schools have
included sharing data on
exclusion rates and discussion of
comparison to national and local
figures.  Additional meetings
have taken place with schools

P
age 274



Scrutiny Commission Report

governors understand the legal
duties under the Equality Act, the
Human Right to fair hearing and
the legal requirements of the
exclusion process, which all
make provision that the voice of
the individual should be
considered.

with higher levels of exclusion
with the Director of Education
promoting full use of
multi-agency planning and our
graduated response.

The programme of school
improvement partner visits for all
schools includes meeting with
pupils and students to receive
their perspectives and to assess
how these voices are being used
by schools in decision making
and shaping provision.

Governor services has provide
free-of-charge training in:

● Data analysis - addressing
disparity, discrimination and
disproportionality.

● Adultification;
● Young Governorship

The collaboration in shaping the
Diversity and Inclusion Charter is
also leading to key work aimed at
strengthening the role of
governance in holding school
leaders to account. As part of the
approach to developing
anti-racist practice, the training
programme for 2023-25 will
include how Governors should

P
age 275



Scrutiny Commission Report

monitor the Public Sector
Equality Duties.

Recommendation Response Hackney Education lead Progress update

Recommendation 18

It is recommended that Hackney
Education Service should:
a) Commission and/or develop
access to independent advice,
guidance and support for parents
who have experienced exclusion
(or other school move) which is
available to them at the points of
critical need;

- liaising with the school at
the point at which a child
has been identified as at
risk of exclusion;

- liaison and advocacy to
support parents when the
child has been excluded
and wishes to appeal or
challenge the decision;

- finding the right alternative
provision for their child.

b) That families experiencing
permanent
school exclusion are sign-posted
and offered family support to
manage experiences of trauma

Hackney Education agrees with
this recommendation: this
approach is being developed
jointly.

It is envisaged that parent
representatives will work with
schools to support, advise and
relay information around
exclusion. Some parents have
received training from Young
Hackney and CORAM.

With regard to part a, SENDIAGs
(Special Educational Needs and
Disabilities Information, Advice
and Guidance Service) are a
statutory SEND specialist free
impartial information and advice
service. They can support
parent-carers and young people
with SEND who are at risk of or
are experiencing exclusion.

There is a help and advice article
on school exclusion on the Local
Offer website here. Schools
should signpost to this for

Paul Senior
Interim Director of Education

Debra Robinson
Diversity and Inclusion Systems
Leader

Families whose children are
experiencing school exclusion
are sign-posted to relevant
support services (including
Coram’s Children’s Legal Centre
and Hackney Parent Partnership
Service) via a letter from their
Hackney school. These services
offer expert legal advice around
exclusion from school and family
support to manage experiences
of trauma and family disruption.

Families in receipt of targeted
family intervention are supported
by their early help practitioner
and YH, and the new team
around schools as part of the
graduated response, will identify
children at risk of exclusion
earlier, and support schools with
behaviour strategies, and refer
for family support where helpful.

The parent engagement post has
been filled and is due to take up
post in March.  The role will
further develop work around

P
age 276

https://www.familyandchildcaretrust.org/parent-champions-national-network
https://www.hackneylocaloffer.co.uk/kb5/hackney/localoffer/advice.page?id=ZrQ0rRdcL-U


Scrutiny Commission Report

and family disruption.

c) Work with local parent groups
and other voluntary sector
organisations to help develop and
maintain peer networks that can
engage and support parents and
families of children excluded from
school.

contact details of helpful services
e.g. Just for kids Law - who
provide legal advice around
exclusions for parents and carers
- this could be related to
parent-carers prior and at the
point of exclusion here.

With regard to part b, as we
review the Hackney Education
and Hackney Council websites,
we will ensure information for
parents is high profile and easy
to access.

Over the next year, Hackney
Education will create a network
led by the System Leader for
Parental Engagement. It is
envisaged that best practice and
strategies will be shared at these
forums.

An action plan for Parental
Engagement has been created
and guidance on setting up
forums in schools to capture
parents’ voices is being written.

We will ensure that the brochure
and guidance for parents, once
an exclusion has been given, is
accessible. The document, ‘My
child has been excluded - the

schools identifying and sharing
best practice in promoting parent
partnership work and increase
parental involvement around the
curriculum.  Further work on
developing platforms, within
schools,  for parents of children
with SEND to communicate will
also be taken forward.

The diversity and inclusion
charter for secondary schools
action plan is progressing and
contributions from various
stakeholders, including parents,
is part of the plan going forward.

Once the new System Leader for
Parental Engagement is in place,
the existing action plan will be
reviewed and amended in line
with school priorities.

P
age 277

https://www.justforkidslaw.org/


Scrutiny Commission Report

process’, is on the Hackney
Education website and parents
are both able to access and
navigate the information clearly.
Schools could ensure that
parents are signposted to this
brochure  to parents upon an
exclusion.

With regard to part c, we will
ensure that schools are made
aware of local voluntary
organisations available to
support parents and this
information is shared at the point
of exclusion.

The Family Information Service
regularly updates the information
in its brochure which includes
this information.

P
age 278



Scrutiny Commission Report
Glossary of terms

AP Alternative Provision

CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services

Childhood Adversity, Trauma and Resilience Programme CHATR

CHSCP City of London & Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership

EHCPs Educational Health and Care Plans

EHH Early Help Hub

IGU Integrated Gangs Unit

MASH Families Services Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub

NEETs Not in Education, Employment or Training

NRC New Regents’ College

PDCs Pupil Disciplinary Committees

PEX Permanent exclusion

REU Re-engagement Unit

RONI Risk of NEET indicator

SEMH Social Emotional and Mental Health

SENCO Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Coordinator

SEND Special Educational Needs and Disabilities

P
age 279



Scrutiny Commission Report

SENDIAGs Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Information, Advice and
Guidance Service

SIPs School Improvement Partners

SLA Service Level Agreement

TACs Teams Around the Child

WAMHS Wellbeing and Mental Health in Schools

P
age 280



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission 

 January     16th     2023 

 Item     7     -     Free     School     Meals     (Childhood     Food 
 Poverty) 

 Item     No 

 7 
 Outline 
 In     response     to     growing     levels     of     childhood     poverty     and     the     ongoing     cost     of     living 
 crisis,     the      Commission     undertook     a     number     of     site     visits     to     local     primary     and 
 secondary     schools     to     assess     what     can     be     done     to     develop     and     extend     free     school 
 meal     provision     and     the     broader     work     of     schools     to     address     childhood     food     poverty. 

 The     Commission     heard     evidence     from     a     number     of     local     head     teachers     and 
 questioned     local     officers     at     its     meeting     in     October     2022     and     has     produced     a     short 
 summary     of     its     findings     from     this     work.      It     is     hoped     that     these     findings     will     inform     the 
 work     of     the     childhood     food     poverty     task     force     established     by     the     Deputy     Mayor     and 
 Cabinet     member     for     Education,     Young     People     and     Children’s     Social     Care. 

 Reports 
 -  Letter     to     Deputy     Mayor     and     Cabinet     member     for     Education,     Young     People 

 and     Children’s     Social     Care. 

Page 281

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 Cllr     Anntionette     Bramble, 
 Deputy     Mayor     and     Cabinet     Member     for     Education, 
 Young     People     and     Children’s     Social     Care 

 Dear     Antionette, 

 Childhood     Food     Poverty     and     Free     School     Meals 

 At     its     meeting     on     31st     October     2022,     the     Children     and     Young     People     Scrutiny 
 Commission     reviewed     childhood     food     poverty     and     the     role     that     schools     play     in 
 supporting     children     and     families     in     need.      In     particular,     the     Commission     focused     on: 

 -  Free     School     Meal     (FSM)     entitlement     and     how     Hackney     Education     and     local 
 schools     promote     and     support     uptake; 

 -  The     provision     of     Breakfast     Clubs     in     schools     and     how     these     targeted     and 
 supported     children     and     families     in     need; 

 -  How     schools     connect     to     and     work     with     wider     food     poverty     programmes     and 
 networks     to     support     children     and     families. 

 As     well     as     hearing     from     the     officers     from     Hackney     Education,     four     head     teachers 
 from     local     primary     and     secondary     schools     spoke     to     the     Commission     about     food 
 poverty     and     their     experiences     developing     access     to     FSM     in     their     respective     schools. 
 In     addition,     ahead     of     the     meeting,     members     of     the     Commission     visited     a     further 
 secondary     and     three     primary     schools     to     discuss     FSM     arrangements     and     also     met 
 with     officers     from     a     local     youth     food     project.      A  video  record  ing     together     with     the 
 minutes  of     the     meeting     provide     a     detailed     public     account     of     proceedings. 

 The     Commission     welcomes     the     establishment     of     the     task     force     to     help     bring     together 
 schools     and     other     local     stakeholders     to     further     support     the     role     of     schools     in     tackling 
 childhood     poverty.      The     Commission     hopes     that     the     key     learning     and     outcomes     from 
 its     work,     which     are     summarised     below,     will     guide     and     inform     the     work     of     the     task 
 force     and     further     support     the     work     of     schools     to     extend     FSM     provision     and     tackle 
 childhood     food     poverty     across     Hackney. 

 Rising     levels     of     need     and     food     insecurity 
 Rising     numbers     of     children     eligible     for     FSM     is     a     clear     indicator     of     the     level     of     poverty 
 and     food     insecurity     within     the     local     community.       FSM     eligibility     in     Hackney     has     grown 

 1 

Page 283

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aRMuvjSnDJw
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g5288/Printed%20minutes%20Monday%2031-Oct-2022%2019.00%20Children%20and%20Young%20People%20Scrutiny%20Commission.pdf?T=1


 significantly     over     the     past     5     years     where     the     proportion     of     children     in     state     funded 
 education     eligible     for     FSM     has     risen     from     27.7%     in     2017/18     to     38.8%     in     2021/22. 
 These     most     recent     figures     indicate     that     over     13,300     local     children     are     now     entitled     to 
 free     daily     lunchtime     meals     in     school.      The     rate     of     FSM     eligibility     in     Hackney     is     also     far 
 higher     than     both     national     (22.5%)     and     regional     (24.6%)     averages,     and     is     the     7th 
 highest     among     all     English     local     authorities. 

 A     FSM     eligibility     rate     of     38.8%     for     Hackney     as     a     whole     masks     wide     variations     of 
 eligibility     among     local     schools     and     other     educational     settings.      The     Commission’s 
 research     noted     that: 

 -  Among     primary     schools     FSM     eligibility     ranged     from     6%     through     to     68%,     and     in 
 14     schools     the     FSM     eligibility     rate     was     50%     or     higher; 

 -  Among     secondary     schools     FSM     eligibility     ranged     from     3%     to     68%     and     in     11     of 
 the     17     local     schools     was     40%     or     higher; 

 -  In     local     special     schools     and     the     PRU,     63%     and     47%     of     children     were 
 respectively     entitled     to     FSM.  1 

 FSM     Eligibility 
 School     meals     are     provided     free     of     charge     to  all  children  in     years     1     and     2     in     state 
 funded     primary     education.      Pupils     are     entitled     to     FSM     beyond     years     1     and     2     if     their 
 parents     meet     the  set     eligibility     criteria  ,     which     is  now     predominantly     centred     upon 
 Universal     Credit     entitlement     with     an     income     threshold     £7,400     per     annum. 

 From     visiting     local     schools,     it     was     apparent     to     the     Commission     that     the     relatively     low 
 income     eligibility     threshold     for     FSM     qualification     meant     that     a     significant     number     of 
 local     families     who     were     struggling     financially     but     who     nonetheless     did     not     qualify     for 
 FSM.      All     the     schools     the     Commission     visited     or     heard     from     noted     that     a     significant 
 number     of     such     parents     struggled     to     find     money     to     pay     for     school     meals     (on     average 
 between     £10-11     per     week)     and     sometimes     got     into     arrears     with     payments     and     in 
 some     cases     debts     had     been     accrued.       Whilst     it     was     emphasised     that     no     children 
 were     denied     access     to     school     meals     where     there     were     outstanding     debts,     schools 
 had     to     devote     increasing     amounts     of     administrative     time     and     resources     to     review, 
 monitor     and     collect     outstanding     monies. 

 Universal     FSM     provision     in     schools 
 Through     its     work     the     Commission     noted     that     in     response     to     high     levels     of     needs,     a 
 number     of     local     schools     across     both     primary     and     secondary     settings     had     developed 
 a     universal     offer     of     FSM     to     all     pupils     within     their     school.     Universal     FSM     provision     was 
 closely     associated     with     the     numbers     of     children     who     were     already     entitled     to     FSM,     as 
 the     costs     of     extending     FSM     provision     decreased     where     rates     of     FSM     were     higher. 

 1  It     is     noted     that     all     children     attending     the     PRU     and     other     alternative     provision     settings     are     provided 
 with     a     free     lunchtime     meal. 

 2 

Page 284

https://education.hackney.gov.uk/content/apply-free-school-meals


 Financial     data     provided     by     two     primary     schools     where     FSM     eligibility     was     between 
 50-60%     indicated     that     the     cost     of     extending     FSM     to     all     pupils     at     these     schools     ranged 
 from     £17,000-£20,000     per     annum. 

 Whilst     the     cost     of     extending     FSM     to     all     pupils     was     clearly     not     an     insubstantial     sum, 
 schools     noted     that     this     was     more     relatively     more     achievable     within     school     budgets 
 than     had     been     anticipated.      In     addition,     when     the     wider     benefits     were     factored     in     the 
 provision     of     universal     free     school     meals     represented     a     provided     a     number     of 
 significant     benefits     for     this     investment,     which     included: 

 -  It     reduced     stigma     and     ensured     that     access     to     food     and     nutrition     was     not     seen 
 as     a     barrier     to     pupil     engagement     and     learning; 

 -  It     was     central     to     a     wider     wraparound     offer     to     support     families     in     need     which 
 included     additional     help     through     breakfast     clubs     and     after-school     provision; 

 -  It     provided     help     to     struggling     and     in     need     families     but     who     were     above     income 
 thresholds     for     FSM     entitlement; 

 -  It     enabled     schools     to     shift     resources     from     administrating     the     FSM     system 
 (collecting     monies     and     chasing     up     arrears)     to     supporting     parents     to     apply     for 
 FSM     (and     thereby     reduce     costs     to     the     school). 

 There     are     two     key     points     to     note     from     the     experiences     of     schools     in     developing     a 
 universal     free     school     meal     offer.      Firstly,     a     number     of     schools     the     Commission 
 consulted     were     located     on     the     border     with     neighbouring     boroughs     (Islington     and 
 Tower     Hamlets)     and     because     both     of     which     have     a     universal     FSM     offer     to     all     primary 
 school     aged     children     this     contributed     to     cross     border     flows     of     pupils.      Therefore     in 
 some     of     these     schools,     a     move     to     a     universal     FSM     offer     was     seen     to     be     integral     to     a 
 wider     school     strategy     to     help     maintain     school     rolls     by     ensuring     that     their     pupil     and 
 family     support     offer     remained     attractive     to     parents     (compared     to     schools     in 
 neighbouring     boroughs).      How     the     local     authority     supports     such     similarly     located 
 schools     should     not     be     overlooked     in     relation     to     school     admissions     processes     and 
 wider     School     Estates     Strategy. 

 Secondly,     those     schools     that     operated     a     universal     FSM     scheme     were     able     to     divert 
 time     and     resources     away     from     administration     (i.e.     collecting     monies)     to     a     more     active 
 approach     to     helping     parents     to     apply     for     FSM.      Teachers     that     the     Commission     spoke 
 to     were     firmly     of     the     view     that     such     a     proactive     approach,     which     positively     supported 
 parents     to     apply     for     FSM,     was     effective     in     increasing     applications     and     uptake     which 
 in     turn     helped     reduce     costs     for     universal     provision.      This     learning     may     have     wider 
 implications     for     the     authority     when     considering     proactive     approaches     to     increase 
 FSM     eligibility     and     uptake     across     Hackney. 

 Through     the     course     of     this     brief     enquiry,     it     was     apparent     that     universal     FSM     provision 
 within     local     schools     was     more     extensive     than     previously     understood     by     the 
 Commission     and     by     the     local     authority.      There     is     clearly     much     to     be     learnt     from     the 

 3 

Page 285



 experiences     of     these     schools,     and     it     is     hoped     that     the     work     of     the     task     force     will 
 provide     an     opportunity     for     local     schools     not     only     to     share     good     practice,     but     also     help 
 to     support     collaboration     across     the     sector     in     extending     FSM     provision     to     local 
 children     and     families. 

 FSM     eligibility     and     Pupil     Premium 
 Pupil     Premium     funding     is     provided     centrally     to     improve     education     outcomes     for 
 disadvantaged     pupils     and     is     triggered     by     a     child's     eligibility     for     FSM.       In     this     scheme, 
 schools     receive     an     annual     Pupil     Premium     payment     of     £1,385     for     primary     school     aged 
 children     and     £985     for     secondary     school     aged     children.      Therefore,     ensuring     that 
 children     and     families     who     are     entitled     to     FSM     are     encouraged     to     apply     is     not     only 
 important     to     ensure     that     children     have     access     to     healthy     and     nutritious     food     each 
 day,     it     can     also     provide     an     important     contribution     to     school     budgets     through     Pupil 
 Premium     funding. 

 The     financial     contribution     of     Pupil     Premium     funding     (through     FSM     eligibility)     has     for 
 the     local     education     sector     is     significant.      Based     on     the     current     number     of     pupils 
 eligible     for     FSM     in     Hackney     (13,352),     local     primary     schools     benefit     to     the     value     of     an 
 additional     £9.7m     of     funding     through     the     Pupil     Premium     funding     and     secondary 
 schools     a     further     £6.2m.      Given     the     scale     of     such     contributions     to     local     education, 
 there     is     clearly     a     need     for     a     more     strategic     view     of     FSM     eligibility     and     the     need     to 
 share     learning     across     the     sector     on     those     strategies     which     are     effective     in     supporting 
 parental     applications     and     uptake. 

 Increasing     FSM     uptake     within     the     Orthox     Jewish     Community 
 The     Commission’s     work     also     highlighted     concerns     around     accessibility     and     uptake     of 
 FSM     within     the     Orthodox     Jewish     community     in     Hackney.      Local     data     indicates     that 
 FSM     eligibility     in     maintained     Orthodox     Jewish     schools     was     approximately     6% 
 compared     to     a     borough     wide     average     of     38%.       On     the     assumption     that     parents 
 within     the     orthodox     Jewish     community     are     likely     to     be     experiencing     similar     levels     of 
 food     poverty     and     insecurity     as     the     broader     Hackney     population,     this     would     suggest 
 that     there     may     be     specific     barriers     to     the     uptake     of     FSM     and     that     children     from     this 
 community     may     be     missing     out     on     possible     entitlements. 

 Further     still,     most     children     from     the     Orthodox     Jewish     community     will     miss     out     on     any 
 form     of     state     subsidised     meals     (regardless     of     their     eligibility)     as     overwhelmingly     they 
 attend     schools     within     the     independent     sector     where     FSM     is     unavailable. 
 Understanding     this     and     the     low     uptake     of     FSM     in     the     maintained     school     sector,     it     is 
 clear     that     further     engagement     is     needed     with     local     Orthodox     Jewish     schools     and 
 community     leaders     to     further     understand     the     barriers     to     FSM     uptake     and     to     ensure 
 that     local     food     poverty     networks     and     programmes     continue     to     connect     to     and     reach 
 into     the     Orthodox     Jewish     Community. 

 4 

Page 286



 Catering     Framework     and     support     to     schools 
 Although     there     was     insufficient     support     for     the     continuation     of     the     catering     framework 
 hosted     by     Hackney     Education,     among     the     schools     the     Commission     spoke     to     it     was 
 apparent     that     there     was     still     an     appetite     for     other     collaborative     arrangements     to 
 support     the     effective     and     cost     efficient     delivery     of     school     meals     in     Hackney     both     in 
 term-time     and     through     the     holiday     period. 

 Participating     schools     were     keen     to     develop     more     collaborative     ways     of     working     to 
 help     reduce     costs     associated     with     school     meal     provision,     in     particular     the     sourcing 
 and     purchase     of     seasonal     produce     and     foodstuffs.     In     this     respect,     it     was     noted     that     it 
 could     be     helpful     for     local     schools     to     have     access     to     a     digital     platform     to     help     source 
 and     bulk-buy     produce     to     help     to     reduce     costs.       It     was     noted     here,     that     a     local     school 
 food     charity,  Chefs     in     School  ,  supports     a     similar  such     initiative     to     participating 
 schools. 

 The     Commission     also     noted     that     schools     were     also     collaborating     in     other     ways     to 
 share     and     extend     resources     across     the     local     education     system     and     the     wider 
 community.      In     one     example,     a     school     kitchen     opened     to     prepare     hot     meals     for 
 children     attending     holiday     schemes,     not     just     for     their     school     but     for     their     wider 
 federation     of     schools.      Another     example     noted     how     another     school     kitchen     was     used 
 to     support     community     food     education     and     food     distribution     programmes.      These 
 examples     highlight     the     importance     of     having     up-to-date     school     kitchen     facilities     which 
 can     potentially     act     as     a     hub     for     extended     school     meal     provision     and     wider     connection 
 to     and     support     for     local     food     programmes.      In     this     context,     Hackney     Education     may 
 wish     to     consider     how     local     capital     programmes     can     support     the     updating     of 
 (maintained)     school     kitchens,     especially     as     this     was     raised     as     a     potential     barrier     by     a 
 local     headteacher. 

 Diet     and     Nutrition     of     School     Meals 
 School     meals     are     required     to     meet     nationally     agreed  standards  to     ensure     that 
 children     are     provided     with     lunchtime     meals     which     are     balanced     (in     terms     of     starches 
 and     proteins)     and     nutritious.      Whilst     the     local     authority     (and     partners)     clearly     has     an 
 interest     in     ensuring     that     schools     meet     school     food     standards     (diet     and     general     well 
 being)     and     has     the     relevant     corporate     experience     to     be     able     to     support     this     (e.g. 
 Public     Health,     Food     Hygiene)     it     nonetheless     has     no     responsibility     in     this     matter. 
 Accountability     of     nutritional     standards     of     school     meals     is     now     devolved     to     local 
 school     governing     bodies,     and     many     schools     now     independently     commissioned 
 independent     assessments     to     support     this. 

 The     Commission     also     noted     the     positive     relationships     that     a     number     of     schools     had 
 developed     with     not-for-profit     organisations     (again,     such     as     Chefs     in     Schools)     to 
 support     compliance     to     nutritional     standards.      Not     only     did     these     organisations     provide 
 the     expertise     to     ensure     that     school     food     was     nutritious,     balanced     and     complied     with 

 5 

Page 287

https://chefsinschools.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/school-meals-healthy-eating-standards


 national     standards,     they     also     supported     schools     to     positively     engage     with     children 
 and     their     families     to     ensure     that     that     menu     development     resulted     in     meals     which 
 were     attractive     and     desirable     to     children     themselves. 

 Schools     which     spoke     to     the     Commission     also     noted     the     importance     of     school     meal 
 provision     as     a     healthy     and     balanced     alternative     to     packed     lunches.      A     number     of 
 head     teachers     had     growing     concerns     around     lunches     prepared     by     parents     not     only     in 
 terms     of     sufficiency,     but     in     the     healthiness     and     range     of     foodstuffs     provided. 
 Teachers     noted     the     regular     inclusion     of     some     foodstuffs     (e.g.     pizza,     chocolate     bars) 
 which     were     not     only     unhealthy     but     also     contributed     to     excessively     high     energy     levels 
 which     impacted     on     engagement     and     learning.      Teachers,     however,     understood     the 
 financial     pressures     that     parents     were     under,     and     were     aware     that     a     packed     lunch 
 might     still     be     considerably     cheaper     than     paying     for     school     meals.      To     a     number     of 
 schools     therefore,     this     further     underlined     the     need     to     move     a     universal     FSM     offer     not 
 only     to     extend     access     but     also     to     help     improve     diet     and     nutrition. 

 Whilst     the     local     authority     may     no     longer     have     a     direct     role     in     overseeing     food 
 standards     in     schools     specifically,     there     are     other     arms     of     local     government     which 
 have     a     clear     interest     such     as     public     health     and     food     hygiene.      The     Commission 
 hopes     that     such     departments     are     involved     to     help     identify     additional     ways     in     which 
 schools     can     be     supported     in     improving     and     maintaining     the     quality     of     school     meal 
 provision. 

 Breakfast     Club     Provision 
 Through     its     investigation     the     Commission     noted     that     most     schools     offer     some     form     of 
 breakfast     club     provision,     though     the     scale,     nature     and     focus     of     such     clubs     varied 
 widely     among     local     schools.      Therefore,     whilst     some     schools     targeted     support     to 
 vulnerable     children     and     families     other     schools     had     a     more     extensive     school-wide 
 offer.      For     a     number     of     schools,     breakfast     club     provision     was     seen     as     integral     to     the 
 schools     wraparound     support     offer     for     pupils,     with     additional     play,     learning     and 
 mentoring     support     also     taking     place     alongside     the     provision     of     breakfast. 

 Schools     that     contributed     to     our     work     noted     the     importance     of     support     they     received 
 from     not-for-profit     organisations     in     the     delivery     of     their     breakfast     clubs,     such     as  Magic 
 Breakfast  ,  who     not     only     provided     access     to     free     or  low     cost     breakfast     foodstuffs 
 (bagels,     cereals,     porridge,     beans),     but     also     supported     access     to     wider     regional     food 
 distribution     programmes. 

 Given     the     increasing     numbers     of     children     who     were     reported     to     be     accessing     school 
 without     having     had     breakfast     and     hungry,     schools     emphasised     the     positive     impact 
 that     breakfast     clubs     had     on     pupil     engagement     in     subsequent     lessons     and     classes. 
 Equally     important     however,     schools     noted     that     the     earlier     start     to     the     school     day 
 allowed     by     breakfast     clubs     was     of     great     value     to     working     parents     or     those     parents 

 6 

Page 288

https://www.magicbreakfast.com/Default.aspx
https://www.magicbreakfast.com/Default.aspx


 whose     children     attended     different     schools.      In     this     context,     it     is     important     to 
 emphasise     the     role     of     Breakfast     clubs     play     in     the     wraparound     care     and     support     of 
 children. 

 Again,     comparatively     little     is     known     about     the     extent     and     nature     of     school     breakfast 
 clubs     in     Hackney;     which     children     these     support,     what     activities     take     place     and     how 
 these     are     financially     supported     within     school     budgets.      It     is     hoped     that     the     work     of     the 
 task     force     will     provide     an     opportunity     to     also     share     learning     and     understanding     to 
 help     develop     and     extend     breakfast     club     provision     locally. 

 Schools     connections     to     local     food     programmes     and     networks 
 Given     the     scale     of     local     needs     schools     cannot     respond     to     food     poverty     issues     alone, 
 and     where     appropriate     should     engage     with     broader     food     programmes     and     networks 
 to     support     children     and     families.      During     the     Commission’s     visits     to     local     schools     and 
 from     the     testimonies     of     head     teachers,     it     was     apparent     that     many     (if     not     all)     devote 
 some     considerable     time     to     engage     with     philanthropic     organisations     to     source     free     or 
 discounted     meals     and     food     to     support     children     and     families     in     need.      The 
 Commission     heard     about     a     number     of     really     positive     associations     that     schools     had 
 developed     with     local     and     regional     charities     which     supplied     ready     made     meals     and 
 foodstuffs     which     the     school     could     then     distribute     to     local     families     in     need. 

 These     charitable     donations     are     greatly     valued     by     local     schools     and     undoubtedly 
 provide     much     needed     assistance     to     local     children     and     families     experiencing     food 
 insecurity.      The     Commission     did     note     however,     that     such     provision     varied     from     school 
 to     school     and     primarily     depended     on     the     individual     contacts     and     relationships     that 
 teaching     staff,     governors     and     PTA’s     were     able     to     develop     with     potential     benefactors 
 and     donors.      As     such,     the     nature     and     volume     of     charitable     donations     for     local     families 
 through     schools     varied     significantly     across     schools. 

 Members     of     the     Commission     also     spoke     to     a     local     food     charity     which     worked     with 
 young     people,     often     supplying     them     with     after     school     meals     and     food     parcels     for     their 
 parents.      From     the     discussions     the     Commission     had     with     this     organisation     and     from 
 visits     to     neighbouring     schools,     it     was     apparent     that     schools     connections     to     wider     food 
 programmes     and     networks     may     be     underdeveloped.       Based     on     what     the 
 Commission     heard     in     this     brief     review,     the     Commission     felt     that     the     connection     of 
 schools     to     local     food     networks     and     programmes     could     be     improved,     a     point     which 
 was     illustrated     by     the     fact     that     schools     (head     teachers)     are     unable     to     refer     families     in 
 need     to     the     local     food     bank     network.      Given     the     special     insight     that     schools     have     into 
 the     needs     of     local     children     and     families,     the     Commission     hopes     that     the     work     of     the 
 childhood     food     poverty     task     force     will     assess     how     schools     are     engaged     and     involved 
 in     local     food     programmes     and     networks     as     part     of     a     Hackney     wide     response     to 
 addressing     food     poverty. 

 7 

Page 289



 Household     Support     Grant     and     Holiday     Activity     Fund 
 Finally,     participating     schools     noted     the     importance     of     additional     food     provided     through 
 both     the  Household     Support     Grant     (HSG)     and     Holiday  Activity     Fund  in     supporting 
 children     and     families     in     need.      The     Households     Support     fund     is     administered     by     the 
 Council     provisioning     £2.8m     of     support     to     local     families     needing     help     with     food, 
 energy,     clothing     and     housing.      This     scheme     includes     the     distribution     of     supermarket 
 vouchers     to     those     local     children     who     are     entitled     to     FSM,     and     local     schools     spoke 
 very     highly     and     positively     about     this     scheme     as     it     gave     families     the     opportunity     to 
 priortise     and     plan     their     own     purchases     (as     opposed     to     charitable     donations).      The 
 Commission     notes     that     with     the     government     intending     to     continue     funding     for     the 
 HSG     into     2023     to     the     value     of     £1billion,     it     is     hoped     that     the     local     voucher     scheme     can 
 be     similarly     continued. 

 The  Holiday     Activity     Fund  was     also     similarly     valued  by     local     schools,     as     this     provided 
 additional     help     to     vulnerable     and     in     need     families     over     the     school     holiday     periods.      As 
 well     as     play     and     learning     based     activities,     this     scheme     provided     funding     to     support 
 meal     provision     to     participating     pupils     which     was     greatly     valued     by     schools.      Holiday 
 schemes     helped     to     keep     children     engaged     with     the     school     and     ensured     that     children 
 in     need     continued     to     have     access     to     free     meal     provision     over     the     holiday     period     when 
 other     sources     of     help     were     more     limited. 

 From     its     brief     work     on     this     policy     area,     the     Commission     was     greatly     impressed     by     the 
 range     of     support     that     schools     were     providing     to     children     and     families     in     need     which 
 included     universal     FSM     provision,     breakfast     clubs,     after     school     clubs     as     well     as     more 
 opportunistic     arrangements     for     the     distribution     of     charitable     donations     of     food     to     local 
 families.      From     this     work     the     Commission     can     conclude     that     there     is     a     wealth     of 
 experiences     and     knowledge     in     the     local     community     to     address     food     poverty     and 
 insecurity,     not     only     in     our     schools     but     in     our     local     voluntary     and     not-for-profit     sector 
 and     council     supported     programmes.     The     Commission     hopes     that     the     work     of     the     food 
 poverty     task     force     will     harness     the     experience     and     knowledge     of     schools     and     other 
 interested     local     stakeholders     to     develop     and     improve     our     ongoing     support     to     children 
 and     families     in     need     across     Hackney. 

 Yours     faithfully 

 Cllr     Sophie     Conway 
 Chair,  Children  and  Young  People  Scrutiny 
 Commission 

 Cllr     Margaret     Gordon 
 Vice  Chair,  Children  and  Young  People 
 Scrutiny     Commission 

 Cc: 
 -  Jacquie     Burke,     Group     Director     Children     and     Education 
 -  Paul     Senior,     Director     of     Education     and     Inclusion 
 -  Ben     Bradley,     Head     of     Mayor     and     Cabinet     Office 

 8 

Page 290



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission 

 January     16th     2023 

 Item     8     -     Work     Programme 

 Item     No 

 8 
 Outline 
 The     work     programme     of     the     CYP     Scrutiny     Commission     is     reviewed     at     each     meeting 
 to     note     any     updates     or     changes. 

 Reports 
 -  CYP     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     January     2022 

Page 291

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Bold  =     confirmed  Red     =-     Confirmed     but     to     be  scoped 
 July     11th     2022  September     29th     2022     (Moved     from     8th     September     2022) 

 School     Admissions     (40)  Foster     Carers     (i)     Recruitment     and     Retention      Strategy     (ii)     Assessing     local     support 
 offer     (ii)     (75) 

 Childcare     Sufficiency     Strategy     (40)  Update     on     GCSE     and     A     Level     results     in     Hackney     (20) 

 Outcome     of     School     Exclusion     -     Cabinet     response     (10)  Demographic     Analysis     of     EHCPs     in     Hackney      (40) 

 Work     Programme     -     Consultation     Reporting      2022/23     (40)  Work     Programme     -     Outline      2022/23     (10) 

 October     31st     2022     -  November     30th     2022 

 School     Exclusions     and     School     Moves     Monitoring     (45m) 
 (To     include     absence,     persistent     absence,     emotional     withdrawal) 

 Budget     Monitoring     -      Children     &     Families     Service     (30-45) 

 Ofsted     Focused     Visit     Outcome     (10m)     verbal     update  Children     &     Families     Annual     Report     (45) 

 Childhood     food     poverty     -     eligibility,     accessibility     and     uptake     of     FSM     (60)  SEND     Strategy     (40) 

 January     16th      2023  February     27th     2023 

 City     &     Hackney     Safeguarding     Children     Partnership     (45)  Cabinet     Q     &     A     -     Cllr     Woodley     (Early     Years,     SEND,     Parks     and     Play     (45) 

 Unregistered     Educational     Settings     (30)  SEND     Action     Plan     (60     min) 

 Outcome     of     School     Exclusions     -     Progress     of     Recommendations     (45)  Budget     Monitoring     -     Hackney     Education     (30) 

 March     20th     2023  April     17th     2023 

 Support     for     Young     Parents     (Race,     racism     and     children’s     social     care)     (60)  Accessibility     of     CAMHS     -     strategic     plan     to     reduce     waits,     single     point     of     access, 
 support     for     CYP     on     waiting     lists. 

 Pupil     Attainment     -     Attainment     Gap     (45)     Focus     on     children     in     AP  Cabinet     Q     &     A     -     Cllr     Bramble     (Children,     Education     &     Children's     Social     Care)     (45) 
 Areas     of     questioning     to     be     agreed 

 0 

P
age 293



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Meeting     1  Item     title     and     scrutiny     objective  Directorate     –     Division     –     Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory     work     to 
 support     item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 Monday 
 11th     July 

 Deadline 
 for     reports: 
 28/6/22 
 Publication 
 1/7/22 

 School     Admissions 
 To     review     sufficiency     of     primary     and     secondary 
 school     places     ahead     of     September     2022 
 school     entry. 

 ●  David     Court     TBC 
 ●  Annie     Gammon,     Director     of 

 Education     and     Head     of     HLT 

 -  Background     reports     to 
 be     circulated 

 Childcare     Sufficiency 
 It     is     a     statutory     requirement     for     members     to 
 review     local     childcare     sufficiency     reports     which 
 are     produced     bi-annually.      The     Commission     to 
 review     the     full     assessment     report     for     2022. 

 ●  Donna     Thomas,     Head     of     Early 
 Years,     Early     Help     &     Well-being 

 ●  Tim     Wooldridge,     Early     Years 
 Strategy     Manager 

 ●  Annie     Gammon,     Director     of 
 Education 

 -  Focus     groups     with     small 
 number     of     nursery 
 providers 

 Outcome     of     School     Exclusions 
 The     note     and     review     the     Cabinet     response     to 
 the     Commission's     review     of     the     Outcome     of 
 School     Exclusions. 

 Members     of     the     Commission 

 Development     of     new     CYP     Work     Programme     for 
 2022/23 

 ●  Commission/     Scrutiny     officer  ●  To     consult     local 
 stakeholders 

 ●  Meet     with     service 
 Directors 

 ●  Collate     topic     suggestions 
 ●  Informal     meeting     with 

 Commission 

 1 

P
age 294



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Meeting     2  Item     title     and     scrutiny     objective  Directorate     –     Division     –     Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory     work     to     support 
 item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 Thursday 
 29th 
 September 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 30/8/22 

 Agenda 
 dispatch: 
 21/9/22 

 Recruitment     &     Retention     of     Foster     Carers: 
 -     to     review     the     progress     of     Commissions 
 recommendations     contained     in     an     earlier 
 review 
 -     to     assess     the     local     offer     to     in-house     foster 
 carers. 

 ●  Diane     Benjamin,     Director     of 
 Children's     Social     Care 

 ●  Laura     Bleaney,     Head     of 
 Corporate     Parenting 

 ●  Korinna     Steele,     Head     of 
 Fostering     Placements 

 ●  Hackney     Foster     Carer     Council 
 representatives 

 Consultation     with     in     house 
 foster     carers     set     for     31st     August 
 2022 

 Supported     by     a     survey     to     all 
 in-house     foster     carers. 

 School     Exam     Results     2022 
 A     brief     verbal     update     on     the     performance     of 
 young     people     at     GCSE     and     A     Level     in 
 Hackney 

 ●  Anni     Gammon,     Director     of 
 Education 

 Demographics     of     EHCPs     in     Hackney: 
 The     Commission     has     requested     the     following 
 data     for     the     past     3     years     (     age     group,     ethnic 
 group,     originating     setting     (inc     those     not     in 
 education): 
 -     Children     with     EHCPs     in     Hackney; 
 -     New     EHCPs     granted     in     Hackney; 
 -     Number     of     EHCP     requests 
 -     Number     of     requests     for     assessments     refused 
 -     Requests     for     assessments     which     do     not 
 result     in     EHCP     issued. 

 ●  Joe     Wilson,     Head     of     SEND 
 ●  Annie     Gammon,     Director     of 

 Education 

 Work     programme     2022/23 
 To     continue     discussions     on     future     work 
 programme     items     for     2022/23. 

 ●  Commission 
 ●  Scrutiny     Officer 

 2 

P
age 295



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Meeting 
 3 

 Item     title     and     scrutiny     objective  Directorate     –     Division     –     Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory     work     to 
 support     item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 Monday 
 October 
 31st 
 2022 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 18/10/22 

 Agenda 
 dispatch 
 : 
 21/10/22 

 School     Exclusions     and     School     Moves:     (45) 
 This     is     a     standing     item     on     the     work     programme     of 
 the     Commission     to     review     the     number     of     school 
 exclusions,     School     Moves,     children     in     Elective 
 Home     Education     and     in     Alternative     Provision     (with 
 demographic     analysis     including     SEND     status). 
 In     light     of     rising     rates     (in     connection     with     exclusion) 
 a     short     section     on     school     /AP     absence,     persistent 
 absence     to     be     included.      Including     missing     children 
 -     emotional     withdrawal     etc. 

 ●  Chris     Roberts,     Head     of     Wellbeing 
 and     Education     Safeguarding 

 ●  Paul     Senior,     Director     of     Education 

 Ofsted     Focused     Visit     (15) 
 A     focused     visit     by     Ofsted     was     announced     for     21st 
 and     22nd     of     September     2022.      Ofsted     will     focus     on 
 front     door     service     for     children’s     social     care     (e.g. 
 assessments,     thresholds     etc). 

 ●  Jacquie     Burke,     Group     Director     for 
 Children     and     Education 

 ●  Diane     Benjamin,     Director     of 
 Children's     Social     Care 

 Childhood     food     poverty:     eligibility,     accessibility 
 and     uptake     of     free     school     meals     (FSM)     (60) 
 In     response     to     the     scrutiny     consultation     which 
 raised     childhood     food     poverty,     the     Commission     is 
 assessing     schools     response:     the     eligibility     and 
 uptake     of     FSM,     breakfast     club     provision     and 
 connection     to     wider     food     poverty     networks     and 
 programmes. 

 ●  Paul     Senior,     Interim     Director     of 
 Education 

 ●  David     Court,     Head     of     School 
 Organisations,     Admissionand 
 Pupil     benefits     and 
 Commissioning 

 ●  Invite     local     head 
 teachers     for     illustrative 
 work     they     have     been 
 doing     in     relation     to     FSM, 
 accessibility 

 ●  On     site     visits     to     local 
 schools     and     community 
 food     programme 
 projects. 

 Work     programme     2022/23 
 To     continue     discussions     on     future     work     programme 
 items     for     2022/23. 

 ●  Commission 
 ●  Scrutiny     Officer 

 3 

P
age 296



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Meeting     4  Item     title     and     scrutiny     objective  Directorate     –     Officers  Preparatory     Work 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 November 
 30th     2022 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 18th 
 November 
 2022 

 Agenda 
 dispatch  : 
 22th 
 November 
 2022 

 Children     and     Families     Annual     Report     (45) 
 This     report     could     not     be     provided     for     this     meeting     and     a 
 briefing     will     be     provided     to     members     of     the     Commission 
 summarising     activity     in     children's     social     care     for     the 
 period     2021/22. 

 To     be     taken     alongside     the     budget     monitoring     report. 

 ●  Diane     Benjamin,     Director     of 
 Children's     Social     Care 

 ●  Jacquie     Burke,     Group     Director     of 
 Children     and     Education 

 Children     and     Families     -     Budget     Monitoring     (30-45) 
 This     is     a     standing     item     on     the      work     programme     which 
 reviews     and     monitors     in     year     budgets     for     Children     and 
 Families     Service,     including     progress     against     agreed 
 savings     proposals.      This     is     taken     alongside     the     CFS 
 Annual     report,     so     scrutiny     of     policy     and     budgets     are 
 aligned. 
 The     Commission     has     requested     a     more     detailed 
 breakdown     of  the     Corporate     Parenting     Budget     (e.g. 
 foster     care,     residential     placements,     supported     housing 
 etc.) 

 ●  Naeem     Ahmed,     Director     of 
 Finance     (Children,     Education, 
 Adults,     Health     &     Integration) 

 ●  Sajeed     Patni,Head     of     Finance 
 Children's     and     Education, 
 Finance 

 ●  Diane     Benjamin,     Director     of 
 Children's     Social     Care 

 SEND     Strategy     (20-30) 
 Alongside     partners,     the     Council     has     developed     a     SEND 
 Strategy     for     2022-2025     which     is     due     for     approval     at 
 Cabinet     in     November     2022. 
 This     item     is     predominantly     to     note     the     key     priorities     set 
 out     in     the     Strategy     and     to     update     the     Commission     on     the 
 progress     on     the     subsequent     Action     Plan,     and     scrutiny 
 role     in     the     oversight     and     monitoring     of     that. 

 ●  Paul     Senior,     Director     of 
 Education 

 ●  Nick     Wilson,     Interim     Head     of 
 High     Needs     &     School     Places 

 ●  Joe     Wilson,     Head     of     SEND 

 Work     programme     2022/23 
 To     continue     discussions     on     future     work     programme     items 
 for     2022/23. 

 ●  Commission 
 ●  Scrutiny     Officer 

 4 

P
age 297



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Meeting     5  Item     title     and     scrutiny     objective  Directorate     –     Division     –     Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory     work     to 
 support     item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 January 
 16th     2023 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 4th 
 January 
 2023 

 Agenda 
 dispatch: 
 6th 
 January 
 2023 

 City     &     Hackney     Safeguarding     Children 
 Partnership     (45) 
 This     is     a     standing     item     on     the     work 
 programme     which     reviews     the     annual     report 
 and     activities     of     City     and     Hackney 
 Safeguarding     Children     Partnership. 

 ●  Jim     Gamble,     Independent     Chair, 
 CHSCP 

 ●  Rory     McCallum,     Senior 
 Professional     Adviser 

 Unregistered     Educational     Settings     (30) 
 This     is     a     short     item     to     review     progress     against 
 the     Commission's     recommendations     made     in 
 2018. 

 ●  Katherine     Cracknell,     Head     of 
 Wellbeing     and     Education 
 Safeguarding 

 ●  Paul     Senior,     Director     of     Education 
 and     Inclusion 

 ●  Jim     Gamble,     Independent     Chair, 
 CHSCP 

 ●  Rory     McCallum,     Senior 
 Professional     Adviser 

 Outcome     of     Schools     Exclusions     (45): 
 The     Commission     to     follow     up     the 
 recommendations     made     in     its     review     which 
 was     completed     in     December     2021     and 
 approved     by     Cabinet     March     2022. 

 ●  Katherine     Cracknell,     Head     of 
 Wellbeing     and     Education 
 Safeguarding 

 ●  Paul     Senior,     Director     of     Education 
 and     Inclusion 

 Work     programme     2022/23 
 To     continue     discussions     on     future     work 
 programme     items     for     2022/23. 

 ●  Commission 
 ●  Scrutiny     Officer 

 5 

P
age 298



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Meeting     6  Item     title     and     scrutiny     objective  Directorate     –     Division     – 
 Officer     Responsibility 

 Preparatory     work     to 
 support     item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 27th 
 February 
 2023 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 14th 
 February 
 2023 

 Agenda 
 dispatch: 
 17th 
 February 
 2023 

 Cabinet     Q     &     A     (45) 
 The     Commission     may     question     the     Cabinet     member     (Cllr     Caroline     Woodley,     Cabinet     member     for     Families,     Parks 
 and     Leisure)     on  three  policy     areas     for     which     they  are     responsible     within     their     Cabinet     portfolio.      The     Cabinet 
 member     to     be     notified     of     topics     6     weeks     in     advance     (     3rd     January     2023). 

 Cabinet     members     to     verbally     present     on     these     three     areas     and     take     questions     from     the     Commission. 
 1.  Update     on     children's     centres     (and     Family     Hubs) 
 2.  Support     for     parents     of     children     with     SEND 
 3.  Waiting     times     and     action     plans     for     SLT     and     Ed     Psych. 

 SEND     Action     Plan     (60) 
 The     SEND     Strategy     was     agreed     by     the     Cabinet     in     November     2022.      A     partnership     action     plan     has     been 
 developed     in     response     overwhich     the     Commission     will     maintain     oversight,     review     delivery     and     progress. 
 Invitees: 
 ●  Paul     Senior,     Director     of     Education 
 ●  Nick     Wilson,     Interim     Head     of     High     Needs     &     School     Places 
 ●  Joe     Wilson,     Head     of     SEND 
 ●  Jacqueline     Agyekum     -     Designated     Clinical     Officer     for     Health 
 ●  Sarah     Darcey     -     Health     Commissioner     -     Hackney 
 ●  Stephen     Jahoda     -      Head     of     Disabled     Children's     Service     -     LB     Hackney 
 ●  Georgina     Diba,     Director     of     Adult     Services     -     LB     Hackney 

 Hackney     Education     -     Budget     Monitoring     (30) 
 This     is     a     standing     item     on     the     work     programme     to     review     in     year     budgets     and     progress     against     savings     proposals 
 for     Hackney     Education.      The     Commission     has     also     requested     a     more     detailed     budget     breakdown     for: 
 -     Childrens     Centres     (budget     circa     £10-12m); 
 -     Commissioning     of     (SEND)     Independent     and     Non-Maintained     Special     Schools     (budget     circa     £14m). 
 ●  Sajeed     Patni,Head     of     Finance     Children's     and     Education,     Finance 
 ●  Naeem     Ahmed,     Director     of     Finance     (Children,     Education,     Adults,     Health     &     Integration) 

 6 

P
age 299



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Meeting 
 7 

 Item     title     and     scrutiny     objective  Directorate     –     Division     –     Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory     work 
 to     support     item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 20th 
 March 
 2023 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 7th 
 March 
 2023 

 Agenda 
 dispatch: 
 10th 
 March 
 2023 

 Race,     Racism     and     Children’s     Social     Care     - 
 Support     for     Young     Parents     (75     mins) 
 Following     on     from     the     work     in     relation     to     disparities 
 in     maternity     outcomes,     the     Commission     will     assess 
 what     support     is     available     to     young     parents     and     how 
 this     is     coordinated     across     statutory     partners     and 
 other     responsible     agencies. 

 The     Commission     will     view     this     in     the     context     of 
 disproportionality     of     children's     social     care,     where     it 
 has     requested     ethnicity     data     for     children’s     social 
 care     contacts     in     relation     to: 

 -  Looked     after     children 
 -  Children     in     Need 
 -  Children     on     a     Child     Protection     Plan. 

 ●  Diane     Benjamin,     Director     of 
 Children's     social     Care 

 ●  Family     Nurse     Partnership 
 ●  Pause? 

 To     scope     with 
 Officers 
 ●  Amy     Wilkinson 
 ●  Visit     Family 

 Nurse 
 Partnership 

 Pupil     Attainment     -     Attainment     Gap     (45) 
 This     is     a     standing     item     on     the     work     programme 
 where     the     educational     attainment     of     children     in 
 Hackney     is     reviewed. 

 This     will     be     the     first     year     since     returning     to     in     person 
 exams.      The     Commission     has     indicated     that     in 
 addition     to     usual     focus     on     the     attainment     gap 
 between     key     cohorts     (Black     Caribbean     boys,     Turkish 
 Cypriot     boys,     Gipsy     Roma/     Irish     Traveller)     there     will 
 be     an     additional     emphasis     on     children     in     Alternative 
 Provision. 

 ●  Paul     Senior,     Director     of     Education 
 ●  Jason     Marantz,     Interim     Assistant 

 Director,     School     Standards     & 
 Improvement 

 To     be     confirmed 
 with     the     Director. 

 7 

P
age 300



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Meeting 
 8 

 Item     title     and     scrutiny     objective  Directorate     –     Division     –     Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory     work     to 
 support     item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 17th 
 April 
 2023 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 31st 
 March 
 2023 

 Agenda 
 dispatch: 
 5th     April 
 2023 

 Accessibility     of     CAMHS 
 The     accessibility     of     CAMHS     figured 
 prominently     in     the     scrutiny     consultation     2022. 
 There     were     ongoing     concerns     around     waiting 
 times,     access     to     services     and     plans     to 
 develop     a     single     point     of     access. 

 This     item     is     being     scoped     with     respective 
 service     leads. 

 ●  Amy     Wilkinson,     Workstream 
 Director     Integrated     Commissioning: 
 Children,     Young     People,     Maternity 
 and     Families,     NHS     North     East 
 London     |     London     Borough     of 
 Hackney 

 ●  Nadia     Sica,     Children,     Young 
 People,     Maternity     and     Families 
 Workstream     Programme     Manager, 
 Public     Health 

 Scoping     24th     October     2022: 
 Amy     Wilkinson,     Integrated 
 Commissioning     Director 

 Ahead     of     this     meeting     the 
 Commission     to     hold     a     focus 
 group: 
 -  key     CAMHS     services 
 -  CYP     Mental     Health 

 Groups 

 Cabinet     Q     &     A 
 The     Commission     may     question     the     Cabinet 
 member     on  three  policy     areas     for     which     they 
 are     responsible     within     their     Cabinet     portfolio. 

 Cabinet     members     to     verbally     present     on 
 these     three     areas     and     take     questions     from 
 the     Commission. 

 ●  Cllr     Bramble,     Deputy     Mayor     and 
 cabinet     member     for     education, 
 young     people     and     children’s     social 
 care 

 ●  Cabinet     member     notified 
 of     topics     6     weeks     in 
 advance: 

 ●  February     15th     2023 

 8 

P
age 301



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission     Work     Programme     2022/23 

 Possible     items     noted     for     2023/24 

 1.  School     Admissions  A     review     of     the     local     school     admissions     system     and     to     assess     disparities.      What 
 variations     among     local     schools?      Does     the     admissions     system     generate     inequities? 

 2.  Residential     Placements  Commissioning     arrangements     for     residential     placements     for     looked     after     children, 
 How     is     the     Children     and     Families     Service     addressing     longer     term     need     for     residential 
 placements?      How     is     the     Children     and     Families     Service     working     with     other     boroughs 
 to     jointly     provide/     commission     services     (rather     than     reliant     on     the     private     sector     which 
 may     be     some     distance     from     Hackney     and     of     variable     quality). 

 3.  Graduated     SEND     provision     within 
 schools 

 A     new     graduated     response     was     introduced     within     local     schools     to     enable     more 
 children     to     be     supported     in     schools     but     without     the     need     for     an     Education     and     health 
 Care     Plan.      How     is     this     working     out     in     practice?      Are     all     schools     taking     up     the     local 
 SEND     offer     by     the     Local     Authority? 

 9 

P
age 302



P
age 303



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 Children     &     Young     People     Scrutiny     Commission 

 January     16th     2023 

 Item     9     -      Minutes 

 Item     No 

 9 
 Outline 
 The     minutes     of     the     last     meeting     held     on     30th     November     2022     are     attached     for 
 members     to     note     and     agree. 

 Actions: 
 The     Commission     required     further     details     of     the     number     of     looked     after     children     who 
 are     cared     for     in     residential     or     secure     settings     and     their     location. 

 In     response: 
 -  As     of     January     2023     there     were     31     children     in     residential     or     secure     settings     of 

 which: 
 -  15     were     being     cared     for     at     locations     within     London. 
 -  16     children     were     being     cared     for     at     locations     outside     of     London     (more 

 than     20     miles     away)     the     furthest     being     approximately     170     miles. 

 Reports 
 -  Minutes     of     the     meeting     from     November     30th     2022. 

Page 305

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes of the proceedings 
of the  held at Hackney 
Town Hall, Mare Street, 
London E8 1EA

Minutes of the proceedings of the 
Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Commission held at
Hackney Town Hall, Mare Street, 
London E8 1EA

 
 

 
London Borough of Hackney 
Children and Young People Scrutiny Commission  
Municipal Year 2018/19 
Date of Meeting Wednesday 30 November 2022 

 
 

Chair Councillor Sophie Conway 
 

Councillors in 
Attendance 

Cllr Margaret Gordon (Vice-Chair), Cllr Midnight Ross, 
Cllr Caroline Selman, Cllr Sheila Suso-Runge and 
Cllr Lynne Troughton 

  
Apologies:  Cllr Alastair Binnie-Lubbock, Cllr Anya Sizer and Richard 

Brown. 
 

Co-optees: Salmah Kansara 
  
In Attendance: - Cllr Caroline Woodley, Cabinet Member for 

Families, Early Years, Parks & Play 
- Jacquie Burke, Group Director, Children and 

Education 
- Paul Senior, Interim Director of Education  
- Diane Benjamin, Director of Children's Social Care 
- Naeem Ahmed, Director of Finance Children, 

Adults & Community Health 
- Sajeed Patni, Head of Finance, Children's and 

Education 
- Joe Wilson, Head of SEND 

  
Meet recording: https://youtu.be/igay_KdHtq0 

 
Officer Contact: 
 

Martin Bradford 0208 356 3315 
 020 8356 3315 
 martin.bradford@hackney.gov.uk 
 

 
Councillor Sophie Conway in the Chair 

 
 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 
1.1       Apologies for absence were received from the following members of the 
Commission:  
- Cllr Alastair Binne Lubbock  
- Cllr Anya Sizer 
- Richard Brown (Co-opted member) 
  
1.2       The following members connected virtually: 
- Jo Macleod (Co-opted member) . 
 

Page 307

https://youtu.be/igay_KdHtq0


Wednesday 30 November 2022  
2 Urgent Items / Order of Business  

 
2.1       There were no urgent items and the agenda was as published. 
 

3 Declarations of Interest  
 
3.1       The following declarations were received by members of the Commission: 
- Jo McLeod was a Governor at a primary school in Hackney and a parent of a child with 
SEND. 
 

4 Children's Social Care Data Briefing (19.05)  
 
4.1       The Children and Families Service (CFS) Annual Report is presented annually to 
the Commission.  However, this report was not available to be included within this 
agenda, therefore a brief summary of children’s social care activity for the period 
2021/22 was presented.  
  
4.2       A budget monitoring report for Children and Families Service accompanies this 
report (agenda item 5) to enable members to scrutinise policy and budgets in alignment.  
  
Children and Families Service 
4.3       The Director of Children's Social Care brought to the attention of the 
Commission the following: 

         CFS noted that although referrals had increased, the number of assessments 
had decreased, which suggested that the early help offer was proving to be 
effective; 

         The number of looked after children (LAC) in the care of the authority had 
declined from 431 to 405, a significant drop which was attributed to improvement 
in local assessment processes and appropriate application of care thresholds; 

         It was acknowledged that there were staffing challenges within the service with 
particular pressure on the recruitment and retention of social workers.  Hackney 
was signed up to the London Pledge to prevent competition for social workers 
and the service had recently developed a staffing strategy to support recruitment; 

         Similarly, it was noted that there was an equally competitive market for 
children’s social care placements which was driving up costs for children and 
families services. 

  
Questions from the Commission 
4.4 Given the confirmed trend in adolescents entering care, how has staffing and 
service organisation within CFS adapted to meet the needs of this cohort?  What 
datasets are the service using to help identify and support this cohort, for 
example SEND services? 

         Officers reported that there was a good youth based offer via Young Hackney. 
 There was also the Edge of Care Service, which offers dedicated support to 
adolescents helping them to step-down or step-up into care as needed.  CFS 
was also looking at how to provide further early help to prevent more adolescents 
coming into care. 

         The LGA were invited to review CFS work with adolescents earlier this year who 
were complimentary about the local offer to young people, which was also 
supported by assessments made by Ofsted.  Young Hackney worked closely 
with a number of organisations (statutory services, in schools, and in youth 
centres) as part of this early help offer to adolescents.  The service was very 
aware of disproportionalities in this data, particularly among young black boys 
and men, and services were working to ensure that this cohort was supported to 
help them remain connected to education and other family and welfare networks. 

         In terms of children's social care data, the service regularly undertakes thematic 
reviews into various cohorts of children which are interrogated for patterns and 

Page 308



Wednesday 30 November 2022  
trends.  The service also reviews complaints data to identify areas for service 
development and improvement.  Data on socioeconomic status is not collated, 
but data is analysed alongside census data to further inform how resources 
should be prioritised.  In relation to SEND, this is kept on a separate MOSAIC 
system within Education, but a new system is being developed across both 
education and children’s social care which will allow services to have a singular 
view of a child.  It was also noted that colleagues from Hackney Education and 
CFS were now co-located which will facilitate communication and information 
sharing across these directorates.  A new Outcomes, Business Intelligence and 
Strategy directorate has also been formed to help develop synergies across both 
education and children’s social care. 

  
4.5 Despite a 27% increase in the number of referrals to Children’s Social Care in 
2021/22, the number of related metrics all recorded strong declines (assessments 
down 15%, Child Protection Plans down 11%, Looked after Children down 6%).  
Officers suggest that this was the result of the early help offer, what evidence or 
analysis has the service undertaken to support this?  What does CFS know about 
the demographics of those children who may not be assessed to need such care 
and support? 

         The service has streamlined referrals into the early help service and set up a 
consultation line via the Multi-Agency-Safeguarding Hub (MASH).   When 
referrals come into the MASH, they are screened and referred through to the 
early help hub if needed and signpost families to other services for support.  The 
service was changing terminology from referral to request for support, to ensure 
that supporting agencies remained in contact with families in need and to ensure 
that that support continued to be provided from the partnership of local services.  
The service was assured that thresholds were applied appropriately as there are 
robust systems in place to assess and quality assure this (e.g. dip sampling).  
Twice a week colleagues in MASH and the Early Help hub meet with CAMHS to 
discuss specific cases and agree a shared pathway forward for children and their 
families.  CFS believe their thresholds to be robust, which was in part validated 
by the recent Ofsted inspection.  There was however always a need for ongoing 
dialogue for partners across the sector. 

         Although there was no increase in referrals during the pandemic, since the 
pandemic (2021/22) there has been an increase, which was probably due to 
increased oversight of schools.  It was noted that the rate of referrals coming into 
the service was now on a par with neighbouring boroughs, having been higher 
for a number of years. 

         In terms of the Supporting Families Programme, because this is a payment by 
results service, there was a  very clear audit trail which demonstrated how 
families were identified, what support they were provided with and whether this 
was effective.  This is central to an early help offer, which can be escalated to 
statutory support if needed. 

  
4.6 The Commission is aware of the ongoing concerns around the recruitment and 
retention of children’s social care staff not only in Hackney, but also across 
London and nationwide.  How is Hackney’s offer to social work staff unique or 
different to other authorities which might make the service comparatively more 
attractive to possible new recruits? How is the wider support offer to social 
workers different in Hackney compared to other boroughs (e.g. caseloads, 
training, mentoring, personal development)? 

         It was noted that workforce challenges were being experienced across London 
and many LA’s were in the same position as Hackney.  CFS was developing its 
own ‘unique selling point’ (USP) to staff and was consulting with staff on what 
was important to them and what they valued. 

         From December, a market supplement was being offered to attract experienced 
social workers into Hackney CFS. In response to exit interviews conducted with 
social workers, a new Senior Social Worker role was being developed to allow 

Page 309



Wednesday 30 November 2022  
social workers to progress without moving on to managerial roles.  This will be 
introduced in January 2023 and will hopefully assist in the retention of social 
workers. 

  
4.7 The Commission has undertaken a number of site visits to local schools in 
recent weeks (in relation to connected work) where teachers noted that it had 
become much harder for them to obtain social care support for their children in 
need.  Given the centrality of local schools to the identification and referral of 
children in need, how  does CFS work proactively with schools to develop 
awareness, improve referrals and ensure more effective support to local children 
and families? How will closer working of Children and Families Service and 
Hackney Education assist closer working partnerships on the ground for children 
and families?  

         Officers reported that there would be synergies from the colocation of education 
and social care teams.  A consultation-line had been established in which local 
practitioners can talk to social care professionals about children they may be 
concerned about and to check if a referral is necessary.  The consultation line 
has been extensively used by education, where 68% of all contacts to this 
service derived from local educational settings. There was also a healthy 
dialogue between schools and social care about whether subsequent referrals 
should be made for additional support.  It was acknowledged however that this 
was an ongoing challenge. 

         Whilst officers noted that that schools were under pressure, it was suggested 
that the strength of the early help offer was important to resolving this issue, by 
making sure children and families got help and support before this needed to be 
escalated to children’s social care.  From an education perspective, schools had 
the benefit of additional help and support through the Reintegration Unit and 
other services available locally. 

  
4.8 Nationally, there are widespread concerns around the availability of residential 
and secure placements for children. Can officers describe how placement 
shortages are impacting on children’s social care provision in Hackney?   Also, 
the placement of children far away from family networks is a concern - are there 
any parameters which the service applied to this?  Understanding most of our 
neighbouring boroughs are experiencing the same issue around access to social 
care placements, how is Hackney working strategically with other boroughs to 
develop social care placement options? 

         The CFS ambition is always a foster-first approach.  There is a challenge in 
securing quality residential placements which are close to children's networks 
here in Hackney.  CFS had a goal of placing children within a 20 mile radius of 
the borough, but this was not always possible given the specific needs of 
individual young children.  Whilst vigorous quality assurance processes are in 
place for commissioning residential placements, the quality of provision was still 
of concern and it was often necessary to commission additional support for 
children.  In this context, CFS is often required to plug the gap in case for 
residential placements.  It should be recognised that for some children with 
specific needs, the choice of placement might be very limited. 

         Whilst it was clear that most children in residential placements were black and 
global majority boys, no data was available on location residential placements 
(distance from Hackney) at the meeting, but this would be provided to members. 

  
Agreed: That further data on the location of residential placements would be 
provided to the Commission. 
  
4.9       How will the upcoming children’s social care sufficiency strategy address 
capacity issues and help improve placement options for children’s social care? 
What are the key elements of this strategy and when will this be published and 
ready to be tested?  

Page 310



Wednesday 30 November 2022  
         It was noted that the children’s social care strategy had been drafted and would 

be considered by the Corporate Parenting Board in December 2022. 
  
4.10    The Chair thanked officers for attending and responding to questions from the 
Commission.  Given the lack of capacity to look at this item again within planned 
meetings, the Chair suggested that when the full CFS Annual Report is published at 
Cabinet, this is then placed on the following CYP Commission agenda for noting.  
Members can then develop key lines of questioning off-line which will then be published 
with the responses of officers at the next meeting.   
  
Agreed: The CFS Annual Report will be presented to note and that any 
subsequent members’ questions will be published alongside officers’ responses. 
 

5 Children and Families Service - Budget Monitoring (19.55)  
 
5.1       Budget monitoring is a key function of overview and scrutiny and each year the 
Commission reviews the in-year budgets of the Children and Families Service.  The aim 
of this item is to: 

         Review in-year spending and cost pressures; 
         Management actions to reduce any projected overspends; 
         Progress in achieving identified cost savings for 2022/23. 

  
5.2       This item is taken alongside the Children and Families Annual Report so that 
members can review budgets alongside policy priorities for the service. Additional data 
has been requested on the Corporate Parenting Budget given the ongoing cost 
pressures in this area of service. 
  
Corporate Finance Overview 
5.3       After the application of reserves, CFS was projecting an overspend of £1.7m for 
the year end 2021/22 at September 2022.  The most significant area of overspend was 
corporate parenting which was predicting an overspend of £1.3m after reserves.  
Overspends of £0.3m and £0.2m were also projected for Commissioning and the 
Disabled Children's Service. 
  
Questions from the Commission 
5.4 Given that the increased use of in-house foster carers is a key priority (in that 
they provide better quality of care and are more cost effective than Independent 
Foster Agencies), the Commission notes that the budget for in-house foster carer 
team has not changed from 2021/22 to the current year - it has remained static at 
£2.4m.  In this context, does the current budget for the in-house foster carer team 
fully reflect the priority for this service given that the team now supports more 
placements (possible service dilution) and ambitions to extend support (i.e. 
Mockingbird)? 

         It was noted that there had not been a significant tail-off of in-house foster carers 
in Hackney as had been experienced in other boroughs during the pandemic, 
and numbers have been increasing since this time.  These foster carers needed 
the support of social workers and other staff to help them take on maintain 
placements of looked after children.  The service was looking at how the local 
offer could be further improved with additional support and staffing to ensure 
house foster carers got the help that they needed. 

  
5.5 Given that there is an interrelation between in-house and IFA foster carer use, 
is this reflected in the way that these respective budgets are viewed (i.e. not 
siloes).  To what degree can projected budget underspend for IFA (of £760k) be 
used specifically off-set in-house foster carers budget? 

         Potentially, given how these budgets interrelate this is what will happen.  When 
budgets are set for 2023/24 finance and service officers will liaise and they will 
take this into account and will be reflected in budget allocations.  The service will 

Page 311



Wednesday 30 November 2022  
set a budget which reflects the need to encourage more children to be supported 
via in-house foster carers team, and create budget pressures for IFA foster carer 
usage. 

  
5.6       At page 25, the management action is to increase the number of young 
people claiming housing benefit? Can you explain further what this means? Does 
this refer to care leavers who are in receipt of supported housing, but encouraged 
to switch to independent housing? 

         This refers to children who are in supported accommodation but who are able to 
maintain an independent tenancy in their own right, and therefore qualify for 
housing benefit.  The cost to the council of providing supported accommodation 
is therefore reduced.  A dedicated worker supports young care leavers to apply 
through this transitional period. 

         There are a number of issues why not all care leavers might be claiming housing 
benefit as young people may have their claims stopped or have lapsed, not 
applying for the correct benefits in time, having issues with bank accounts, or 
refusing to claim. 

  
5.7       The paper detailed a management action to reduce the number of high cost 
residential placements by 5 this year to reduce the projected overspend in this 
part of the corporate parenting budget.  How does the service intend to do this so 
that it will not generate equal cost pressures in other aspects of the corporate 
parenting budget?  Is there sufficient capacity to step children down?  What 
safeguards are in place to ensure that these decisions are genuinely taken in the 
best interests of the child? 

         The Head of Service regularly assesses all high cost placements as part of a 
weekly meeting.  This is not always about stepping children down from these 
residential placements, but also about challenging the costs of these provisions 
in relation to services provided and the needs of the children concerned.  That is, 
is a 3 to 1 ratio of support still required or can  2 to 1 ratio of support  be 
provided?  Costs might be appropriate at the time, but children’s needs vary and 
the service needs to reflect this in appropriate and cost effective commissioning.  

         In terms of forensic analysis, there is always a lessons learnt process about the 
commissioning of individual placements which may inform future commissioning 
arrangements.  The service was trying to bring together finance, performance 
and service information for more effective and cost efficient placement of 
children. 

         The Director had oversight of all such moves and whilst finance is a 
consideration it was not the only consideration as children’s needs were 
paramount.  The Director had confidence that such moves were taken in the best 
interests of the child.  Oversight was also provided by an Independent Reviewing 
Officer (IRO) to provide representation for children in care.  

  
5.8       A significant underspend of £225k is projected for Clinical Services - which 
is equivalent to almost ⅙ of the entire budget. Given that there was also a 
significant underspend in this service of £246k at the end of the last financial year 
2021/22 - can officers explain the reasons why this budget has been consistently 
underspent - is this due to staff vacancies or additional unplanned income? If this 
is due to staff vacancies, what impact is this consistent underspend having on 
clinical service provision for local children and families?  What counter measures 
have been taken? 

         The main reason for the underspend was because of additional funding from 
health partners NLCGG to offset health costs within the service.  As in effect the 
whole of children’s services budgets are ring fenced, any underspends in one 
area of the service can be used to offset overspends in other areas of the service 
(and bottom line for CFS).  In the budget setting process for 2023/24, finance 
officers will sit down with services to understand demand and whether 
underspends are likely to occur in the forthcoming year. 

Page 312



Wednesday 30 November 2022  
  
5.9       At page 24, it is noted that the Early Help review was designed to reduce 
costs by £350k, but the report notes that these savings have not been fully 
achieved.  Can officers set out  how much savings have been achieved by the 
Early Help Review and what will need to be mitigated? 

         It was acknowledged that there had been a delay in delivering the early help 
savings for this year as this was still being worked through as to how these 
savings were going to be achieved on a recurrent basis.  The under delivery of 
this budget saving is factored into the forecast for the year end March 2023. 

         It was acknowledged that this was at present contributing to the overall 
overspend for the service, but finance officers were confident that this could be 
worked through. 

  
5.10    In relation to semi-independent care, the Commission noted that there was 
a significant cost pressure of £1.5m for accommodating under 18’s and over 
18’s.   Given that members noted that the quality of housing support and 
accommodation was variable from site visits this year, what was CFS doing to 
improve quality as well as reduce costs? 

         In relation to the quality of semi-independent housing, officers noted that Ofsted 
were bringing more settings into regulation to ensure that these complied with 
established standards.  The service was preparing for this regulation which 
comes into effect in April 2023, and to understand what impact that this would 
have on commissioning of housing support.  The CFS welcomes this regulation 
and is working with providers to support them through this process.  Every child 
that CFS places in semi-independent care is provided with appropriate care and 
support for that placement.   

         Officers acknowledged that other solutions may be possible in the longer term, 
though these would involve significant commitments from the Council’s capital 
programme which would be challenging in the current financial context.  The 
council was having conversations with other boroughs about such possible joint 
ventures to help share investments and risks, but it was acknowledged more 
could be done. 

  
5.11    From table 1 of the report, the Commission noted that there was no budget 
or spend allocation for Teaching Partnership and Contextual Safeguarding 
services. Can officers explain this? 

         The Teaching Partnership is funded by the Department of Education (DfE).  The 
Contextual Safeguarding Service was initially funded by DfE but this is now 
funded by the CFS. 

  
5.12    Vacancy Rate Savings have been introduced across council departments to 
assist in stemming overall budget shortfalls in the General Fund.  At page 24, the 
report notes that there is a target of £900k saving for Children and Families - how 
much of this is forecast to be achieved and how much will need to be mitigated?  
The Vacancy Rate savings represents a significant sum, has there been any 
assessment as to what impact that this has had on service provision, particularly 
as this includes a number of key posts (e.g. Leaving Care Welfare Benefits officer 
as spec on p25)?  

         Across the council a vacancy rate saving of 3.5% was set for each directorate to 
achieve in relation to staff turnover and recruitment. The rationale for this was 
that as staff leave non-front line aspects of the service, there is a lag in between 
staff leaving and replacement staff being appointed which generates a ‘saving’ in 
the budget.  This exercise has not been completed without challenge, but officers 
were confident that this target would be achieved.  There is no suggestion that 
this approach would cause delay to a post that was needed to be recruited to, 
and that this has been identified through natural churn within the recruitment 
system.  This would be continually monitored with service heads. 

Page 313



Wednesday 30 November 2022  
         It was not unusual for LA’s to have a vacancy rate saving, with many adopting a 

higher percentage than 3.5%.  Officers did note however, that this vacancy rate 
saving applied to all staff groups, including frontline staff. The priority for CFS is 
to run a safe service and the need to find savings in this manner would not 
jeopardise that objective.  The service would not leave a statutory post open, 
therefore if a social work post fell vacant then the service would recruit 
immediately as these posts need to be filled all the time. For CFS the vacancy 
rate saving is mainly achieved through non-statutory posts. 

  
5.14    The Chair thanked officers for attending and responding to members' questions.  
The Chair reiterated the importance of budget monitoring as this helped to contextualise 
some of the decisions that officers are required to take about related policy issues. This 
item would continue to be taken in future years.  The Chair further noted that the 
Commission would hope that proposals for investment to save in respect of children’s 
social care placements for residential settings and semi-independent accommodation 
would be forthcoming in the future. 
 

6 SEND Strategy 2022-2025 (20.30)  
 
6.1       Hackney Education has developed a new SEND Strategy for the period 2022-25 
which was approved by Cabinet on November 21st 2022.   The objectives for the 
Commission for this item is to note the contents and underpinning principles of the 
SEND Strategy, and to question officers on their plans to deliver key objectives detailed 
within it. 
  
6.2       The Commission understands that an Action Plan is being developed with 
partners to support the delivery of the key aims of the SEND strategy, and which itself is 
being presented to this Commission in February 2023.  It is envisaged that through the 
ongoing scrutiny of the SEND Action Plan, the Commission will retain oversight of the 
delivery of key service developments and improvements for SEND services. 
  
Questions from the Commission 
6.3       In relation to Priority 4 - Joined Up Services - The strategy indicates that 
there are currently no jointly commissioned services in Hackney. What are the 
barriers to jointly commissioned services and how will the SEND Strategy help 
overcome these?  How will the Joint Agency Plan be progressed in 2023? 

         Much of the resources of local services are tied up in delivery through schools, 
specialist provision and commissioned services.  The barriers to working 
together were financial in that there was a limited pot of money available.  
Investment in special schools and mainstream schools was important to ensure 
that they can provide the SEND services needed for local children.  Rising 
demand and the pressures these places on local services also stifles the ability 
of services to work together effectively; in Hackney the number of children with 
an EHCP has increased by 65%.  Finding specialist placements for children with 
SEND is difficult, which in turn has an impact on schools and other educational 
settings. 5.3% of all local children now have an EHCP.  This demand has an 
impact on education, social care and health services.  The SEND strategy is a 
partnership strategy which agrees priorities across the EHCP system and aligns 
funding to support those priorities. 

         The JAP is a multi-agency panel which meets to discuss and plan for children 
with multiple and complex SEND needs.  This group assesses what the best 
placement would be for the child and agrees funding splits between agencies.  
This was a relatively new process and would be evaluating this in the coming 
months. 

  
6.4       Developing accompanied lines of finance to support the ambitions of the 
SEND Strategy will be challenging, especially in relation to capital requirements 
needed for estate redevelopment which underpins a major part of this strategy. 

Page 314



Wednesday 30 November 2022  
Can officers provide some reassurance around capital funding secured thus far?   
In addition, there are other financial uncertainties (whether the government will 
cover the accumulated £18.5m SEND deficit) and ongoing financial pressures 
(overspend forecast to be £4.6m) for SEND provision in Hackney.  Can officers set 
out the funding to support the implementation of the SEND strategy thus far and 
additional funding needed to support the SEND Strategy but yet to be identified? 

         The SEND Green paper was currently working its way through the political 
system which would hopefully address some of the underlying issues for SEND 
funding.  Schools were at the front end of this issue, and the Green Paper would 
help to direct more resources to support them.  It was also clear that the borough 
needed to reduce the number of children who were supported by non-maintained 
provision out of the borough as this was a significant financial pressure.  
Nationally, the budget pressure was estimated to be £1.5 billion, so it was clear 
that Hackney was not alone in facing these pressures. 

  
6.5       How will the new SEND Strategy ensure that the voice of parents is heard 
and that they are meaningfully engaged and involved in key decisions about their 
child? Will there be any future provision for parent advocacy given the complexity 
of SEND landscape? 

         Parental engagement was critical and there were a number of local parental 
engagement groups that the service worked with to support service delivery.  
The Parent Carer Forum plays an important role in this and has a dedicated work 
programme to connect parents to local services, and it is hoped that a new PCF 
will be in place in the New Year in Hackney.  This would ensure that the voice of 
local parents is heard locally and that there is a mechanism to provide challenge 
to local SEND services.  The SEND team believes in the principle of co-
production and will seek to engage and involve parents as well as young people 
themselves in developing SEND services. 

  
6.6       Will the SEND strategy address the issue of parental support and 
engagement in relation to children on SEND support?  

         This local authority is very generous when it comes to the issuing of EHCPs 
which is illustrated by the proportion of children and young people who have an 
EHCP in Hackney (5.3%) compared to London (4.4%) and national (4.2%) 
averages.  Based on the needs and evidence they provide, local children are 
reaching these thresholds for EHCP provision and the LA does issue plans in 
response to these needs.  Parents are engaged as part of this statutory 
assessment process to develop and review all EHCPs and other SEND plans. 

         Priority 2 focused on the earlier response to special needs.  The graduated 
response is important to this approach so that schools can identify and support 
more children with SEND earlier.  Alongside this is that the SEND team also 
recognised the need to work around schools more to ensure that there is a 
multidisciplinary team offer to support them (e.g. SLT, Ed Psych, and School 
Nurses).  These professionals are working around clusters of schools and there 
is a multi-agency planning meeting every term to discuss, agree and plan for the 
needs for children with SEND support.  This enables the group to review and 
monitor the progress of children on SEND support.  There is an also an 
expectation that there will be discussion as to which SEND pathways children 
might be best to be supported through (e.g. SEND support, EHCP or some 
further additional support to the school).  This system was in early development 
as it was only established in September 2022, and it was hoped  by the summer 
term of 2023 more robust data would be available to review oversight of children 
on SEND support. 

  
6.7       The Commission was aware that Barnet Parent Carer Forum  was very 
active as too was the Camden Parents Advisory Board, which was not only a 
consultative body but also offered advocacy and support to parents not only with 
children with SEND, but also to parents whose children were looked after by the 

Page 315



Wednesday 30 November 2022  
authority or similarly supported by children’s social care.  The Commission noted 
that this was a broader parent and family support offer across education, social 
care and health which should be considered locally. 

         The local authority constantly sought to engage with other authorities to 
compare and contrast service provision, to help identify and support the 
extension of good practice. 

  
6.8       The Commission also noted the role of the community and voluntary 
sector in supporting children with SEND and their families, particularly where 
there may be language or culture differences which may present barriers to 
service accessibility.  It was noted that advocates from such community groups 
(such as YouTube workers) sometimes found it difficult to access SEND meetings 
with parents (and young people). 

         Officers reassured the Commission that local Community Centres and 
community groups should be an integral part of the local SEND response and 
help to shape and deliver local provision.  

  
6.9       In relation to Priority 3, the Commission completed a review of Post 16 
SEND back in 2020 and made a number of recommendations which have helped 
to inform this strategy.  Critically, the Commission’s work highlighted the paucity 
of Post 16 options currently available for young people with SEND, so how will the 
SEND strategy improve the volume and range of Post 16 options available to 
young people with SEND? 

         It is the responsibility of the local authority to assess needs and ensure that 
there are appropriate services available to meet the needs of children with 
SEND, including post 16 provision. The SEND Strategy is an ambition setting out 
the high level objectives for services, and the SEND Action Plan will provide 
further detail on how these priorities will be delivered. 

         Supported Internships had some real success where 90% of young people had 
been successful in gaining employment afterward.  Further support would be 
needed to scale existing provision up and extend support to young people with 
SEND post 16.  Success is important in encouraging more investment and 
expansion of provision for young people in Hackney. 

  
6.10    The Commission was of the view that the SEND Strategy should contain a 
stronger commitment to anti-racism and to ensure that services were inclusive. 
There was however a commitment to working closely with the Orthodox Jewish 
community to develop services, and the Commission would welcome further 
information on what was planned. 

         The strategy was needs based including assessments of the needs of different 
ethnic groups in the borough, and it was hoped that the key principles and 
objectives set out within it would help to address all the SEND needs of children 
and young people across Hackney.  The borough has recently gone through a 
self-assessment to help identify areas of strength and areas where improvement 
is necessary.   

         Hackney Education was also developing an Inclusion Charter which would also 
include children with SEND as well race and ethnicity.  This will link to work in the 
SEND Action Plan. 

  
6.11    In relation to data and analytics, what do we know about local children who 
are on SEND Support and children with an EHCP; what demographic data is 
captured and what is driving demand for services which can assist in future 
service planning and delivery? 

         Data was a critical part of the local approach to ensure that local services were 
evidence based and delivered real tangible results for children with SEND.  An 
outcomes based approach was likely to be increasingly important in the context 
of declining resources, as it might be the case in the future that there may not be 
sufficient resources to continue to support less effective services or non-statutory 

Page 316



Wednesday 30 November 2022  
services.  The service was pulling together a data scorecard to help assess 
performance and progress across SEND provision which can be brought to the 
Commission at a future meeting.  This data will inform Commissioning.  

  
6.12    The Cabinet member responsible for SEND emphasised the following 
points in relation to supporting the Orthodox Jewish community and the 
overriding issue of the SEND budget deficit.   

         There is an explicit goal to have more SEND provision within the borough.  The 
SEND team were working with Side by Side, a special educational provision for 
the Orthodox Jewish community, to further extend provision. 

         From the early years perspective there were already very good working 
relationships with the Orthodox Jewish community with good links to children’s 
centres and other early years provision. 

         Whilst there still is a deficit, this was projected to be £18m by the end of 
2022/23, the service had been successful in securing additional capital funding 
to expand school place provision.  In excess of £12m had been committed to 
develop new provision.  It was positive that new ARP’s had been agreed for local 
schools which could now be established and begin to support more young 
people with SEND in local schools. 

         It was also noted that additional resources were being committed to extending 
pupil forums to support the voice of young people in service design and delivery. 

  
6.13    How will the SEND partnership measure the success of this SEND 
Strategy?  Whilst the SEND Strategy sets out some of the outcomes and 
measures, it does not provide for any targets which might provide a measure of 
success (e.g. decreased exclusions for children with SEND, more young people 
transferring to adult social care).   Are any targets envisioned to support the 
development of this strategy? Will associated targets be included within the 
Action Plan (e.g. the proportion of children with SEND receiving their education as 
settings within the borough)? 

         There were a number of ways in which the strategy would be monitored and 
reviewed.  As well as statutory requirements (e.g. exclusion data, timeframe for 
completion of assessments) there will be greater emphasis on obtaining 
feedback from parents and children within the EHCP review process (e.g. are 
children happy and making good progress).  This data will be regularly reviewed 
by the SEND Partnership Board.  Acknowledging that development was an 
organic process, service was also keen to set up family groups which can be 
consulted at certain points to help with delivery on certain aspects of the 
strategy.   

         The Cabinet member noted that a new independent chair of the Hackney 
Schools Group Board had been appointed, but that the focus on race and SEND 
and would retain an intersectional approach.  

  
6.14    Priority 2 - Earlier Response - If New Regents College (NRC) and the Re-
engagement Unit are to work preventatively and support children in need earlier - 
how will the SEND Strategy ensure that all local schools (maintained and 
academies) are equally engaged and committed to this agenda? 

         For the first time in 2022, the Re-engagement Unit (REU) is a universal offer 
available to all settings which will extend the reach to all schools.  It was 
acknowledged that there was a difference in engagement and take up of the 
REU, which was also the case for the Councils SEND offer. Some schools do not 
accept the free offer and want to do something different for their pupils which 
was fine to a degree as schools were autonomous.  The SEND team was 
however focusing on developing its training offer for local schools with a broad 
universal free training offer to ensure widest possible reach into local schools.  If 
schools do not take on board the Universal offer, then there will need to be a 
rethink as to how SEND services work with them. 

Page 317



Wednesday 30 November 2022  
         Proposals for NRC were still in development, but the plan is for alternative 

provision to become more inward reaching to support local schools to support 
children to maintain places in mainstream education.  

  
6.15    The Chair thanked officers for attending and responding to questions raised from 
members of the Commission.  The Commission was looking forward to the publication of 
the SEND Action Plan ahead of the meeting in February 2023.  Noting that this was a 
partnership plan, the Commission would welcome the lead officers from partner 
agencies so that they could be invited to co-present this item. 
 

7 Child Q Safeguarding Practice Review (21.20)  
 
7.1       Members of both Living in Hackney and Children and Young People Scrutiny 
Commission met to scrutinise the response to the Child Q Safeguarding Practice 
Review in June 2023.  A letter setting out the key findings of this joint Commission 
setting out initial findings and recommendations has been sent to lead officers at key 
partners for a response  including: 

         London Borough of Hackney; 
         Metropolitan Police Service; 
         MOPAC; 
         City & Hackney Safeguarding Partnership. 

  
7.2       A further follow-up meeting with both Commissions is expected in 2023, once the 
City & Hackney Safeguarding Partnership have concluded their follow up of the 
Safeguarding Practice Review and IOPC report has been completed. 
  
7.3       Members noted and agreed the letter. 
 

8 Housing Support for Care Leavers (21.25)  
 
8.1       Members of both Living in Hackney and Children and Young People Scrutiny 
Commission reviewed housing support for care leavers during the spring and summer of 
2022 and have made a number of recommendations to the Cabinet appropriate member 
which were detailed in an attached letter. 
  
8.2       The recommendations of the Commissions are timely given that the Care Leaver 
Offer and  Housing Strategy are both currently being updated.  It is also noted that the 
experiences of care leavers will now also form a specific assessment by Ofsted as part 
of the inspection framework for children’s social care. 
  
8.3       The Cabinet response to the recommendations is expected in January 2023 and 
this will be published in both Children and Young People and Living in Hackney scrutiny 
commission agendas.  Follow up arrangements for the recommendations will be agreed 
across the Commissions. 
  
8.4       The Commission noted and agreed to the recommendations. 
 

9 Work Programme 2022/23 (21.20)  
 
9.1       Members reviewed the updated work programme for the remainder of 2022/23.  
The main changes to note were: 

         Item on Race, Racism and Social Care has been subsumed into an item on 
support for young parents; 

         Accessibility of CAMHS services is confirmed for April 2023; 
         Cabinet Q & A for the Cabinet member for families, parks and leisure (Cllr 

Woodley) is scheduled for February 2023 and the Commission will agree which 
topics it would like to focus on before the end of the year. 

Page 318



Wednesday 30 November 2022  
  
9.2       Members noted and agreed the work programme. 
 

10 Minutes of the Previous Meeting  
 
10.1    The minutes of the meetings held on 29th September 2022 and October 31st 
2022 were noted and agreed. 
 

11 Any Other Business  
 
11.1    There was no further business.  The meeting closed at 9.15pm and the date of 
the next meeting was noted to be 16th January 2023. 
 
 

 
Duration of the meeting: Times Not Specified 

 
 
 
 

Page 319



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 320


	Agenda
	4 City & Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership - Annual Report (19.05)
	4 City & Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership - Annual Report (19.05)
	CHSCP Scrutiny Cover Sheet 21_22docx.docx

	4 City & Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership - Annual Report (19.05)
	CHSCP_AnnualReport_202122

	5 Unregistered Educational Settings - Review Update (19.50)
	5 Unregistered Educational Settings - Review Update (19.50)
	Scrutiny Report UES 160123

	6 Outcome of School Exclusions - Review Update (20.20)
	6 Outcome of School Exclusions - Review Update (20.20)
	UPDATE Report on School Exclusions

	7 Free School Meals (Childhood Food Poverty) (21.10)
	7 Free School Meals (Childhood Food Poverty) (21.10)
	Cllr Bramble - Childhood Food Poverty - Google Docs

	8 Work Programme - Update (21.15)
	8 Work Programme - Update (21.15)
	January 2023 Work Programme

	9 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (21.20)
	9 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (21.20)
	Minutes of 30th November 2022.url
	Minutes



